Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure

Ulrika Birgersdotter-Green Eric Adler *Editors*



Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure

Ulrika Birgersdotter-Green · Eric Adler Editors

Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure



Editors Ulrika Birgersdotter-Green Division of Cardiovascular Medicine University of California, San Diego La Jolla, CA, USA

Eric Adler Division of Cardiovascular Medicine University of California, San Diego La Jolla, CA, USA

ISBN 978-3-030-70037-9 ISBN 978-3-030-70038-6 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Contents

Section I Management of Cardiogenic Shock Section Editor: Hao A. Tran	
Assessment of the Shock Patient and Hemodynamic Monitoring Jorge Silva Enciso	3
Temporary Mechanical Circulatory Support Daniel Walters and Ryan Reeves	23
Extra Corporeal Membrane Oxygenation Kimberly Hong, Scott Chicotka, and Travis Pollema	45
Section II Chronic Device Therapy in the Advanced Heart Failure Patient Section Editor: Hao A. Tran	
Selection Criteria for Durable Mechanical Circulatory Support Behram P. Mody and Eric D. Adler	59
LVAD Inpatient Management	79
Outpatient Management of LVAD. Rayan Yousefzai and Marcus Urey	93
Evaluation and Management of LVAD Complications Enrico Perna and Nicholas Wettersten	111
Section III Devices for Stage C Heart Failure Section Editor: Hao A. Tran	
Long Term Hemodynamic Monitoring	141

Co	onte	en	ts

Remote Monitoring for Cardiac Implantable Electronic Devices	151
Uma N. Srivatsa, Connie Wright, and Xin Jian Zhang	151
Section IV Device Based Arrhythmia Management Section Editor: Gordon Ho	
Indications for the Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillator (ICD) Hiro Kawata	173
Implant Considerations for the Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillator Hiro Kawata	189
Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillator Programmingand TroubleshootingChin Lee, Kunal Shah, Sanjay Shah, and Farshad Raissi	207
Use of the Subcutaneous Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillator in Patients with Heart Failure Paul S. Bibby, Walid Barake and Siva K. Mulpuru	221
How to Identify and Manage Complications from Cardiac Implantable Electronic Devices Lalit Wadhwani, Arif Albulushi, and Faris Khan	241
Management of Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillatorsin Patients with a Left Ventricular Assist DeviceOscar Braun	255
Indications and Use of the Wearable Cardioverter-Defibrillator Michael Eskander MD and David Krummen MD	265
Cardiac Device Management in Palliative Care Patrick Azcarate and Stephanie Yoakum	275
Section V Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy (CRT) Section Editor: Gordon Ho	
Indications for Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy Douglas Darden and Jonathan C. Hsu	287
Implant Considerations for the CRT Device Douglas Darden and Jonathan C. Hsu	301
Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy Programming and Troubleshooting	309

His Bundle and Physiologic Pacing for Cardiac Resynchronization	
Therapy	323
Amir A. Schricker and Jonathan Salcedo	
Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy in Patients with Left Ventricular	
Assist Devices.	337
Andrew Lin and Gordon Ho	
Index	343

Section I Management of Cardiogenic Shock

Section Editor: Hao A. Tran

Assessment of the Shock Patient and Hemodynamic Monitoring



Jorge Silva Enciso

Case Vignette

A 50 year-old female with past medical history of breast cancer and chemotherapy, paroxysmal atrial fibrillation and diabetes mellitus, presents with dyspnea on exertion, orthopnea and paroxysmal nocturnal dyspnea. On exam, she is hypotensive (83/61 mmHg), tachycardic (100 beats per min), and tachypneic (20 breaths per min). She has a regular rhythm, systolic ejection murmur at the left apex 3/6, jugular venous distention up to the mandible, sign of hepatojugular reflex, leg edema 2+, and cool distal peripheries. Her blood work is significant for a BUN 33 mmol/dL, creatinine 1.64 mg/dL, total bilirubin 2.42 mg/dL, lactate 2.4 mmol/L. Her NT pro-BNP is 6310 pg/mL, HS-troponin 18 ng/L. Her echocardiogram shows an LV ejection fraction of 12%, end diastolic dimension 6.7 cm, reduced RV function, pulmonary artery systolic pressure of 47 mmHg, moderate-severe mitral regurgitation and severe tricuspid regurgitation. A pulmonary artery catheter was placed showing the following hemodynamics:

Variable	Value	Variable	Value
RA, mmHg	11 SVR, dyn/cm/sec ⁵		1600
PA, mmHg	55/33/39	PVR, woods units	237
PCWP, mmHg	21	RA:PCWP ratio	0.52
PA Saturation, %	47	PAPi ratio	2.0

J. Silva Enciso (🖂)

Cardiology Division, Sulpizio Cardiovascular Center, University of California, San Diego, USA e-mail: jsilvaenciso@health.ucsd.edu

Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, Advanced Heart Failure, Mechanical Circulatory Support and Heart Transplant Program, UC San Diego Health, 9300 Campus Point Drive, MC 7411, La Jolla, CA 92037, USA

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_1

Variable	Value	Variable	Value
AO Saturation, %	99	CPO, watts	0.41
Cardiac Output, L/min	2.3	BP, mmHg	106/67/80
Cardiac Index, L/min/m ²	1.8	HR, bpm	132

The patient is started on Norepinephrine that is promptly escalated to $11 \,\mu g/kg/min$, Vasopressin 0.04 UI/hr, Dobutamine $3 \,\mu g/kg/min$ and Milrinone 0.25 $\mu g/kg/min$.

Definition

Cardiogenic Shock (CS) complicates 5–10% of acute myocardial infarction (AMI) cases with an in-hospital mortality of 41–50% which has been unchanged over 2 decades. Among survivors of AMI, up to 19% of patients will experience a readmission after discharge, with 30% of them developing recurrent heart failure symptoms. Furthermore, 30% of all CS cases present as acute decompensation of chronic systolic heart failure [1]. A higher incidence of CS is seen in elder patients, female gender, patients with diabetes or a prior history of LV dysfunction. Classically, cardiogenic shock has been defined as tissue hypoperfusion and hypoxia due to impaired cardiac function and low cardiac output. It is manifested by abnormal clinical and biomarkers of end organ dysfunction that require either pharmacological or mechanical circulatory support interventions [1]. However, the parameters that define CS differ due to the complexity of its presentation.

Clinical trials defining CS have resolved to count on 3 indicators of cardiac performance: (1) a systolic blood pressure <90 mmHg and use of drugs or devices to maintain BP above 90 mmHg; (2) Cardiac Index of \leq 2.2 ml/min/m² and a capillary wedge pressure \geq 15 mmHg; (3) altered mental status, decreased urine output \leq 30 ml/h and lactate \geq 2 mmol/L. Clinical features of CS have varied across clinical trials leading to lack of uniformity in defining CS patients which has impact clinical trial outcomes. Recently, The Society of Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions (SCAI) has developed a classification system as a referendum to differentiate patient subsets and risk stratify their morbidity and mortality risk. This schema allows rapid interpretation and categorization of patients to strategize which therapeutics will benefit each individual (Table 1) [2].

Causes

1. Acute myocardial infarction (AMI). Accounts for 30–80% of the causes of CS, with ST-segment elevation MI being the most common presentation compared to Non-ST elevation MI. ST-segment elevation MI is the leading cause

SCAI shock stage	Physical exam	Biomarkers	Hemodynamics
Α	 Normal JVP, clear lung sounds, Strong distal pulses Normal mentation 	• Normal renal function and lactate	• SBP>100 mmHg • CI>2.5 • CVP<10 • PASAT≥65%
В	 Elevated JVP, rales Strong distal pulses Normal mentation 	 Minimal renal function impairment Elevated BNP Normal Lactate 	 SBP<100 OR MAP<60 OR>30 mmHg drop Pulse≥100 CI≥2.2 PASAT≥65%
С	 Ashen, mottled, dusky skin Volume overload, extensive rales, Killip 3–4, Bipap or mechanical ventilation Acute AMS 	 Lactate >2 Creatnine doubling or >50% drop in GFR, UO <30 mL/hr Increased BNP Increased LFT 	 Drugs/Device to maintain BP above Stage B CI ≤ 2.2, PCWP ≥ 15, RA/ WP ≥ 0.8, PAPi < 1.85, CPO ≤ 0.6
D	• Any stage C	• Stage C+Deteriorating	• Any stage C AND requir- ing multiple pressors, OR addition of MCS to maintain perfusion
E	Near Pulselessness, cardiac collapse, defibril- lator use Mechanical Ventilation	• Lactate >5 • pH <7.2	 No SBP w/o resuscitation PEA or refractory VT/VF Hypotension despite maximal support

Table 1 SCAI Cardiogenic shock classification

of death in patients with AMI with an in-hospital mortality close to 36–50% [3]. The clinical presentation of patients with CS are predominantly left ventricular failure (78.5%), severe mitral regurgitation (6.9%), ventricular septal rupture (3.9%), right ventricular failure (2.8%) and cardiac tamponade (1.4%) [4]. Among those who survive to discharge 18.6% have a 30-day risk of readmission (median time of 10 days) with the most common cause being heart failure (39%) followed by new myocardial infarction (15%) and arrhythmias (11%) [5]. Compared to other causes of CS, patients with CS-AMI present with a higher number of cardiovascular co-morbidities including hypertension, diabetes mellitus and smoking. Similarly, compared to other causes of CS, a significant number of CS-AMI patients require mechanical circulatory support, mechanical ventilation and renal replacement therapy at the time of their presentation due to the clinical severity of CS with substantial metabolic disturbances (i.e. higher lactate acidemia, elevated liver function test and renal dysfunction) [6].

 Acute Heart Failure (AHF). Accounts for 46% of causes of CS based on contemporary data from critical care registries. It is associated with a 31% in-hospital mortality. Patients within this group present with high filling pressures, low oxygen delivery, higher burden of atrial arrhythmias or ventricular arrhythmias, pulmonary hypertension, chronic kidney disease and severe valvular disease requiring often invasive hemodynamic monitoring, higher use of vasoactive medications and mechanical circulatory support for stabilization (26% of Non-Ischemic Cardiomyopathy compared to 61% of AMI patients) [6]. MAY NEED TO EXPAND THE AHF CAUSES SECTION TO TYPES OF AHF ICM VERSUS NICM

3. Non-AMI causes. Other causes of CS are less common and can occur concomitant to the most common causes of CS including valvular heart disease (valvular stenosis or acute insufficiency,) (11%), myocarditis (2%), stress induced cardiomyopathy (2%), post-partum cardiomyopathy, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and aortic dissection, all which can rapidly deteriorate through direct or indirect impact on the myocardial function (Table 2).

Pathophysiology

Cardiogenic shock precipitates when there is profound depression of the myocardial function resulting in deleterious consequences to end organ perfusion triggering a downward spiral of low cardiac output, reduced blood pressure, ischemia

Acute Myocardial infarction	Heart failure	Valvular-native or prosthetic	Electrical
Mechanical complication • Ventricular septal rupture • Papillary Muscle Rupture • Free Wall Rupture • Cardiac tamponade	 Ischemic Cardiomypathy Dilated Cardiomyopathy 	Stenosis	Atrial arrhythmias
Mitral regurgitation	Myocarditis	Acute regurgitation	Ventricular Tachycardia
Right Ventricular Infarction	Stress induced cardiomyopathy	Valvular Obstruction	Bradycardia
Left Ventricular Dysfunction	Pregnancy associated • Peripartum cardiomyopathy • Coronary Artery Dissection	Leaflet failure	
	Post-Cardiotomy shock	Valve dehiscence	
	Outflow obstruction • Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy		

 Table 2
 Causes of cardiogenic shock

with the latter enhancing the vicious cycle of perpetual shock. Mechanisms to counterbalance this negative cycle include vasoconstriction and fluid retention with the goal to maintain tissue perfusion and cardiac output. However, in the presence of cardiogenic shock, a cascade of inflammatory markers is released due to poor perfusion. Reactive oxygen species, nitric oxide synthase, peroxy-nitrite and interleukins among other markers will promote vasodilation, reduce catecholamine sensitivity and reduce contractility ultimately affecting myocardial performance [7]. With persistence of inadequate forward flow, the remaining viable myocardium starts to increase its oxygen demand and consumption, compromising further global ventricular function due to ischemia. When left ventricular dysfunction progresses over the course of the shock stage, pulmonary artery pressures and left sided pressures commence to increase leading to interventricular septum displacement to the right ventricular cavity reducing preload to the right ventricle (RV). The acute changes in pressure load deteriorate RV function triggering a rise in venous pressures. This leads to alterations in right ventricular structure causing cavity dilation and displacing the interventricular septum to the left ventricular space, compromising left ventricular diastolic filling and reducing coronary and systemic perfusion causing end organ damage [8].

Similar to CS from left ventricular dysfunction, the pathogenesis of cardiogenic shock due to right ventricular dysfunction (RVD) is associated with poor prognosis. In the presence of acute myocardial infarction, acute RVD presents with ischemia, arrhythmias, cytokine releases (i.e. tumor necrosis factor-α, interleukins) inducing further impact on systolic and diastolic function, poor tolerance to changes in afterload, pulmonary vasoconstriction due to hypoxia and increase risk of microthrombi and emboli. Furthermore, in those patients that require mechanical ventilation, RV function is negatively affected by acute changes in preload an afterload from elevated intra pulmonary pressures, especially when high positive end expiratory pressure ventilation is required [9]. With the abrupt changes in load, RV stroke volume is decreased, RV systolic pressure is reduced prompting reduction in LV end diastolic filling which in turn will contribute to coronary and systemic hypoperfusion. Overtime reduction in RV contractility results in annular and cavity dilation leading to tricuspid regurgitation. The increased regurgitant volume will further exacerbate RV dilation and drive ventricular inter-dependence to affect LV filling begetting a vicious cycle of hypoperfusion. As 20-40% of the RV systolic function is derived from interventricular and LV contraction, once ventricular interdependence develops, it is paramount to maintain and enhance ventricular performance to halt the shock sequence.

Early Recognition of Shock

Clinical features present during the Initial evaluation of the individual with CS include hypotension (systolic blood pressure less than 90 mmHg), diminished pulses, elevated jugular venous pressure, dyspnea, cool peripheries, delated

5	
Features of LV dysfunction	Features of RV dysfunction
Pulmonary rales and/or wheeze	Increase jugular venous pressure
Displaced point of maximal impulse	Tricuspid regurgitation
Mitral or aortic regurgitation	Hepatomegaly
	Hepato-jugular reflex
	Lower extremity edema

 Table 3
 Clinical distinct features of ventricular dysfunction

capillary refill and altered mental status. However distinct characteristics upon presentation can guide the clinician to elucidate between which ventricle is compromised (see Table 3).

It is important to recognize however that presence of elevated JVP can be seen in both right and left ventricular dysfunction as recent studies show that more than 70 percent of individuals with acute heart failure present with left and right sided concordant hemodynamics (right atrial pressure ≥ 12 mmHg equates to a pulmonary capillary wedge pressure ≥ 30 mmHg) supporting the notion of JVP as an estimator of pulmonary capillary wedge pressure [10].

• Electrocardiogram Interpretation

In patients with initial presentation of CS-AMI, ECG is essential in the decision process for management of patients suspected of ACS. The ECG should be ordered within 10 min of arrival to the emergency room and If the initial ECG is non-diagnostic, serial ECG should be obtained every 15-30 min. Any ST segment deviation should promptly be determined for acute coronary intervention. Presence of ST segment elevation in 2 or more contiguous leads indicates urgent reperfusion, ST segment depressions, transient ST-elevation $(\geq 0.5 \text{ mm} [0.05 \text{ mV}])$, or new T wave inversion symmetrical in the precordial leads (>2 mm [0.2 mV]) are strongly suspicious for acute coronary syndrome (ACS) [11]. Presence of O waves reflect size and extension of the MI and predicts lower ejection fraction [12]. Ventricular or atrial arrhythmias can also be suggestive for ACS as up to 6% of patients can develop ventricular tachycardia or ventricular fibrillation within an hour of symptom presentation. Most commonly however patients with ACS can present with non-sustained monomorphic in the first 24–48 h after an AMI and usually associated with regional ischemia. Sustained VT is less common but can be seen in ST-elevation AMI associated with larger infarction areas [13].

Risk Assessment

Once clinical identification of CS is established, phenotyping the hemodynamic presentation is essential to guide therapy. The common presenting theme is a low cardiac index with a variable preload, volume and systemic vascular resistance.

A framework has been defined to characterize the hemodynamic status of patients presenting with CS. The classic cold and wet profile is seen in more than 60% of patients with CS-AMI while those with cold and dry profile (isolated hypoperfusion) are seen in close to 30% of patients with CS-MI (Table 4). Moreover, the mortality associated with each profile relies vastly on the presence of hypoperfusion independent on the presence or absence of pulmonary congestion. In the SHOCK trial, hypoperfusion was defined by oliguria <30 ml/hr or cold peripheries which identifies individuals with evidence of end organ dysfunction. The study showed an in-hospital mortality of 70% for those with hypoperfusion without pulmonary congestion compared to 60% with presence of both hypoperfusion and congestion. Those with no hypoperfusion with or without congestion had a 20% mortality [14]. Similarly those patients presenting with the wet and warm profile have a commensurate mortality risk to those in other profiles. This group is characterized by low cardiac index, low-normal systemic vascular resistance and elevated wedge pressure. In those presenting with ST segment elevation AMI, 25% met systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) criteria defined as presence of two or more of the following: 1. heart rate>90 beats/min; 2. respiratory rate>20 breaths/min; 3. body temperature>38 or<36 °C; 4. leukocyte count>12 or $<4 \times 10^{9}$ /L. For those with SIRS at the time of AMI presentation prognosis is poor with a mortality risk of 31% and a 2-threefold risk for death, shock, heart failure and stroke at 90 days [15].

The basis of profiling patients with CS remotes to the early era of AMI managed by thrombolytic therapy. Originally developed in 1967, the Killip-Kimball classification is based on the bedside clinical assessment of patients presenting with left ventricular dysfunction due to AMI. The classification is divided in 4 categories: class (I) no clinical signs of heart failure; class (II) HF with jugular venous distention, rales and S3 on heart auscultation; class (III) overt pulmonary edema and class (IV) cardiogenic shock and hypoperfusion. The significance of this classification remains relevant today as many studies continue to validate its association with mortality. A recent study examining the temporal trend in outcomes of AMI patients stratified by Killip class showed that this classification remains an independent predictor of mortality with a 3 to fourfold risk of death post-MI specifically in those with Killip class greater than or equal to 2. Patients

	Volume		
Perfusion		Dry	Wet
	Warm	Increased CI	Low CI
		Low SVRi	Low-Normal SVRi
		Low-Normal PCWP	High PCWP
	Cold	Low CI	Low CI
		High SVRi	High SVRi
		Low-Normal PCPW	High PCWP

 Table 4
 Hemodynamic profiles in cardiogenic shock

CI: Cardiac Index; PCWP: Pulmonary Capillary Wedge Pressure; SVRi: Systemic vascular resistance index

with higher Killip class exhibited more complications including acute kidney injury, new onset atrial fibrillation and ventricular arrhythmias [16].

Risk Scores

Risk prediction in CS is limited due to the heterogeneity of its presentation and causes leading to CS. About one fifth of the causes are not related to AMI however all CS cases share similar variables that can forecast patient outcomes. However, their use in predicting short-term mortality and survival after MCS is helpful. The advantage of risk classifying CS patients is to rapidly determine severity of presentation and facilitate clinical decision making utilizing readily available data obtained with in 24 hr of CS presentation (Table 5).

Biomarkers

Evaluation of myocardial injury severity through biomarker data is paramount as they serve to support the diagnosis of CS, distinguish the hemodynamic profile, determine prognosis. The continuous assessment of the biomarker profile can portend the temporal status of a patient in shock and define treatment effects that may identify responders and non-responders to therapy. The changes in biomarkers overtime can also help predict myocardial recovery.

This table 5 Risk ScoreRisk score/trial	Components
Shock trial	Clinical Score: Age, shock on admission, end-organ hypoperfusion, anoxic brain injury, systolic blood pressure, prior CABG, noninferior MI, and creatinine \geq 1.9 mg/dL. Hemodynamic Score: LV stroke work, LVEF < 28%. The limitations of this score is based on the treat- ments offered at the time period (1993–1999), and not with contem- porary therapeutic resources existent to treat shock [38]
CardShock trial	ACS etiology, age, previous MI, prior CABG, confusion at presenta- tion, low LVEF, lactate levels, eGFR. The risk tool was validated in 384 patients from the IABP-SHOCK II trial and showed an AUC 0.85 for mortality prediction [39]
IABP-SHOCK II score	Age>73 years (1 point); 2) history of stroke (2 points); Glucose>191 mg/dL (1 point); Creatinine>1.5 mg/dL (1 point); lactate>5 mmol/L (2 points); TIMI flow<3 after PCI (2 points). Risk categories based on the points where low 0–2 points, intermediate 3–4 points and high 5–9 points with mortality rates of 23.8%, 49.2% and 76.6% respectively. The AUC for short-term mortality in AMI-CS was 0.73. When validated with patients included in CardShock, IABP-SHOCK II score showed a similar AUC 0.73 [40]

 Table 5
 Risk scores utilized in cardiogenic shock

Within 12 h of Ý metabolic panel, blood count, arterial blood gas and lactate should be obtained. Electrolyte evaluation, liver and renal function parameters are important elements of end organ perfusion Cardiac enzymes should be obtained serially and trend every 6 h. Frequent monitoring of cardiac markers can reveal the degree of injury the myocardium has sustained since the initial event. The following are some biomarkers that have demonstrated prognostic value in patients with cardiogenic shock:

- N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP). NT-proBNP should be obtained as it can help prognosticate outcomes in cardiogenic shock patients. In a sub study from the IABP shock trial, NT-proBNP values were higher among non survivors compared to survivors specially in those with impaired renal function, signaling a degree of advanced shock stage and end organ dysfunction [17]. It is important to note that high natriuretic peptide levels do not necessarily correlate with elevated filling pressures however in those admitted to ICU with shock, NT-proBNP remain an independent predictor of ICU mortality with a 15-fold risk of death compared to those with levels <1200 pg/mL [18].</p>
- Lactate. As a marker of tissue hypoperfusion, it has been associated with a high 30-day mortality. In patients presenting with ACS, admission lactate is predictor of in-hospital mortality when added to other indicators of shock including, systolic blood pressure, LV ejection fraction and peripheral hypoperfusion [19]. Similar to patients presenting with ACS, those with admitted to the ICU with acute decompensated heart failure (ADHF) can be risk stratified by determining the lactate on admission. In a study of 754 consecutive patients with CS-ADHF, the admission lactate had a greater power to predict in-hospital mortality with a twofold risk, especially in those with levels greater than 3.2 mmol/L [20]. Others have also shown that even in the absence of shock, patients with heart failure related to AMI, there is a 28% thirty day mortality when lactate is greater than 2.5 mmol/L [21]. It is recommended that lactate measurements should be obtain every 1-4 h and that repeated assessments can inform about persistence of shock. Absence of lactate clearance from blood is associated with a poor prognosis, as studies have shown that a clearance of less than 10% in 12 h from admission identifies a high-risk subset of patients for death [22]. Additionally, determining the level of bicarbonate at admission has been associated with a high mortality risk at short and long term follow up. In a study of 165 ischemic patients admitted with cardiogenic shock, those with in the lowest tertile of bicarbonate levels had a 15.5 (IQR 12.8–16.6) were associated with a twofold risk for 1 year mortality [23].
- **Troponin**. Cardiac troponin beyond its diagnostic power for detecting AMI, has been determined to be a successful tool in predicting mortality. The degree of troponin elevation can determine outcomes in patients presenting with CS-AMI. In the Global Registry of Acute Coronary Events, the maximum 24-h troponin (either I or T) presenting with non-ST segment elevation MI (NSTEMI) was analyzed in 16,318 patients. For each ten-fold increase in the baseline value, there was a significant linear trend for worse outcomes including ventricular arrhythmias, cardiogenic shock, new onset heart failure and death. The degree of troponin elevation was found to be a strong predictor for early and late mortality [24]. Furthermore, in patients that continue to have elevated circulating

troponin levels over the first 30 days following a hospitalization, it suggests ongoing myocardial injury associated with chronic remodeling and risk for all-cause mortality [25].

Echocardiography

Echocardiography in the acute setting can be beneficial in differentiating the causes of cardiogenic shock. A focused echocardiogram should be done in the initial evaluation of CS patients as it provides vital information about LV and RV contraction, intravascular fluid status, presence of pericardial effusion and tamponade. In those presenting with AMI, detecting mechanical complications is of sum importance to dictate the opportune therapies for stabilization. In other cases of CS, it help assess left ventricular function, right ventricular function and acute valvular heart disease. In the SHOCK trial, mechanical complications accounted for 12% of the causes of CS with severe valvular heart disease being the most common one (predominantly moderate mitral regurgitation), followed by ventricular septal rupture and tamponade. Moreover, in CS patients presenting with moderate MR, there is a 6 to sevenfold risk of 30-day mortality [4, 26]. However, in recent years the mortality related to mechanical complications in ST segment elevation MI (STEMI) patients have decreased to almost 25%, with free wall rupture representing now the most common complication, requiring pericardiocentesis due to cardiac tamponade with hemodynamic compromise [27].

In cases of cardiogenic shock secondary to acute heart failure (CS-AHF), distinct echocardiographic markers have been found to provide additional information to stratify patients at risk of worsening shock and poor prognosis. Studies have shown that a reduced ejection fraction, high wall motion score index, elevated E/e' ratio>13 m/s, moderate to severe mitral regurgitation, presence of LV outflow obstruction, elevated pulmonary systolic pressure and right ventricular involvement are associated with increase in hospital mortality [28]. Early recognition of these high-risk individuals can rapidly triage which patients need to escalate their hemodynamic support with either intravenous inotropic drugs and/ or mechanical circulatory support (MCS). Furthermore, once hemodynamic stabilization occurs, daily echocardiograms at the bedside can determine myocardial recovery or persistent systolic dysfunction, myocardial complications post-AMI and short term MCS device adjustment.

Hemodynamic Monitoring

Urgent assessment of signs of hypoperfusion in all patients with CS is recommended by obtaining continuous blood pressure monitoring through an arterial line, telemetry for heart rate and arrhythmia evaluation, continuous pulse oximetry for oxygen saturation, temperature and urine output. Additionally, pulse pressure should be closely monitored with a goal SBP \geq 90 mmHg and MAP 60–65 mmHg. Central venous catheter insertion should also be obtained to administer vasopressors or inotropes, monitor CVP and mixed central venous oxygen saturation.

The use of invasive hemodynamic through a pulmonary artery catheter (PAC) is critical for establishing the diagnosis of cardiogenic shock. Determining the cardiac index and filling pressures ascertains the category and severity of shock and risks stratify patients. It can also provide information about the fluid status, adequate oxygen delivery as determined by the mixed venous oxygen saturation (SVO2) and pulmonary vascular resistance. The PAC can also distinguish cardiogenic vs. mixed shock as the latter can be seen in 20% of CS cases.

Although PAC utilization in CS has decreased over the past decade, studies have shown that its use is associated with corrections in reclassification of CS, improved outcomes and increased survival. The goal of hemodynamic monitoring is directed towards improving tissue perfusion through stabilization or enhancing parameters that will make a significant impact on outcomes. It should not only focus on improving cardiac function but also reducing filling pressures. A sub-analysis from the CardSHock study investigating the use of PAC in a realworld setting showed that those managed by PAC received more often inotropes, vasopressors, mechanical ventilation, renal replacement therapy and mechanical assist devices. The cardiac index, cardiac power output index and stroke volume index where the highest predictors for 30-day mortality allowing for reclassification of CS patients [29]. This is partly due to better decision strategies to guide therapy based on the hemodynamic data obtained [30].

The PAC can assist in choosing which vasopressor or inotropic drug to initiate and titrate, select which patient will benefit from acute MCS insertion for isolated LV, isolated RV or biventricular support and guide weaning of pharmacological or mechanical support. This is of importance as response to any intervention is dependent on volume status, intrinsic RV function, systemic and vascular resistances, and presence of valvulopathy.

	Mean	Range
Right Atrium, mmHg	4	-1 to 8
Right Ventricle Systolic, mmHg	24	15 to 28
Right Ventricle End Diastolic, mmHg	4	0 to 8
Pulmonary Artery Systolic, mmHg	24	15 to 28
Pulmonary Artery Diastolic, mmHg	10	5 to 16
Pulmonary Artery Mean, mmHg	16	10–22
Pulmonary Capillary Wedge, mmHg	9	6 to 15

A multitude of hemodynamic parameters can be obtained by PAC measurement which the clinician can integrate into their decision making:

	Mean	Range
Cardiac Output, mL/min	6	4 to 8
Cardiac Index, mL/min/m ²	3.4	2.8 to 4.2
Systemic Vascular Resistance	14.4 (1150)	11.3 to 17.5 (900 to 1400)
Pulmonary Vascular Resistance	2.5 (200)	1.9 to 3.1 (150 to 250)
Transpulmonary Gradient	<12 mmHg	PAP mean—PCWP mean
Diastolic Pulmonary Gradient	<7 mmHg	PAP diastolic—PCPWP mean

The PAC can also assess if there is RV involvement in CS. Right ventricular dysfunction (RVD) can be defined by readily available hemodynamic parameters obtained by PAC which include:

- 1. Right atrial pressure (RAP)>10 mmHg
- 2. Right atrial to pulmonary capillary wedge ratio>0.63
- 3. Pulmonary artery pulsatility index (PAPi)<2. This parameter represents the ratio of PA pulse pressure to RAP calculated as: pulmonary artery systolic pressure—pulmonary artery diastolic pressure/right atrial pressure
- 4. Right ventricular stroke work index <450 g-m/m², determined by mean PA pressure—mean RAP x stroke volume index

Recognizing markers of RVD is important as 23–24% of CS-AMI present with RVD (CVP>10 mmHg), while 15% present with severe RVD (CVP>15 mmHg). Even more, biventricular failure (represented by elevated CVP>15 mmHg and PCWP>15 mmHg) is the most common hemodynamic profile occurring in 38% of patients which is associated with poor prognosis and not uncommonly requiring biventricular mechanical support [31].

Other important hemodynamic parameters that have proven to be significant prognosticators in CS are the cardiac power output (CPO) and cardiac power index (CPI) is derived from obtaining the cardiac output and mean arterial pressure. The CPO is calculated as CO x MAP/451. A CPO <0.6 W/m² which been associated with increased 30 day in-hospital mortality in patients with CS at 24 h after CS diagnosis and implementing supportive therapies [32, 33].

Since PAC is an invasive procedure, its insertion should be guided with caution as complications can occur in 5% of the cases including: insertion site hematoma, arterial puncture, pulmonary artery hemorrhage, pulmonary artery puncture, arrhythmias catheter related blood stream infections and endocarditis.

Hemodynamic Risk Profiling

The SCAI stages serves as a robust indicator for profiling CS patients based on their initial presentation (Table 1). With each incremental stage there is a 1.53 to 6.8-fold increase in-hospital mortality risk [34]. Among those with ongoing hypoperfusion and deterioration based on presence of hemodynamic indicators of

biventricular failure (high RAP:PCPW ratio, low CPO, low PAPi), requiring multiple vasopressors for ongoing support, are at highest risk for becoming refractory to therapy and at greatest need for MCS. The in-hospital mortality for those in refractory shock can range from 40 to 67% [35]. Thus, early recognition and rapid progression of the severity of CS is critical for survival and improved outcomes.

Hemodynamic Goal Directed Therapy

Initial evaluation of invasive hemodynamics during the acute phase of shock can serve to identify and institute adequate support measures for stabilization. The initial measurements of cardiac index, pulmonary capillary wedge pressure, pulmonary artery oxygen saturation, pulmonary artery pulsatility index can assist clinicians in determining which therapies provide the maximum benefit. Studies have shown that when interventions are started on early hours of CS, survival outcomes improve. In patients with CS-AMI requiring MCS in the first 12–24 h of presentation, a CPO >0.6 W and lactate <4 mg/dL show a 95% in-hospital survival to discharge compared to those with a CPO < 0.6 W and lactate >4 mg/dL who have a predicted 30% survival. Additionally, once MCS is initiated more than 50% of patients reduce the number of inotropes, improve cardiac performance measures, oxygenation, lactate and achieve a lower heart rate. Establishing shock protocols emphasizes standard practices that can promptly identify patients in need of early MCS.

Even though macro-circulatory changes can be seen with prompt fluid resuscitation, micro-circulatory dysfunction can persist signaling poor perfusion pressure. Correction of flow alterations occurring at tissue level is critical as impaired endothelial vasoreactivity, reduced blood cell rheology, platelet aggregation and micro-thrombosis can accelerate organ failure and make all efforts of MCS futile. Optimization of oxygen transport based ScvO₂, lactate, veno-arterial difference in CO₂ and sublingual microcirculatory flow by administration of fluids, red blood cell transfusions, and inotropes is in parallel important to MCS initiation [36].

Establishing Weaning Versus Dependence

One of the overarching goals of every shock patient should be to achieve myocardial recovery and survival to discharge. Daily assessments are required to evaluate underlying cardiac function, hemodynamic changes, biomarker trend and vasopressor requirements. The later has been proven to be a marker of poor prognosis when the number of vasopressors or inotropes escalates rapidly. Indeed, patients who required more than 2 inotropes have a 65% 30-day mortality risk compared to those with one or none vasopressors. By assessing hemodynamic trends, the clinician can rapidly identify if escalation or de-escalation of support is warranted. Several observational studies and inherent institutional protocols have been established to dictate when a patient can be weaned off support. These include:

- 1. Cardiac index \geq 2.2 L/min/m²
- 2. Cardiac power output > 0.6 W
- 3. PCWP \leq 18 mmHg
- 4. $PAPi \ge 1.5$
- 5. MAP \geq 65 mmHg
- 6. $CVP \le 15 \text{ mmHg}$
- 7. Heart Rate < 120 bpm
- 8. LVEF $\geq 25\%$
- 9. TAPSE>14 mm

If such recovery parameters are not met then consideration for increasing hemodynamic support should be considered with either a short-term MCS (impella, intra-aortic balloon pump, VA-ECMO). If such weaning trials are occurring while on MCS then evaluation for advanced therapies are to be sought including durable left ventricular assist device or heart transplantation.

Timing of Percutaneous Mechanical Circulatory Support

The initial management strategies to stabilize CS includes IV fluids, inotropes and vasopressors, however about 8% of patients evolve into progressive or refractory shock with an expected mortality of ~70%. Moreover, mortality increases rapidly with the number of vasoactive drugs use with only 35% survival when 2 or more inotropes are used and are associated with increase myocardial oxygen consumption, increase afterload and vasoconstriction that may impair microcirculation [37]. In these stages aggressive interventions are needed to stop the accelerated pace of shock. Short-term MCS inserted either percutaneously or surgically can be used as a bridge to myocardial recovery, bridge to decision when neurological function is unclear or multi-organ failure may preclude a decision for advanced heart failure therapies including LVAD or heart transplant; or as bridge to another durable device. The advantage of short-term MCS is to allow hemodynamic optimization and potential reversal of end-organ dysfunction before moving forward with other therapies or palliative care.

It is important then to recognize the initial insult leading to CS and understand the underlying myocardial reserve to withstand circulatory collapse. The primary objective of managing CS patients is to achieve coronary perfusion via revascularization when needed, achieve circulatory support to preserve a viable mean blood pressure and unload the left and/or right ventricle to reduce the deleterious effects of increase afterload and oxygen demand.

The 2015 SCAI statement on the use of percutaneous MCS recommends implementing early placement of approved MCS devices in those who failed to stabilize with initial support. Prompt ventricular unloading enhances myocardial performance and reduces mechanical power expenditure by: (1) lowering PCWC; (2) minimizing myocardial wall stress and ventricular work; (3) reducing myocardial oxygen demand; (4) augmenting coronary perfusion. Studies have shown that early MCS implementation with the impella device is associated with better survival specially in those when MCS is implemented less than 75 min from shock onset. In a study of 287 patients presenting with CS-AMI who underwent percutaneous coronary intervention with a mean LVEF of 25%, only 44 survive to discharge. Time to MCS was associated with improved survival before PCI or requiring inotropes and vasopressors [37].

Although observational and registry data suggest that early initiation of MCS favors good outcomes, appropriate patient selection including patient age, comorbidities, hemodynamic and laboratory values institutional experience and device related complications are key elements that have to be taken into account when consider MCS.

Shock Team Approach

Our current understanding of CS has evolved over the past decade with attention being focused towards preservation of end organ perfusion while minimizing adverse events when patients are supported on conventional therapy. The key to improve outcomes in CS is to stablish a pattern of early recognition markers of CS to allocate appropriate therapies. The success of door-to balloon time in STEMI has been in large part due to training of emergency personnel to detect clinical, ECG, and laboratory criteria of acute ischemia due to coronary occlusion. A similar approach should be boarded for early triage of patients and avoid delaying evaluation and management of CS patients. Cardiac shock centers have demonstrated improved outcomes when care pathways are established and followed based on current best practices standards. When a standardized approach is use survival from CS can improve dramatically. In a study of 204 patients, from the INOVA group from a task force to develop a management protocol for CS patients. The algorithm approach focused on 5 objectives:

- 1. Rapid identification of the CS state
- 2. Early invasive hemodynamic implementation
- 3. Minimize use of vasopressors and inotropes
- 4. Early MCS implant for the left and/or right ventricle
- 5. Assess and achieve myocardial recovery

The authors noted that after implementing the shock team approach the survival increased from 47% for CS-AMI and CS_ADHF to 58 and 77%. The most common cause of death was multiorgan failure in 80% of the patients. Those who required MCS for every 1-h delay in escalation to MCS was associated with a 10% increase risk of death. Overall, the complexity of CS etiologies requires a multi-disciplinary team approach with the clinical skills, hemodynamic expertise and technical skills for percutaneous MCS insertion and management. In tertiary shock care centers, the team is mostly conformed of interventional cardiologist, advanced heart failure specialist, nephrologist, critical care specialist, cardiac surgeon, palliative care, neurologist, pharmacist. A proposed algorithm based on current scientific statement for CS management (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Cardiogenic shock management algorithm

Key Points

- 1. Identify Type and severity of Cardiogenic Shock: ACS vs non-ACS
- 2. Use hemodynamic data to guide clinical decision making
- 3. Use Vasoactive Drugs to maintain MAP>65 mmHg
- 4. Trend hemodynamic and biomarker data (CPO, PAPi, lactate, CO2, creatinine)
- 5. Expedite Early Ventricular Unloading with MCS and Select type
- 6. Enhance Coronary perfusion

- 7. Preserve Renal and Hepatic Function
- 8. Maintain Vascular access
- 9. Achieve recovery and survival
- 10. Refractory Shock = Escalation to MCS

Case Conclusion

After unsuccessful improvement in the patient's hemodynamic, clinical and perfusion status, a decision is made to start mechanical circulatory support with notable improvement in atrial and ventricular filling pressures, cardiac index and lactate. Weeks after maintaining stabilization with MCS the patient underwent successful heart transplantation without complications:

	Inotrope	24 hours post-MCS
RA, mmHg	11	8
PA, mmHg	55/33/39	44/20/29
PCWP, mmHg	21	17
PA Saturation, %	47	58
AO Saturation, %	99	100
Cardiac Output, L/min	2.3/1.8	2.9/2.2
Cardiac Index, L/min/m ²	1.8	2.2
SVR, dyn/cm/sec ⁵	1600	2041
PVR, Woods unit	237	248
RA:PCWP ratio	0.52	0.47
PAPi ratio	2	3
CPO, watts	0.41	0.51
BP, mmHg	106/67/80	96/44/79
HR, bpm	132	88
Lactate mmol/L	2.4	1.6

Conclusion

Cardiogenic shock is complex syndrome that requires a multidisciplinary approach to improve outcomes. The current SCAI classification can allow for proper differentiation of CS subsets and determine the hemodynamic profile. The advantage of utilizing PAC hemodynamic guided therapy can confirm eh presence and severity of CS where the cold and wet is the most frequent CS phenotype. The use of vasopressors and inotrope for initial stabilization of CS patients is beneficial, however the longer duration on these vasoactive drugs is counterbalanced by their negative side effects. Trending arterial lactate is helpful in prognosticating and identifying refractory CS. The early recognition of high-risk CS patients will allow for prompt implementation of MCS to improve cardiac while avoiding the cardiotoxic effect of vasopressors. Similarly, those patients that fail to achieve myocardial recovery should be considered for long term durable MCS.

Future Direction

The Shock team approach has been popularized in tertiary centers and has quickly been adopted by many hospital systems. The early mobilization of a multidisciplinary team to address medical and surgical needs of the patient may prove to be cost-effective and timely. Early recognition of cardiogenic shock as well has been the center of discussion with artificial intelligence embedded in electronic medical record systems. These ubiquitous systems actively collect continuous variables to alert practitioners by the use of best practice advisories.

References

- van Diepen S, Katz JN, Albert NM, Henry TD, Jacobs AK, Kapur NK, et al. Contemporary management of cardiogenic shock: a scientific statement from the American heart association. Circulation. 2017;136(16):e232–68.
- Baran DA, Grines CL, Bailey S, Burkhoff D, Hall SA, Henry TD, et al. SCAI clinical expert consensus statement on the classification of cardiogenic shock: This document was endorsed by the American College of Cardiology (ACC), the American Heart Association (AHA), the Society of Critical Care Medicine (SCCM), and the Society of Thoracic Surgeons (STS) in April 2019. Cathet Cardiovasc Interv: Official J Soc Card Angiography Interv. 2019;94(1):29–37.
- Ouweneel DM, Eriksen E, Sjauw KD, van Dongen IM, Hirsch A, Packer EJ, et al. Percutaneous Mechanical Circulatory Support Versus Intra-Aortic Balloon Pump in Cardiogenic Shock After Acute Myocardial Infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;69(3):278–87.
- Hochman JS, Buller CE, Sleeper LA, Boland J, Dzavik V, Sanborn TA, et al. Cardiogenic shock complicating acute myocardial infarction--etiologies, management and outcome: a report from the SHOCK Trial Registry. SHould we emergently revascularize Occluded Coronaries for cardiogenic shock? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2000;36(3 Suppl A):1063–70.
- Mahmoud AN, Elgendy IY, Mojadidi MK, Wayangankar SA, Bavry AA, Anderson RD, et al. prevalence, causes, and predictors of 30-Day readmissions following hospitalization with acute myocardial infarction complicated by cardiogenic shock: findings from the 2013–2014 national readmissions database. J Am Heart Assoc. 2018;7(6).
- Berg DD, Bohula EA, van Diepen S, Katz JN, Alviar CL, Baird-Zars VM, et al. Epidemiology of Shock in Contemporary Cardiac Intensive Care Units. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2019;12(3):e005618.

- Prondzinsky R, Unverzagt S, Lemm H, Wegener NA, Schlitt A, Heinroth KM, et al. Interleukin-6, -7, -8 and -10 predict outcome in acute myocardial infarction complicated by cardiogenic shock. Clin Res Cardiol. 2012;101(5):375–84.
- 8. Jardin F. Ventricular interdependence: how does it impact on hemodynamic evaluation in clinical practice? Intensive Care Med. 2003;29(3):361–3.
- Lahm T, McCaslin CA, Wozniak TC, Ghumman W, Fadl YY, Obeidat OS, et al. Medical and surgical treatment of acute right ventricular failure. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010;56(18):1435–46.
- Drazner MH, Hellkamp AS, Leier CV, Shah MR, Miller LW, Russell SD, et al. Value of clinician assessment of hemodynamics in advanced heart failure: the ESCAPE trial. Circ Heart Fail. 2008;1(3):170–7.
- Amsterdam EA, Wenger NK, Brindis RG, Casey DE Jr, Ganiats TG, Holmes DR Jr, et al. 2014 AHA/ACC Guideline for the Management of Patients with Non-ST-Elevation Acute Coronary Syndromes: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;64(24):e139–228.
- 12. Moon JC, De Arenaza DP, Elkington AG, Taneja AK, John AS, Wang D, et al. The pathologic basis of Q-wave and non-Q-wave myocardial infarction: a cardiovascular magnetic resonance study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004;44(3):554–60.
- 13. Gorenek B, Blomstrom Lundqvist C, Brugada Terradellas J, Camm AJ, Hindricks G, Huber K, et al. Cardiac arrhythmias in acute coronary syndromes: position paper from the joint EHRA, ACCA, and EAPCI task force. Europace. 2014;16(11):1655–73.
- 14. Menon V, White H, LeJemtel T, Webb JG, Sleeper LA, Hochman JS. The clinical profile of patients with suspected cardiogenic shock due to predominant left ventricular failure: a report from the SHOCK Trial Registry. SHould we emergently revascularize Occluded Coronaries in cardiogenic shock? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2000;36(3 Suppl A):1071–6.
- van Diepen S, Vavalle JP, Newby LK, Clare R, Pieper KS, Ezekowitz JA, et al. The systemic inflammatory response syndrome in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. Crit Care Med. 2013;41(9):2080–7.
- 16. Zadok OIB, Ben-Gal T, Abelow A, Shechter A, Zusman O, Iakobishvili Z, et al. Temporal Trends in the Characteristics, Management and Outcomes of Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome According to Their Killip Class. Am J Cardiol.
- 17. Lemm H, Prondzinsky R, Geppert A, Russ M, Huber K, Werdan K, et al. BNP and NT-proBNP in patients with acute myocardial infarction complicated by cardiogenic shock: results from the IABP Shock trial. Critical Care. 2010;14(Suppl 1):P146-P.
- 18. Januzzi JL, Morss A, Tung R, Pino R, Fifer MA, Thompson BT, et al. Natriuretic peptide testing for the evaluation of critically ill patients with shock in the intensive care unit: a prospective cohort study. Crit Care. 2006;10(1):R37.
- Frydland M, Møller JE, Wiberg S, Lindholm MG, Hansen R, Henriques JPS, et al. Lact Prognostic Factor Patients Admitted Suspect ST-Elevat Myocardial Infar. 2019;51(3):321–7.
- Kawase T, Toyofuku M, Higashihara T, Okubo Y, Takahashi L, Kagawa Y, et al. Validation of lactate level as a predictor of early mortality in acute decompensated heart failure patients who entered intensive care unit. J Cardiol. 2015;65(2):164–70.
- Gjesdal G, Braun OÖ, Smith JG, Scherstén F, Tydén P. Blood lactate is a predictor of shortterm mortality in patients with myocardial infarction complicated by heart failure but without cardiogenic shock. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2018;18(1):8.
- 22. Attana P, Lazzeri C, Chiostri M, Picariello C, Gensini GF, Valente S. Lactate clearance in cardiogenic shock following ST elevation myocardial infarction: a pilot study. Acute Cardiac Care. 2012;14(1):20–6.
- 23. Wigger O, Bloechlinger S, Berger D, Häner J, Zanchin T, Windecker S, et al. Baseline serum bicarbonate levels independently predict short-term mortality in critically ill patients with ischaemic cardiogenic shock. Eur Heart J: Acute Cardiovasc Care. 2016;7(1):45–52.

- 24. Jolly SS, Shenkman H, Brieger D, Fox KA, Yan AT, Eagle KA, et al. Quantitative troponin and death, cardiogenic shock, cardiac arrest and new heart failure in patients with non-ST-segment elevation acute coronary syndromes (NSTE ACS): insights from the Global Registry of Acute Coronary Events. Heart. 2011;97(3):197.
- Meredith AJ, Dai DL, Chen V, Hollander Z, Ng R, Kaan A, et al. Circulating biomarker responses to medical management vs. mechanical circulatory support in severe inotrope-dependent acute heart failure. ESC Heart Fail. 2016;3(2):86–96.
- Picard MH, Davidoff R, Sleeper LA, Mendes LA, Thompson CR, Dzavik V, et al. Echocardiographic predictors of survival and response to early revascularization in cardiogenic shock. Circulation. 2003;107(2):279–84.
- Puerto E, Viana-Tejedor A, Martinez-Selles M, Dominguez-Perez L, Moreno G, Martin-Asenjo R, et al. Temporal trends in mechanical complications of acute myocardial infarction in the elderly. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2018;72(9):959–66.
- 28. Citro R, Rigo F, D'Andrea A, Ciampi Q, Parodi G, Provenza G, et al. Echocardiographic correlates of acute heart failure, cardiogenic shock, and in-hospital mortality in tako-tsubo cardiomyopathy. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2014;7(2):119–29.
- Sionis A, Rivas-Lasarte M, Mebazaa A, Tarvasmäki T, Sans-Roselló J, Tolppanen H, et al. Current use and impact on 30-Day mortality of pulmonary artery catheter in cardiogenic shock patients: results from the CardShock study. J Intensive Care Med. 2019:0885066619828959.
- Bellumkonda L, Gul B, Masri SC. Evolving Concepts in Diagnosis and Management of Cardiogenic Shock. Am J Cardiol. 2018;122(6):1104–10.
- Lala A, Guo Y, Xu J, Esposito M, Morine K, Karas R, et al. Right Ventricular Dysfunction in Acute Myocardial Infarction Complicated by Cardiogenic Shock: A Hemodynamic Analysis of the Should We Emergently Revascularize Occluded Coronaries for Cardiogenic Shock (SHOCK) Trial and Registry. J Card Fail. 2018;24(3):148–56.
- 32. Fincke R, Hochman JS, Lowe AM, Menon V, Slater JN, Webb JG, et al. Cardiac power is the strongest hemodynamic correlate of mortality in cardiogenic shock: a report from the SHOCK trial registry. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004;44(2):340–8.
- 33. Tehrani BN, Truesdell AG, Sherwood MW, Desai S, Tran HA, Epps KC, et al. Standardized Team-Based Care for Cardiogenic Shock. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2019;73(13):1659–69.
- Jentzer JC, van Diepen S, Barsness GW, Henry TD, Menon V, Rihal CS, et al. Cardiogenic Shock Classification to Predict Mortality in the Cardiac Intensive Care Unit. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2019;74(17):2117–28.
- Basir MB, Kapur NK, Patel K, Salam MA, Schreiber T, Kaki A, et al. Improved Outcomes Associated with the use of Shock Protocols: Updates from the National Cardiogenic Shock Initiative. Cathet Cardiovasc Interv: Official J Soc Card Angiography Interv. 2019;93(7):1173–83.
- 36. De Backer D. Detailing the cardiovascular profile in shock patients. Crit Care. 2017;21(Suppl 3):311.
- Basir MB, Schreiber TL, Grines CL, Dixon SR, Moses JW, Maini BS, et al. Effect of Early Initiation of Mechanical Circulatory Support on Survival in Cardiogenic Shock. Am J Cardiol. 2017;119(6):845–51.
- Sleeper LA, Reynolds HR, White HD, Webb JG, Dzavik V, Hochman JS. A severity scoring system for risk assessment of patients with cardiogenic shock: a report from the SHOCK Trial and Registry. Am Heart J. 2010;160(3):443–50.
- Thiele H, Ohman EM, de Waha-Thiele S, Zeymer U, Desch S. Management of cardiogenic shock complicating myocardial infarction: an update 2019. Eur Heart J. 2019;40(32):2671–83.
- Poss J, Koster J, Fuernau G, Eitel I, de Waha S, Ouarrak T, et al. Risk Stratification for Patients in Cardiogenic Shock After Acute Myocardial Infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;69(15):1913–20.

Temporary Mechanical Circulatory Support



Daniel Walters and Ryan Reeves

Clinical Vignette 1

A 55 year-old man with a past medical history notable for HIV infection and AIDS, tobacco abuse, coronary artery disease, and a prior percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) to an unknown vessel presented with acute chest pain and anterior ST-segment elevations. He was hypotensive with a blood pressure of 85/52, tachycardic with a heart rate of 112 in sinus rhythm, and demonstrated crackles on pulmonary auscultation. Emergent angiography demonstrated left anterior descending artery stent thrombosis. Successful angioplasty and stenting were performed, however he remained persistently hypotensive and required norepinephrine for blood pressure support. Subsequently, a 50 mL IABP was placed from the right femoral artery. He was brought to the cardiac care unit, where over the next 48 h his condition improved. The IABP was weaned and removed on hospital day three with manual pressure for hemostasis, and discharged to home on hospital day five (Tables 1, 2, 3).

Introduction: IABP

The IABP was the first widely available non-pharmacologic modality that could alter cardiovascular hemodynamics and for decades was the standard therapeutic device for percutaneous MCS [1]. It continues to be the most widely used system

D. Walters \cdot R. Reeves (\boxtimes)

Division of Cardiology, Department of Internal Medicine, University of California, San Diego, USA e-mail: rreeves@health.ucsd.edu

R. Reeves 9452 Medical Center Dr #7411, La Jolla, CA 92037, USA

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_2

Table 1 SCAI/ACC/HFSA/STS consensus statement summary

Suggested indications for percutaneous mechanical circulatory support	

- Complications of acute myocardial infarction
- Severe heart failure in the setting of non-ischemic cardiomyopathy
- Acute cardiac allograft failure
- Post-transplant right ventricular failure
- · Patients slow to wean from cardiopulmonary bypass following heart surgery
- · Refractory arrhythmias
- Prophylactic use for high risk percutaneous coronary intervention*
- · High-risk or complex ablation of ventricular tachycardia
- · High-risk percutaneous valve interventions

*HR-PCI encompass those age 70, ongoing ischemic and LV systolic dysfunction EF<40%, previous CABG, acute coronary syndromes complicated by unstable hemodynamics (wedge pressure \geq 15 mmHg, mean pulmonary arterial pressure \geq 50 mmHg), post-AMI angina, Killip class III-IV and CS

with approximately 50,000 per year being implanted for cardiogenic shock alone [2]. Indications for use include the following: acute or chronic cardiogenic shock, decompensated congestive heart failure refractory to medical therapy, acute myocardial infarction (AMI), critical left main or three vessel coronary artery disease, adjunctive support for high risk/complex PCI, and refractory arrhythmia [3, 4]. Introduced through the peripheral vasculature, the IABP is advanced over a guidewire to the proximal descending thoracic aorta, just distal to the great vessels. The hemodynamic effects of counterpulsation include: increased diastolic pressure and coronary perfusion, decreased afterload, increased stroke volume, and decreased stroke work and myocardial consumption, which lead to an improvement in cardiac output (0.5-1.5 L/min) and metabolic clearance of lactate [3, 5-7]. The hemodynamic benefits are dependent on balloon position, presence of cardiac arrhythmias and tachycardia, timing of balloon inflation, and systemic vascular resistance. Systemic anticoagulation may reduce device-associated thrombosis, and is recommended. If ongoing bleeding precludes anticoagulation, a systole to balloon inflation ratio of 1:1 is recommended to reduce stasis and the potential for thrombosis.

IABP and Acute Myocardial Infarction

Initial reports demonstrated the benefits of the IABP in AMI complicated by cardiogenic shock, with a significant reduction of in-hospital mortality, however, patients receiving IABP were younger, more often received inotropic support, and were more aggressively treated with coronary angioplasty and bypass surgery [8–10]. This early experience, although derived from a sub-analysis of

support
circulatory
mechanical
percutaneous
use of
the
regarding
recommendations
Societal
Table 2

Societies	Publication	Year	Recommendation(s)	Strength	LOE
ACC/AHA/SCAI	Guidelines for Percutaneous Coronary Intervention	2011	• A hemodynamic support device is recommended for patients with CS after STEMI who do not quickly stabilize with pharmacologic therapy	I	В
			• Elective insertion of an appropriate hemodynamic support device as an adjunct to PCI may be reasonable in carefully selected high-risk patients	IIb	C
АНА	Scientific Statement on Recommendations for the use of Mechanical Circulatory Support: Device Strategies and Patient Selection	2012	 Urgent nondurable MCS is reasonable in hemodynamically compromised HF patients with end-organ dysfunction and/or relative contraindications to heart transplantation/durable MCS that are expected to improve with time and restoration of an improved hemodynamic profile 	Па	C
ISHLT	Guidelines for Mechanical Circulatory Support	2013	• The use of temporary mechanical support should be strongly con- sidered in patients with multiorgan failure, sepsis, or on mechanical ventilation to allow successful optimization of clinical status and neurologic assessment prior to placement of a long-term MCSD	Ι	C
ACCF/AHA	Guidelines for the Management of Heart Failure	2013	 Nondurable MCS, including the use of percutaneous and extracor- poreal ventricular assist devices (VADs), is reasonable as a "bridge to recovery" or "bridge to decision" for carefully selected patients with HFrEF with acute, profound hemodynamic compromise 	IIa	В
ACCF/AHA	Guidelines for the Management of ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction	2013	• The use of mechanical circulatory support is reasonable in patients with STEMI who are hemodynamically unstable and require urgent CABG	IIa	C
			• The use of IABP counterpulsation can be useful for patients with cardiogenic with CS after STEMI who do not quickly stabilize with pharmacological therapy	IIa	В
			 Alternative LV assist devices for circulatory support may be considered in patients with refractory CS 	IIb	С

Device	Augmentation	Access	Flow (L/min)	Contraindications
IABP	Pneumatic counterpulsation	Femoral artery	Approx. 0.5	Severe AI, aortic dissection, AAA, anticoagulation intolerance, severe PAD
Impella 2.5	Continuous axial flow	Femoral artery	Up to 2.5	Severe AI/AS, mechanical AV, significant VSD/ ASD, LV throm- bus, severe PAD, anticoagulation intolerance
Impella CP	Continuous axial flow	Femoral artery	Up to 3.8	As above
Impella 5.0	Continuous axial flow	Femoral artery	Up to 5.0	As above
TandemHeart	Continuous centrifugal flow	Femoral artery, central vein	Up to 5.0	Atrial thrombus, severe PAD, VSD, anticoagulation intolerance
ECMO	Continuous centrifugal flow	Femoral artery, central vein	Up to 7.0	Severe PAD, right atrial thrombus, anticoagulation intolerance

Table 3 Percutaneous mechanical support device characteristics

non-randomized data, was convincing enough that the IABP soon became a pivotal component of post infarction cardiogenic shock care.

The first randomized controlled trial investigating the use of counterpulsation in post infarction cardiogenic shock was the IABP-SHOCK II trial [11]. Sixhundred patients with post infarction cardiogenic shock were randomized to IABP or standard care. At 30 days there was no difference in the primary outcome of allcause mortality, approximately 40% in each arm. There was also no difference in major secondary endpoints including ICU length of stay, lactate levels, renal function, major bleeding, peripheral ischemic events, stroke, and sepsis. Twelve month follow-up confirmed no difference in mortality, repeat revascularization, reinfarction, and stroke between the two groups [12]. Limitations of the trial included a high cross-over rate of 10% to IABP in the standard care arm. Furthermore, IABP placement occurred after coronary intervention in over 85% of patients, making it unclear if earlier insertion might show greater benefit. Given that these findings lacked clear evidence of the use of IABP in post-infarction cardiogenic shock, the 2013 ACC/AHA reduced the recommendation for the use of IABP in cardiogenic shock after ST-elevation myocardial infarction not rapidly reversed by pharmacologic therapy from a Class I indication to a IIa indication (LOE B) [13].

Clinical Vignette 2

After two weeks of intermittent chest pain, a 53 year-old male presented to the emergency room with severe chest pain and shortness of breath. He rapidly developed hypotension requiring dopamine and hypoxic respiratory failure for which he was intubated. During intubation the patient became progressively more hypotensive and electrocardiography demonstrated diffuse ST-segment depression in the precordial and limb leads. He was emergently brought to the catheterization laboratory and was found to have complete thrombotic occlusion of the left main coronary artery. Femoral access was rapidly obtained and an Impella CP was placed followed by successful revascularization of the left main coronary artery with a drug-eluting. The patient ultimately stabilized with three days of hemodynamic support. After successful weaning of the Impella CP, device removal was planned in the catheterization laboratory. Radial artery access was obtained, and a long sheath advanced along with a 7.0 mm peripheral balloon over a long wire to the level of the arteriotomy within the femoral artery. The device was removed, and the balloon inflated at four atmospheres of pressure for a duration of five minutes. During this time period, light manual pressure was applied. Subsequently five minutes of manual pressure was applied, after which visual inspection demonstrated no external extravasation and angiography demonstrated no internal extravasation nor dissection, thrombus formation, or other concern. All equipment was thus removed, and a compression band placed at the radial arteriotomy.

Introduction: Impella

The Impella (Abiomed Inc., Danvers, MA) is an axial flow pump that is seated in the left ventricle (LV) across the aortic valve. The device first received CE Mark approval in 2005 and FDA approval in 2008. The pump is placed via femoral, subclavian, or axillary arterial access and provides continuous flow from the LV directly into the ascending aorta. The left ventricular Impella family consists of three devices with different maximum flow capabilities that increase as device caliber increases. The Impella 2.5 and Impella CP are able to provide up to 2.5 L/min and 3.5 L/min of flow, respectively, and can be placed percutaneously, while the larger Impella 5.0 provides up to 5.0 L/min of flow and is placed with a surgical cutdown. The motor housing is at the distal end of the catheter and is significantly larger than the catheter shaft, which determines the size of the respective access sheaths. After achieving an activated clotting time greater than 250 s, the device is placed over a guidewire in the left ventricle. Heparinized saline is continually infused through the pump catheter while the device is in place. After placement, the access sheath may be removed and a maintenance sheath that tapers to a smaller caliber within the vessel is secured in place. This allows for increased distal perfusion relative to the access sheath and decreases the risk of limb ischemia. In order to prevent endovascular trauma and limb ischemia, a surgical cutdown and synthetic graft anastomosis are typically required for placement of the larger Impella 5.0 access and maintenance sheaths.

The device was first used as an alternative to the IABP in the early 2000s for post-cardiotomy patients, as adjunctive hemodynamic support during high risk PCI, and in patients with AMI associated cardiogenic shock [14–18]. Investigations for other indications have been limited by clinical trial enrollment issues [19]. The Impella 2.5 and CP are FDA approved for elective and urgent high-risk PCI, as well as cardiogenic shock within 48 h of acute myocardial infarction for a duration of up to four days. The Impella 5.0 is approved for up to fourteen days of shock-related circulatory support. In clinical practice these devices are used for extended periods as dictated by a patient's response to therapy and the occurrence of complications.

The Impella RP uses a similar principle to unload the right ventricle and improve pulmonary arterial flow. After obtaining femoral venous access, the device is placed antegrade through the right-sided cardiac chambers to deliver blood through the proximal inflow port in the right ventricle to the more distal pulmonary artery. The device is approved for up to fourteen days of support for right ventricular failure after left ventricular assist device (LVAD) placement, transplant, infarction, or open-heart surgery [20].

Impella and Cardiogenic Shock

There have been two major trials assessing the use of Impella in cardiogenic shock. The first was the ISAR-SHOCK trial in 2008, where the Impella 2.5 was compared to IABP in post infarction cardiogenic shock in a randomized, nonblinded fashion [17]. There was a statistically significant improvement in cardiac index in the Impella group, with an increase of 0.49 L/min/m² versus 0.11 L/min/m². Secondary endpoints of mortality, hemolysis, and serum lactate were not statistically different. Mortality in each arm was 46% and highlights the elevated baseline risk of the trial subjects. The second trial, RECOVER I, was a prospective, single-arm trial to assess post-cardiotomy use of the Impella 5.0 [21]. Sixteen patients underwent implantation immediately after CABG and/or valvular surgery or heart transplantation. The device was implanted upon identification of cardiogenic shock after weaning from cardiopulmonary bypass. The primary safety endpoint was the frequency of death and stroke at 30 days or discharge. The primary efficacy endpoint was survival of the patient to implementation of the next therapy, including recovery. After insertion, cardiac index and mean arterial pressure (MAP) increased from 1.65 to 2.7 L/min/m² and 71.4 to 83.1 mmHg, respectively, and pulmonary artery diastolic pressure decreased from 28.0 to 19.8 mmHg. There was one death and one stroke; native heart recovery occurred in 15 of 16 patients. Survival at 30 days was 93%, and 75% at one year [22]. The current ACC/AHA

guidelines for the use of Impella indicate that the device may be considered as an alternative to IABP for circulatory support in patients with refractory cardiogenic shock (Class IIB, LOE C) [20].

Clinical Vignette 3

A 74 year old male with coronary artery disease and remote CABG surgery presented with acute decompensated heart failure. His ejection fraction was moderately depressed and there was a torn chordae resulting in severe eccentric mitral regurgitation on echocardiography. After initial medical interventions, he remained in cardiogenic shock and was transferred to a tertiary center. He underwent emergent veno-arterial ECMO and Impella CP placement on arrival and patent bypass grafts were confirmed. Multi-organ dysfunction persisted and twenty-four hours later, he returned to the catheterization laboratory for placement of a Tandem Heart (LivaNova PLC, London, UK), cannula in the left atrium. The cannula was inserted in a Y-configuration into the ECMO circuit so as to further unload the left ventricle and decrease the impact of the severe mitral regurgitation (Fig. 3). His clinical status markedly improved as the degree of mitral regurgitation was significantly less. His urinary output increased, liver function returned, and the vasoactive agents were successfully titrated down. After review by the heart team, he was felt to be at prohibitive risk for surgical repair of the mitral valve, therefore the left atrial cannula was removed and percutaneous mitral valve repair was performed with the MitraClip (Abbott Vascular, Santa Clara, CA) system through the trans-septal puncture. His hemodynamics improved and within three days he underwent ECMO decannulation and removal of the Impella catheter (Figs. 1, 2, 4).

Introduction: TandemHeart

The TandemHeart is a centrifugal flow pump that entirely bypasses the left ventricle. Introduced via the femoral vein, the catheter is placed across the interatrial septum into the left atrium; blood is displaced through the pump, circulating back to the body via a femoral arterial catheter. The TandemHeart cannulae does not enter the left ventricle, reducing structural concerns associated with Impella use, however it does require a septal puncture for placement. The system provides up to 5.0 L/min of output and anticoagulation is achieved within the circuit. Research into device use began in the early 2000's in patients with shock, direct comparison with the IABP, indirect comparisons to Impella, and high risk coronary intervention [23–26]. Currently, the device is FDA approved for support for up to 6 h, although as with the Impella device, in clinical practice use can extend well beyond this time period.



Fig. 1 Axillary access: The ideal location is between the thoracoacromial and lateral thoracic arteries. The axillary segment between these two branches is extra-thoracic and proximal to the crossing of the branches of the brachial plexus

TandemHeart and Cardiogenic Shock

A case series of TandemHeart demonstrated safety and efficacy of use for acute myocardial infarction complicated by cardiogenic shock, with a 30-day mortality rate of 44%. This led to a randomized, prospective, non-blinded trial comparing TandemHeart to IABP [24]. While TandemHeart was found to reduce lactate and intracardiac pressures along with a higher cardiac power index, mortality was no different between the groups, and those randomized to TandemHeart had a higher risk of limb ischemia and severe bleeding. A subsequent case series found similar hemodynamic and complication rates, and importantly, a comparable mortality rate at 30 days and 6 months (40.2% and 45.3%, respectively) [27]. A meta-analysis comparing percutaneous LVAD including TandemHeart and Impella to the IABP found that percutaneous LVAD had significantly higher cardiac index and mean arterial pressure, and significantly lower PCWP [28]. A 30-day mortality difference did not exist between the groups. Percutaneous LVAD support had a higher, albeit not significant, incidence of leg ischemia (RR 2.59, p=0.31) while significant bleeding was more frequently observed with TandemHeart (RR 2.35).


Fig. 2 Balloon assisted closure to remove a femoral sheath from a secondary access site. Panels A and B detail the approach and major steps when the radial artery is used as the secondary access site (Reprinted with permission from Pourdjabbar et al, Cardiovascular Revascularization Medicine April-May 2017 (pp. 215–220); copyright 2017 Elsevier). In panel C, the fluoroscopic image depicts an inflated balloon providing hemostasis after removal of an Impella catheter in an anticoagulated patient with an ECMO venous cannula in place



Fig. 3 TandemHeart device

Impella and TandemHeart have not been evaluated against one another in the context of cardiogenic shock. The TandemHeart has been employed for allograft rejection, postcardiotomy cardiogenic shock, and in right heart failure after durable left ventricular assist device implantation [29, 30]. When used for right heart support dual venous access is used for removal of blood from the right atrium and return into the pulmonary arteries. Complications associated with device use include limb ischemia and significant bleeding.

Special Considerations

Percutaneous MCS as a Bridge to Placement of a Durable LVAD or Heart Transplantation: IABP has been utilized as an effective bridge to transplant (BTT) or durable VAD in patients with acute decompensated HF [31, 32]. In a retrospective study of 32 patients treated with IABP due to severe hypo-perfusion, counterpulsation support allowed for improvement in clinical condition, serum creatinine, total bilirubin, and aminotransferases [33]. It may also allow for optimization of HF patients prior to durable VAD or transplantation to improve the postoperative course [34]. Overall patients on long-term IABP support have a low rate of complications and no increases in hemorrhagic episodes after VAD surgery [35]. Similarly, successes have been noted with the Impella family of devices as a bridge to definitive therapy [36, 37] as well as the TandemHeart device [29].



Fig. 4 Optimal stabilization may require multiple support devices for the severe cardiogenic shock. Here, VA ECMO was initiated after the patient presented with cardiogenic shock due to acute mitral regurgitation. An Impella CP catheter was then placed to unload the left ventricle, however hemodynamic improvement was suboptimal. A left atrial cannula was then added to the ECMO circuit via trans-septal puncture in order to adequately unload the left ventricle and reduce the impact of the mitral regurgitation. An antegrade catheter was placed to allow perfusion distal to the ECMO arterial cannula

Adjunctive Percutaneous MCS during PCI: High-risk PCI is a rapidly evolving field with a fluid definition. Generally speaking, it is accepted that PCI may be deemed high-risk when meeting any of the following broad criteria: ejection fraction <35%, unprotected left main disease or last remaining vessel, active/ongoing ischemia or shock, or multivessel disease with factors increasing the complexity of the revascularization procedure, such as calcification or large at-risk side branches. Hemodynamic support should be considered and often utilized for these interventions. Data is limited, however a randomized trial, PROTECT II, randomized over 450 patients undergoing high risk, non-emergent PCI to either IABP or Impella 2.5 [31]. High-risk was defined as unprotected left main coronary artery or last patent coronary vessel with an ejection fraction <35%, or three-vessel coronary artery disease and an ejection fraction <30%. At 30 days, no difference in the primary outcome of major adverse cardiovascular events was seen between the groups, however at 90 days a trend toward an absolute reduction was seen with an 8.7% absolute reduction in major adverse cardiovascular events (40.6% Impella versus 49.3% IABP). A per protocol analysis of the 90-day data met statistical significance favoring Impella 2.5, largely driven by a reduction in repeat revascularization. Subanalysis also demonstrated that in the subset of patients from PROTECT II who underwent rotational atherectomy, more aggressive atherectomy was performed in the patients randomized to Impella versus IABP [38]. This was associated with an overall reduction in the need for repeat revascularization but a higher incidence of peri-procedural myocardial infarction. TandemHeart for high risk PCI has not been studied in a randomized trial, however a case series found that in patients deemed high-risk for surgical revascularization (STS scores predicting 13% mortality), TandemHeart support allowed for successful intervention in 97% of cases, with 10% mortality at 30-days, 13% mortality at 90-day, and a 13% rate of significant vascular complications [26].

Non-Femoral Access for Percutaneous MCS: Alternative access for device placement is a consideration in patients for a multitude of reasons including peripheral vascular disease, body habitus/obesity, vascular calcification and tortuosity, aortic pathology, ambulatory status, and when prolonged MCS will likely be required. The IABP and Impella devices can be safely introduced via access sites other than the femoral artery, most commonly the axillary artery; the TandemHeart device is not routinely placed percutaneously at an alternate access site.

IABP placement via the axillary artery was first described in 1989 [39]. Published case series have noted an overall low rate of acute vascular complications, 0 out of 50 in the largest published series, and few late complications, 2 out of 50 in that same series [40, 41]. A noted advantage of the axillary approach is the potential for increased mobility with simultaneous hemodynamic support. The use of physical therapy after placement, in particular with patients awaiting cardiac transplantation, has been shown to increase overall daily ambulatory distance five-fold [35]. Arm movement and increased mobility, however, may lead to device malposition and technical complications, such as kinking, and may require pump exchange in nearly one quarter of patients [40, 41]. Device migration into the abdominal vessels may occur spontaneously or with device manipulation, therefore if the device retracts into the subclavian artery, advancement over a guidewire that has been placed into the distal aorta is recommended. However, bedside, image-guided device manipulation often solves malposition issues, while device exchange is most safely performed in the catheterization laboratory.

Impella placement through the axillary artery is more complex than IABP placement due to device caliber, however data is similar regarding the safety and efficacy. The initial percutaneous experience was first published in 2016, and demonstrated the technique for both Impella placement and removal [42]. The total vascular complication rate from device placement to removal was 12% in a multicenter registry, occurring in 6 of 51 patients with an axillary device with over 80% of the devices being an Impella CP [43]. Two-thirds of patients with a device survived to hospital discharge after a median implant time of 2.5 days; three quarters of these patients experienced myocardial recovery, while the other third underwent durable LVAD placement or heart transplantation. Bedside device manipulation, as with a femoral Impella device, can be performed under echocardiographic guidance for minor manipulation, however given critical requirement of cannula placement across the aortic valve, significant manipulation or complete maneuvering across the valve should be performed in the catheterization laboratory.

Axillary percutaneous support placement has increased with the continued growth of LVAD and transplant programs. In our practice it is common to use the femoral artery for access if there are no issues with vessel caliber or anatomical contraindications and the device is likely to be in place for less than 72 h or it is being placed for an emergent indication. There may be significant anatomical variability of the aortic arch and great vessels which may affect access and device placement in the left ventricle, while the less variable iliofemoral arterial system is less likely to affect device delivery once traversed successfully with a guidewire. Furthermore, to prevent trauma to the brachial plexus, axillary access should be performed proximal to where the nerve bundles commonly course over the axillary artery. The ideal location is between the thoracoacromial and lateral thoracic arteries (Fig. 1). The axillary segment between these two branches is extra-thoracic and proximal to the crossing of the branches of the brachial plexus. The steps for placement of axillary MCS devices are summarized in Table 4. Once placed and secured, frequent radiographic and echocardiographic monitoring for placement is essential to optimize device performance and outcomes.

Device Removal: Multiple arterial closure devices are available for MCS access site closure immediately after supported PCI, however the optimal method of device removal for prolonged MCS support has yet to be defined. Depending on body habitus and vascular characteristics, an IABP access sheath may safely be removed with the application of manual pressure for hemostasis. No randomized data is available regarding the time to hemostasis, however, the minimum time of manual pressure should be three minutes per access sheath French size, with longer times for larger sheaths and consideration given to anticoagulation status. In larger patients or patients with calcified vessels or suboptimal arteriotomy locations (above or below the level of the femoral head or in one of the distal branches

of the common femoral artery), maintaining vascular control and appropriate pressure for safe, successful hemostasis may be difficult. In these scenarios, removal of a sheath in the catheterization laboratory may be performed with balloon-assisted closure through a secondary arterial access site. Impella access sheaths are significantly larger and while a device may be removed and manual hemostasis attempted at the bedside, the potential for bleeding complications is higher. While both devices may be removed while maintaining wire access followed by immediate sheath replacement, the potential complications of prolonged large bore access remain as does the need for eventual removal and hemostasis. Furthermore, details regarding the access procedure, including the site and iliofemoral vascular anatomy, are often unknown after inter-hospital transfer. Therefore, removal in the catheterization laboratory allows for immediate balloon-assisted hemostasis and angiographic assessment. Removal of an axillary access sheath poses greater risk due to anatomical considerations and unfamiliarity in obtaining manual hemostasis over the pectoralis muscles and against the humeral head. Therefore, sheath removal should routinely be performed in the catheterization laboratory with secondary access and balloon assisted tamponade. The standard steps of MCS device removal in the catheterization laboratory are summarized in Tables 5 and 6.

If the preclose method with the Perclose Proglide system (Abbott Vascular; Lake Park, Illinois) is performed and the MCS device is not removed after supported PCI or the preclose method is used routinely with MCS device implantation, the sutures may be used to obtain hemostasis at a later date. However, the externalized suture ends must be secured and covered in a sterile fashion. The post-close technique, in which the Impella access sheath is closed using the Perclose system, allows for safe and successful closure after device removal without requiring preclosure at the time of placement. First described in 2019, the technique involves access site preservation followed by the sequential deployment of two Perclose devices [44] and summarized in Table 7. When performing vascular closure in a scenario remote from device placement, there is a theoretical increased risk of infection. Therefore, meticulous preparation of the patient, access sheath, and MCS device is warranted to mitigate this risk and all options of device removal and arteriotomy closure should be considered. The TandemHeart device is explanted by removal of the cannulae followed by primary vascular repair.

Choosing a Percutaneous Support Device: Clinical Decision-Making

In determining the level of support to provide a patient with acute myocardial infarction complicated by cardiogenic shock, first consider potential contraindications, including peripheral vascular disease, intra-cardiac or intra-vascular thrombus, valvulopathies, infectious status, and coagulopathy. If the patient is in refractory shock on presentation the preferred method of support is placement of an Impella CP device due to the level of support that may be provided.

Table 4 Axillary access for percutaneous mechanical circulatory su
--

Percutaneous Access of the Axillary Artery for MCS

1. Mark the delto-pectoral groove and, using fluoroscopy, evaluate the location of the humeral head and mark its location

2. If the anatomy permits, obtain femoral or ipsilateral radial access. Place a small radio-opaque marker on the skin at the proposed puncture site and perform angiography to define the arterial anatomy relative to the skin marks. Place an 0.035 inch wire in the axillary artery across the proposed arteriotomy site (this may be used to assist in access and for bailout in the case of immediate bleeding complications)

3. Plan for access between the thoracoacromial and lateral thoracic arterial branches (Fig. 1). Using ultrasound, identify the axillary artery (the 0,035 inch wire should be identifiable). Using a micropuncture system, obtain axillary artery access in the standard ultrasound-guided fashion. Perform angiography to identify the arteriotomy; if distal to the lateral thoracic artery, consider manual pressure and repeating the attempt at access in order to decrease the risk of damage to the brachial plexus

4. Advance a standard J-wire along with a 5F JR4 catheter into the descending aorta; exchange the J-wire for a stiff wire such as an Amplatz wire

5. Remove the micro-puncture sheath, dilate the tract, and advance the MCS access sheath over the stiff wire. Remove the wire from the non-axillary access site placed in step 2

IABP	Impella
6. Exchange the stiff wire for the standard balloon pump guidewire and insert the IABP such that the proximal marker is at the level of the carina	6. Advance a standard J-wire along with a 5F JR4 catheter through the Impella sheath into the ascending aorta; exchange the JR4 catheter for a pigtai catheter, and cross into the left ventricle using this catheter and the J-wire,
7. Ensure normal function of the IABP and secure the catheter along the arm or the thorax to minimize kinking of the system at the level of the sheath	7. Continue Impella placement and advance- ment of the re-positioning cheath in the standard fashion. Subclavian tortuosity and a distal take-off of the left subclavian artery may complicate placement of the Impella catheter, Care must be taken to maintain guidewire access to the left ventricle

If angiography is performed first and the territory at risk is large, including a large anterior myocardial infarction or in the presence of severe multivessel disease, Impella placement is likely to be the optimal MCS device. Pilot data from the ongoing UNLOAD trial has shown that delaying revascularization while unloading the left ventricle with the Impella CP device did not impact MACE at 30 days [45]; the completion of the trial and long-term data is forthcoming. In patients with persistent shock despite primary PCI, who are responding to vasoactive agents and not exhibiting signs of vasoplegia, placement of an IABP will often provide adequate support and allow for de-escalation of pharmacologic support. Measurement of left ventricular end diastolic pressure and placement of a pulmonary artery catheter in the catheterization laboratory is almost universally performed and will be helpful in guiding subsequent therapy after MCS placement.

As the field of interventional cardiology continues to accept higher risk patients for PCI, the use of MCS is becoming increasingly performed. When choosing a device, a number of key factors play a role. Potential device-specific

Table 5 Balloon assisted femoral arteriotor	ny closure
---	------------

Balloon assisted closure during femoral MCS device removal

1. Obtain secondary femoral or radial arterial access in a vessel appropriately sized to accommodate a balloon that may occlude flow across the MCS arteriotomy site. Systemic anticoagulation should be discontinued

Femoral secondary access site	Radial Secondary access site
2. Access the proximal iliac system above the MCS access with an appropriate sheath and perform angiography. Ideally, place a stiff guidewire distal to the closure site	2. Access the proximal iliac system above the MCS access with a Terumo R2P sheath (available lengths 119150 cm; Terumo Medical, Tokyo, Japan) and perform angiography. Ideally, place a stiff guidewire distal to the closure site
3. In the external iliac artery, place a bal- loon>40 mm in length, sized just under 1:1 to the vessel caliber	3. In the external iliac artery, place a bal- loon > 40 mm in length on a long shaft, sized just under 1:1 to the vessel caliber

4. Remove the device and the sheath allowing for a 1-2 s of bleed back. Apply manual pressure at the site while slowly inflating the balloon to the minimum atmospheres necessary for complete inflation

5. Release manual pressure and assess for bleeding, which should be minimal. Gentle manual pressure may then be reapplied as necessary

G, After five minutes, deflate the balloon and apply five minutes of occlusive manual pressure. Alternating inflations and pressure may then be performed as necessary until hemostasis has been achieved. Drain and flush the delivery sheath/catheter regularly

7. Drain and flush the delivery sheath/catheter. Perform angiography to assess for hemostasis and possible complication. If a peripheral complication has occurred treat accordingly (thrombus aspiration, angioplasty for flow-limiting dissection, etc.). Standard closure or manual pressure of the secondary access site may be performed immediately or once MCS access site hemostasis is confirmed

Note: If a diagnostic catheter with an 0.035 inch lumen is being used, an 0.018 inch guidewire will need to be used if angiography is performed after wire placement. If a sheath or coronary guide catheter is being used, angiography may be performed with an 0.035 inch guidewire in place. Ensure the delivery sheaths and catheters will accommodate the balloon size that will be required for hemostasis

contraindications and bleeding risk must be considered. In the presence of severe left ventricular systolic dysfunction when PCI is to be performed on the last remaining vessel, when multivessel PCI is to be performed, or significant atherectomy is required in the setting of multivessel disease, support with an Impella device is normally preferred. Anatomical features, the severity of the left ventricular dysfunction, the amount of revascularization required, and the presence of pulmonary hypertension are often used to determine whether an Impella 2.5 or CP will be used. In patients deemed to be at the highest risk, such as those with multivessel disease and very poor systolic function, TandemHeart provides the highest level of support, although it is the most complex to place and often requires surgical removal. In lower risk settings, such as left main or multivessel PCI with severe aortic stenosis and normal systolic function, or in single vessel

required for hemostasis

Balloon assisted closure during axillary MCS device removal			
1. Obtain secondary femoral or radial arterial ac date a balloon that may occlude flow across the	cess in a vessel appropriately sized to accommo- MCS arteriotomy site		
Femoral secondary access site	Radial secondary access site		
2. Access the proximal subclavian artery with with an appropriate catheter or sheath and perform angiography. Ideally place a stiff guidewire distal to the closure site	2. Navigate a guidewire into the descending aorta and place an appropriate catheter just before the access site. Perform angiography. In most cases, the radial artery will not accom- modate a catheter large enough to deliver an appropriately sized balloon and will need to be removed. The current Terumo Destination sheaths do not have a hydrophilic coating along the entire sheath and are not recommended		
3. In the subclavian artery, just distal to the vertebral artery, place a balloon >40 mm in length, sized just under 1:1 to the vessel caliber. If a long sheath or large caliber guide catheter is not placed in the subclavian artery, it will have to be removed before balloon advancement	3. In the subclavian artery, just before the verte- bral artery, place a balloon>40 mm in length, sized just under 1:1 to the vessel caliber. If the balloon will not cross the MCS access site it will have to be advanced over the wire immedi- ately after device removal		
4. Remove the device and the sheath allowing for sure at the site while slowly inflating the balloon complete inflation	br a $1-2$ s of bleed back. Apply manual pres- n to the minimum atmospheres necessary for		
5. Release manual pressure and assess for bleed pressure may then be reapplied as necessary. We be maintained from the femoral approach, angle artery flow	ing, which should be minimal. Gentle manual hen the delivery sheath/catheter position may ography will allow for confirmation of vertebral		
6. After five minutes, deflate the balloon and app Alternating inflations and pressure may then be been achieved. Drain and flush the delivery shea	ply five minutes of occlusive manual pressure. performed as necessary until hemostasis has th/catheter regularly		
7. Replace the delivery sheath/catheter if necess stasis and possible complication. If a peripheral (thrombus aspiration, angioplasty for flow-limit) pressure of the secondary access site may be perhemostasis is confirmed	ary. Perform angiography to assess for hemo- complication has occurred treat accordingly ing dissection, etc.). Standard closure or manual formed immediately or once MCS access site		
Note: If a diagnostic catheter with an 0.035 inch	I lumen is being used, an 0.018 inch guidewire		

 Table 6
 Balloon assisted axillary arteriotomy closure

Balloon assisted closure during axillary MCS device removal

disease requiring atherectomy in the setting of moderately reduced systolic function, support with an IABP will likely be adequate. Regardless of the chosen level of support, proper pre-procedure evaluation and planning will minimize the risk of complications and increase the chances of optimal outcomes.

will need to be used if angiography is performed after wire placement. If a sheath or coronary guide catheter is being used, angiography may be performed with an 0.035 inch guidewire in place. Ensure the delivery sheaths and catheters will accommodate the balloon size that will be

 Table 7
 Arteriotomy post closure technique

Post closure technique for Impella device removal

1. Insert a stiff 0.035 inch guidewire through the Impella repositioning sheath side-port. A>145 cm wire is recommended to prevent inadvertent wire removal

2. With no or minimal device flow, retract the Impella catheter so the outflow port remains at least 5 cm above the distal end of the repositioning sheath without retracting the guidewire

3. After ensuring that there is no device flow and that the distal end of the wire is well above the distal end of the Impella catheter, retract the catheter and sheath together while maintaining wire access. If there is a sufficient length of wire distal to the Impella catheter, the wire may be retracted simultaneously with the catheter and sheath; otherwise removal may be performed in a standard 'walking-out' fashion

4. Once the catheter and sheath exit the skin puncture site, the wire is secured, and a 14F sheath is placed

5. After removing the sheath dilator, a second 0.035 inch guidewire may be placed, the 14F sheath removed, and two 8F sheaths placed, one over each wire. If this is not hemostatic, mild pressure may be placed

6. One sheath is then removed and one Perclose may be placed over the bare guidewire and deployed

7. The remaining sheath is then removed and a second Perclose placed and deployed

8. If significant extravasation persists, a third Perclose may be placed or a sheath may be re-advanced over the wire for balloon-assisted closure

Conclusion

The third vignette highlights the creativity that may be required for the most complex cases. The simultaneous use of multiple support devices may be performed safely in select scenarios as a bridge to recovery, durable VAD placement, heart transplantation, or other therapies. With the evolution of contemporary percutaneous and surgical procedures, early hemodynamic improvement is critical in stabilizing the severely decompensated patient to create an optimal scenario for future therapeutic interventions.

Percutaneous hemodynamic support may be considered in any case of cardiogenic shock when inotropic agents are required. The level and duration of support is dependent upon the clinical picture and often cannot be predicted based on the initial presentation. Larger devices that provide a higher level of support carry an increased risk profile, and prolonged use increases the amount of time that a complication may occur. On the contrary, inadequate left ventricular unloading and organ perfusion will not allow for reversal of the shock state and the delay in stabilization may not allow for a meaningful recovery. Future iterations of support devices will likely include smaller caliber catheters with functional designs that decrease the risk of red blood cell injury and thrombus formation. It is essential that medical centers develop either local or referral pathways for advanced care, and the impetus is on the heart failure and interventional cardiology communities to continue to expand the options for all patients, especially the sickest of the sick.

References

- 1. Moulopoulos SD, Topaz S, Kolff WJ. Diastolic balloon pumping (with carbon dioxide) in the aorta–a mechanical assistance to the failing circulation. Am Heart J. 1962;63:669–75.
- 2. Stretch R, et al. National trends in the utilization of short-term mechanical circulatory support: incidence, outcomes, and cost analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;64(14):1407–15.
- Santa-Cruz RA, Cohen MG, Ohman EM. Aortic counterpulsation: a review of the hemodynamic effects and indications for use. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2006;67(1):68–77.
- 4. Lincoff AM, Popma JJ, Ellis SG, Vogel RA, Topol EJ. Percutaneous support devices for high risk or complicated coronary angioplasty. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1991;17(3):770.
- Scheidt S, et al., Intra-aortic balloon counterpulsation in cardiogenic shock. Report of a co-operative clinical trial. N Engl J Med. 1973;288(19):979–84.
- Kapur NK(1), Paruchuri V, Majithia A, Esposito M, Shih H, Weintraub A, Kiernan M, Pham DT, Denofrio D, Kimmelstiel C. Hemodynamic effects of standard versus larger-capacity intraaortic balloon counterpulsation pumps. J Invasive Cardiol. 2015;27(4):182–8.
- Kantrowitz A, et al. Initial clinical experience with intraaortic balloon pumping in cardiogenic shock. JAMA. 1968;203(2):113–8.
- Sanborn TA, et al. Impact of thrombolysis, intra-aortic balloon pump counterpulsation, and their combination in cardiogenic shock complicating acute myocardial infarction: a report from the SHOCK Trial Registry. Should we emergently revascularize Occluded Coronaries for cardiogenic shock? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2000;36(3 Suppl A):1123–9.
- Anderson RD, et al. Use of intraaortic balloon counterpulsation in patients presenting with cardiogenic shock: observations from the GUSTO-I Study. Global Utilization of Streptokinase and TPA for Occluded Coronary Arteries. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997;30(3):708–15.
- 10. Rogers WJ, et al. Temporal trends in the treatment of over 1.5 million patients with myocardial infarction in the US from 1990 through 1999: the National Registry of Myocardial Infarction 1, 2 and 3. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;36(7): 2056–63.
- 11. Thiele H, et al. Intraaortic balloon support for myocardial infarction with cardiogenic shock. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(14):1287–96.
- Thiele H, et al. Intra-aortic balloon counterpulsation in acute myocardial infarction complicated by cardiogenic shock (IABP-SHOCK II): final 12 month results of a randomised, open-label trial. Lancet. 2013;382(9905):1638–45.
- American College of Emergency P, et al. 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of ST-elevation myocardial infarction: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61(4): e78–140.
- 14. Siegenthaler MP, et al. The Impella Recover microaxial left ventricular assist device reduces mortality for postcardiotomy failure: a three-center experience. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2004;127(3):812–22.
- Dixon SR, et al. A prospective feasibility trial investigating the use of the Impella 2.5 system in patients undergoing high-risk percutaneous coronary intervention (The PROTECT I Trial): initial U.S. experience. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2009;2(2):91–6.
- 16. O'Neill WW, et al. A prospective, randomized clinical trial of hemodynamic support with Impella 2.5 versus intra-aortic balloon pump in patients undergoing high-risk percutaneous coronary intervention: the PROTECT II study. Circulation. 2012;126(14):1717–27.
- Seyfarth M, et al. A randomized clinical trial to evaluate the safety and efficacy of a percutaneous left ventricular assist device versus intra-aortic balloon pumping for treatment of cardiogenic shock caused by myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008;52(19):1584–8.
- 18. Engstrom AE, et al, The Impella 2.5 and 5.0 devices for ST-elevation myocardial infarction patients presenting with severe and profound cardiogenic shock: the Academic Medical Center intensive care unit experience. Crit Care Med. 2011;39(9):2072–9.

- Ouweneel DM, et al. Experience from a randomized controlled trial with Impella 2.5 versus IABP in STEMI patients with cardiogenic pre-shock. Lessons learned from the IMPRESS in STEMI trial. Int J Cardiol. 2016;202:894–6.
- 20. Anderson MB, et al. Benefits of a novel percutaneous ventricular assist device for right heart failure: The prospective RECOVER RIGHT study of the Impella RP device. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2015;34(12):1549–60.
- 21. Griffith BP, et al. The RECOVER I: a multicenter prospective study of Impella 5.0/LD for postcardiotomy circulatory support. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2013;145(2):548–54.
- 22. Engstrom, A.E., et al., *The Impella 2.5 and 5.0 devices for ST-elevation myocardial infaction patients presenting with severe and profound cardiogenic shock: the Academic Medical Center intensive care unit experience.* Crit Care Med, 2011. 39(9): p. 2072–9.
- 23. Thiele H, et al. Reversal of cardiogenic shock by percutaneous left atrial-to-femoral arterial bypass assistance. Circulation. 2001;104(24):2917–22.
- Thiele H, et al. Randomized comparison of intra-aortic balloon support with a percutaneous left ventricular assist device in patients with revascularized acute myocardial infarction complicated by cardiogenic shock. Eur Heart J. 2005;26(13):1276–83.
- 25. Kovacic JC, et al. The Impella Recover 2.5 and TandemHeart ventricular assist devices are safe and associated with equivalent clinical outcomes in patients undergoing high-risk percutaneous coronary intervention. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2013;82(1):E28–37.
- Alli OO, et al. Percutaneous left ventricular assist device with TandemHeart for high-risk percutaneous coronary intervention: the Mayo Clinic experience. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2012;80(5):728–34.
- Kar B, et al. The percutaneous ventricular assist device in severe refractory cardiogenic shock. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;57(6):688–96.
- Cheng JM, et al, Percutaneous left ventricular assist devices vs. intra-aortic balloon pump counterpulsation for treatment of cardiogenic shock: a meta-analysis of controlled trials. Eur Heart J. 2009, 30(17):2102–8.
- Myers TJ. Temporary ventricular assist devices in the intensive care unit as a bridge to decision. AACN Adv Crit Care. 2012;23(1):55–68.
- Kapur NK, et al. Mechanical circulatory support for right ventricular failure. JACC Heart Fail. 2013;1(2):127–34.
- Rosenbaum AM, Murali S, Uretsky BF. Intra-aortic balloon counterpulsation as a 'bridge' to cardiac transplantation. Effects in nonischemic and ischemic cardiomyopathy. Chest. 1994;106(6):1683–8.
- 32. Norkiene I, et al. Intra-aortic balloon counterpulsation in decompensated cardiomyopathy patients: bridge to transplantation or assist device. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2007;6(1):66–70.
- 33. Gjesdal O, et al. Intra-aortic balloon counterpulsation as a bridge to heart transplantation does not impair long-term survival. Eur J Heart Fail. 2009;11(7):709–14.
- Imamura T, et al. Prophylactic Intra-Aortic Balloon Pump Before Ventricular Assist Device Implantation Reduces Perioperative Medical Expenses and Improves Postoperative Clinical Course in INTERMACS Profile 2 Patients. Circ J. 2015;79(9):1963–9.
- 35. Koudoumas D, et al. Long-Term Intra-Aortic Balloon Pump Support as Bridge to Left Ventricular Assist Device Implantation. J Card Surg. 2016;31(7):467–71.
- 36. den Uil CA, et al. Short-term mechanical circulatory support as a bridge to durable left ventricular assist device implantation in refractory cardiogenic shock: a systemic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2017;52(1):14–25.
- Lima B, et al. Effectiveness and Safety of the Impella 5.0 as a Bridge to Cardiac Transplantation or Durable Left Ventricular Assist Device. Am J Cardiol. 2016;117(10):1622–8.
- 38. Cohen MG(1), Ghatak A, Kleiman NS, Naidu SS, Massaro JM, Kirtane AJ, Moses J,Magnus Ohman E, Džavík V, Palacios IF, Heldman AW, Popma JJ, O'Neill WW. Optimizing rotational atherectomy in high-risk percutaneous coronary interventions:

insights from the PROTECT II study. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2014;83(7):1057–64. https://doi.org/10.1002/ccd.25277. Epub 2013 Nov 18.

- 39. McBride LR, Miller LW, Naunheim KS, Pennington DG. Axillary artery insertion of an intraaortic balloon pump. Ann Thorac Surg. 1989;48(6):874–5.
- 40. Estep JD, Cordero-Reyes AM, Bhimaraj A, et al. Percutaneous placement of an intra-aortic balloon pump in the left axillary/ subclavian position provides safe, ambulatory long-term support as bridge to heart transplantation. JACC Heart Fail. 2013;1(5):382–8.
- Umakanthan R, Hoff SJ, Solenkova N, et al. Benefits of ambulatory axillary intra-aortic balloon pump for circulatory support as bridge to heart transplant. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2012;143(5):1193–7.
- 42. Tayal R, Barvalia M, Rana Z, et al. Totally percutaneous insertion and removal of impella device XE "Impella device" using axillary artery in the setting of advanced peripheral artery disease. J Invasive Cardiol. 2016;28(9):374–80.
- 43. McCabe J, Khaki A, Nicholson W, et al. Safety and efficacy of percutaneous axillary artery access for mechanical circulatory support with the impella © devices: an initial evaluation from the axillary access registry to monitor safety (ARMS) multicenter registry. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;70(18 Supplement B43).
- 44. Thawabi M, Cohen M, Wasty N. Post-Close Technique for Arteriotomy Hemostasis After Impella Removal. J Invasive Cardiol. 2019;31(6):E159 PubMed PMID: 31158816.
- Kapur NK, Alkhouli MA, DeMartini TJ, et al. Unloading the Left Ventricle Before Reperfusion in patients With Anterior ST-Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Circulation. 2019;139(3):337–46. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.038269.

Extra Corporeal Membrane Oxygenation



Kimberly Hong, Scott Chicotka, and Travis Pollema

Case

A 32-year-old female with World Health Organization (WHO) group 1 pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH), presented to the hospital with right lower lobe pneumonia. Her echocardiogram demonstrated severe PAH with a pulmonary artery (PA) systolic pressure of 110 mmHg, an enlarged right ventricle with reduced function, a patent foramen ovale (PFO) with left to right shunt, and mild mitral regurgitation. She was initially trialed on high flow oxygen with a non-rebreather, however, she remained persistently hypoxic with a SaO₂ of 80%. The decision was made to cannulate for veno-venous (VV) ECMO as a bridge to recovery and possible bridge to transplant. Over the next 5 days her SaO₂ was maintained above 90% on VV ECMO and high flow oxygen, however she experienced multiple anxiety attacks with significant desaturation. Additionally, there was not enough of a right-to-left shunt to provide oxygenated left ventricular preload nor offload the right ventricle and augment forward flow through the pulmonary circulation. ECMO flow was increased to 5 L/min but this did not address her right ventricular failure. She began to demonstrate evidence of worsening end organ function, rising NTpro BNP and creatinine levels, consistent with worsening RV failure. Her right ventricular function continued to deteriorate despite an increase in epoprostanil. It was evident that she would require RV support, and the decision was made to convert to veno-arterial (VA) ECMO. Femoral-femoral VA ECMO was

K. Hong · T. Pollema

Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, University of California, San Diego, USA

S. Chicotka

Division of Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery, University of California, San Diego, USA

T. Pollema (🖂)

University of California San Diego Health System, 9300 Campus Point Drive #7892, La Jolla, CA 92037, USA e-mail: tpollema@health.ucsd.edu

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_3

established with adequate flow approximately 3.5 L/min, and she demonstrated a marked improvement in hemodynamic status with near immediate improvement in urine output and decrease in creatinine. The following day, however, she began to experience persistent desaturation to around SaO₂ 80%.

Introduction

Depending on cannulation strategy, extra corporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO), is instituted for life threatening respiratory and/or cardiac failure, and has progressed remarkably over recent years [1]. As a temporary support device, ECMO is often used while awaiting recovery of end organ function, as support for intrathoracic surgeries in unstable patients, or as a bridge to transplantation [2]. In recent years, ECMO utilization has increased, with annual ECMO deployment exceeding 12,000 units since 2017 [3]. This is due in part to ECMO being the only temporary mechanical support device that can offer full cardiopulmonary support, as well as technological improvements in the device that have simplified its implementation. Even though ECMO use has become increasingly widespread, the morbidity and mortality associated with it remains high. This is driven largely by the acuity of patients who need full cardiopulmonary support, as well as the vascular, thrombotic and infection risks associated with the institution and maintenance of ECMO Itself. The purpose of this chapter is to describe patient selection criteria, specifically indications and contraindications, as well as, anticipated complications and management strategies.

Mechanism of ECMO Support

As a form of cardio-pulmonary life support, blood is drained from the venous system, circulated extracorporeally using a mechanical pump into an oxygenator and returned to the body either via the venous (VV ECMO) or arterial system (VA ECMO). The former provides support for pulmonary failure, while the latter provides cardiopulmonary support by bypassing the heart and lungs entirely. An oxygenator placed in series to the mechanical pump saturates hemoglobin with oxygen while carbon dioxide is removed. Both oxygenation and CO_2 removal can be controlled by the adjustment of the flow rate and countercurrent gas flow, respectively [4].

Modes of Vascular Access [5]

Indication, degree of intrinsic cardiac function and vascular access will determine the cannulation strategy utilized. An understanding of cannulation options and access is important for troubleshooting complications as well as for confirming optimal cannula placement via x-ray, fluoroscopy and echocardiogram. An important distinction between VA-ECMO compared to VV-ECMO is that while VA-ECMO provides a parallel circuit that bypasses the heart and lungs, VV-ECMO provides a circuit that lies in series with the heart and lungs. Thus, while differential hypoxemia can occur with VA-ECMO, VV-ECMO will provide the same oxygenation to all organs.

In VV-ECMO, the most common cannulation strategy is with two cannulas. The venous return cannula is placed via the right internal jugular to the SVC-RA junction or RA directly and the venous drainage cannula is placed via the femoral vein to the IVC-RA junction. Alternatively, there is also a single cannula strategy which utilizes a dual lumen cannula placed via the right internal jugular. This dual lumen cannula drains blood from the IVC and SVC through distal and proximal ports respectively and returns oxygenated blood via a second lumen towards the tricuspid valve. Unlike, VA-ECMO which involves cannulation of both the venous and arterial systems, the VV-ECMO circuit is contained in the venous system alone. Because of this, there is a risk that blood will recirculate if the cannulas in the dual cannula strategy are in close proximity to one another.

In VA-ECMO, cannulation can be obtained centrally (blood drained directly from the right atrium and returned to the proximal ascending aorta) or peripherally (blood drained from the proximal femoral or jugular vein and returned to the carotid, axillary, or femoral artery) [6]. With central cannulation, because the blood is returned to the ascending aorta, intrinsic cardiac and lung function will not impact oxygenation or result in differential hypoxemia. Furthermore, because central cannulation requires an open approach, a direct apical or left atrial vent can be placed at the same time. Limitations with central cannulation are that an open approach is required, and patients' mobility is impacted due to aortic cannulation.

Patient Selection

The primary goals for both VV and VA-ECMO is restoration of tissue perfusion and avoidance of permanent end organ dysfunction. Indications for support can be divided into three broad categories: pulmonary, cardiac, or cardiopulmonary support [7] (see Tables 1 and 2).

As mentioned previously, mortality rates are high in patients requiring ECMO support, with just 60% of patients requiring VV-ECMO and 42% of patients requiring VA-ECMO surviving to discharge in the ELSO registry [8]. This is driven by the acuity of the patients requiring ECMO, as well as the risks for complications associated with device support which accrue with time on support. Appropriate patient selection, including exclusion of patients who have sustained irreversible end-organ damage and are unlikely to recover even with prolonged circulatory support, is very important to mitigating some of the complication risks. Table 3 lists both absolute and relative contraindications to ECMO.

Cardiogenic shock	Other causes
Acute coronary syndrome	Post-cardiotomy: inability to wean from cardi- opulmonary bypass after cardiac surgery
Cardiac arrhythmic storm (refractory to other measures)	Post-heart transplant: primary graft failure after heart or heart–lung transplantation
Sepsis with profound cardiac depression	Chronic cardiomyopathy: as a bridge to longer term VAD support, or as a bridge to decision
Drug overdose/toxicity with profound cardiac depression	Periprocedural support for high-risk percutane- ous cardiac interventions
Myocarditis	Bridge to transplant
Pulmonary embolism	
Isolated cardiac trauma	
Acute anaphylaxis	

Table 1 Indications for VA ECMO

 Table 2
 Indications for VV ECMO

Acute respiratory distress syndrome	Extracorporeal assistance to provide lung rest
Severe bacterial or viral pneumonia	Airway obstruction
Aspiration syndromes	Pulmonary contusion
Alveolar proteinosis	Smoke inhalation
Lung transplant	Lung hyperinflation
Primary graft failure after transplant	Status asthmaticus
Bridge to lung transplant	Others
Intraoperative circulatory support	Pulmonary hemorrhage or massive hemoptysis, con- genital diaphragmatic hernia, meconium aspiration, smoke inhalation

Table 3 Contraindications to ECMO

Absolute: largely futile treatment without exit strategy		
Unrecoverable heart and not a candidate for transplant or destination therapy LVAD support	Disseminated malignancy	
Known severe brain injury	Unwitnessed cardiac arrest	
Prolonged CPR without adequate tissue perfusion	Unrepaired aortic dissection	
Severe chronic organ dysfunction (emphy- sema, cirrhosis, renal failure)	Severe aortic regurgitation	
Compliance (financial, cognitive, psychiatric, or social limitations in patient without social support	Peripheral vascular disease in peripheral VA ECMO	
Relative: anticoagulation issues, advanced age, obesity		

Management Strategies and Troubleshooting

Although VA-ECMO offers near full cardiopulmonary support, the aforementioned complications with prolonged use limit its application long term. Patient survival after VA-ECMO is contingent on appropriate management while on support, to allow for end organ recovery and successful weaning or bridge to definitive therapies such as durable mechanical support or transplant. Below are common issues that are encountered by individuals on ECMO.

Hypotension

A common issue in individuals on ECMO is hypotension. This will manifest in both low mean arterial pressures readings, as well as "chatter" in the circuit, which occurs because the negative pressure from the rotational pump causes intermittent suction at the inflow cannula. Absent flows will not only cause blood pressure to fall, but also tissue trauma and turbulence which can worsen lysis of blood components and further exacerbate the body's inflammatory response to the circuit. Understanding that pump flow rate is dependent on the inflow cannula size as well as preload, i.e., the blood pool at the inflow cannula site (the right atrium or the inferior vena cava) is critical to troubleshooting hypotension. Intravascular volume depletion from blood or fluid loss, both sensible and insensible, as well as vasodilatory shock from either infection or an inflammatory response are common causes. In addition to volume resuscitating, management also includes reducing the pump flow rate or RPMs. Considerations of mechanical reasons for circulatory arrest need to be considered as well. Specifically, cardiac tamponade or arterial dissection, should also be ruled out. Because of this, imaging with either a surface or transesophageal echocardiogram are important diagnostics for ruling out cardiac tamponade and for confirming inflow and outflow cannula placements.

Differential Hypoxia—VA ECMO

In VA ECMO with peripheral cannulation, fully oxygenated blood from the femoral artery travels retrograde to the ascending aorta and mixes with deoxygenated blood coming from the left ventricle. It is thus important to understand that in peripheral cannulation, VA ECMO sends pressurized oxygenated blood retrograde and works against native cardiac output. The point within the aorta where native cardiac output mixes with ECMO blood flow is called the mixing point. In individuals with poor intrinsic cardiac function, there is minimal resistance to ECMO flow, and oxygenated blood from the ECMO outflow cannula can travel over the aortic arch and supply oxygen to head vessels and coronaries. In this situation, the mixing point is proximal to brachiocepalic and carotid arteries.

In individuals with recovered cardiac function, but persistently poor lung function due to pulmonary edema, from elevated left sided filling pressures, pulmonary embolus, pneumonia or ARDS, deoxygenated blood will be ejected from the heart and result in a mixing point that is more distal. This is of concern because if deoxygenated blood resists ECMO flows, and the mixing point is distal to the brachiocephalic and carotids arteries, the brain will be perfused with deoxygenated blood. Specifically, the deoxygenated blood will perfuse the upper limbs, heart and brain, while oxygenated blood will perfuse the lower thoracic organs, abdominal viscera, and lower limbs. This phenomenon is known as Harlequin syndrome or North South syndrome. Resultantly, monitoring of the SaO₂ on the right hand with an arterial line is mandatory and can help establish the diagnosis, as well as initiate interventions to improve oxygenation and ventilation of the lungs including unloading the LV by concomitant use of Impella, IABP or a surgical left ventricular vent, which will be discussed later. Lastly, with central cannulation where the outflow cannula is placed into the ascending aorta, and Upper body VA ECMO (UBVA ECMO), ECMO support is provided to the head vessels and body with decreased competitive effect from native cardiac output, thereby eliminating the Harlequin effect.

Recirculation—VV ECMO

As mentioned previously, in VV ECMO, because the circuit is contained within the venous system, there is a risk for recirculation. This is where oxygenated blood from the outflow cannula is pulled back into the inflow cannula, resulting in 2 parallel circuits: 1—an oxygenated VV ECMO circuit and 2—the patient's deoxygenated intrinsic circulation. A low peripheral oxygenation saturation, a high SVO₂ on the circuit, or bright blood red blood in both the inflow and outflow circuits are suggestive of this. Determining cannula location via echocardiogram and volume status are important first steps to troubleshooting recirculation. Specifically, if the inflow and outflow cannulas are placed to closely together, or if the outflow cannula is not directed towards the tricuspid valve, there is a risk for higher recirculation fraction. Additionally, because there is always an amount of recirculated blood, increasing the total volume of blood can reduce the recirculation fraction.

LV Venting Strategies

In VA ECMO, particularly in cases where the indication for support is cardiogenic shock, daily evaluation of intrinsic cardiac function is important. Loss of aortic pulsatility implies that the aortic valve is not opening because the intrinsic cardiac function is not enough to overcome the ECMO outflow pressure head. Increased left ventricular end diastolic pressure, resulting in LV distention, pulmonary edema and poor oxygenation of blood within the patient's intrinsic circulation will result. Additionally, if the left ventricle is not unloaded, stasis of blood occurs and thrombi can form within the left ventricle, placing the patient at risk for central and systemic embolization. Both invasive hemodynamic monitoring by a pulmonary artery catheter, as well as an arterial line are important for monitoring pulmonary capillary wedge pressure and arterial pulsatility, respectively. Echocardiogram can also be used for direct visualization of aortic valve opening and left ventricular function. Management includes balancing ECMO flow rates for adequate tissue perfusion and afterload and considering inotropic support. In cases where the left ventricle is not adequately unloaded even after titration of inotropes, vasodilators and/or ECMO parameters, then mechanical unloading needs to be considered. Specific cannulation strategies including left atrial drainage spliced into the venous return circuit is one strategy, as is direct left ventricular venting via a surgical approach. Other percutanous strategies include intra-aortic balloon pumps and Impella 2.5, CP and 5.0 devices. Of the percutaneous devices, the Impella is more effective at reducing left ventricular end diastolic pressure [9].

Complications

Although ECMO can improve survival to hospital discharge, it is associated with significant morbidity, with complication rates directly related to duration of support. A meta-analysis of 20 studies that included 1866 patients found bleeding to be one of the most common complications (40.8%), followed by requirement for dialysis (46%), significant infection (30.4%), limb ischemia (16.9%), and stroke (5.9%) [10]. In VA-ECMO, there are inherent risks associated with the deployment of this technology. Below we discuss the most common complications which can be stratified into the following categories: hematologic, vascular, neurologic and infectious.

Hematologic

Due to the mandatory contact between blood and non-endothelialized surfaces in the external circuit and oxygenator, anticoagulation is necessary in all individuals. As a result, patients on ECMO are at high risk for both bleeding and thrombotic complications [11].

Bleeding is the most frequent complication observed in critically ill patients supported by ECMO. In a retrospective study analyzing 149 ECMO runs (111 VA ECMO and 38 VV ECMO), 89 episodes (60%) were complicated by at least one bleeding event [12]. The most common bleeding complications include bleeding at ECMO cannulation sites (37%), hemothorax or cardiac tamponade (17%),

and intracranial hemorrhage occurred in 5 (2.2%) patients. As can be expected, patients with bleeding complications experienced worse survival (adjusted HR 2.17, 95% CI, 1.07–4.41, p=0.03). Several factors may contribute to high risk bleeding including systemic anticoagulation, platelet dysfunction, shear stress causing hemolysis from the filter and centrifugal pump, blood loss in the device circuit, heparin induced thrombocytopenia, systemic inflammation, acquired von Willebrand syndrome, and coagulation and fibrinolysis activation. To avoid hematological complications, activated clotting time (ACT), activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), prothrombin time and platelet count should be monitored. In some instances, the use of thromboelastography (TEG) can assist in tailoring anticoagulation to each patient and allow reductions in transfusions of blood products. Target goals for aPTT is 50–75 s, anti-factor xa is 0.3–0.7 IU/ml, ACT is 180–220 s and platelets, which is controversial, 50,000–100,000/mm³. In patients with heparin induced thrombocytopenia, anticoagulation can be accomplished using bivalirudin and argatroban, with an aPTT target of 50–60 s [13].

Thrombosis, similar to bleeding is a common complication, and can have devastating consequences depending on where it has occurred. The most common location for clots to form is within the oxygenator [11]. Although clot formation on the oxygenator can impact its function, patients are not at risk for embolic events because the oxygenator is a barrier between the clots and the arterial system. Clots that occur distal to the oxygenator within the pump and circuit, or within the heart, in patients with low intrinsic cardiac pulsatility, are at risk for systemic embolization. Daily visualization of the oxygenator and circuit, as well as monitoring of d-dimer levels, with acute rises predicting oxygenator failure, are critical to anticipating circuit exchanges [11].

Vascular

Many of the complications relate to the vascular access site, with femoral cannulation requiring surgical intervention in 20% of the cases [14]. Arterial cannulation during emergent cases can increase the risk of vessel injury. With the large size cannulas inserted and the hemodynamic instability of patients contributing to the already high risk of limb ischemia. A negative downstream effect of cannulation is distal ischemia which can lead to arterial thrombosis and gangrene. The most frequent vascular complications associated with ECMO insertion are lower extremity ischemia (16.9%), compartment syndrome (10.3%) and amputation (4.7%) [10]. Cannula size greater than 20 FR, female gender, lower body surface area, and peripheral arterial disease increase the risk of limb ischemia [15]. This complication can be mitigated by preemptively placing a small antegrade perfusion cannula in the proximal femoral artery to bypass the area of obstruction from the ECMO arterial cannula in those identified to be at high risk for limb ischemia (Fig. 1). In cases where this is not done, frequent monitoring of bilateral distal flow with doppler can identify those who will require subsequent antegrade cannulation. **Fig. 1** Right common femoral artery cannulation with right superficial femoral artery antegrade sheath



Neurologic

Neurological complications are a common complication and range from cognitive impairments to peripheral neuropathies to intracranial ischemic and hemorrhagic events and lastly anoxic brain death. Based on data from meta-analyses, the combined rate for both ischemic and hemorrhagic strokes is reported to be 5.9–7.8% [16]. The occurrence of either ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke is a poor prognostic indicator with an almost fivefold increase in in-hospital mortality and remains the leading cause of death in patients supported by ECMO. Intracranial hemorrhage, in particular, is associated with a mortality rate of 89.5% [15]. Factors associated with intracranial hemorrhage include prolonged ECMO duration, antithrombotic therapy, coagulopathy and need for blood transfusions as well as renal failure. Pre-existing patient specific characteristics associated with intracranial hemorrhage include cardiac arrest before ECMO, lower body surface area and female gender [17].

Cerebral hypoxia can result in devastating consequences including cerebral edema, seizures and encephalopathy. While, circuit and intracardiac thrombi are a frequent cause of ischemic stroke, global ischemia can result from hypoperfusion due to vasoconstriction from rapid corrections of severe hypercapnia, systemic hypotension due to vasodilatory shock, or impaired cerebral autoregulation due to sedation. Factors predisposing individuals to intracranial bleeding include the systemic inflammatory response to the interfacing of blood with the ECMO circuit and the cytokines released, in conjunction with the activation of coagulation pathways. These factors result in both prothrombotic and coagulopathic states. Additionally, as blood circulates through the oxygenator, pump and circuit, blood products including platelets, red blood cells and von Willebrand factor get lysed, predisposing individuals to anemia and bleeding [17].

Clinical diagnosis of neurological events in ECMO patients can be challenging, particularly because patients may require deep sedation and even paralysis. The use of computed tomography, EEG and transcranial doppler can be helpful in estimating extent and severity of brain injury. Lastly are biomarkers for neuronal injury including glial fibrillary acidic protein and neuron-specific enolase. In situations where there is clinical suspicion for neurologic injury, these biomarkers may be helpful in guiding decisions regarding additional imaging diagnostics [16].

Infection

Nosocomial infections pose a high risk for ECMO patients and more than 53% of patients will have some infection within 14 days of ECMO support. This high rate of infection is due to the invasiveness of the cannulas, other vascular catheters placed at the time of resuscitation, as well as the associated comorbidities that are typical of patients requiring ECMO support, including need for mechanical ventilation, continuous renal replacement therapy and high transfusion requirements. Blood stream infections are reported in 3–18% of patients, with lower respiratory tract infections being the most common source. Similar to strokes, infection is associated with an increase in mortality and is cited to be as high as 60% [13]. It is important to keep in mind that monitoring for infection may be confounded by the heat exchanger controlling body temperature and the concomitant presence of systemic inflammatory response syndrome in patients with acute coronary syndrome and cardiogenic shock. Biomarkers such as procalcitonin and trending C-reactive protein to detect the presence of bacterial and fungal infections in critically ill patients may be helpful in detecting infections early [18].

Conclusion

In our patient's case, she was experiencing the Harlequin effect and her hypoxemia was due to significant pulmonary edema and pneumonia with preserved LV function. This was managed by increasing ECMO flow to 3.8 L/min, intubation and mechanical ventilation, thereby increasing her inhaled O_2 content, and also diuresis to decrease pulmonary edema. This strategy worked as her right hand SaO₂ increased to 88–93% with these changes, well within acceptable ranges for patients supported on ECMO.

Her transplant workup continued but this configuration of intubation and femoral cannulation with low normal saturation left her immobile and increasingly deconditioned. Over the next 10 days she was slowly weaned from VA ECMO, and she eventually tolerated decannulation from ECMO support. The above cases highlight many of the pitfalls and complications that can be encountered during veno-venous and veno-arterial ECMO. There are many ways to configure and re-configure a patient on ECMO in the setting of these problems. They often require a multi-faceted approach and willingness to change strategies based on underlying diagnoses and acute or unexpected changes in the patient's condition.

Key Points

- Underlying diagnoses are very important in successful ECMO configuration
- Complications of ECMO occur and necessitates a thorough troubleshooting process
- Changes in a patient's condition sometimes requires changes in ECMO strategy
- ECMO support can be utilized as a bridge to recovery, decision, transplant, or other procedures
- A multidisciplinary team is essential in the care of the ECMO patient.

References

- 1. Abrams D, Combes A, Brodie D. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in cardiopulmonary disease in adults. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014. ;63(25 Pt A):2769–2778.
- Gattinoni L, Carlesso E, Langer T. Clinical review: Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. Crit Care. 2011;15(6):243.
- Extracorporeal Life Support Organization. International summary–January 2020. 2020. https://www.elso.org/Portals/0/Files/Reports/2020_January/International%20Summary%20 January%202020_page1.pdf. Accessed 29 June 2020.
- Schmidt M, Tachon G, Devilliers C, et al. Blood oxygenation and decarboxylation determinants during venovenous ECMO for respiratory failure in adults. Inten Care Med. 2013;39(5):838–46.
- Jayaraman AL, Cormican D, Shah P, Ramakrishna H. Cannulation strategies in adult veno-arterial and veno-venous extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: Techniques, limitations, and special considerations. Ann Card Anaesth. 2017;20(Supplement):S11–8.
- Squiers JJ, Lima B, DiMaio JM. Contemporary extracorporeal membrane oxygenation therapy in adults: Fundamental principles and systematic review of the evidence. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2016;152(1):20–32.
- Makdisi G, Wang IW. Extra Corporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO) review of a lifesaving technology. J Thorac Dis. 2015;7(7):E166–76.
- ECLS Registry Report. https://www.elso.org/Registry/Statistics/InternationalSummary. aspx. Accessed 7 July 2020.
- Donker DW, Brodie D, Henriques JPS, Broomé M. Left ventricular unloading during veno-arterial ECMO: a review of percutaneous and surgical unloading interventions. Perfusion. 2019;34(2):98–105.
- 10. Cheng R, Hachamovitch R, Kittleson M, et al. Complications of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for treatment of cardiogenic shock and cardiac arrest: a meta-analysis of 1,866 adult patients. Ann Thorac Surg. 2014;97(2):610–6.
- 11. Murphy DA, Hockings LE, Andrews RK, et al. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation-hemostatic complications. Transfus Med Rev. 2015;29(2):90–101.
- Aubron C, DePuydt J, Belon F, et al. Predictive factors of bleeding events in adults undergoing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. Ann Intensive Care. 2016;6(1):97.

- Guglin M, Zucker MJ, Bazan VM, et al. Venoarterial ECMO for Adults: JACC Scientific Expert Panel. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2019;73(6):698–716.
- Tanaka D, Hirose H, Cavarocchi N, Entwistle JW. The Impact of Vascular Complications on Survival of Patients on Venoarterial Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation. Ann Thorac Surg. 2016;101(5):1729–34.
- Papadopoulos N, Marinos S, El-Sayed Ahmad A, et al. Risk factors associated with adverse outcome following extracorporeal life support: analysis from 360 consecutive patients. Perfusion. 2015;30(4):284–90.
- Xie A, Lo P, Yan TD, Forrest P. Neurologic Complications of Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation: A Review. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2017;31(5):1836–46.
- Fletcher-Sandersjöö A, Thelin EP, Bartek J Jr, et al. Incidence, Outcome, and Predictors of Intracranial Hemorrhage in Adult Patients on Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation: A Systematic and Narrative Review. Front Neurol. 2018;9:548.
- Pieri M, Greco T, Scandroglio AM, et al. Role of serum biomarkers in the diagnosis of infection in patients undergoing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. Crit Care. 2012;16(Suppl 1):P26.

Section II Chronic Device Therapy in the Advanced Heart Failure Patient

Section Editor: Hao A. Tran

Selection Criteria for Durable Mechanical Circulatory Support



Behram P. Mody and Eric D. Adler

Clinical Case

A 75-year-old male with long standing history of heart failure with a reduced ejection due to ischemic cardiomyopathy dependent on continuous intravenous milrinone presents to your clinic with progressively worsening dyspnea on minimal exertion. He is unable to perform his activities of daily living independently. Currently, he is taking high dose furosemide and only able to tolerate low dose lisinopril and spironolactone. His blood pressure is 95/80 mm Hg. His physical exam is remarkable for jugular venous pressure of 12 cm of water, bibasilar crackles, lukewarm extremities and bilateral 2+ pitting edema. His labs are remarkable for a N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide of 10,000 pg/ml and a serum creatinine of 1.9 mg/dL (previously 1.2 one year ago). His most recent transthoracic echocardiogram reveals a left ventricular (LV) internal dimension in diastole of 7.2 cm, LV ejection fraction of 15%, a normal sized right ventricle with reduced systolic function, moderate mitral regurgitation and trivial aortic regurgitation. Interrogation of his biventricular implantable cardioverter defibrillator reveals 100% bi-ventricular pacing with 5 episodes of non-sustained ventricular tachycardia. He has had 3 hospitalizations for decompensated heart failure over the past year. You perform a right heart catheterization which is remarkable for elevated left and right intracardiac filling pressures, moderate post-capillary pulmonary hypertension and low cardiac output. Concerned for his progressively worsening decline on inotropes, you request an urgent referral for potential durable mechanical circulatory support.

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

B. P. Mody \cdot E. D. Adler (\boxtimes)

University of California San Diego, San Diego, USA e-mail: eradler@health.ucsd.edu

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_4

Introduction

Mechanical circulatory support (MCS) is a well-established modality of restoring the circulation in a patient with severe heart failure or fatal arrythmias. By ensuring adequate cardiac output, durable MCS or a long-term left ventricular assist device (LVAD) can improve a patient's overall condition. Durable MCS can be utilized as a bridge-to-transplant (BTT), destination therapy (DT) or as bridge-to-decision (BTD). Regardless of the indication, the benefits of utilizing LVADs can be substantial with regards to rehabilitation, quality of life, and reversing cardiac cachexia and multiorgan failure. By optimizing hemodynamics, nutritional status and functional class with LVAD support, select patients may improve their candidacy for becoming recipients of a heart transplant and survival thereafter.

Currently the five general indications for MCS are the following:

- 1. Cardiogenic shock resulting from acute myocardial infarction
- 2. Post-cardiotomy myocardial dysfunction
- 3. Acute cardiac failure from myocarditis
- 4. Severe chronic heart failure (New York Heart Association Functional Class IIIb-IV), with or without fatal incessant arrhythmias not responding to maximum medical support and at high risk for 1-year mortality
- 5. Chronic inotrope dependence with evidence of end-organ dysfunction

Patients presenting with one of the above clinical criteria and not responding to maximum medical support, may benefit from short- or long-term MCS. The goal of this chapter is to provide an overview of the selection criteria for durable LVAD support.

Patient Selection

Patient selection for advance therapies is not as simple as checking boxes. It involves meeting stringent criteria and requires a detailed evaluation by a multidisciplinary team including a cardiothoracic surgeon, an advanced heart failure cardiologist, dietician, social worker and palliative care specialist. There are universally accepted criteria with regards to heart transplant listing and endorsed by multiple societies including the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT) and the American College of Cardiology, American Heart Association and Heart Failure Society of America (ACC/AHA/HFSA) [1]. Until recently, no validated selection criteria existed for LVAD implantation. In 2013, ISHLT published new guidelines for MCS including a section discussing candidate selection for LVAD support [2]. There are some similarities and clear distinctions between the criteria for cardiac transplantation and LVAD implantation which will be addressed below. In general, candidates for either therapy should have a severely reduced LV ejection fraction, New York Heart Association (NYHA) class III-IV

	0		
ACC/AHA stages of HF NYHA functional classification		functional classification	
A	At high risk for HF but without structural heart disease or symp- toms of HF		
В	Structural heart disease but with- out signs or symptoms of HF	I	No limitation of physical activity. Ordinary physical activity does not cause symptoms of HF
С	Structural heart disease with prior or current symptoms of HF	I	No limitation of physical activity. Ordinary physical activity does not cause symptoms of HF
		П	Slight limitation of physical activity. Comfortable at rest, but ordinary physical activity results in symptoms of HF
		ш	Marked limitation of physical activ- ity. Comfortable at rest, but less than ordinary activity causes symptoms of HF
		IV	Unable to carry on any physical activity without symptoms of HF, or symptoms of HF at rest
D	Refractory HF requiring special- ized interventions	IV	Unable to carry on any physical activity without symptoms of HF, or symptoms of HF at rest

Table 1 Stages of HF and functional classification

ACC=American College of Cardiology; AHA=American Heart Association; NYHA=New York Heart Association; HF=heart failure [3]

heart failure (HF) symptoms (Table 1), be intolerant of guideline directed medical therapy and with a history of multiple hospitalizations for decompensated HF.

INTERMACS

An important consideration for patient selection is INTERMACS (Interagency Registry for Mechanically Assisted Circulatory Support) classification. INTERMACS profiling subclassifies the severity of patients with advanced heart failure (NYHA Class III-IV) prior to LVAD implantation (Table 2) [4, 5]. As of the most recent analysis of the INTERMACS database, the largest category of patients receiving LVADs nationwide are patients in INTERMACS Profile 3 (stable but inotrope dependent) followed by Profile 2 (progressive decline on inotropes) and Profile 1 (critical cardiogenic shock) representing 38%, 33.7% and 15.9% of all implants, respectively [6]. LVAD implantation in INTERMACS Patient Profiles 1 and 2 have been associated with increased mortality as early as 3 months (Profile 1: HR 1.98, p<0.0001; Profile 2: HR 1.59, p<0.0001). Consequently, LVAD implantation is preferred in patients with Profile 3 or greater given better survival outcomes [7, 8].

Level	Description	Hemodynamic status	Time frame for intervention
1	Critical Cardiogenic Shock (Crashing and burning)	Life threatening hypotension and rapidly escalating inotropic pressor support, with critical organ hypop- erfusion often confirmed by wors- ening acidosis and lactate levels	Within hours
2	Progressive decline (Sliding on inotropes)	Dependent on inotropic support and shows signs of steadily worsen- ing nutrition, renal function, fluid retention, or other major status indicator. Can also be a patient with refractory volume overload, with evidence of impaired perfusion, in whom inotropic infusions cannot be maintained due to tachyarrhyth- mias, clinical ischemia, or other intolerance	Within days
3	Stable but inotrope dependent (Dependent stability)	Clinically stable on mild-moderate doses of intravenous inotropes (or has a temporary circulatory support device) after repeated documen- tation of failure to wean without symptomatic hypotension, worsen- ing symptoms, or progressive organ dysfunction (usually renal).	Weeks to months
4	Resting symptoms (Frequent flyer)	Tolerating home oral therapies but has frequent symptoms of conges- tion at rest or with activities of daily living	Weeks to months
5	Exertion intolerant (Housebound)	Comfortable at rest but unable to engage in any activity, usually housebound with no congestive symptoms	Variable urgency, dependent on organ function and nutri- tional status
6	Exertion limited (Walking wounded)	Comfortable at rest but able to do some mild activity but fatigue results within a few minutes of meaningful physical exertion	Variable urgency, dependent on organ function and nutri- tional status
7	Advanced New York Heart Association Functional Class 3	Clinically stable with reasona- ble level of comfortable activity. Usually can walk more than 1 block	Not indicated

 Table 2
 INTERMACS Profiles

INTERMACS = Interagency Registry for Mechanically Assisted Circulatory Support

Indications

As mentioned above, long-term MCS is typically indicated for patients with advanced heart failure who continue to clinically deteriorate despite optimal medical and/or cardiac resynchronization therapy. There are three groups of patients that benefit from long-term MCS (Fig. 1). The first group consists of patients with end-stage heart failure who remain hemodynamically unstable despite maximally tolerated pharmacologic support with or without temporary MCS, and who met criteria for heart transplantation. These patients undergo LVAD implantation as a "bridge to transplant." The second group of patients are similar to the prior but are not transplant candidates. Consequently, these patients receive an LVAD as "destination therapy." Similar to the prior two, the last group of patients present in cardiogenic shock however candidacy for cardiac transplantation is not yet determined. The indication for durable MCS in this group of patients is as a "bridge to decision."



Fig. 1 Indications for LVAD and implantation strategies

Patients who receive an LVAD as BTT should qualify for cardiac transplantation. Our current practice is applying the following criteria for BTT but not limited to those only:

- 1. Suitable candidate for cardiac transplantation
- 2. NYHA Functional Class IV heart failure symptoms
- 3. Imminent risk of death before donor heart availability despite maximal medical support
- 4. Absence of irreversible liver or renal failure, though exceptions may be made in those being considered for multi-organ transplantation
- 5. Absence of fixed pulmonary hypertension
- 6. Adequate psychological criteria and external psychosocial support for transplantation and for possible prolonged LVAD support
- General hemodynamic data: cardiac index ≤2.2 L/min/m², pulmonary capillary wedge pressure ≥20 mm Hg despite appropriate pharmacologic management (i.e. vasoactive and/or inotropes)
- 8. Acceptable right heart function assessed by echocardiogram and hemodynamics. If there is an evidence of severe right heart dysfunction, a patient may be evaluated for biventricular assist device support (BiVAD) in bridge to transplant patients
- 9. Left ventricular systolic function unrecoverable or unlikely to recover without device support
- 10. Chronic inotrope dependence with 1-year high risk mortality
- 11. Patient size (body surface area) to accommodate a device:
 - a. HeartMate II system $\geq 1.5 \text{ m}^2$
 - b. HeartMate 3 system >1.2 m²
 - c. Syncardia TAH: $\geq 1.7 \text{ m}^2$
 - d. Heartware HVAD: $\geq 1.0 \text{ m}^2$

Criteria for implantation of a DT device are based on the current requirements from the Center for Medicare Services.

- 1. Not a candidate for heart transplantation
- 2. NYHA Functional Class IV symptoms for at least 90 days
- 3. Life expectancy less than 2 years and meet <u>all</u> the following conditions:
 - a. Symptoms have failed to respond to optimal medical management, including beta-blockers, and angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (if tolerated) for at least 45 of the last 60 days
 - b. Has a LV ejection fraction <25%
 - c. Functional limitation with a peak oxygen consumption of ≤ 14 ml/kg/min; or the patient has a continued need for intravenous inotropic therapy owing to symptomatic hypotension, decreasing renal function, or worsening pulmonary congestion
 - d. Appropriate body size to support the VAD implantation

Furthermore, clinically perceived frailty, history of non-adherence to medical therapies, and social factors are deemed relative contraindications for LVAD support (Fig. 2).

General Considerations

Age is taken into great consideration when selecting patients for advance therapies especially for cardiac transplantation. Similar to almost any intervention in medicine, age is inversely related to survival post-LVAD implantation [6, 9]. As per the latest annual INTERMACS report, patients greater than 65 years of age are at a high risk with regards to early (less than 3 months) and late mortality (HR 1.41, p<0.0001; HR 1.16, p<0.0001) [6]. Most programs typically will consider transplantation in patients 70 years or younger; therefore, patients who receiving an LVAD as BTT strategy would typically need to be in this age strata [1]. However, advanced age does not remain an absolute contraindication for LVAD implantation especially those being selected for DT. LVAD implantation in patients 70 years of age or greater have similar outcomes specifically good functional recovery, survival and quality of life at 2 years compared to those less than the age of 70 [10].

Body surface area (BSA) is an important factor to evaluate prior to placing a durable LVAD. Historically, BSA cutoff for LVAD support was $\geq 1.5 \text{ m}^2$ putting women and children at a disadvantage. As a consequence of their lower utilization of LVADs, this population had a high waitlist mortality [11, 12]. Our current



Fig. 2 Exclusionary considerations for MCS

generation of LVADs are small, continuous flow pumps which permit a BSA as low as 1.0 m². As per a recent retrospective analysis of the INTERMACS registry, smaller patients (BSA \leq 1.5 m²) who receive an LVAD tend to be female, of Hispanic origins, and on intravenous inotropes [13]. They have more perioperative bleeding, driveline infections while exhibiting lower rates of right ventricular failure and renal dysfunction compared to larger patients (BSA \geq 1.5 m²). Most importantly, there are no differences with overall survival.

Cardiovascular Considerations

Most programs nationwide implant durable LVADs in patients with dilated LV with reduced ejection fractions (<35%). Dilated LVs are preferred for LVAD implantation as they can easily facilitate placement of the inflow cannula along the long axis and avoid the LV free wall and interventricular septum. However, having a preserved LV ejection fraction is not an absolute contraindication. LVAD implantation is feasible in patients with end-stage restrictive cardiomyopathies (RCM) such as hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, infiltrative heart disease, or chemotherapy/radiation-induced cardiomyopathy. Patients with RCM typically have impaired hemodynamics secondary to small LV dimensions, low stroke volume and significant diastolic dysfunction. Consequently, medical management can be challenging and thus have an overall poor prognosis [14, 15]. One of the largest studies of patients with end-stage RCM who have received LVAD therapy noted that implantation was associated with an improved survival compared to medical therapy regardless of the etiology of RCM [16]. Furthermore, the study identified that patients with end-stage RCM who have LV end-diastolic diameters of <46 mm had reduced mean survival times (112 versus 678 days, p<0.01) compared to those >46 mm. Thus, LVAD implantation could be a therapeutic option in patients with end-stage RCM with large LV dimensions.

Valvular heart disease can also be a challenge when implanting an LVAD for various reasons. LV unloading by an LVAD can impair aortic valve (AV) opening and decrease leaflet opening time during systole by increasing the transvalvular pressure (aortic pressure—LV pressure) [17]. As a consequence of disuse, perivalvular thrombus generation can occur as well as deterioration and fusion of the AV leaflets. The result of such pathology either could lead to aortic stenosis (AS) or aortic insufficiency (AI) if there is retraction of the leaflets and a central orifice were to be generated. Thus, pre-implant aortic insufficiency could theoretically worsen and result in worsening heart failure as blood would be travelling in a closed loop without truly unloading the LV. Historically in this scenario, bioprosthetic aortic valves were being co-implanted along with LVADs however this additional procedure typically required increasing the duration of cardioplegic arrest, increased the long term risk of prosthetic valve thrombosis and mortality [18]. In our current era, suture repair of the AV for moderate to severe native AI has been adopted to reduce the potential risk of further worsening AI [2]. Pre-existing functioning bioprosthetic aortic valves do not require removal or replacement at the time of implant [2]. However, patients with mechanical aortic valves may require replacement with a biologic valve or be surgically closed. Despite patients being on full anticoagulation, mechanical aortic valves pose a thromboembolic risk as blood stasis due to an inactive valve or intermittently opening can lead to thrombus formation followed by potential embolization.

Secondary tricuspid valve regurgitation (TR) can develop as a result of biventricular dilation and failure. Right ventricular (RV) failure, an immediate postoperative complication with LVAD implantation which will be discussed below in further detail, can worsen TR. RV failure is usually multifactorial due to limited flow across the pulmonary vasculature (high RV afterload), aggressive perioperative volume resuscitation (worsening RV dilation and TR), and results in a leftward shift of the interventricular septum (restriction of tricuspid valve leaflets). Currently there is no contraindication for implantation of a durable LVAD in the setting of significant TR but further studies are needed to assess the benefit of concomitant tricuspid valve replacement or intervention. Functional mitral regurgitation typically improves with LV unloading by an LVAD and thus is not of concern prior to implantation.

RV Failure

RV failure is one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality post-LVAD implantation [19, 20]. Not only can it occur immediately post-operatively but can even occur at a later time (i.e. post-discharge after index hospitalization). In general, RV function is dictated by preload, afterload, contractility, ventricular interdependence and heart rhythm [21]. LV dysfunction can essentially lead to RV dilation and dysfunction over time as a consequence of high RV afterload. Chronically elevated pulmonary capillary wedge (PCW) pressures can result in remodeling of the pulmonary vasculature and eventually post-capillary pulmonary hypertension [22]. This increase in RV afterload leads to RV dilation with potentially worsening TR and hepatic congestion. After LVAD placement, greater unloading of the LV shifts the interventricular septum to the left and provides increased venous return to a dilated and dysfunctional RV. This functionally impaired chamber leads to a decline in RV stroke volume and cardiac output. As a result, LV preload suffers leading to a reduction in LVAD flow and decreased end-organ perfusion.

Assessment of RV function is typically performed by various cardiac imaging modalities (echocardiography, cardiac computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging) and invasive hemodynamics with a Swan Ganz catheter. Hemodynamic parameters of utmost importance in predicting RV failure include central venous pressure to pulmonary capillary wedge pressure ratio, pulmonary artery pulsatility index, RV stroke work index, and pulmonary vascular resistance [19, 23]. Abnormal RV hemodynamics should prompt optimization pre-operatively with diuretics, inotropes, pulmonary vasodilators and temporary MCS with the goal to improve end-organ perfusion. It is important to note, RV function can be overestimated in the setting of volume overload or underestimated while on inotropes or temporary MCS. Therefore, it is important to repeat hemodynamic assessment of the RV after a patient has been optimized from a volume standpoint and off RV inotropy.

Echocardiography is great tool to objectively and subjectively characterize RV function. However, there are limitations when assessing RV function with conventional two dimensional (2D) or Doppler echocardiography mainly because of the retrosternal position of the RV and intra-observer variability. In addition, methods evaluating RV dysfunction have been inconsistent, in part due to differing definitions of RV dysfunction and lack of reproducible quantitative measurement analyses. Interestingly, RV function with 2D strain can provide a better assessment of global function of the RV more than tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion (TAPSE) or tricuspid peak systolic annular velocity (S') and can be obtained independently from the load-status or Doppler angle. In addition, strain imaging has been known to detect subclinical deterioration of the myocardium without abnormalities in 2D or Doppler images being noted. Further research with this novel technique is being conducted in the advanced heart failure population. Recently, a few studies have shown that greater (more negative) pre-operative RV longitudinal strain has been associated with RV failure post-LVAD implantation [27, 28].

Risk scores have been developed for predicting RV failure and potentially the need for RV assist device support however have limitations as they are derived from retrospective single center data compiled from a heterogenous LVAD population (pulsatile vs. continuous flow) with different indications (BTT vs DT) [24, 29]. A recent meta-analysis evaluated 36 primarily single center case control studies to identify predictors of RVF (within 2 weeks of implant) after LVAD implantation [28]. The findings of this study revealed multiple variables associated with the occurrence of RVF: use of supportive devices for end-organ dysfunction (mechanical ventilation, intra-aortic balloon pump and continuous renal replacement therapy), various biomarkers (NT-pro brain natriuretic peptide, international normalized ratio, white blood cell count), hemodynamic parameters (central venous pressure, RV stroke work index, mean arterial pressure) and echocardiographic assessment (qualitative RV function, RV/LV diameter ratio, RV free wall longitudinal systolic strain). Despite the inherent limitations of this meta-analysis, it is clear that RV failure is multifactorial and challenging to predict from a sea of parameters.
End-Organ Considerations

Renal Function

Many patients with end-stage HF tend to have renal dysfunction often attributed to cardiorenal syndrome from high central venous pressures or chronic low output state. A thorough assessment of renal function prior to LVAD implantation after patients are hemodynamically optimized includes serum creatinine, blood urea nitrogen and a 24-hour urine collection for creatinine clearance and proteinuria [2]. When selecting a patient with chronic kidney disease for LVAD support, the goal is to hopefully reverse renal impairment and prevent HD after LVAD implantation.

Renal insufficiency typically improves significantly with improvements in GFR usually within the first 30 days of LVAD implantation [30]. On the other hand, acute kidney injury can occur immediately post-operatively due to hemodynamic insults during the index surgery as well as from RV failure; some of these patients may even require temporary hemodialysis. The requirement for continuous venous-venous hemodialysis post-operatively has been shown to be associated with older age (mean 53 years of age), pre-operative intra-aortic balloon pump use, low serum total protein (mean 5.8 g/dL) and albumin (mean 1.2 g/dL) levels [31].

Pre-existing end stage renal failure requiring long term hemodialysis is a general contraindication to LVAD, as studies have shown extremely high mortality in this cohort [2]. In select patients on dialysis LVAD could be considered with the following caveats: volume shifts related to hemodialysis are usually not well tolerated in patients requiring LVAD support with concerns for frequent low flow alarms; the availability of dialysis centers which are trained to manage patients with LVADs are very limited throughout the nation; and, lack of pulsatility can make obtaining frequent blood pressures during hemodialysis sessions troublesome.

Hepatic Function

Patients with end-stage heart failure typically develop congestive hepatopathy, a consequence of increased systemic venous pressure and chronic ischemic injury from systemic hypoperfusion [32]. The syndrome of ischemic hepatitis due to low output results in centrilobular liver necrosis which leads to an elevation in serum aminotransferase levels. Preoperative hepatic dysfunction has been shown to be associated with poor survival and other perioperative complications including right heart failure, renal failure and bleeding events requiring blood transfusions [33, 34]. The Model for End-Stage Liver Disease (MELD) score was initially designed

to predict survival in patients undergoing the trans-jugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt procedure [35, 36]. The MELD score contains the following parameters: serum creatinine, total bilirubin and international normalized ratio (INR). More recently, this prognostic score has been utilized in predicting mortality in patient undergoing LVAD implantation and heart transplantation [33, 37, 38].

Significant hepatic dysfunction (MELD score > 12.6) is associated with poor 90-day and 1-year postoperative survival as well as a higher rates of neurologic events, and need for re-exploration due to early bleeding following LVAD implantation [39]. Generally, markers of liver function improve post-implantation regardless of baseline liver dysfunction suggesting the reversal of congestive hepatopathy. One of the components of the MELD score, the INR, may be inaccurate in the assessment of liver function while on LVAD support as patients are typically on warfarin which increases the INR. Another measure of hepatic dysfunction is the MELD-XI (MELD eXcluding INR) score which has been validated in predicting survival in patients with liver cirrhosis not on oral anticoagulation and correlates with the MELD score (Table 3) [40]. Utilizing the MELD-XI score to assess liver dysfunction is more appropriate in our current era of LVADs as almost all patients are on oral anticoagulation. In fact, both MELD and MELD-XI scores of <17 have been shown to be predictive of on-VAD survival, overall and post-OHT survival [34]. In addition, patients who have an elevated MELD or MELD-XI score (>17) may benefit from liver imaging and an evaluation by a hepatologist.

Pulmonary Function

In general, patients with severe obstructive or restrictive pulmonary disease are at risk of longer durations on mechanical support and prolonged intensive care unit stays following LVAD implantation. At baseline, patient with end-stage heart failure have poor baseline spirometry measurements. The abnormalities in seen in pre-operative pulmonary function tests (PFT) can be due to pleural effusions,

MELD components	MELD-XI components
 Serum Total Bilirubin (mg/dL) Serum Creatinine (mg/dL) INR 	 Serum Total Bilirubin (mg/dL) Serum Creatinine (mg/dL)
Formula	
$3.78 \times \text{Ln} [\text{bilirubin}] +$ $11.2 \times \text{Ln} [\text{INR}] +$ $9.57 \times \text{Ln}[\text{creatinine}] +6.43$	5.11 × Ln [bilirubin] + 11.76 × Ln [creatinine] +9.44

Table 3 MELD versus MELD-XI

Model for End-Stage Liver Disease = MELD; MELD-XI = MELD eXcluding INR INR = International Normalized Ratio; Ln = Logarithm

interstitial edema, reactive fibrosis, prior pulmonary infarctions and decreased lung volumes with compressive atelectasis [41]. If the forced vital capacity, forced expiratory volume at 1 s and carbon monoxide diffusing capacity are all less than 50% predicted, exclusion from LVAD should be considered. Also, if PFTs are abnormal, consider evaluation for obstructive sleep apnea. At present, there is no relationship between baseline PFTs and post-LVAD outcomes [42]. In fact, PFTs typically worsen post-LVAD implantation which is likely multifactorial due to restriction from shared intrathoracic space with an LVAD, respiratory muscle weakness, direct pulmonary injury from cardioplegia, mechanical changes due to sternotomy and manipulation of the lung.

Hematologic Function

Oral anticoagulants and anti-platelet agents are required in patients with LVADs to prevent pump thrombosis. The preferred anticoagulant is a vitamin K antagonist typically with a goal INR 2-3. Baseline thrombocytopenia and anemia are markers of hematologic function which are scrutinized during selection for durable LVAD support. It is important to assess and potentially resolve the reasons for these abnormalities prior to implantation to avoid future adverse events.

Preoperative thrombocytopenia (platelet count $\leq 148 \times 10^{3}/\mu$ L) has been shown to be highly associated with 90-day in-hospital mortality post-implantation [43]. Prolonged anticoagulation with heparin is typically required in the immediate perioperative period. The use of cardiopulmonary bypass and systemic heparinization can make LVAD patients more prone to heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT) [44]. Screening for antibodies to anti-platelet 4 complex, can prevent potential thrombosis and thrombocytopenia in patients with HIT by avoiding future heparin exposure and initiating an alternative anticoagulant in the perioperative period.

Bleeding post-LVAD implantation occurs more commonly as a result of acquired von Willebrand syndrome (aVWF). High shear stress from the LVAD results in proteolysis of large multimers of von Willebrand factor (VWF). The reduction of high-molecular VWF multimers leads to decreased function of VWF hence platelet dysfunction and bleeding. Bleeding typically occurs from mucosal surfaces (oral cavity, gastrointestinal tract) but can even result in menorrhagia, epistaxis, hematuria, and intracranial bleeds. In addition to aVWF, gastrointestinal (GI) bleeding can also be due to arteriovenous malformations. Continuous flow from LVADs create a chronic narrow pulse pressure affecting neurovascular physiology, increasing intraluminal pressure, smooth muscle relaxation, and distension of submucosal venous plexus leading to angiodysplasia [45]. Fortunately, the overall incidence of GI bleeding has reduced significantly with the latest generation of continuous flow LVADs [46]. Regardless, most centers will screen potential LVAD candidates for GI malignancies or arteriovenous malformations with a colonoscopy as their findings increase risk for potential bleeding post-implantation.

Psychosocial Considerations

When considering patients for durable LVAD support it is important to select for those who will be compliant with medical therapy and outpatient follow up. The burden of care for LVADs is high. It requires one to carry a device and batteries which can be up to a weight of 14lbs. Dressing changes at the driveline exit site and adherence to oral anticoagulants are only just a tip of the iceberg. Maintenance of an LVAD requires a basic fundamental of good hygiene and vigilant monitoring of LVAD alarms which may signal device malfunction. Therefore, it is recommended for every multidisciplinary committee to have an advanced licensed clinical social worker who is trained in evaluating potential LVAD candidates [2]. Social workers perform a thorough psychosocial assessment including a patient's social network, potential caregiver plan and history of substance abuse including illicit drugs and alcohol.

The Stanford Integrated Psychosocial Assessment for Transplantation (SIPAT) score is a popular tool used in the evaluation of potential solid organ transplant candidates (Fig. 3) [47]. The score is calculated based off the answers to 18 questions which envelop 4 psychosocial domains including patient's readiness, social support, psychosocial stability and lifestyle. SIPAT scores are now being utilized in assessing potential LVAD candidates and its questions being modified to be specifically related to knowledge of the device. Evidence supporting the use



Fig. 3 Stanford Integrated Psychosocial Assessment For Transplantation (SIPAT) score assessment

of SIPAT in this patient population has been controversial. A large single-center retrospective study identified that a high SIPAT score pre-LVAD was associated with a burden of adverse events including readmissions, device exchanges and death post-implantation [48]. However, another single-center retrospective study concluded that a high SIPAT score did not predict cumulative re-admission [49]. Despite its limitations, the SIPAT score is a quick and objective assessment that institutions may consider using as a quality metric to assess the degree of psychosocial risk they are taking programmatically, but not be used to make absolute decisions regarding candidacy [50].

Case Conclusion

After a multidisciplinary committee review, the patient was deemed an appropriate candidate for an LVAD as DT. A continuous flow LVAD was surgically implanted and he required 1 unit of packed red blood cells perioperatively. His post-operative course was complicated by RV failure which resolved after a short course of intravenous diuretics and a slow wean off his milrinone. After a 12-day hospital stay, he was discharged with a serum creatinine of 1.1 mg/dL (pre-LVAD implantation 1.9 mg/dL). Repeat transthoracic echocardiogram was remarkable for a LV internal dimension in diastole of 6.1 cm, trace mitral regurgitation and aortic regurgitation. He has been compliant with medical therapy and outpatient follow up visits. He is now able to perform his activities of daily living without any limitations and enjoys spending time with his grandchildren.

Key Points:

- Durable MCS is a well-established modality of improving cardiac output, functional capacity, quality of life, and reversing cachexia and multi-organ failure.
- Indications for an LVAD include bridge-to-transplant, bridge-to-destination and destination therapy.
- Selection for durable LVAD requires a thorough evaluation by a multidisciplinary team.
- LVAD implantation is preferred in patients who meet INTERMACS Profile 3 or greater given better survival outcomes.
- Cardiac considerations prior to LVAD implantation include assessment of LV cavity size, presence of baseline valvular heart disease and right heart failure.
- Renal and hepatic impairment are typically reversed post-LVAD implantation.
- Psychosocial assessment is important to identify high risk patient features including medical non-compliance, substance abuse and neurocognitive impairment.

References

- Mehra MR, Canter CE, Hannan MM, et al. The 2016 international society for heart lung transplantation listing criteria for heart transplantation: a 10-year update. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2016;35(1):1–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2015.10.023.
- Feldman D, Pamboukian SV, Teuteberg JJ, et al. The 2013 international society for heart and lung transplantation guidelines for mechanical circulatory support: executive summary. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2013;32(2):157–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2012.09.013.
- Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, et al. 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure. Circulation. 2013;128(16). https://doi.org/10.1161/cir.0b013e31829e8776.
- Slaughter MS, Pagani FD, Rogers JG, et al. Clinical management of continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices in advanced heart failure. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2010;29(4 Suppl):S1–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2010.01.011.
- Kirklin JK, Naftel DC, Stevenson LW, et al. INTERMACS database for durable devices for circulatory support: first annual report. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2008;27(10):1065–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2008.07.021.
- Kirklin JK, Pagani FD, Kormos RL, et al. Eighth annual INTERMACS report: Special focus on framing the impact of adverse events. J Hear Lung Transplant. 2017;36(10):1080– 6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2017.07.005.
- Estep JD, Starling RC, Horstmanshof DA, et al. Risk assessment and comparative effectiveness of left ventricular assist device and medical management in ambulatory heart failure patients: results from the ROADMAP study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;66(16):1747–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2015.07.075.
- Starling RC, Estep JD, Horstmanshof DA, et al. Risk assessment and comparative effectiveness of left ventricular assist device and medical management in ambulatory heart failure patients: the ROADMAP study 2-Year results. JACC Heart Fail. 2017;5(7):518–27. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jchf.2017.02.016.
- Kirklin JK, Naftel DC, Pagani FD, et al. Seventh INTERMACS annual report: 15,000 patients and counting. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2015;34(12):1495–504. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.healun.2015.10.003.
- Adamson RM, Stahovich M, Chillcott S, et al. Clinical strategies and outcomes in advanced heart failure patients older than 70 years of age receiving the HeartMate II left ventricular assist device: a community hospital experience. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;57(25):2487–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2011.01.043.
- 11. Adachi I, Khan MS, Guzmán-Pruneda FA, et al. Evolution and impact of ventricular assist device program on children awaiting heart transplantation. Ann Thorac Surg. 2015;99(2):635–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2014.10.010.
- Morgan JA, Weinberg AD, Hollingsworth KW, Flannery MR, Oz MC, Naka Y. Effect of gender on bridging to transplantation and posttransplantation survival in patients with left ventricular assist devices. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2004;127(4):1193–5. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0022-5223(03)00801-8.
- Zafar F, Villa CR, Morales DL, et al. Does small size matter with continuous flow devices? JACC Hear Fail. 2017;5(2):123–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchf.2016.09.009.
- Kushwaha SS, Fallon JT, Fuster V. Restrictive cardiomyopathy. N Engl J Med. 1997;336(4):267–76. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199701233360407.
- Ammash NM, Seward JB, Bailey KR, Edwards WD, Tajik AJ. Clinical profile and outcome of idiopathic restrictive cardiomyopathy. Circulation. 2000;101(21):2490–6. https://doi. org/10.1161/01.cir.101.21.2490.
- 16. Grupper A, Park SJ, Pereira NL, et al. Role of ventricular assist therapy for patients with heart failure and restrictive physiology: improving outcomes for a lethal disease. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2015;34(8):1042–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2015.03.012.

- Robertson JO, Naftel DC, Myers SL, et al. Concomitant aortic valve procedures in patients undergoing implantation of continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices: An INTERMACS database analysis. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2015;34(6):797–805. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.healun.2014.11.008.
- Pal JD, Klodell CT, John R, et al. Low operative mortality with implantation of a continuous-flow left ventricular assist device and impact of concurrent cardiac procedures. Circulation. 2009;120(11 Suppl):S215–9. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.108.844274.
- Kormos RL, Teuteberg JJ, Pagani FD, et al. Right ventricular failure in patients with the HeartMate II continuous-flow left ventricular assist device: incidence, risk factors, and effect on outcomes. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2010;139(5):1316–24. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2009.11.020.
- Kavarana MN, Pessin-Minsley MS, Urtecho J, et al. Right ventricular dysfunction and organ failure in left ventricular assist device recipients: a continuing problem. Ann Thorac Surg. 2002;73(3):745–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0003-4975(01)03406-3.
- Arrigo M, Huber LC, Winnik S, et al. Right ventricular failure: pathophysiology, diagnosis and treatment. Card Fail Rev. 2019;5(3):140–6. https://doi.org/10.15420/cfr.2019.15.2.
- Guazzi M, Naeije R. Pulmonary hypertension in heart failure: pathophysiology, pathobiology, and emerging clinical perspectives. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;69(13):1718–34. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.01.051.
- Morine KJ, Kiernan MS, Pham DT, Paruchuri V, Denofrio D, Kapur NK. Pulmonary artery pulsatility index is associated with right ventricular failure after left ventricular assist device surgery. J Card Fail. 2016;22(2):110–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cardfail.2015.10.019.
- Fitzpatrick JR, Frederick JR, Hsu VM, et al. Risk score derived from pre-operative data analysis predicts the need for biventricular mechanical circulatory support. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2008;27(12):1286–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2008.09.006.
- Fukamachi K, McCarthy PM, Smedira NG, Vargo RL, Starling RC, Young JB. Preoperative risk factors for right ventricular failure after implantable left ventricular assist device insertion. Ann Thorac Surg. 1999;68(6):2181–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0003-4975(99)00753-5.
- Drakos SG, Janicki L, Horne BD, et al. Risk factors predictive of right ventricular failure after left ventricular assist device implantation. Am J Cardiol. 2010;105(7):1030–5. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.amjcard.2009.11.026.
- Grant ADM, Smedira NG, Starling RC, Marwick TH. Independent and incremental role of quantitative right ventricular evaluation for the prediction of right ventricular failure after left ventricular assist device implantation. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012;60(6):521–8. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jacc.2012.02.073.
- Bellavia D, Iacovoni A, Scardulla C, et al. Prediction of right ventricular failure after ventricular assist device implant: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Eur J Heart Fail. 2017;19(7):926–46. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejhf.733.
- Matthews JC, Koelling TM, Pagani FD, Aaronson KD. The right ventricular failure risk score a pre-operative tool for assessing the risk of right ventricular failure in left ventricular assist device candidates. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008;51(22):2163–72. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jacc.2008.03.009.
- Quader M, Goodreau AM, Johnson RM, Wolfe LG, Feldman GM. Impact of renal function recovery utilizing left ventricular assist device support. J Card Surg. 2020;35(1):100–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocs.14320.
- Topkara VK, Dang NC, Barili F, et al. Predictors and outcomes of continuous veno-venous hemodialysis use after implantation of a left ventricular assist device. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2006;25(4):404–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2005.11.457.
- 32. Wadia Y, Etheridge W, Smart F, Wood RP, Frazier OH. Pathophysiology of hepatic dysfunction and intrahepatic cholestasis in heart failure and after left ventricular assist

device support. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2005;24(4):361-70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. healun.2004.09.012.

- Matthews JC, Pagani FD, Haft JW, Koelling TM, Naftel DC, Aaronson KD. Model for endstage liver disease score predicts left ventricular assist device operative transfusion requirements, morbidity, and mortality. Circulation. 2010;121(2):214–20. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.108.838656.
- 34. Yang JA, Kato TS, Shulman BP, et al. Liver dysfunction as a predictor of outcomes in patients with advanced heart failure requiring ventricular assist device support: Use of the Model of End-stage Liver Disease (MELD) and MELD eXcluding INR (MELD-XI) scoring system. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2012;31(6):601–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. healun.2012.02.027.
- Malinchoc M, Kamath PS, Gordon FD, Peine CJ, Rank J, ter Borg PC. A model to predict poor survival in patients undergoing transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunts. Hepatology. 2000;31(4):864–71. https://doi.org/10.1053/he.2000.5852.
- Kamath PS, Wiesner RH, Malinchoc M, et al. A model to predict survival in patients with end-stage liver disease. Hepatology. 2001;33(2):464–70. https://doi.org/10.1053/ jhep.2001.22172.
- Chokshi A, Cheema FH, Schaefle KJ, et al. Hepatic dysfunction and survival after orthotopic heart transplantation: application of the MELD scoring system for outcome prediction. J Hear Lung Transplant. 2012;31(6):591–600. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. healun.2012.02.008.
- Deo SV, Daly RC, Altarabsheh SE, et al. Predictive value of the model for end-stage liver disease score in patients undergoing left ventricular assist device implantation. ASAIO J. 59(1):57–62. https://doi.org/10.1097/mat.0b013e31827c0c77.
- Yalcin YC, Muslem R, Veen KM, et al. Impact of preoperative liver dysfunction on outcomes in patients with left ventricular assist devices. Eur J Cardio-Thoracic Surg. 2019. https://doi.org/10.1093/ejcts/ezz337 December.
- Heuman DM, Mihas AA, Habib A, et al. MELD-XI: A rational approach to "sickest first" liver transplantation in cirrhotic patients requiring anticoagulant therapy. Liver Transplant. 2007;13(1):30–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/lt.20906.
- Mohamedali B, Bhat G, Yost G, Tatooles A. Changes in spirometry after left ventricular assist device implantation. Artif Organs. 2015;39(12):1046–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/ aor.12507.
- 42. Sajgalik P, Kim C-H, Stulak JM, et al. Pulmonary function assessment post-left ventricular assist device implantation. ESC Heart Fail. 2019;6(1):53–61. https://doi.org/10.1002/ehf2.12348.
- Lietz K, Long JW, Kfoury AG, et al. Outcomes of left ventricular assist device implantation as destination therapy in the post-REMATCH era: implications for patient selection. Circulation. 2007;116(5):497–505. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.107.691972.
- Muslem R, Caliskan K, Leebeek FWG. Acquired coagulopathy in patients with left ventricular assist devices. J Thromb Haemost. 2018;16(3):429–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jth.13933.
- Gurvits GE, Fradkov E. Bleeding with the artificial heart: Gastrointestinal hemorrhage in CF-LVAD patients. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23(22):3945–53. https://doi.org/10.3748/ wjg.v23.i22.3945.
- 46. Goldstein DJ, Naka Y, Horstmanshof D, et al. Association of clinical outcomes with left ventricular assist device use by bridge to transplant or destination therapy intent: the multicenter study of MagLev technology in patients undergoing mechanical circulatory support therapy with HeartMate 3 (MOME. JAMA Cardiol. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2019.5323 January.

- Maldonado JR, Dubois HC, David EE, et al. The Stanford Integrated Psychosocial Assessment for Transplantation (SIPAT): a new tool for the psychosocial evaluation of pre-transplant candidates. Psychosomatics. 2012;53(2):123–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psym.2011.12.012.
- Sperry BW, Ikram A, Alvarez PA, et al. Standardized psychosocial assessment before left ventricular assist device implantation. Circ Heart Fail. 2019;12(1). https://doi.org/10.1161/ circheartfailure.118.005377.
- Bui QM, Braun OO, Brambatti M, et al. The value of Stanford integrated psychosocial assessment for transplantation (SIPAT) in prediction of clinical outcomes following left ventricular assist device (LVAD) implantation. Heart Lung. 2019;48(2):85–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.hrtlng.2018.08.011.
- Adler ED. Of parachutes and heart pumps. Circ Hear Fail. 2019;12(1). https://doi. org/10.1161/circheartfailure.118.005745.

LVAD Inpatient Management



Johannes Steiner and Hao A. Tran

Case Vignette

A 61-year-old woman with a remote history of diffuse large B cell lymphoma received a doxorubicin-based chemotherapy, chest wall radiation and autologous stem cell transplant presented with worsening biventricular systolic dysfunction. She rapidly decompensated necessitating inotropic agents and percutaneous mechanical support (Impella CP, Abiomed Inc, Danvers, MA, USA). Transthoracic echocardiogram revealed a left ventricular ejection fraction 10% with left ventricular end-diastolic diameter 5.5 cm, moderate right ventricular failure (RV), and moderate-to-severe tricuspid regurgitation (TR). Pulmonary artery catheterization revealed mean RA pressure 15 mmHg, PA pressure of 46/24 mmHg and pulmonary artery pulsatility index (PAPI) of 1.5.

The patient was ultimately listed for transplantation and received an urgent HeartWare HVAD (HeartWare, Framingham, MA, USA) and tricuspid ring placement. The pump speed was started at 2500 rpm and immediate post-operative management consisted of epinephrine, milrinone, vasopressin and nitric oxide. After weaning from cardiopulmonary bypass, the device achieved flows only up to 2.5 L/min with pump speed increased to 2600 rpm. Transesophageal echocardiogram (TEE) documented severe RV, systolic dysfunction and residual severe TR with a ventricular septum bulging into the LV causing continued suction events.

Despite an aggressive pharmacological RV support strategy including inotropes and pulmonary vasodilators, the LVAD remained underfilled and was unable to

J. Steiner

H.A. Tran (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

Division of Cardiology, Department of Internal Medicine, Oregon Health and Science University, Portland, USA

Division of Cardiology, Department of Internal Medicine, University of California, 9452 Medical Center Drive, La Jolla, San Diego, CA 92037, USA e-mail: hatran@health.ucsd.edu

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_5

provide adequate systemic flows ultimately necessitating the insertion of temporary RVAD in the form of a RA to PA configured Centrimag RVAD (Abbott, Pleasanton, CA, USA). Postoperative PA chest x-ray suggested an inflow cannula orientation towards the interventricular septum rather than the mitral valve apparatus with the RVAD already in place (Fig. 1).

Pre-Operative Optimization

Inpatient mortality and length of stay after VAD placement in advanced cardiogenic shock states, INTERMACS profiles 1-2 (Interagency Registry for Mechanically Assisted Circulatory Support, more critical patients have lower profiles) are significantly increased compared to VAD placement in stable inotrope dependent or even ambulatory heart failure patients [3]. While the ideal timing for VAD placement is still being debated on the basis of potential risks and benefits of earlier implantation [4], the importance of preoperative optimization and its effects on postoperative outcomes is well recognized.

- <u>Decompensated RV failure prior to LVAD implantation</u>. Regardless of which definition of RV failure is being used, RV failure after LVAD implant has consistently been associated with worse clinical outcomes, including increased hospital length of stay, worse end-organ function, decreased bridge-to-transplant success, and increased short-term and long-term mortality [5]. This was covered earlier in the previous chapter, but several important points will be discussed here.
 - Pre-operative RV systolic dysfunction is in particular vulnerable to the effects of cardiopulmonary bypass, peri-operative volume shifts and increased RV afterload due to pulmonary edema and/or positive pressure ventilation.

Fig. 1 Chest x-ray indicates an inflow cannula orientation towards the interventricular septum rather than towards the mitral valve apparatus. Centrimag cannulas from the RA to the PA already in place. Moderate pulmonary edema



- While short-term RV assist devices do exist, durable long-term RVAD therapy currently remains off-label
- Several risk scores, echocardiographic or hemodynamic metrics are associated with postoperative RV failure, however, no single metric has been identified to guide patient selection [6].
- Hemodynamic guided heart failure management pre-implant to reduce central venous pressures to below 15 mmHg utilizing aggressive diuresis, inotropic right ventricular support, or even pulmonary vasodilator therapy is strongly advised in at risk patients.
- Minimal invasive approaches via lateral thoracotomy have the potential to maintain an intact pericardium and reduce the incidence of post-operative RV failure [7].
- 2. <u>Malnutrition</u> is frequently encountered in end-stage cardiomyopathies, impacts postoperative wound healing and the incidence of nosocomial infections.
 - Albumin levels less than 3.5 mg/dL have been associated with increase in postoperative VAD mortality [8].
 - Nevertheless, optimizing pre-implant nutrition potentially requiring weeks needs to be weighed against the potential risk for delaying VAD implant.
- 3. <u>Active infections</u> need to be excluded prior to implantation. Potential infectious sources including indwelling catheters and dental infections should be removed or treated otherwise. Preoperative antibiotic prophylaxis should be given [9].
- 4. <u>Renal Failure</u>. Although frequent improvement of the glomerular filtration rate is observed immediately post VAD implant, long-term improvements are less evident and ongoing renal dysfunction is associated with increased morbidity and mortality during the post VAD placement clinical course.
 - Permanent dialysis requirements are still considered a contraindication especially for DT VAD placement and might render BTT VAD patient not being a cardiac transplantation candidate any longer; therefore, efforts should be spent in the pre-operative period to optimize renal function through providing decongestion and adequate renal perfusion [10].

Intra-Operative Management

- 1. <u>Tricuspid Regurgitation</u> is commonly encountered in end-stage heart failure patients resulting from long-standing pulmonary venous hypertension, right atrial remodeling, and the presence of transvalvular leads. (see Table 1)
 - Despite some early evidence to support a strategy of tricuspid repair at the time of LVAD implant [11] suggesting improved RV reverse remodeling thereafter, these findings did not translate into any clinical benefits in later registry based publications [12] and remain an area of clinical uncertainty.
- 2. <u>Mitral Regurgitation</u> (severe) is regularly observed prior to LVAD placement, this rarely requires surgical attention at the time of implant and typically

Valvulopathy	Concomitant valvular surgery
Aortic insufficiency or mechanical aortic prothesis	Surgical repair or closure if aortic insufficiency at least moderate
Mitral stenosis	Bioprosthetic mitral valve replacement
Tricuspid regurgitation	No definite recommendations available

 Table 1
 Summary of Intraoperative Valvular Interventions

improves with LVAD driven ventricular unloading and reverse remodeling. In the rare circumstances of underlying significant mitral valve stenosis, this commonly requires replacement with a bioprosthetic mitral valve to assist with LVAD filling and reduce the risk for intracardiac emboli.

- 3. <u>Aortic Insufficiency</u> (at least moderate) can create a reentry circuit throughout the cardiac cycle severely jeopardizing systemic perfusion and left ventricular unloading. The progression of aortic insufficiency can be propagated by a reduced systolic excursion of the valve during LVAD support and should be addressed at the time of LVAD implant especially if the patient is expected to remain on LVAD support for a longer duration.
 - Options for surgical management of aortic regurgitation include repair by over-sewing the valve completely (Park stitch) or replacing the valve with a biological prosthesis [13].
 - Options for surgical management of aortic regurgitation include repair by over-sewing the valve completely (Park stitch) or replacing the valve with a biological prosthesis [13].
 - Mechanical prosthesis in the aortic position are typically over-sewn or replaced with a tissue valve due to increased incidence of thrombotic phenomena during a relative low flow state if the patient is expected to remain on LVAD support for a prolonged amount of tie.
- 4. <u>Right Ventricular Dysfunction</u>. Pulmonary edema, lung injury caused by excessive transfusion requirements, and prolonged cardiopulmonary bypass time all have a direct impact on RV afterload and should be minimized.
 - Most centers utilize aggressive inotropic support and empiric use of pulmonary vasodilators such as inhaled nitric oxide or prostaglandin in case of preexisting pulmonary hypertension and struggling RV function in the immediate perioperative period.
 - To avoid increased pulmonary vasoconstriction and stress on the RV, optimal oxygenation and acid base balance should be achieved prior to separation from bypass.
 - CVP should be closely monitored with attention to avoid over distention of the RV.
 - If right ventricular failure persists, a temporary RVAD should be considered electively before leaving the OR rather than emergently thereafter. This can be achieved either by converting the cardiopulmonary bypass circuit to a right atrial to pulmonary artery configuration or even through

placement of a temporary RVAD (Centrimag RVAD, Abbott Laboratories, formerly Thoratec Corporation, Pleasanton, CA, USA). There may be an emerging role for percutaneously placed right ventricular assist devices (Impella RP, Abiomed, Inc, Danvers, MA, USA or TandemLife Protek Duo, TandemLife, Pittsburgh, PA) in selected cases requiring only short-term support. As may be expected, patient outcomes are improved with planned RV support instead of delayed/emergent upgrade to biventricular support [14].

Post-Operative Management

- Initial LVAD pump speeds ideally will be adjusted under ongoing TEE and hemodynamic guidance. A strategy of "partial" unloading may be preferable to higher speeds especially in patients at increased risk of post-LVAD RV failure in order to avoid excessive RV preload and leftward septal bowing, which may worsen RV function in the already dysfunctional and perhaps stunned RV following cardiopulmonary bypass. Short and midterm goals include adequate left ventricular unloading as reflected by complete or intermittent aortic valve closure and reduction in left ventricular distention, as well as preventing right ventricular overload or compromise of the septal geometry.
 - Typical pump speeds are 5000–6000 rpm for the HeartMate 3, and 2400– 3200 rpm for the HVAD. Optimal speed settings are very dependent on postoperative volume shifts, systemic vascular resistance, and therefore can require ongoing reevaluations.
- 2. <u>Post-operative hemodynamic</u> scenarios leading to abnormal VAD flows are summarized in Table 2. During this post-operative period, triggers of pulmonary hypertension (acidosis and hypoxia) that may compromise RV function should be remediated. Bleeding should be controlled by correcting any coagulopathies as needed. In patients who have a significantly elevated PVR that does not improve in the early postoperative days, particularly in those with significant, concomitant RV dysfunction, use of an oral phosphodiesterase type 5A inhibitor is a reasonable therapeutic strategy [15].

Anticoagulation Management

Efforts to minimize the risk of bleeding at the time of LVAD implantation typically focus on full reversal of anticoagulation and washout from antiplatelet agents before surgery. The prevention of occlusive or non-occlusive pump thrombosis in the immediate postoperative period needs to be carefully weighed against the risk of postoperative bleeding and its associated morbidity. Valuable lessons were

Table 2Common20 mm Hg necessi	t postoperative hemoc tate urgent echocardio	lynamic scenarios leading to a graphic evaluation to rule out t	abnormal VAD flows. tamponade or other te	Low pump outpu chnical complicati	tt and significant CVP e ons	levations greater than
Diagnostic Indices	Hypovolemia or bleeding	RV failure	Tamponade	Systemic hypertension	Aortic insufficiency	Ventricular arrhythmias
LVAD flows	Low	Low	Low	Low	High	Low
LVAD pulsatility	Reduced, possible suction events	Reduced, possible suction events	Reduced, possible suction events	Increased	Reduced	Reduced, possible suction events
PAC data	Low CVP	Elevated CVP, reduced PAPi and CI	Elevated CVP		Reduced CI, eventually elevated CVP	Elevated CVP
MAP	Reduced or normal	Reduced or normal	Reduced	Elevated	Normal	Reduced or normal
Echo	Small left ventricu- lar diameter with closed aortic valve, decompressed IVC	Enlarged right ventricle with the septum bowing to the left, dilated IVC	Compressed right ventricle due to circumferential or localized pericardial effusion, increased IVC diameter	Unchanged	Dilated left ventricle and aortic insufficiency throughout systole and diastole	Unchanged
Management strategy	 Volume resuscitation Monitor for intrathoracic bleeding and increased chest tube output Adjust hematocrit in LVAD settings 	 Evaluate VAD settings to prevent distortion of the septal geometry and RV overload Inotropic and pulmonary vasodilator support Aggressive diuresis eventu- ally including u ltrafiltration Reevaluate vent settings Low threshold to consider temporary mechanical sup- port for the right side 	- Surgical re-exploration	- Optimize pharmaco- logical blood pressure control and eventually reassess pain control	 Echo guided ramp study and potentially speed increase Consider aortic valve repair or replacement in case of pro- longed VAD support anticipated 	 Evaluate VAD speed settings, inflow cannula orientation and vol- ume status (suction events) Eventually antiar- rhythmic therapy

84

leant from the increased incidence of HeartMate 2 pump thrombosis reported on in 2013 [16].

- PREVENTion of HeartMate II Pump Thrombosis trial involved nine strategies believed to influence the risk of thrombosis, including surgical techniques, antithrombotic therapy, pump speed, and blood pressure management strategies.
 - Patients who received heparin bridging, maintained pump speeds of at least 9,000 rpm, and those who had all implant techniques followed experienced significantly fewer pump thrombosis events at six months (1.9% vs. 8.9%; p<0.01) [17].
 - Consensus documents from the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT) provides guidelines for the utilization of anticoagulation and antiplatelet therapy post LVAD placement [18], however, significant institutional variability still persists in regard to the post-operative management [19].
- 1. Post-operative heparin:
 - Unfractionated heparin is initiated after the first 24 h with a lower anti-Xa goal range, and then gradually increased for target anti-Xa goal (0.35–0.5). Significant discordances were observed between therapeutic aPTT assays and anti-Xa activities in postoperative LVAD patients especially in the presence of lupus anticoagulants. [20] Heparin administration may be delayed due to ongoing significant bleeding as defined by hemodynamically significant GI bleeding, thoracic cavity bleeding leading to hemodynamic compromise and/or intracerebral bleeding. Heparin bridging is being continued until the first INR reaches a value of 2 or more. For patients with a history of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT) in whom it is not feasible to wait for disappearance of the heparin-PF4 antibodies, anticoagulation with a direct thrombin inhibitor is the preferred choice.
- 2. Oral anticoagulation
 - Oral vitamin K antagonists remain the standard of care long-term anticoagulation agent in LVAD patients and are typically initiated once the chest tubes have been removed. A small randomized control trial investigating the utility of novel oral anticoagulants (dabigatran) had to be stopped prematurely due to increased risk of thromboembolic events in the novel oral anticoagulant treatment arm [21].
 - Current guidelines suggest an INR target of 2-3 post VAD placement. Embolic events have been reported to inversely correlate to INR with the highest event rates occurring with an INR lower than 1.5 and significantly increased event rates with INR between 1.5 and 1.9. Significant bleeding events seem to increase significantly for INRs beyond 3 [22]. Longterm warfarin management in LVAD patients can be challenging due to varying levels of hepatic congestion, nutritional status, and polypharmacy.

The time-in-therapeutic range (TTR) for LVAD patients has been reported at between 31 and 51%, which is significantly worse than in other conditions [23]. The anticoagulation approach for each patient is typically individualized. For example, sustained low pump flow states or increasing markers of hemolysis (e.g. lactate dehydrogenase, LDH) would mandate increasing anticoagulation to the upper limits of normal and higher. On the other hand, patients frequently require downward adjustments of INR targets over time in the setting of uncontrollable bleeding complications.

- De novo pump thrombosis remains a rarity in the newest generation HeartMate 3, which was especially designed to reduce hemocompatibility related events and provides the rational for less aggressive anticoagulation strategies. Initial HeartMate 3 pilot data suggest the safety of lower INR targets (1.5–2) in the mid-term for patients at increased risk for bleeding. However, larger and longer-term data are required to apply these findings to the general public [24].
- 3. Antiplatelet regimen
 - Regarding anti-platelet therapy current guidelines recommend the initiation of aspirin 24–72 h postoperatively. ASA may be stopped or reduced for bleeding. Care should be taken dose reducing ASA in HVAD supported patients due to the evidence that ASA 325 mg is associated with fewer cerebrovascular events and device thrombosis compared with lower doses [25].
 - In the future, platelet activation assays might be able to routinely risk stratify patients at risk for thromboembolic complications and thus might guide patient-tailored pharmacological strategies to balance bleeding and clotting risks [26]. Thromboelastography (TEG) is already used by some centers to manage and adjust anticoagulation. Protocols vary, although many include daily TEG to assess antiplatelet needs until satisfactory.

Infectious Prophylaxis

Next to bleeding driveline associated infections are one of the most common adverse events in LVAD patients. Driveline infection occurs in up to 20% of patients in the first year of LVAD support, and the cumulative risk is continuous during support.

- Algorithms pertaining to infection prevention, antibiotic prophylaxis and driveline site care differ between institutions. However, all patients receive some form of perioperative antibiotic prophylaxis at least including gram positive coverage with many centers also including gram negative coverage and antifungal prophylaxis bases on pivotal trial protocols [9].
- Meticulous driveline exit site care is paramount in the immediate postoperative period and patients require daily driveline dressing changes during the

first postoperative week. Patients are actively educated on daily dressing changes and identifying signs and symptoms of driveline exit site infection. Patients should avoid showering until after adequate tissue-in-growth into the velour has occurred and until there is no drainage at the exit site.

• Most infections are the result of trauma to the driveline exit site such as dropping a controller or pre-existing driveline instability. The use of dedicated percutaneous lead management kits and anchoring devices has been shown to improve driveline stability, thus minimizing trauma and tension at the exit site [27]. Prophylactic use of antibiotics should be considered after documented trauma to the driveline site. However, there is no evidence to support longterm chronic prophylactic use of oral antibiotics [28].

Blood Pressure Management and Hemodynamic Optimization

Based on the continuous flow nature of current era LVADs aortic flow is present throughout the cardiac cycle. With increasing LVAD speeds diastolic pressures rise, systolic pressures remain fairly constant, and the pulse pressure gradually decreases (Fig. 2). Pulse pressure is also affected by several other variables including intravascular volume, remaining cardiac contractility as well as afterload. Therefore, arterial blood pressures and waveforms can provide additional information regarding the interaction between LVAD in the cardiovascular system [29].

• The amount of cardiac output supported by continuous flow devices is inversely proportional to the systemic vascular resistance. Hence, mean arterial blood pressures should remain in the range of 70–80 mmHg to provide adequate ventricular unloading. Optimal blood pressure control is not only affecting the LVAD specific flow features, but also significantly reduces the incidence of hemorrhagic stroke, aortic insufficiency, and thromboembolic





Fig. 3 Blood pressure control algorithm post LVAD placement [33] (permission obtained from Lampert et al. Ann Thor Surg 2014;97:139-46)

events (Fig. 3) [30]. Current generation centrifugal flow pumps have a larger change in flow for given pressure gradient change across the pump compared to the prior generation axial flow device HeartMate 2. Therefore, those new devices are even more sensitive to change in preload and afterload. In the early post-operative period, an arterial catheter is necessary to monitor blood pressure properly. After the arterial catheter is removed, the arterial blood pressure is most reliably assessed using Doppler in the absence of significant pulsatilty.

• A specific blood pressure control algorithm post VAD implant is depicted in the graphic below (Fig. 4). Especially in the destination therapy LVAD cohort

and in patients considered for recovery protocols [31] standard heart failure guidelines regarding the up titration of evidence-based neuro-hormonal block-ade agents should be applied.

Reverse remodeling induced by the LVAD is dependent on the operating speed of the LVAD and the flow generated in response to the pressure gradient between the LVAD inflow cannula and the ascending aorta. Short-term changes in LV shape can be demonstrated by changing the LVAD operating speed (ramp study).

- Those findings provide a rationale for pre-discharge optimization studies (ramp) under stable preload and afterload conditions. During these efforts VAD speed would be incremented from the lower speed limit to the upper speed limit under echo and/or pulmonary artery catheter guidance. Device parameters including pulsatility index, power and flow should be recorded simultaneously with hemodynamic data and echo derived LV geometry, mitral valve regurgitation and aortic valve opening frequency.
- Based on these data the device speeds should be set based on optimal hemodynamics including pulmonary wedge pressure of less than 18 mmHg and a central venous pressure of less than 12 mmHg with a secondary goal of minimal mitral regurgitation and intermittent aortic valve opening. Absent pulsatility can suggest that the set pump speed is close to exceed available preload and could provoke ventricular collapse and suction events. Additionally, intermittent aortic valve opening can reduce the incidence of valvular thrombosis and slows down the progression of aortic insufficiency.
- In the Heartmate 3 population recent data suggest that 62.5% of patients displayed favorable hemodynamics at baseline, a number which improved to 81.3% after speed optimization. Most patients had optimal hemodynamics in a narrow speed range of between 5,200 and 5,600 rpm, arguing against routine ramp testing in speed optimization for this device unless there are clinical concerns suggesting inadequate hemodynamics [32].

Key Points

- Two-thirds of all deaths during the first year on LVAD support occur during the implant hospitalization highlighting the importance of careful peri-operative VAD management.
- Surgical implantation techniques focusing on proper pump pocket creation, optimized positioning of inflow cannula and outflow graft, proper pump position in the body, and fixation immediately impact post implantation complications, in particular low VAD flows and pump thrombosis.
- "Optimal" speed settings depend on postoperative volume shifts, systemic vascular resistance, and therefore require ongoing adjustments postoperatively. Midterm goals include adequate left ventricular unloading as reflected by complete or intermittent aortic valve closure and reduction in left ventricular distention, as well as preventing right ventricular overload or compromise of the septal geometry.

- The progression of aortic insufficiency can be propagated by a reduced systolic excursion of the valve during LVAD support and should be addressed at the time of LVAD implant especially if the patient is expected to remain on LVAD support for a longer duration.
- Heparin bridging and antiplatelet therapy should be promptly initiated post-operatively in the absence of clinically significant bleeding events.
- Prophylactic use of antibiotics remains standard of care for peri-operative prophylaxis. However, there is no evidence to support long-term chronic prophylactic use of oral antibiotics.
- Optimal blood pressure control (mean arterial pressure 70–80 mmHg) is not only affecting the LVAD specific flow features, but also significantly reduces the incidence of hemorrhagic stroke, aortic insufficiency, and thromboembolic events.
- Most patients have optimal hemodynamics in a narrow speed range of between 5,200 and 5,600 rpm (HeartMate 3). Ramp testing for speed optimization can provide additional information in case of clinical concerns suggesting inadequate hemodynamics.
- A multidisciplinary teaching approach has been proven to be most effective and directly effects post discharge clinical outcomes.

Case Vignette Conclusion

The patient was unable to be separated from his right ventricular support system and was fortunate to receive an adequate donor heart several days later without any further post-operative complications. This case illustrates the importance of patient selection, optimized surgical LVAD implantation technique, as well as a management approach to perioperative right ventricular failure which has the potential to drastically impact patient post-operative outcomes.

References

- Mehra MR, et al. A fully magnetically levitated left ventricular assist device final report. N Engl J Med. 2019;380(17):1618–27.
- Slaughter MS, et al. Clinical management of continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices in advanced heart failure. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2010;29(4 Suppl):S1–39.
- Boyle AJ, et al. Clinical outcomes for continuous-flow left ventricular assist device patients stratified by pre-operative INTERMACS classification. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2011; 30(4): 402–7.
- 4. Shah KB, et al. Left ventricular assist devices versus medical management in ambulatory heart failure patients: an analysis of INTERMACS Profiles 4 and 5 to 7 from the ROADMAP study. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2018;37(6):706–14.
- Lampert BC. Perioperative management of the right and left ventricles. Cardiol Clin. 2018;36(4):495–506.

- Soliman OII, et al. Derivation and validation of a novel right-sided heart failure model after implantation of continuous flow left ventricular assist devices: the EUROMACS (European Registry for Patients with Mechanical Circulatory Support) Right-Sided Heart Failure Risk Score. Circulation. 2018;137(9):891–906.
- McGee E Jr, et al. Evaluation of a lateral thoracotomy implant approach for a centrifugal-flow left ventricular assist device: the LATERAL clinical trial. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2019;38(4):344–51.
- 8. Critsinelis AC, et al. Predictive value of preoperative serum albumin levels on outcomes in patients undergoing LVAD implantation. J Card Surg. 2018;33(8):469–78.
- Kusne S, et al. An ISHLT consensus document for prevention and management strategies for mechanical circulatory support infection. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2017;36(10):1137–53.
- 10. Brisco MA, et al. Prevalence and prognostic importance of changes in renal function after mechanical circulatory support. Circ Heart Fail. 2014;7(1):68–75.
- Maltais S, et al. Surgical treatment of tricuspid valve insufficiency promotes early reverse remodeling in patients with axial-flow left ventricular assist devices. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2012;143(6):1370–6.
- Robertson JO, et al. Concomitant tricuspid valve surgery during implantation of continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices: a Society of Thoracic Surgeons database analysis. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2014;33(6):609–17.
- 13. Jorde UP, et al. Prevalence, significance, and management of aortic insufficiency in continuous flow left ventricular assist device recipients. Circ Heart Fail. 2014;7(2):310–9.
- Fitzpatrick JR 3rd, et al. Early planned institution of biventricular mechanical circulatory support results in improved outcomes compared with delayed conversion of a left ventricular assist device to a biventricular assist device. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2009;137(4):971–7.
- 15. Tedford RJ, et al. PDE5A inhibitor treatment of persistent pulmonary hypertension after mechanical circulatory support. Circ Heart Fail. 2008;1(4):213–9.
- Starling RC, et al. Unexpected abrupt increase in left ventricular assist device thrombosis. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(1):33–40.
- 17. Maltais S, et al. PREVENtion of HeartMate II pump thrombosis through clinical management: the PREVENT multi-center study. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2017;36(1):1–12.
- Feldman D, et al. The 2013 international society for heart and lung transplantation guidelines for mechanical circulatory support: executive summary. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2013;32(2):157–87.
- 19. Raffini L. Anticoagulation with VADs and ECMO: walking the tightrope. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2017;2017(1):674–80.
- Adatya S, et al. Coagulation factor abnormalities related to discordance between anti-factor Xa and activated partial thromboplastin time in patients supported with continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2016;35(11):1311–20.
- Andreas M, et al. Increased thromboembolic events with dabigatran compared with Vitamin K Antagonism in left ventricular assist device patients: a randomized controlled pilot trial. Circ Heart Fail. 2017; 10(5).
- 22. Nassif ME, et al. Relationship between anticoagulation intensity and thrombotic or bleeding outcomes among outpatients with continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices. Circ Heart Fail, 2016; 9(5).
- Boehme AK, et al. Anticoagulation control in patients with ventricular assist devices. ASAIO J. 2017;63(6):759–65.
- 24. Netuka I, et al. Evaluation of low-intensity anti-coagulation with a fully magnetically levitated centrifugal-flow circulatory pump-the MAGENTUM 1 study. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2018;37(5):579–86.
- Rogers JG, et al. Intrapericardial left ventricular assist device for advanced heart failure. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(5):451–60.

- Consolo F, et al. Platelet activation is a preoperative risk factor for the development of thromboembolic complications in patients with continuous-flow left ventricular assist device. Eur J Heart Fail. 2018;20(4):792–800.
- Stahovich M, et al. Reduce Driveline Trauma through stabilization and exit site management: 30 days feasibility results from the multicenter RESIST study. ASAIO J. 2016;62(3):240–5.
- Stulak JM, et al. Prevention of percutaneous driveline infection after left ventricular assist device implantation: prophylactic antibiotics are not necessary. ASAIO J. 2013;59(6):570–4.
- 29. Patel SR, Jorde UP. Creating adequate pulsatility with a continuous flow left ventricular assist device: just do it! Curr Opin Cardiol. 2016;31(3):329–36.
- Nassif ME, et al. Systolic blood pressure on discharge after left ventricular assist device insertion is associated with subsequent stroke. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2015;34(4):503–8.
- Birks EJ, et al. Reversal of severe heart failure with a continuous-flow left ventricular assist device and pharmacological therapy: a prospective study. Circulation. 2011;123(4):381–90.
- 32. Uriel N, et al. Clinical hemodynamic evaluation of patients implanted with a fully magnetically levitated left ventricular assist device (HeartMate 3). J Heart Lung Transplant. 2017;36(1):28–35.
- 33. Lampert BC, et al. Blood pressure control in continuous flow left ventricular assist devices: efficacy and impact on adverse events. Ann Thorac Surg. 2014;97(1):139–46.
- 34. Najjar SS, et al. An analysis of pump thrombus events in patients in the HeartWare ADVANCE bridge to transplant and continued access protocol trial. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2014;33(1):23–34.

Outpatient Management of LVAD



Rayan Yousefzai and Marcus Urey

Clinical Vignette

A 39-year-old male with a past medical history of hypertension and 12 pack-year of tobacco use presents to the hospital worsening dyspnea. On presentation, his blood pressure was 124/94, oxygen saturation was 90% on the room air, and his heart rate was 120 beats per minute (sinus tachycardia). He was overloaded on exam with cool periphery. Labs were notable for elevated BNP, mildly elevated troponin, acute renal failure with serum creatinine of 1.9 mg/dl, and normal liver function.

His wife is pregnant with their second child, and he has a 3-year-old son. He is a Veteran, and he is attending a nursing school. Echocardiogram showed severely dilated left ventricle with severely reduced function (ejection fraction of 15%), mildly dilated right ventricle with moderately reduced function and moderate mitral regurgitation. He underwent left, and right heart catheterization, which showed normal coronary arteries elevated filling pressures, and low cardiac output of 3 L/min and cardiac index of 1.5 L/m²/min. He was started on Milrinone infusion and intervenous diuretics. His cardiac output improved marginally by inotrope support. He underwent Impella placement.

His admission was complicated with significant depression. He underwent therapy and consultation during the hospitalization. HeartMate 3 was implanted as a bridge to transplant, and the patient was discharged home. His daughter was born after the LVAD implantation. He faced significant life changes, suffered from severe depression, and started smoking cigarette again. He was deactivated from the transplant list due to concern for his significant depression and relapse on using tobacco.

R. Yousefzai

M. Urey (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

Houston Methodist Hospital, Houston, TX, USA

Cardiovascular Institute, University of California, 9452 Medical Center Drive, La Jolla, San Diego, CA 92037, USA e-mail: murey@health.ucsd.edu

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_6

Introduction

The incidence and prevalence of patients with heart failure are increasing. Heart failure has become one of the largest cardiovascular epidemics [1, 2]. Despite the significant advancement in heart failure therapy, a subset of the patients with heart failure (0.5–5%) respond poorly to standard guideline-directed medical therapy (GDMT) and progress to stage D heart failure with a very poor prognosis [3, 4]. LVAD offers an alternative for this patient population that can improve survival and quality of life. LVADs have been approved as a bridge to transplant therapy (BTT) and destination therapy (DT). Once outpatient, patients with LVAD face significant lifestyle modification and long-term management challenges. This chapter will review the outpatient management of the LVAD patients.

Preparing for Life Outside Hospital

The success and outcome of LVAD patients depend on adequate preparation of the patients and their caregivers for life outside the hospital. Prior to discharge, LVAD patients and their caregivers must be comfortable with daily monitoring, device maintenance, and performing the daily activities.

Patient and Caregiver Education

Patient and caregiver education are important steps in LVAD care and has a direct association with the outcome. Education should start while the patient is being considered for LVAD and/or heart transplantation and includes (1) understanding the LVAD alarms, (2) daily care of LVAD, (3) managing equipment, (4) nutrition, (5) medication safety, (6) limitations, and (7) the importance of communication with the LVAD team. These guidelines are developed to prepare the patients and their caregivers for out of hospital LVAD management. The following is used in the process of preparing the patients for discharge.

- Completing patients and caregivers training: The patients and the caregivers should read the handbook, attend all training sessions, complete the written knowledge assessment tool and successfully pass the hands-on assessment.
- Reviewing the LVAD equipment and supplies for discharge.
- Reviewing the contact information: patients and their caregivers need to know the contact information for questions and in case of emergency, local resources, designated outpatient labs, designated pharmacy for outpatient medication refills and contact information for emergency medical providers and services.

Home Safety

Home safety should be assessed before discharge. The following are required for a safe home discharge: electricity at home, appropriately grounded outlets, appropriately labeled circuit breakers for power module and AC adaptor, telephone within easy reach at bedroom, a well-lit pathway at bedroom, bathroom safety, good condition and well-lit hallways, and stairs, easy-to-grasp railing, and secure carpets and runners (Fig. 1).

Rehabilitation

Cardiac rehabilitation, including physical therapy, occupational therapy, and nutritional therapy is an essential part of the recovery after LVAD implantation. Even though this effort starts after surgery and during the hospitalization, most of the patients will tremendously benefit from long-term rehabilitation. After discharge, it is highly recommended that LVAD patients continue to improve their physical activity by participating in an outpatient cardiac rehabilitation program. After LVAD implantation by unloading the left ventricle and improving the volume and pressure of the left ventricle [5], patients rest and exercise hemodynamics measured by peak oxygen consumption (VO₂), minute ventilation/carbon dioxide production (VE/VOC₂), cardiac output (CO) and mean pulmonary artery and wedge pressure improves significantly [6, 7]. Assessing the nutritional status of LVAD patients is vital since a significant percentage of patients with advanced heart failure suffer from malnutrition. Patients who have malnutrition are predisposed to immune system dysfunction, impaired healing, and infection [8, 9]. LVAD patients should be referred to the nutritionist for assessment. Changes in inflammation can be used to monitor the metabolic response to nutrition by measuring C-reactive protein and pre-albumin [10].

Optimization Study

It is recommended that the patients with new LVAD implantation undergo optimization study before discharge. An optimization study involves an echocardiogram to evaluate LV end-diastolic diameter (LVEDD), LV end-systolic diameter (LVESD), septal position, frequency of aortic valve opening, presence and severity of aortic and mitral valve regurgitation, cannula position and left and right ventricular function. LVAD parameters including flow, pulsatility index, power, and speed are recorded at baseline. Once baseline values are obtained, the LVAD speed can be changed in either direction by 200 rpm (for the HeartMate II) or 100 rpm (for the HeartWare and HeartMate 3). Echo and LVAD values described above are repeated at every change of speed, after 2 min to allow equilibration. At optimal speed, the aortic valve should open every 3–5 beats with the ventricular septum at midline, and valve regurgitation minimized.

Outpatient Clinic Visits

The frequency of the office visit depends on individual patient requirements. The visits are more frequent initially and decrease subsequently. The frequency of the visits depends on the LVAD programs but generally are weekly initially, followed by bi-weekly visits, and eventually, every four to eight weeks indefinitely. The following will be addressed in each visit: vital signs, LVAD parameters, physical exam, review of medications, functional capacity assessment, laboratory data, LVAD supplies, and follow up appointments and tests. Echocardiograms are performed when it is medically indicated. Right heart catheterization (RHC) is performed to assist in the diagnosis of heart failure symptoms in the setting of right heart failure or suspected LVAD malfunction. RHC is also indicated for the assessment of pulmonary hypertension for BTT patients.

Blood Pressure Management

Blood pressure (BP) management is strongly associated with life-threatening complications, such as pump thrombosis and stroke in LVAD patients [11]. Although the pumps durability and patients' survival have improved significantly by implementing continuous flow (CF) LVADs [12], there are still significant complications associated with CF-LVADs [13–17].

High blood pressure is associated with significant consequences, including stroke and pump thrombosis [18, 19], which is caused by the change in LVAD flow due to changes in afterload with the centrifugal pumps being more susceptible to changes compared to the axial flow pumps [20]. Suggested blood pressure targets are much lower than the general population, related to unique hemodynamic and pathophysiology of CF-LVADs. Current International Society of Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT) guidelines [21] recommends maintaining mean arterial pressure (MAP) of 80 mmHg.

Accurate measurement of BP in patients with CF-LVADs is challenging due to the continuous flow of blood from the left ventricle to the aorta. For a set-speed, flow varies inversely with pressure gradient [22] (Fig. 2) resulting in more flow during systole and less during diastole. In the end-stage heart failure patients due to the reduced contractility systolic blood pressure (SBP) is lower which resulted in lower

HeartMate II



Fig. 1 HeartMate device comparison as seen after implant-HeartMate II and HeartMate 3. HeartMate II and HeartMate 3 are trademarks of Abbott or its related companies. Reproduced with permission of Abbott, © 2020. All rights reserved



Fig. 2 Flow versus change in afterload for continuous flow-left ventricular devices (CF-LAVD) is shown for (A) HeartMate II axial CF-LVAD and (B) HeartWare HVAD Centrifugal CF-LVAD. Increasing in afterload is reversely associated with flow. Reprinted from: Frazier OH et al. Optimization of axial-pump pressure sensitivity for continuous flow total artificial heart. J Heart Lung Transplant 2010; 29:687-91, with permission from Elsevier

pulse pressure (PP); furthermore, the continuous flow of blood in LVAD patients at the entire cardiac cycle results in a further reduction in pressure decay during diastole. Therefore PP can be reduced to the extent that may not be measurable by palpitation or routinely used blood pressure monitor systems. A higher speed of LVAD unloads the left ventricle and reduces the peak systolic pressure as more blood is removed by the device resulted in closing the aortic valve and decreasing pulse pressure while the opposite is correct by reducing the speed of LVAD (Fig. 3) [23].

Measurement of the blood pressure in LVAD patients can be challenging. An indwelling arterial catheter is the most reliable and accurate way to measure blood pressure in CF-LVAD patients however this method is invasive, and it is used in selected patients admitted to the intensive care unit. Commonly used blood pressure monitoring devices are not reliable due to low PP as it has described above. The common BP monitoring devices have a cuff connected to a pressure transducer. Cuff inflates above the SBP and then gradually deflates until the transducer senses increase in oscillation, which registers it as SBP. As cuff continues to deflate the maximum oscillation is registered as mean arterial pressure (MAP), and diastolic BP (DBP) can be estimated. In CF-LVAD patients, the narrow PP significantly decreases the difference between SBP and MAP. Terumo Elemano BP monitor (Terumo Elemano, Hatagaya, Shibuya, Japan) could overcome this issue [24] however the production of this device was discontinued since 2014.



Fig. 3 A display of arterial blood pressure. As LVAD speed increases, the arterial waveform flattens and cardiac output and blood pressure increase. Reprinted from: Nelson JA et al. Left ventricular assist devices and noncardiac surgery. Advances in Anesthesia 2018; 36:99–123, with permission from Elsevier

Doppler ultrasound is the most widely used method for the measurement of BP in CF-LVAD patients [25]. However, depending on the PP, the Doppler measurement can represent SBP or MAP, which creates significant controversial [24]. The validity of Doppler BP as a surrogate for MAP closely depends on PP and markedly worse among patients with high PP [26, 27]. In one study [27] the difference between the mean absolute differences between Doppler and the arterial line was 13.6 mmHg and 3 mmHg among patients with higher PP versus lower PP, respectively. To improve accuracy, another study used a combination of both Doppler and standard automated BP measurement [28]. This study proposed three BP measurements with an automated BP monitor followed by Doppler BP measurements; if automated BP monitor cannot obtain BP, Doppler pressure = SBP = MAP, If BP was obtained successfully one time, Doppler pressure = SBP, if BP was obtained two or more times successfully, then automated BP measurement can be used for SBP, DBP, and MAP measurement.

The new generation of CF-LVAD (HeartMate 3) adds another level of challenge to the measurement of BP, by the creation of an artificial pulse. Every 2 s this pump decreases the speed by 2000 rpm for 0.15 s then increases the speed by 4000 rpm for 0.20 s, before returning to the set speed [29]. These changes are timed independently from the cardiac cycle therefore BP tracings vary based on the relationship between the heart and LVAD cycles. This creates multiple components to the BP tracings thus measurements and interpretation of BP are more complex in HeartMate 3. Non-invasive BP measurement method needs to be validated. One way to overcome this challenge is to measure BP over an extended period.

MAP target is 60–80 mmHg in most of the patients with LVAD. For patients who need hypertensive medications, commonly used heart failure medications are recommended. Some studies [30] have shown mortality benefit by using angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEI) and angiotensin receptor blocker (ARB) in LVAD patients. Mineralocorticoid antagonists such as spironolactone and calcium channel blockers (CCB) such as amlodipine can be utilized as well.

Driveline Exit-Site Management

Driveline infections are most frequent in the early postoperative period but continues throughout support by LVAD due to the presence of percutaneous driveline [31]. The prevalence of LVAD infection has increased since LVADs indication has expanded to longer-term use in destination therapy (DT) [32]. The driveline exitsite is the most susceptible to infection and is most often precipitated by trauma to the tissue surrounding the site. Driveline infections can be divided into deep and superficial infections; both infections involve the soft tissue surrounding the driveline exit-site and are associated with erythema and/or drainage. Deep infections also involve the fascia and muscle layers [33]. The diagnosis and management of the driveline infection are discussed in a separate section, in this section, we will focus on outpatient management and prevention of driveline infection. There are ongoing efforts to decrease the rate of driveline infection by studying implantation techniques and exit-site management. A study by Dean et al. [34], showed implanting the entire Dacron velour portion of the driveline under the skin decreases the driveline infection significantly compared to partially exposed vel our portion (9% vs. 23%, respectively). Nutrition has shown as an independent predictor of driveline infection. In a study by Imamura et al. [35], serum albumin concentration and low body mass index at hospital discharge after LVAD predicts readmission due to driveline infection. Authors developed a scoring system to risk-stratify the patients as low, intermediate, and high for developing the infection. This study suggests that optimizing nutrition is essential for LVAD patients to decrease the rate of driveline infection.

Driveline stabilizations and exit-site management are essential for the prevention of driveline infections. Trauma at the skin site is associated with increase driveline infection. Avoiding trauma is difficult due to the rigidity of the driveline [36, 37]. One method for driveline stabilization is using the binders, which can be effective however some patients consider it uncomfortable, and they are less likely to be used. The stabilization approach comparing the Sorbaview Ultimate Dressing and the Foley anchor increases the comfort and stabilize the driveline. This method has been used more widely. Different centers have different protocols for a dressing change. RESIST (REduce Driveline Trauma through StabIlization and Exit Site ManagemenT) [38] was a multicenter prospective, self-controlled study was designed to evaluate the use of percutaneous lead management kit (PLMK). PLMK was intended to (1) simplify the dressing change procedure, and (2) reduce the frequency of dressing changes.

PLMK improved comfort and stability in at least 50% of the patients, decreased the required frequency of changing to once weekly and reduced the risk of driveline infection. The content of PLMK include Kendall Webcol swab (70% isopropyl alcohol) for removing adhesive, Chlorascrub Maxi Swabstick and Swab for skin preparation, 3 M Cavilon No Sting Barrier Film to prevent skin irritation, Silverlon Wound Pad Dressing 1.5×1.5 inch to reduce bacterial colonization around exit site, Foley anchor for strain relief, hair cover, face mask, sterile saline and styrofoam tray.

The frequency of the dressing change depends on the time from the implant and the status of the driveline site. In a newly implanted LVAD, and infected would, it is recommended to change the dressing daily and as needed for dressing saturation. In a dry wound or a crusty wound, it is recommended to change the dressing twice weekly.

Responsibilities of Other Providers and Local Teams

Primary care doctors have an essential role in caring for LVAD patients and should be aware of the complications associated with the LVAD. Home visiting nurses are essential in taking care of LVAD patients: they assist in wound care, driveline exit site management, home blood draws, and routine communication with LVAD team. Local first responders and emergency department should become familiar with the basic of LVAD care and appropriate triage and transfer for designated LVAD centers as needed. Most of the LVAD programs created outreach programs in order to educate the local teams about the issues related to LVAD and basic troubleshooting [39–41]. Electric utility companies are notified to place LVAD patients on the priority list for power restoration as well as to arrange for portable generators. Power companies are asked to avoid planned outage and not to stop the service for a billing issue. The local police and fire department should be aware of the LVAD patients at their districts.

Pharmacological Consideration

LVAD Effect on Coagulation System

Beside the hemolysis, LVAD also alters coagulation proteins, platelets, and von Willebrand protein. Coagulation proteins decrease in the first two weeks after LVAD implantation due to consumption [42]. Elevated levels of prothrombin fragment, D-Dimer, thrombin-antithrombin, and plasmin-antiplasmin suggest thrombus formation and activation of the fibrinolytic system with LVAD. These findings are more pronounced postoperatively and usually normalize within 6–12 months postoperatively however endothelial cell activation persists [42–44]. There is conflicting evidence regarding the platelet activation in the presence of LVAD [45, 46]. Almost all the patients with LVAD developed acquired von Willebrand syndrome due to loss of high molecular weight von Willebrand [47].

Antithrombotic Therapy

LVAD patients are treated with anticoagulation and antiplatelet due to the thromboembolic complications associated with LVAD. The medications used and intensity of the therapy varies depending on patient factor, risk of thrombosis, risk of bleeding, and institution [48]. Before LVAD placement, most of the patients are on anticoagulation for other indications. Heart failure can also cause renal and liver failure, which can compromise the coagulation system. Post LVAD surgery the bleeding is common, and the anticoagulation should be adjusted. Heparin is reversed using protamine after completion of cardiopulmonary bypass. Activated clotting time (ACT) normalization is used to target protamine dose. The ACT is insensitive for residual heparin and thromboelastography (TEG) can be used [49]. Anticoagulation with heparin is recommended to start when hemostasis is achieved on post-op day one.

Long-Term Anticoagulation Management

Vitamin K antagonists (VKA) are commonly used for long-term anticoagulation in LVAD patients. Anticoagulation goals for VKA vary between different studies however the guidelines recommended an international normalized ratio (INR) of 2.0-3.0. Anticoagulation by VKA is challenging due to the frequent need for a dose change. One study [50] found that 54% of the patients on VKA therapy needed dose adjustment without adding any new medications. LVAD patients only spend 31–51% of the time-in-therapeutic INR range [51, 52]. Patient self-testing has improved the time-in-therapeutic range however outcome of LVAD patients is not clear [52].

Antiplatelet Therapy

The choice of antiplatelet and dose vary significantly in different institutions. A majority of institutions use aspirin 81–325 mg daily, and guidelines have recommended aspirin as a drug of choice [53]. In addition to aspirin, some centers use dipyridamole, an antiplatelet medication that inhibits platelet activation through increases in cyclic AMP with unclear clinical benefit [54]. The literature review has shown aspirin dose variation from 81–325 mg once daily and dipyridamole dose of 75 mg once daily to three times daily.

Caregivers' Issues

Most LVAD programs require for patients who will receive LVAD to identify a designated caregiver. Patients and LVAD programs rely on caregivers after hospital discharge. There is significant variability in the requirement for the caregivers among the centers. The caregivers are usually spouses, family members, or close friends. Caregivers help with the daily management of the patients including driveline dressing changes, equipment maintenance, changing the batteries, responding to alarms, managing medications, taking patients vitals, helping with arranging appointments and transportation and helping with recovery [55–57]. Caregivers also support patients psychologically. Generally, caregivers must commit to the daily care of patients for a minimum of 3 months, however for most patients, caregiving extends beyond the first three months period and continues for the life of the patients [58]. The caregiving responsibility can be burdensome [59, 60].

In a study by Bunzel et al. [59], reported 26% of the spouses of the patients with LVAD, met the criteria for post-traumatic stress disorder. The burden on the caregivers depends on the stages of the caregiving course that they were in. The early-stage includes the time before LVAD implantation, decision, and hospital course, the middle-stage covers the time after hospital discharge and after and the late-stage covers the end of the caregiver care for the patient [61–68]. A

meta-analysis by Magid et al. [69] has put together the existing data to evaluate the perceptions of caring for LVAD patients in different stages. The early-stage includes three periods: Pre-LVAD, Decision, and Hospital course. In the Pre-LVAD period, caregivers often feel fear, anxiety, shock, and disbelief, which are described as "emotional rollercoaster." In the decision period, caregivers play a crucial role in decision-making, and sometimes they have to make the decisions for the patient. They have described the feeling as "no option." During the hospital course, caregivers were given relevant information and felt confident in their ability to take care of the patients however they were reluctant to take the patient home and felt they want to "leave it (the LVAD) at the hospital." The middle-stage starts after discharge from the hospital. In the beginning, caregivers felt overwhelmed and found the LVAD patients very fragile but soon was able to develop strategies to adapt to changes. Having support from other family members and friends and receiving a break from caregiving has been identified as crucial in this stage [69]. The late-stage carries different meaning for caregivers who take care of BTT versus DT LVAD patients. For the caregivers who are taking care of BTT LVAD patients, LVAD is not a permanent therapy, and it seems easier to accept the burden, and the late-stage means receiving a heart transplant. They have expressed hope for the future and relief when patients receive a heart transplant. For the caregivers who are taking care of DT LVAD patients, the late-stage means the end of patients' life. Caregiving can be stressful. Caregivers for patients with chronic illnesses are at extremely higher risk for developing anxiety, depression, loneliness, fatigue, and insomnia; they are also in a higher risk for infection, cardiovascular disease, and early mortality, and caregivers for LVAD patients.

There is a significant gap in our knowledge regarding the assessment of caregivers' stability, need, and providing the necessary support for them. Future studies are required for a better understanding of the caregivers' burden and need.

Case Conclusion

He and his wife, as his primary caregiver, were referred to the psychologist and smoking secession program. He quit smoking, and his depression improved significantly. He was activated on the transplant list. He was transplanted seven months later. He is doing well and started taking classes in the nursing school.

Equipment Management

HeartMate II and HeartMate3:

Power Module (PM):

PM is the main source of power, and the patient must always be on PM while sleeping. The PM must be plugged into a designated three-prong outlet all the time.

Symbols on PM:

- Power indicator (upper right):
 - Green: PM is plugged into the outlet.
 - Orange with beeping audio tone: AC failure.
- Internal battery symbol (middle right):
 - Green: the battery is fully charged.
 - Yellow: the battery is being charged.
- Battery advisory symbol (bottom right):
 - Yellow with beeping audio tone: less than 15 min of back-up battery: promptly switch to another power source.
 - Red with continuous audio tone: less than 5 min of back up battery: immediately switch to batteries.
- Alarm silence key (upper left):
 - Silence alarm
 - Perform PM self test
- Yellow wrench symbol (lower left):
 - Yellow wrench with beeping audio tone: advisory fault. Recommend switching to battery power.
 - Yellow wrench with continuous audio tone: critical fault. Recommend switching immediately to battery power.

Pocket Controller (PC):

System controller self-test should be performed daily while on PC. To perform self-test, hold the battery button for five second, all symbols and indicators illuminate at the same time and system controller will make a load audio. Release the battery button, the lights and symbols will stay on for 15 s and when they turn off and screen goes black, the system controller self-test is complete.

- Pocket controller modes:
 - Run mode: running and in use
 - Sleep mode: not in use, but ready to use
 - Charge mode: connected to a power source and charging the system controller's back up battery
- Pocket controller symbols:
 - Pump running circle:
 - Full circle: the pump is running Half circle: the pump is in backup controller mode

• Battery button:

Battery fuel gauge: when in battery operation Yellow diamond: less than 15 min of battery power is left. Red low battery symbol: less than 5 min of power is left. System controller test Running controller sleep mode

• Silence alarm button:

Silence active alarms Displays last 6 alarms when pressed simultaneously with display button.

• Status symbols:

Green bars: battery power gauge

Red heart: low flow hazard alarm

- Yellow wrench: advisory alarm, which can indicate mechanical, electrical, or software issue with the system.
- Cable disconnect symbol: represents cable disconnect yellow light near cables and the red light near driveline.

Batteries:

Batteries provide 10–12 h of support, depending on the age of the batteries, charge, and pump speed. Batteries are depleted and charged in pairs. There are two ways to check the amount of battery power while in use.

- (1) Battery symbol button on the battery and
- (2) Battery power gauge on the system controller.

Universal Battery Charger (UBC):

UBC charges and performs diagnostic testing on up to 4 batteries. It takes 4 h or less to charge the batteries.

- Light status:
 - Green: ready to use
 - Yellow: charging or undergoing calibration
 - Flashing yellow: battery requires calibration. Batteries need periodic calibration; this usually occurs after approximately 70 to 75-battery usage. It is best to start battery calibration at night when batteries are not in use. The calibration can take up to 12 h. To start the calibration, press the numbered pocket with flashing yellow light. The light will return to green when calibration is complete.
 - Red: defective battery or charging pocket
HeartWare:

Pocket controller:

- Pocket controller symbols:
 - AC/DC indicator: indicates the power source, it will be green if one of the power sources is the AC adaptor or DC adaptor (car adaptor)
 - Alarm indicator: displays active alarm
- Two battery indictors: Battery fuel gauge, which indicates the percentage of battery charge
- Controller display: displays LVAD parameters
- Scroll button: used to see all active alarms and pump information on the controller display.

Batteries and power source:

HeartWare is designed to operate with 2 power sources: external power (AC adaptor or car power adaptor) and 1 battery or 2 batteries. Each battery provides 4–6 h of support, depending on the age of the batteries, charge, and pump speed. Batteries are depleted one battery at a time. Pressing battery test button shows remaining battery power.

Battery charger:

Battery charger charges up to 4 batteries in 4–5 h, performs diagnostic testing.

- Status:
 - Ready status: No lights: battery is resting after charge Green: ready for use
 - Yellow: charging not ready to use
 - Flashing yellow: battery not charging, check battery connections
 - Red: battery too hot or too cold
 - Flashing red: defective battery

References

- 1. Roger VL. Epidemiology of heart failure. Circ Res. 2013;113:646-59.
- 2. Braunwald E. The war against heart failure: the Lancet lecture. Lancet. 2015;385:812-24.
- 3. Writing Group Members, Lloyd-Jones D, Adams RJ, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics—2010 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2010;121:46–215.
- Bleumink GS, Knetsch AM, Sturkenboom MC, et al. Quantifying the heart failure epidemic: prevalence, incidence rate, lifetime risk and prognosis of heart failure: the Rotterdam study. Eur Heart J. 2004;25:1614–19.
- de Jonge N, Kirkels H, Lahpor JR, et al. Exercise performance in patients with end-stage heart failure after implantation of a left ventricular assist device and after heart transplantation: an outlook for permanent assisting? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2001;37:1794–9.

- 6. Foray A, Williams D, Reemtsma K, Oz M, Mancini D. Assessment of submaximal exercise capacity in patients with left ventricular assist devices. Circulation. 1996;94:II222–6.
- Khan T, Levin HR, Oz MC, Katz SD. Delayed reversal of impaired metabolic vasodilation in patients with end-stage heart failure during long-term circulatory support with a left ventricular assist device. J Heart Lung Transplant. 1997;16:449–53.
- Anker SD, Chua TP, Ponikowski P, et al. Hormonal changes and catabolic/anabolic imbalance in chronic heart failure and their importance for cardiac cachexia. Circulation. 1997;96:526–34.
- 9. Dang NC, Topkara VK, Kim BT, Lee BJ, Remoli R, Naka Y. Nutritional status in patients on left ventricular assist device support. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2005;130:e3–4.
- 10. Holdy K, Dembitsky W, Eaton LL, et al. Nutrition assessment and management of left ventricular assist device patients. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2005;24:1690–6.
- 11. Willey JZ, Boehme AK, Castagna F, Yuzefpolskaya M, Garan AR, Topkara V, et al. Hypertension and stroke in patients with left ventricular assist devices (LVADs). Curr Hypertens Rep. 2016;18(2):12.
- 12. Slaughter MS, Rogers JG, Milano CA, Russell SD, Conte JV, Feldman D, et al. Advanced heart failure treated with continuousflow left ventricular assist device. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(23):2241–51.
- 13. Starling RC, Moazami N, Silvestry SC, Ewald G, Rogers JG, Milano CA, et al. Unexpected abrupt increase in left ventricular assist device thrombosis. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(1):33–40.
- Gambillara V, Thacher T, Silacci P, Stergiopulos N. Effects of reduced cyclic stretch on vascular smooth muscle cell function of pig carotids perfused ex vivo. Am J Hypertens. 2008;21(4):425–31.
- Thacher T, Gambillara V, da Silva RF, Silacci P, Stergiopulos N. Reduced cyclic stretch, endothelial dysfunction, and oxidative stress: an ex vivo model. Cardiovasc Pathol: Off J Soc Cardiovasc Pathol. 2010;19(4):e91–8.
- Demirozu ZT, Radovancevic R, Hochman LF, Gregoric ID, Letsou GV, Kar B, et al. Arteriovenous malformation and gastrointestinal bleeding in patients with the HeartMate II left ventricular assist device. J Heart Lung Transplant: Off Publ Int Soc Heart Transplant. 2011;30(8):849–53.
- Patel AC, Dodson RB, Cornwell WK 3rd, Hunter KS, Cleveland JC Jr, Brieke A, et al. Dynamic changes in aortic vascular stiffness in patients bridged to transplant with continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices. JACC Heart Fail. 2017;5(6):449–59.
- Najjar SS, Slaughter MS, Pagani FD, Starling RC, McGee EC, Eckman P, et al. An analysis of pump thrombus events in patients in the HeartWare ADVANCE bridge to transplant and continued access protocol trial. J Heart Lung Transplant: Off Publ Int Soc Heart Transplant. 2014;33(1):23–34.
- Nassif ME, Tibrewala A, Raymer DS, Andruska A, Novak E, Vader JM, et al. Systolic blood pressure on discharge after left ventricular assist device insertion is associated with subsequent stroke. J Heart Lung Transplant: Off Publ Int Soc Heart Transplant. 2015;34(4):503–8.
- Farrar DJ, Bourque K, Dague CP, Cotter CJ, Poirier VL. Design features, developmental status, and experimental results with the Heartmate III centrifugal left ventricular assist system with a magnetically levitated rotor. ASAIO J (Am Soc Artif Intern Organs:1992). 2007;53(3):310–5.
- Feldman D, Pamboukian SV, Teuteberg JJ, Birks E, Lietz K, Moore SA, et al. The 2013 international society for heart and lung transplantation guidelines for mechanical circulatory support: executive summary. J Heart Lung Transplant: Off Publ Int Soc Heart Transplant. 2013;32(2):157–87.
- Frazier OH, Khalil HA, Benkowski RJ, Cohn WE. Optimization of axial-pump pressure sensitivity for a continuous-flow total artificial heart. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2010;29(6):687–91.

- Nelson JA, Mauermann WJ, Barbara DW. Left ventricle assist devices and noncardiac surgery. Adv Anesthesia. 2018;36:99–123.
- Lanier GM, Orlanes K, Hayashi Y, Murphy J, Flannery M, Te-Frey R, et al. Validity and reliability of a novel slow cuff-deflation system for noninvasive blood pressure monitoring in patients with continuous-flow left ventricular assist device. Circ Heart Fail. 2013;6(5):1005–12.
- Bennett MK, Roberts CA, Dordunoo D, Shah A, Russell SD. Ideal methodology to assess systemic blood pressure in patients with continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices. J Heart Lung Transplant: Off Publ Int Soc Heart Transplant. 2010;29(5):593–4.
- Bennett MK, Roberts CA, Dordunoo D, et al. Ideal methodology to assess systemic blood pressure in patients with continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2010;29:593–4.
- 27. Lanier GM, Orlanes K, Hayashi Y, et al. Validity and reliability of a novel slow cuff-deflation system for noninvasive blood pressure monitoring in patients with continuous-flow left ventricular assist device. Circ Heart Fail. 2013;6:1005–12.
- Colombo PC, Lanier GM, Orlanes K, Yuzefpolskaya M, Demmer RT. Usefulness of a standard automated blood pressure monitor in patients with continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2015;34:1633–5.
- Bourque K, Cotter C, Dague C, Harjes D, Dur O, Duhamel J, et al. Design rationale and preclinical evaluation of the HeartMate 3 left ventricular assist system for hemocompatibility. ASAIO J (Am Soc Artif Intern Organs: 1992). 2016;62(4):375–83.
- 30. Yousefzai R, Brambatti M, Tran HA et al. Benefits of neurohormonal therapy in patients with continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices. ASAIO J. 2019 Jun 6.
- 31. Epstein NE. Preoperative, intraoperative, and postoperative measures to further reduce spinal infections. Surg Neurol Int. 2011;2:17.
- 32. Wickline SA, Fischer KC. Can infections be imaged in implanted devices? ASAIO J. 2000;46:S80-1.
- Hannan MM, Husain S, Mattner F, et al. Working formulation for the standardization of definitions of infections in patients using ventricular assist devices. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2011;30:375–84.
- Dean D, Kallel F, Ewald GA, et al. Reduction in driveline infection rates: results from the HeartMate II Multicenter Driveline Silicone Skin Interface (SSI) Registry. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2015;34:781–9.
- 35. Imamura T, Kinugawa K, Nitta D, et al. Readmission due to driveline infection can be predicted by new score by using serum albumin and body mass index during longterm left ventricular assist device support. J Artif Organs. 2015;18:120–7.
- Pereda D, Conte JV. Left ventricular assist device driveline infections. Cardiol Clin. 2011;29:515–27.
- Myers TJ, Khan T, Frazier OH. Infectious complications associated with ventricular assist systems. ASAIO J. 2000; 46: S28–S36.
- Stahovich M, Sundareswaran KS, Fox S, et al. Reduce driveline trauma through stabilization and exit site management: 30 days feasibility result from the multicenter RESIST study. ASAIO J. 2016;62:240–5.
- 39. Schmid C, Hammel D, Deng MC, et al. Ambulatory care of patients with left ventricular assist devices. Circulation 1999;100:II224–8.
- 40. Slaughter MS, Sobieski MA, Martin M, Dia M, Silver MA. Home discharge experience with the Thoratec TLC-II portable driver. ASAIO J. 2007;53:132–5.
- 41. Klodell CT, Staples ED, Aranda JM Jr, et al. Managing the post-left ventricular assist device patient. Congest Heart Fail. 2006;12:41–5.
- Himmelreich G, Ullmann H, Riess H, Rosch R, Loebe M, Schiessler A, Hetzer R. Pathophysiologic role of contact activation in bleeding followed by thromboembolic complications after implantation of a ventricular assist device. ASAIO J. 1995 Jul-Sep; 41(3):M790–4.

- Slaughter, Sobieski MA, Gallagher C, Graham J, Brandise J, Stein R. Fibrinolytic activation during long-term support with the HeartMate II left ventricular assist device. ASAIO J. 2008 Jan-Feb;54(1):115–9.
- John R, Panch S, Hrabe J, Wei P, Solovey A, Joyce L, Hebbel R. Activation of endothelial and coagulation systems in left ventricular assist device recipients. Ann Thorac Surg. 2009;88(4):1171–9 Oct.
- 45. Slaughter MS, Sobieski MA, Graham JD, Pappas PS, Tatooles AJ, Koenig SC. Platelet activation in heart failure patients supported by the HeartMate II ventricular assist device. Int J Artif Organs. 2011;34:461–8.
- 46. Matsubayashi H, Fastenau DR, McIntyre JA. Changes in platelet activation associated with left ventricular assist system placement. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2000;19:462–8.
- Meyer AL, Malehsa D, Budde U, Bara C, Haverich A, Strueber M. Acquired von Willebrand syndrome in patients with a centrifugal or axial continuous flow left ventricular assist device. JACC Heart Fail. 2014;2:141–5.
- 48. Aaronson KD, Slaughter MS, Miller LW, McGee EC, Cotts WG, Acker MA, Jessup ML, Gregoric ID, Loyalka P, Frazier OH, Jeevanandam V, Anderson AS, Kormos RL, Teuteberg JJ, Levy WC, Naftel DC, Bittman RM, Pagani FD, Hathaway DR, Boyce SW. Use of an intrapericardial, continuous-flow, centrifugal pump in patients awaiting heart transplantation. Circulation. 2012;125:3191–200.
- Galeone A, Rotunno C, Guida P, Bisceglie A, Rubino G, Schinosa LDL, Paparella D. Monitoring incomplete heparin reversal and heparin rebound after cardiac surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2013;27:853–8.
- 50. Jennings DL, Brewer R, Williams C. Impact of continuous flow left ventricular assist device on the pharmacodynamics response to warfarin early after implantation. Ann Pharmacother. 2012;46:1266–7.
- Jennings D, McDonnell J, Schillig J. Assessment of longterm anticoagulation in patients with a continuous-flow leftventricular assist device: a pilot study. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2011;142:e1–2.
- 52. Bishop MA, Streiff MB, Ensor CR, Tedford RJ, Russell SD, Ross PA. Pharmacist-managed international normalized ratio patient self-testing is associated with increased time in therapeutic range in patients with left ventricular assist devices at an Academic Medical Center. ASAIO J. 2014;60:193–8.
- 53. Feldman D, Pamboukian SV, Teuteberg JJ, Birks E, Lietz K, Moore SA, Morgan JA, Arabia F, Bauman ME, Buchholz HW, Deng M, Dickstein ML, El-Banayosy A, Elliot T, Goldstein DJ, Grady KL, Jones K, Hryniewicz K, John R, Kaan A, Kusne S, Loebe M, Massicotte MP, Moazami N, Mohacsi P, Mooney M, Nelson T, Pagani F, Perry W, Potapov EV, Rame JE, Russell SD, Sorensen EN, Sun B, Strueber M, Mangi AA, Petty MG, Rogers J. The 2013 international society for heart and lung transplantation guidelines for mechanical circulatory support: executive summary. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2013;32:157–87.
- Backes D, van den Bergh WM, van Duijn AL, Lahpor JR, van Dijk D, Slooter AJ. Cerebrovascular complications of left ventricular assist devices. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2012;42:612–20.
- 55. Fischer S, Glas KE. A review of cardiac transplantation. Anesthesiol Clinic. 2013;31(2):383-403.
- Bellumkonda L, Jacoby D. Hospital to home with mechanical circulatory support. Curr Heart Fail Rep. 2013 Sep;10(3):212–8. Review.
- 57. Feldman D, Pamboukian SV, Teuteberg JJ, et al. International society for heart and lung transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2013;32(2):157–87 Feb.
- 58. McIlvennan CK, Narayan M, Cannon A, Bradley WJ, Nowels CT, Brieke A, Cleveland JC, Matlock DD, Allen LA. Approaches to decision support and preparation for destination therapy left ventricular assist device: a nationwide sample of mechanical circulatory support coordinators. Poster presentation at the American Heart Association Quality of Care and Outcomes Research Conference; May, 2013.

- 59. Bunzel B, Laederach-Hofmann K, Wieselthaler G, Roethy W, Wolner E. Mechanical circulatory support as a bridge to heart transplantation: what remains? Long-term emotional sequelae in patients and spouses. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2007;26(4):384–9.
- Ozbaran B, Kose S, Yagdi T, Engin C, Erermis S, Yazici KU, Noyan A, Ozbaran M. Depression and anxiety levels of the mothers of children and adolescents with left ventricular assist devices. Pediatr Transplant. 2012;16(7):766–70 Nov.
- 61. Akbarin M, Aarts C. Being a close relative of a patient with a left ventricular assist device. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs. 2013;12(1):64–8 Feb.
- 62. Baker K, Flattery M, Salyer J, Haugh KH, Maltby M. Caregiving for patients requiring left ventricular assistance device support. Heart Lung. 2010 May-Jun;39(3):196–200.
- 63. Brush S, Budge D, Alharethi R, McCormick AJ, MacPherson JE, Reid BB, Ledford ID, Smith HK, Stoker S, Clayson SE, Doty JR, Caine WT, Drakos S, Kfoury AG. End-of-life decision making and implementation in recipients of a destination left ventricular assist device. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2010;29(12):1337–41 Dec.
- 64. Casida J. The lived experience of spouses of patients with a left ventricular assist device before heart transplantation. Am J Crit Care. 2005;14(2):145–51 Mar.
- Egerod I, Overgaard D. Taking a back seat: support and self-preservation in close relatives of patients with left ventricular assist device. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs. 2012;11(4):380–7 Dec.
- Kaan A, Young QR, Cockell S, Mackay M. Emotional experiences of caregivers of patients with a ventricular assist device. Prog Transplant. 2010;20(2):142–7 Jun.
- 67. Kitko LA, Hupcey JE, Gilchrist JH, Boehmer JP. Caring for a spouse with end-stage heart failure through implantation of a left ventricular assist device as destination therapy. Heart Lung. 2713 May-Jun;42(3):195–201.
- 68. Marcuccilli L, Casida JM. From insiders' perspectives: adjusting to caregiving for patients with left ventricular assist devices. Prog Transplant. 2011;21(2):137–43 Jun.
- Magid M, Jones J, Allen LA, McIlvennan CK, Magid K, Sterling JA, Matlock DD. The perceptions of important elements of caregiving for as LVAD patient: A qualitative meta-synthesis. J Cardiovasc Nurs. 2016; 31(3):215–25.

Evaluation and Management of LVAD Complications



Enrico Perna and Nicholas Wettersten

Clinical Vignette

A 67-years-old man with a long history of ischemic cardiopathy type II diabetes mellitus and carotid artery disease underwent HeartWare HVAD (HeartWare Boston MA) implantation as destination therapy via sternotomy. Surgery and postoperative recovery were uneventful and the patient was discharged home on standard antithrombotic therapy (warfarin with INR range 2–3 and aspirin 325 mg daily). He remained stable until over a year later he presented with hematuria prompting admission to the hospital. There were no signs of pulmonary or abdominal congestion or signs of cardiogenic shock. HVAD parameters showed a progressive increase in power (2.8 Watts \rightarrow 3.6 Watts) and flow (3.9 L/min \rightarrow 6 L/ min) with an unchanged speed of 2360 rpm. How should this patient be managed?

Introduction

Mechanical circulatory support with ventricular assist devices (VADs) is an important treatment strategy for patients with end-stage heart failure (HF) that is refractory to medical therapy. The use of left ventricular assist devices (LVADs) has increased significantly over the past few years with more than 22,000 devices implanted by 2019 in the United States and more than 2,500 new implants occurring annually [1]. These patients have a 1-year and 2-year survival of 81% and 70%, respectively; however, almost 80% of LVAD patients will be hospitalized

E. Perna

N. Wettersten (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

Transplant Center and de Gasperis Cardio Center, ASST Grande Ospedale Metropolitano Niguarda, Milan, Italy

Cardiovascular Institute, University of California, La Jolla, San Diego, CA 92093, USA e-mail: nwettersten@health.ucsd.edu

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_7

within the first year after implantation for some complication. The management of these devices is complex, and these patients still experience high rates of VAD-related adverse events. The most common of these directly related to the LVAD are gastrointestinal bleeding, infection, and neurologic events. However, other LVAD associated complications such as arrhythmias and aortic insufficiency are as important in the care of LVAD patients. Thus, clinicians must be familiar with common and serious complications. This chapter will give an overview of complications to assist clinicians in evaluation and management. This will focus largely on complications in HeartMate II (HMII), HeartMate 3 (HM3) and HeartWare (HVAD) devices, which are those most commonly used in the United States.

Basic LVAD Physiology

The LVAD provides an alternate parallel path for blood flow from the left ventricle (LV) to the aorta [2, 3]. Contemporary continuous-flow LVADs consist of a blood pump, percutaneous lead, external power source, and system controller. The blood pump consists of an inflow cannula (inserted into and draining from the apex of the LV), an impeller, and an outflow cannula, which by means of a graft delivers the blood into the aorta. The impeller rotates at a high speed inside its housing, which accelerates the fluid forward along the axis of the impeller in axial-flow pumps (HMII) or outwardly in centrifugal pumps (HVAD and HM 3) (Fig. 1). General characteristics of contemporary devices are shown in Table 1.

Pump Parameters

Contemporary continuous-flow LVADs display the following parameters on the controller or the monitor, and Table 2 gives a brief overview of clinical scenarios causing abnormal pump parameters. (Tables 1 and 2):

Pump Flow is defined as: Flow = Rotor Speed/(P outflow - P inflow)



Fig. 1 The two types of impellers most commonly used clinically

Device	HeartMate II	HeartMate 3	HeartWare
Flow	Axial	Centrifugal	Centrifugal
Placement	Preperitoneal	Intrapericardial	Intrapericardial
Bearing	Ball and cup (blood immersed)	Magnetic levitation	Hydrodynamic
Speed range (rpm)	6000–15000	3000-9000	2400-3200
Maximum flow	10 L/min	10 L/min	10 L/min
Blood flow gaps, mm	0.08	0.12	0.05
Artificial pulsatility	No	Yes	No
FDA approved indications	BTT (2008) DT (2010)	BTT (2017) DT (2017)	BTT (2012) DT (2017)

 Table 1
 General characteristics of the three devices

 Table 2
 Alterations of pump parameters may suggest different clinical scenarios

Pump parameters	High pulsatility	Low pulsatility
High power/flow	Normal physiology, Improvement in cardiac function, exercise	Hypotension, high pump speed, pump thrombus (affecting rotor/ bearings)
Low power/flow	Hypertension, low pump speed, inflow/outflow graft obstruction	Hypovolemia, tamponade, right heart failure, arrhythmias, inflow/ outflow graft obstruction

The Flow is derived from pump power consumption and correlates:

- Directly with the speed of the rotor
- Indirectly with the pressure differential between LV and the aorta

Power ("the energy consumed to spin the impeller at the speed we have set"), is a function of:

- Patient status (volume status, degree of afterload, activity)
- Pump status (kinked outflow graft, obstructive inflow cannula, rotor and bearing thrombus)

Pulsatility Index (only reported for HMII and 3 but can be derived from HVAD screen) is defined as: PI = (maximum flow - minimum flow)/average flow × 10. PI has been used as a surrogate for the degree of LVAD support: the lower the PI, the greater the amount of support provided by the pump.

Evaluation of Abnormal LVAD Parameters

Approach

LVAD parameters are an additional vital sign. Like any vital sign, when a parameter is out of the normal range for a patient, assessment for a possible cause should

occur. The prior section provided differentials for some causes of abnormal parameters. Further assessment to narrow this differential is similar to any HF patient with a thorough history, physical exam, and selective laboratory and diagnostic testing (Tables 3, 4, 5 and 6). Early invasive hemodynamic monitoring should be considered for many LVAD complications, but especially in situations of recurrent HF to optimize patient hemodynamics and LVAD function. Clues from these evaluations can direct the clinician to the appropriate issue and management as outlined in following sections.

Symptoms	Clinical condition	Differential
Dyspnea, orthopnea, edema, abdominal bloating	Recurrent HF	Non-compliance, RHF, arrhythmia, pump malfunction
Fatigue, dyspnea, epistaxis, melena, hematochezia	Blood loss	Gastrointestinal bleeding, hemolysis
Fevers, chills, malaise, driveline drainage	Infection	Community acquired infection, driveline infection, pump/pocket infection, endocarditis
Focal weakness, slurred speech, sensation disturbances	Neurologic event	Stroke (ischemic or hemorrhagic)

Table 3 History findings and differential

Table 4	Physical exa	am findings	and differential
	I II J DIVERI VIII	and minoring o	and annotenent

Findings	Clinical considerations	
Low MAP	Increased LVAD flow, hypovolemia, infection	
High MAP	Low LVAD flow, hypertension	
Abnormal temperature	Infection	
Abnormal heart rate	Arrhythmia	
Abnormal LVAD sound	Pump thrombosis, inflow/outflow obstruction	
Jugular venous distension	HF, arrhythmia, tamponade	
Pallor	Blood loss	
Driveline erythema/discharge	Driveline infection	
Lung crackles	Heart failure, pneumonia	
New weakness, loss of sensation	Stroke	

Test	Clinical considerations
Complete blood count	Leukocytosis—infection Anemia—blood loss
Renal function	Acute kidney injury
Liver function	Abnormalities with congestion, infection, hemolysis
INR	Within therapeutic range?
LDH/plasma free hemoglobin	Markers of hemolysis

Table 5 Laboratory testing

Test	Clinical considerations	
Electrocardiography	Arrhythmia detection	
Echocardiography	Assessment of left ventricular size—inadequate unloading? Right ventricular size/function—RHF Valvular heart disease—regurgitant lesions Thrombus	
Chest X-ray	Pulmonary edema Infiltrate	
Computed tomography	Head—signs of ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke Chest—infection, effusion, fluid collections Abdomen—assessment of driveline, fluid collections	

 Table 6
 Diagnostic testing

Pump Thrombosis

Background

Pump thrombosis (PT) is defined as an obstruction that limits blood entering or exiting the pump or otherwise impinges the impeller from properly rotating. Recently, the MOMENTUM 3 trial showed 0.12 events per patient-year (EPPY) of PT in the HMII arm with very few events in the HM3 arm [4]. The ADVANCE trial reported an incidence of 0.04 to 0.09 EPPY in the HVAD population [5]. Notably there has been a drastic reduction in the incidence of PT since 2015 with the progressive growth in the number of HM 3 implants. Though an uncommon complication, its clinical implications are substantial as they can lead to catastrophic pump failure or other complications such as stroke.

When clot does form, the location and histology of the clot formation can differ depending on VAD type (Fig. 2). Globular clot formations have been reported on

Fig. 2 Pump Thrombosis



the inflow bearings and in regions of sharp angulation of the HMII inflow/outflow grafts. In contrast laminar fibrin formations may develop on the impeller of HVAD pumps if a thrombus event occurs. The HM 3 was designed to prevent pump thrombosis by employing three innovations:

- Use of wider blood flow passages to reduce shear stress and minimize disruption of red blood cells as they pass through the pump
- Magnetic levitation technology to create a frictionless pump with no mechanical bearings
- Incorporation of an artificial fixed pulse that speeds up and slows every two seconds to minimize blood stasis and facilitate pump surface washing.

Presentation of Pump Thrombosis

Patients experiencing PT may present with four possible scenarios:

- Asymptomatic sustained power elevations (defined as power ≥ 10 watts or power>2 watts above baseline for>24 h)
- (2) Isolated elevation of LDH levels (>3 times the upper limit of normal) or plasma free hemoglobin (pfHb) (>40 mg/dL)
- (3) Clinical signs of hemolysis (hemoglobinuria)
- (4) Symptoms of HF (with or without hemodynamic abnormalities including shock)

Diagnostic Evaluation

In addition to the assessment of abnormal device parameters, the following tests are commonly used for diagnosing PT (Table 7):

Serial recording of LV end-diastolic diameter with increasing VAD speeds (known as a ramp study) may diagnose pump thrombus or other obstructions to blood flow within the rotatory pump and cannula system.

Management

At present, the ideal strategy for treating PT in contemporary devices has yet to be defined. Surgical device exchange or urgent heart transplantation represent the most definitive treatment modalities, in particular for HMII patients because clots are generally detected after they are no longer amenable to medical therapy.

Laboratory findings	Chest X-ray	Echocardiography	Chest computed tomography
High LDH	Malposition of inflow	Dilated ventricle	Malpositioned inflow cannula
Low hemoglobin/ hematocrit	Misaligned outflow graft protector	Severe mitral regurgitation	Kinked outflow graft
Low haptoglobin	Pulmonary congestion	Frequent aortic valve opening	If contrast used, thrombus within inflow or outflow
High plasma free hemoglobin		Elevated right ventricular systolic pressure	
Hemoglobinuria			
Elevated bilirubin			

 Table 7 Diagnostic testing for pump thrombosis

The use of medical therapy can be considered for patients:

- With asymptomatic hemolysis
- Who are poor candidates for surgical management
- In whom it would be advantageous to avoid surgery and instead expedite transplantation

The up-titration of anti-thrombotic therapy includes

- Addition of a second anti-platelet agent (clopidogrel, dipyridamole)
- Intravenous heparin (targeting PTT two to three times upper limit) or intravenous bivalirudin
- Fibrinolytics with intraventricular or systemic administration.

Right Heart Failure

Presentation of Right Heart Failure

Right heart failure (RHF) can present at any time after LVAD placement and frequently presents in the immediate post-operative period. It can be a temporary state that resolves with therapy or a chronic problem requiring regular management and recurrent hospitalizations after LVAD implantation. Approximately one third of LVAD patients will experience RHF.

Signs and symptoms of RHF are predominately those of recurrent HF and multiple laboratory abnormalities can develop (Table 8):

Tuble of bights, symptoms and no abnormances what right heart failure		
Fatigue	Dyspnea on exertion	
Edema	Bloating	
Early satiety	Decreased urine output	
Ascites	Elevated jugular venous pressure	
Elevated natriuretic peptide levels	Elevated creatinine and BUN	
Elevated liver function tests	Elevated prothrombin time	
Low albumin		

Table 8 Signs, symptoms and lab abnormalities with right heart failure

Prediction and Diagnostic Criteria

Numerous echocardiographic and hemodynamic (Table 9) variables have been associated with an increased risk of post-operative RHF and are also used in diagnosing RHF (Fig. 3) [6, 7].

Other non-echocardiographic and hemodynamic risk factors include:

- Female gender
- Non-ischemic cardiomyopathy
- Liver dysfunction
- Kidney dysfunction

Most criteria are derived from studies with small patient populations. No one criterion is sensitive or specific enough to predict or diagnose RHF, thus one should consider and incorporate multiple criteria for predicting and diagnosing RHF. Multiple risk scores for RHF have been developed that include many of the variables above but have not shown strong predictive performance outside of the population they have been derived in (Fig. 4).

Formal criteria suggested for defining RHF are listed in Table 10 [8].

Echocardiographic features	Hemodynamic features
Enlarged RV (ratio RV/LV>0.75, but especially when RV is larger than LV)	Elevated CVP (>15 mmHg)
Bowing of the interventricular septum towards the LV	Elevated CVP to wedge pressure ratio (>0.63)
Low tricuspid annular planar systolic excursion (TAPSE) (<8 mm)	Low pulmonary artery pulsatility index (PAPi = PA systolic pressure—PA diastolic pressure/CVP; PAPi < 2.0 indicates increased risk)
Reduced RV fractional area change (<35%)	Elevated pulmonary vascular resistance (>4 woods units
Reduced RV strain (>-15.5%)	Low RV stroke work index (<300 mmHg ml/m ²)
Severe tricuspid regurgitation	

Table 9 Features associated with post-operative right heart failure

CVP-central venous pressure; LV-left ventricle; PA-pulmonary artery; RV-right ventricle



Fig. 3 Example of an echocardiogram from the apical four chamber view with substantial right ventricle (RV) dilation compared to left ventricle (LV) at a ratio>0.75. Patient later experienced post-operative RHF after LVAD placement



Fig. 4 Echocardiogram from parasternal long-axis view showing RHF after LVAD placement with a dilated right ventricle (RV) shifting the septum towards the left ventricle (LV) resulting in a small LV cavity. Patient's LVAD had to be run at low speed to prevent suction and RHF needed support with intravenous milrinone

Table 10 Criteria for defining right heart failure and severity

Elevated CVP reflected as either:

- CVP > 16 mmHg
- · Dilated inferior vena cava without collapse on echocardiography
- · Elevated jugular venous pressure

And signs of RHF reflected as either:

• Edema

- Ascites/hepatomegaly
- Worsening liver or kidney function on labs

Grading

Mild

Prolonged post-implantation inotropes, inhaled pulmonary vasodilators, or intravenous vasodilators but not continued beyond post-operative day 7 after LVAD

Moderate

• Post-implantation inotropes, inhaled pulmonary vasodilators, or intravenous vasodilators continued beyond post-operative day 7 but not beyond post-operative day 14 after LVAD

Severe

- CVP greater than 16 mmHg AND
- Prolonged post-implantation inotropes, inhaled pulmonary vasodilators, or intravenous vasodilators continued beyond post-operative day 14 after LVAD

Severe-acute

- CVP greater than 16 mmHg AND
- Need for mechanical right ventricular support \underline{OR} death

CVP-central venous pressure

Differential

Mimics or causes of RHF both acutely and/or chronically include:

- Tamponade
- Inadequate LV support
- · Pulmonary embolism
- Right ventricular (RV) myocardial infarction
- Arrhythmias

Management

Management of RHF is largely based on optimization of RV hemodynamics. Every effort should be made to optimize hemodynamics prior to LVAD implantation to reduce the risk of RHF. Pre-operative administration of oral phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitors has been associated with an increase in RHF post-LVAD [9]. There are no large randomized studies at this time for specific treatments or therapies to improve outcomes of RHF after LVAD. Management of RHF may vary in the acute post-operative setting and with chronic management. Therapies commonly used for both acute and chronic RHF include:

- Aggressive volume removal with diuretics and ultrafiltration if diuretics are inadequate
- Inotropic support with dobutamine, dopamine, milrinone, or levosimendan
- Inhaled pulmonary vasodilators including inhaled nitric oxide or epoprostenol
- For acute RHF after LVAD, early and planned use of mechanical RV support has better outcomes than late or emergent support [10].
- For chronic RHF, off-label use of oral phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitors are frequently administered with weak data of possible benefit, especially if hemodynamics suggest pulmonary hypertension. Digoxin can be empirically given for inotropic support.
- The ultimate therapy for chronic RHF is heart transplantation.

Bleeding

Presentation and Assessment

Bleeding is one of the most frequent LVAD complications occurring in one to two thirds of patients [1]. The most common cause is gastrointestinal, but other causes include epistaxis, bruising, and trauma related bleeding. Presenting symptoms and features of evaluation include:

- Active cutaneous bleeding, melena, hematemesis, epistaxis, fatigue, dizziness, syncope, HF
- Low mean arterial pressure (MAP), orthostatic symptoms, pallor
- Low hemoglobin, INR at goal or elevated, LDH may be elevated, elevated BUN
- Low flow on LVAD, low flow alarms, hematocrit is entered to calculate flow on HVAD and HM 3 so reprograming hematocrit will increase flow

Gastrointestinal bleeding frequently occurs from sites found in non-LVAD patients such ulcers, polyps, and hemorrhoids. Somewhat unique to LVAD patients is an increased frequency of bleeding from angiodysplasia. Arteriovenous malformations (AVMs) are thought to form from lack of pulsatile flow and an acquired von Willebrand disease (Figs. 5 and 6) [11]. Multiple risk factors have been identified for bleeding complications (Table 11).

Management

In the acute setting, therapy involves both pharmacologic and procedural interventions. Chronic management is determined by cause of bleeding, risk of recurrence and frequency of recurrence.

Fig. 5 AVMs in the colon of a patient with a HMII LVAD and recurrent blood loss



Fig. 6 Nasal AVM (top right of photo) in HVAD patient. Patient had profound epistaxis with repeated drops in hemoglobin until operative intervention where diffuse nasal AVMs were found requiring electrocautery



 Table 11
 Risk factors for bleeding in LVAD patients

с .	
Older patient age	Low pulsatility
History of gastrointestinal bleeding	Post-LVAD ejection fraction > 30%
Preceding coagulopathy	Post-implantation infection
Elevated creatinine	Low platelet count
RV dysfunction	

Potential interventions in the acute setting include:

- Hemodynamic stabilization with intravenous fluids and blood transfusions
- Withholding of antiplatelets and anticoagulants
- INR value and severity of bleeding should be carefully weighed against the risks of reversing anticoagulation. Administration of fresh frozen plasma could be considered with active life-threatening bleeding. Vitamin K is generally avoided as it does not acutely correct and may over-correct anticoagulation. Prothrombin complex concentrate should be given cautiously given its increased risk of thrombosis.
- Intravenous proton pump inhibitor
- Intravenous octreotide [12].
- Esophagogastroduodenoscopy and/or colonoscopy
- Capsule endoscopy (for diagnosis and identification of source)
- For severe uncontrolled or recurrent bleeding, surgical resection of bleeding bowel segment could be performed

Potential chronic therapies and measures after an episode of gastrointestinal bleeding or recurrent bleeding include:

- Adjusting LVAD speed to increase pulsatility and reduce sheer stress
- Lowering INR goal
- Stopping antiplatelets
- Chronic oral proton pump inhibitors
- Chronic octreotide (often administered in depot form) in the setting of AVMs [13].
- Studies suggest angiotensin blockade with angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers reduces risk of gastrointestinal bleeding
- Thalidomide [14].
- Hormonal therapy with estrogen

Stroke

Background and Presentation

As with mechanical prosthetic valves, LVAD patients are at increased risk for both ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke given the thrombogenicity of the mechanical pump and necessity of anticoagulation. Almost 20% of LVAD patients will suffer a stroke within the first year after implantation, with slightly more than half being ischemic [1, 15]. Compounding risk is the presence of concomitant medical conditions that increase the risk of stroke such as atrial fibrillation, peripheral arterial disease, diabetes and hypertension. Additionally, it is believed that non-pulsatile flow alters cerebral vasculature potentially predisposing to stroke [16].

Table 12 Risk factors for stroke in LVAD patients	Systemic infection	Hypertension		
	Atrial fibrillation	Female gender		
	Anticoagulation levels	Duration of LVAD support		
	Low pulsatility	Prior stroke		

Stroke symptoms in LVAD patients are the same as other patients. Neurologic deficits can vary and include focal weakness, sensory deficits, speech difficulties, vision loss, or loss of coordination. Symptoms may be less focal and include head-ache, confusion, or altered mental status. Thus, physicians should maintain a low threshold to evaluate for stroke in LVAD patients presenting with non-specific symptoms even if a neurologic deficit is not noticeable.

Risk factors for stroke are listed in Table 12. Two important risk factors are infection and hypertension. A concomitant systemic infection is one of the most common risk factors for stroke [15, 17]. Infections may promote a prothrombotic environment or become endocarditis with embolization. Hypertension has been repeatedly found to be a risk factor for stroke in LVAD patients, especially in HVAD patients [18]. Risk significantly increases when MAP is>90 mmHg.

Assessment

Patient's with possible stroke symptoms should be rapidly assessed given the limited time available for possible intervention. Patients and their caregivers should be taught the F.A.S.T. acronym (Face drooping, Arm weakness, Speech difficulty, Time to call 911) for warning signs of stroke. Anytime stroke is a concern, neurology consultation should be immediately sought.

The preferred imaging modality for stroke is magnetic resonance imaging; however, this is prohibitive in LVAD patients [17]. Thus, diagnosis is based on history, physical exam, CT imaging, and vascular imaging. A CT scan should be obtained within 10 min of initial concern for stroke to differentiate hemorrhagic from ischemic stroke. In early ischemic strokes, CT head imaging will often be normal. Imaging is frequently repeated to assess for changes consistent with ischemic stroke, expansion of a hemorrhagic stroke, or to monitor for hemorrhagic conversion. CT angiography can evaluate for large vessel occlusions that might be intervenable upon. Digital subtraction angiography is usually only performed if endovascular intervention is performed; however, it may be necessary if there is concern for a mycotic aneurysm [17].

Evaluation for risk factors and sources of stroke should be sought. Given the association with concomitant infection, blood cultures should be drawn. This may lead to further evaluation for endocarditis. An echocardiogram should be obtained as this may visualize a thrombus or a vegetation of endocarditis (Fig. 7). Further testing may include carotid ultrasounds or transesophageal echocardiography based on evaluation.

Fig. 7 Transthoracic echocardiogram showing a thrombus above the aortic valve and lack of aortic valve opening in an LVAD patient presenting with a stroke



Management of Ischemic Stroke

In non-LVAD patients, thrombolytic therapy with recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (rtTPA) is the treatment of choice if an ischemic stroke is detected early enough. However, rtTPA is frequently contraindicated in LVAD patients given the use of anticoagulation (contraindicated if INR>1.7) and antiplatelet therapy that increase the risk of hemorrhagic complications. Additionally, there is a heightened risk of hemorrhagic conversion given the association of stroke and systemic infection in LVAD patients as well as other potential defects in the coagulation system of LVAD patients. Thus, use of rtTPA must be carefully weighed against these risks.

Mechanical thrombectomy offers an alternative for large vessel occlusion. This therapy has not been systematically studied in LVAD patients and case reports have reported variable outcomes. By avoiding systemic rtTPA, this could potentially minimize systemic bleeding risks; however, hemorrhagic conversion risk is similar and possibly higher than rtTPA [17]. The window for potential therapeutic benefit of mechanical thrombectomy is longer than rtTPA. Careful consideration and discussion with neurology should be performed when considering this treatment option.

Separate from these therapies, care is focused on supportive measures. Since most strokes in LVAD patients are presumed to be device related, risks of reversing or withholding anticoagulation should be weighed against risk for device thrombosis and possible recurrent ischemic stroke. Generally, anticoagulation should be held for the first 24 h to monitor for hemorrhagic conversion [17]. Anticoagulation may then be restarted 1 to 7 days after initial presentation based on INR and clinical course. This decision should be individualized to a patient's risk for hemorrhage and clinical status.

Volume status should be optimized to avoid volume depletion, but also avoid fluid overload. Both hyper- and hypoglycemia should be corrected as necessary with goal of maintaining glucose in range of 80 to 180 mg/dL. In normal stroke management, permissive hypertension is allowed because of the loss of cerebral autoregulation; however, with continuous non-pulsatile LVAD flow, blood pressure often does not reach levels that would prompt treatment in normal stroke patients. Hypotension should be avoided and vasoactive agents may be needed to maintain cerebral perfusion.

Management of Hemorrhagic Stroke

An important initial distinction for management is determining if a hemorrhage is a primary process or the result of hemorrhagic conversion. Anticoagulation should often be reversed in hemorrhagic stroke; however, this must be weighed against the risk of device thrombosis. Also, if the initial stroke was ischemic with hemorrhagic conversion, reversal of anticoagulation may potentially lead to propagation of a device related thrombus. The decision to reverse anticoagulation needs to be individualized based on mechanism of hemorrhage, history of stroke or device thrombosis, current level of anticoagulation, and size of hemorrhage. Aggressive blood pressure reduction is usually pursued in hemorrhagic stroke, but because of continuous blood flow and altered blood pressure, the optimal blood pressure in an LVAD patient is unknown, but generally MAP is maintained at <90 mmHg.

For large hemorrhagic strokes with substantial vasogenic edema, there may be neurologic deficits from compression prompting neurosurgical evaluation for decompressive therapies. Studies are varied on benefits of decompressive surgeries and these procedures are even more challenging in LVAD patients given the bleeding risks from anticoagulation and need to minimize anticoagulation therapy for prolonged periods after performing such an operation. Requiring such therapies often portends a poor prognosis.

Long-Term Management

Following initial acute hospital management of stroke, care should focus on aggressive rehabilitation. For both ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke, goals of antiplatelet and anticoagulation therapy should be reassessed, and the target range of INR may need to be redefined. Blood pressure should be controlled to maintain MAP<90 mmHg. Secondary prevention measures of lipid and glucose control have not been studied in LVAD patients but may improve outcomes depending on mechanism of stroke.

Arrhythmias

Presentation

Arrhythmias are a frequent complication in LVAD patients [19, 20]. Atrial arrhythmias and ventricular arrhythmias are estimated to occur in 20 to 50% of LVAD patients. Because of continuous flow with near full circulatory support provided, LVAD patients can be very tolerant to arrhythmias including ventricular arrhythmias (Fig. 8). Patients frequently present without symptoms or only vague and non-specific symptoms (Table 13). This requires clinicians to remain vigilant for arrhythmia detection before potential adverse consequences occur.

Risk Factors and Outcomes

Atrial arrhythmias are not well studied in LVAD patients, but the most frequent atrial arrhythmia is atrial fibrillation [19, 20]. Risk factors and outcomes are not well described for atrial arrhythmias, but the largest concern is thromboembolic risk with atrial fibrillation. The initial INR goal for LVAD patients is same for



Fig. 8 Patient supported by LVAD is paced then goes into monomorphic ventricular tachycardia without loss of consciousness

Table 13 Symptoms from arrhythmias on LVAD support	Fatigue	Weakness
	Palpitations	RHF
	Pre-syncope	Syncope (rare)

atrial fibrillation, but a bleeding event may change the INR goal and thromboembolic risk may increase.

Ventricular arrhythmias most often occur early after LVAD implantation [20]. Risk factors include prior history of ventricular arrhythmias, lack of beta-blocker use, and potentially ischemic cardiomyopathy, though some studies report higher incidences with non-ischemic cardiomyopathy. One potential risk and source of early post-operative ventricular arrhythmias is scar from placement of the inflow cannula. Early post-operative ventricular arrhythmias have been variably associated with an increased morbidity and mortality, which likely depends on the status of the patient, RV, hemodynamic support, and clinical context.

Management

For any hemodynamically unstable arrhythmia, immediate cardioversion/defibrillation should be performed.

Management of atrial arrhythmias, mainly atrial fibrillation, focuses on rate or rhythm control and thromboembolic risk reduction. LVAD patients are usually anticoagulated to the same INR goal as atrial fibrillation. However, if a bleeding event occurs, INR goals may be lowered and the thromboembolic risk from atrial fibrillation may increase. Whether to pursue a rate or rhythm control strategy or any medical therapy at all depends on a patient's tolerance of the arrhythmia. Rhythm control should be sought for symptomatic patients with amiodarone, sotalol or dofetilide as preferred agents. Rate control with either carvedilol, metoprolol succinate, bisoprolol and/or digoxin can be used. For symptomatic patients unable to tolerate any medical therapy, AV node ablation may be necessary.

Ventricular arrhythmias are often initially managed with medical therapy including beta-blockers, amiodarone, mexiletine, sotalol or dofetilide. Early perioperative ventricular arrhythmias may resolve with sufficient time and healing. For medically refractory ventricular arrhythmias or those with significant hemodynamic impact, catheter ablation may be necessary [20]. Catheter ablation therapy has only been studied in case reports and series at specific centers. While results show efficacy in the short-term, long-term follow up studies are lacking.

Aortic Insufficiency

Presentation

Aortic insufficiency (AI) is a common complication after LVAD implantation. It is estimated that 1 in 4 patients will develop at least mild to moderate AI within one year of implantation [21]. With LVAD therapy, the heart is subjected to AI that is pancyclic, occurring throughout systole and diastole, in response to the constant positive transaortic pressure gradient. Risk factors for AI while under support are listed in Table 14 [21].

Persistently closed aortic valve	Excessive LV unloading
Prolonged duration of support	Small body surface area
Systemic hypertension	Female gender
Moderate mitral regurgitation	Older age
Larger aortic dimension at implantation	Cannulation site (at least 2 cm above the sino-tubular junction)
Anastomotic angle ($\geq 90^{\circ}$ transversally and between 60° and 120° in the coronal plane)	

Table 14 Risk factors for aortic insufficiency

Diagnosis

Transthoracic echocardiography (TTE) parameters (i.e. vena contracta, jet width/ LVOT diameter, PISA) largely underestimate AI severity, because regurgitant flow occurs during the whole cardiac cycle (Fig. 9). However, TTE remains the gold-standard to detect AI.

Two novel echocardiographic parameters have been proposed for grading severity of AI [22]:

- *The outflow LVAD cannula systolic-to-diastolic peak velocity ratio (S/D ratio):* this value is inversely proportional to AR severity (significant AI is likely when S/D ratio is <5.0)
- *LVAD outflow cannula diastolic acceleration*, obtained by measuring the diastolic slope from the onset of diastolic to end-diastole (significant AI is when diastolic acceleration is>49.0 cm/s²)

Fig. 9 Patient supported by HM3 LVAD with progressive heart failure symptoms found to have severe aortic insufficiency



Clinical Presentation

Patients may be asymptomatic or symptomatic [21]. Symptomatic patients frequently presents with recurrent HF and impaired end-organ perfusion. Asymptomatic patients may found:

- During routine TTE
- After addition of vasodilators which reduce afterload prompting less opening of aortic valve
- When diuretic therapy is given for hypervolemia leading to a decreased preload and native heart ejection and subsequently less aortic valve opening.

Management

There are no studies managing AI in asymptomatic LVAD patients; however, general recommendations include reducing LVAD speed to allow intermittent aortic valve opening and serial echocardiograms to monitor for progression [21]. For progressive AI that becomes symptomatic or hemodynamically significant management can be either medical, which only temporarily stabilizes the patient's status, or surgical with both open and percutaneous options available (Table 15) [21]. The benefits and risks of different surgical options are outlined in Table 16.

Tamponade

Presentation

Cardiac tamponade is a life-threatening complication following LVAD implantation that usually only occurs in the post-operative period [23]. Symptoms may include fatigue, dizziness, dyspnea, and chest pain. Signs include hypotension, elevated jugular venous pressure, pallor, cool extremities and decreased urine output.

Table 15 Medical and surgical options for aortic insufficiency	Medical
	Escalating diuretics
	· Vasodilator therapy
	Surgical
	· Over-sewing strategy (partial or complete)
	· Bioprosthetic replacement
	· Aortic valve ring annuloplasty
	Percutaneous management
	· Transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI)
	· Percutaneous occluder devices (PODs)

Strategy	Technique	PROS	CONS
Surgical management	Partial over-sewing	Residual AI	20% incidence of mod- erate AI in 6 months
	Complete over-sewing	No residual AI	Higher mortality
	Bioprosthetic replacement	No residual AI	Only destination therapy Long term failure due to leaflet fusion
	Aortic valve ring annuloplasty	Reduces AI Landing zone for TAVI	Residual AI
Percutaneous management	Transcatheter aortic valve implantation	No residual AI	Risk of device migration Access site-related bleeding Vascular complication
	Percutaneous occluder device (PODs)	No residual AI	OFF label

Table 16 Benefits and risks of different invasive approaches

LVAD parameters often show reduced flow, power and pulsatility. TTE is the diagnostic test of choice for diagnosing tamponade (Fig. 10).

Differential and Diagnosis

Few other conditions can mimic tamponade (Table 17) [23]. Given this narrow differential, chest radiography, TTE and invasive hemodynamic assessment should be performed rapidly. If initial tests are unrevealing, computed tomography for pulmonary embolus and assessment of inflow and outflow grafts should be considered. Usually TTE is adequate for diagnosing cardiac tamponade; however, in post-surgical patients, isolated effusions can occur (i.e. behind and compressing the left atrium) and transesophageal echocardiography (TEE) may be needed to identify the effusion and cause of tamponade.

Management

Tamponade is a surgical emergency and should prompt immediate return to the operating room for evacuation and determining the cause of tamponade. Pericardiocentesis can be performed as a temporizing measure for hemodynamic deterioration but is not definitive management. Compressed LV Wall Resulting in Tamponade Pericardial Effusion with Clot

Fig. 10 Blood in pericardial space after LVAD implantation leads to LV compression and tamponade physiology requiring surgical evacuation

Table 17	Differential for	
cardiac tai	nponade	

RHF	Cardiac tamponade
Pneumothorax	Pulmonary embolus
Inflow obstruction	Outflow obstruction

Infection

Presentation

LVAD patients are susceptible to community acquired infections but also have the unique risks of implanted hardware that can develop a chronic infection and externalization of the driveline that allows an entry point for infection. The International Society of Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT) has divided infections into those specific to the VAD, VAD related, and non-VAD related (Table 18) [24]. LVAD related infections occur in 20–30% of patients within the first year after implantation. The most common VAD specific infections are driveline (Fig. 11) occurring in up to 50% of patients followed by bloodstream infections that may or may not be VAD related [24–26].

Presenting symptoms may be similar to a community acquired infection (i.e. fever and productive cough with pneumonia) or more indolent such as a change in odor or drainage from driveline, low-grade fever, malaise, or anorexia. Infection should be closely monitored for with routine evaluation of the driveline, and there should a low threshold to evaluate for infection in any patient presenting with symptoms concerning for infection or non-specific symptoms. Risk factors for LVAD specific infections are listed in Table 19 [25–27].

Table 18 Infection classification in VAD patients

Fig. 11 Infected Driveline with Erythema and Purulent Discharge



Table 19Risk factors forLVAD specific infections

Younger age	
Higher BMI	
Diabetes mellitus	
Driveline site trauma	
Exposed velour at driveline	

Infectious Etiologies

Most VAD infections are bacterial in nature; however, fungal infections can occur in critically ill or immunosuppressed patients. The most common bacterial cause is gram-positive cocci including *Staphylococcus aureus* and coagulase-negative *Staphylococci*. Nosocomial gram-negative infections are the next most common bacteria and include *Pseudomonas*, *Enterobacter*, and *Serratia* [24, 26, 27]

Evaluation

A high index of suspicion should be maintained for a VAD related infection as symptoms and signs can be non-specific and patients are equally at risk for non-VAD infections as VAD related. A complete history and review of systems should be performed to find possible clues to an infection and/or cause. Physical examination should pay specific attention to surgical sites, the driveline exit site, and LVAD parameters. LVAD parameters may be abnormal from a non-VAD systemic infection causing vasodilation. All patients with suspected infection should have a white blood cell count, inflammatory markers (CRP, ESR, procalcitonin), and blood cultures sent. Blood cultures should be sent as 3 sets with a set at least 12 h separated similar to Duke Criteria for endocarditis, which have been adapted for determining a VAD-specific infection [24]. Additionally, urinalysis with culture, chest x-ray and possibly stool studies should be performed. Further testing and management are driven by the presumed cause of infection and results of cultures.

For patients with suspected driveline infection and negative blood cultures, testing is directed at evaluating the extent of driveline infection. The exit site should be thoroughly inspected for erythema, fluctuance and purulence. If pus is coming from the site, a sample should be sent for culture and examined for bacteria and fungus. Ultrasound imaging should be performed to evaluate for fluid collections around the driveline exit site and pump pockets, if accessible. CT imaging may also be used to evaluate possible fluid collections or abscesses. Based on culture and imaging findings, treatment approaches may vary [24].

When blood cultures are positive in a VAD patient, evaluation focuses on determining if this is a VAD specific infection. TTE, often followed by TEE, is performed to assess for vegetations related to the VAD or potentially other implanted devices (i.e. defibrillator). CT imaging is often performed to assess sources of infection that may or may not be VAD related (i.e. pneumonia, sternal wound infection, pump pocket fluid collection). Tagged white blood cell scans may be needed to help locate sources of infection but can return non-specific findings.

Treatment

Non-VAD related infections should be treated according to standard practice. Treatment of VAD related and specific infections should often be determined in conjunction with infectious disease consultation. General treatment recommendations are outlined in Table 20 [24, 26]. Of note, for many VAD related/specific infections, chronic suppressive antibiotic therapy may be needed.

Infection	Findings	Treatment
Localized driveline infection	Expanding erythema around driveline exit site, potentially purulent discharge	Two to four weeks of antimi- crobial therapy. Chronic sup- pressive therapy NOT needed
Deep infection	Erythema at exit site, purulent discharge, possible fluctuance, ultrasound or CT findings of fluid/possible abscess	Two to four weeks of antimi- crobial therapy Likely to need chronic sup- pressive therapy Surgical debridement may be needed
Pump/pocket infection	Sepsis, fluid collection/ abscess on imaging studies	Surgical debridement recommended Two to four weeks antimi- crobial therapy followed by chronic suppressive therapy
Device infection or Bacteremia with presumed device infection	Sepsis, cultures meeting modified Duke's criteria for VAD infection per ISHLT guidelines	Treat as endocardi- tis, ≥ 6 weeks antibiotic therapy followed by chronic suppressive therapy Discuss surgical options, if any

Table 20 General treatment algorithms For VAD related/specific infections

Clinical Vignette: Conclusion

The patient was deemed too high surgical risk excluding option of device replacement. A continuous infusion of intravenous heparin was started and a second anti-platelet agent (dipyridamole 800 mg per day) was administered. Nevertheless, HVAD parameters continued to worsen (Flow > 10 L/min) and after 24 hours, the patient showed signs of cardiogenic shock (peripheral hypoperfusion, central venous pressure > 19 mmHg). Thus, the decision to perform fibrinolysis was made: fluoroscopy guided intraventricular thrombolysis was performed and Alteplase was administered (10 mg over 10 min every 15–20 min three times repeated a total of three times). After the third infusion, there was a complete resolution of adverse parameters with stable flows and power consumption. The patient was discharged on hospital day 15.

Key Points

- With an increasing number of LVADs implanted and prolonged use, complications are becoming increasingly prevalent.
- Pump thrombosis, although an uncommon complication, has substantial clinical implications and can lead to catastrophic pump failure or other complications such a stroke.

- Right heart failure can present anytime after LVAD implantation, but frequently presents in the immediate post-operative period.
- Bleeding can be quite frequent and occur up to two thirds of patients on LVAD support.
- LVAD patients are at increased risk for both ischemic and hemorrahgic stroke. Almost 20% of LVAD patients will suffer a stroke within the first year after implantation, although with new generation devices, this is less prevelant.
- Arrhythmias can occur in half of LVAD patients, ranging from atrial fibrillation to persistent ventricular tachycardia.
- Although LVAD patients are susceptible to community acquired infections, they are at unique risk of developing infection with implanted hardware and also infection at the exit site of driveline externalization.

Future Directions

While the newer generation of LVADs improve the hemocompatibility experienced with chronic hemodynamic support, complications continue to be of chief concern when managing patients and these devices. One of the exciting development in the next generation of devices may be eliminating the driveline exit site entirely. Both Abbott and Medtronic have dedicated enumerable resources to percutaneous battery charging, thereby eliminating the driveline all together. This development would improve the risk for infection and allow more mobility for LVAD patients.

References

- Kormos RL, Cowger J, Pagani FD, et al. The Society of thoracic surgeons intermacs database annual report: evolving indications, outcomes, and scientific partnerships. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2019;38:114–26.
- Moazami N, Fukamachi K, Kobayashi M, et al. Axial and centrifugal continuous-flow rotary pumps: a translation from pump mechanics to clinical practice. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2013;32:1–11.
- Slaughter MS, Pagani FD, Rogers JG, et al. Clinical management of continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices in advanced heart failure. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2010;29:S1–39.
- 4. Mehra MR, Goldstein DJ, Uriel N, et al. Two-year outcomes with a magnetically levitated cardiac pump in heart failure. N Engl J Med. 2018;378:1386–95.
- Aaronson KD, Slaughter MS, Miller LW, et al. Use of an intrapericardial, continuous-flow, centrifugal pump in patients awaiting heart transplantation. Circulation. 2012;125:3191–200.
- Bellavia D, Iacovoni A, Scardulla C, et al. Prediction of right ventricular failure after ventricular assist device implant: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Eur J Heart Fail. 2017;19:926–46.
- Kang G, Ha R, Banerjee D. Pulmonary artery pulsatility index predicts right ventricular failure after left ventricular assist device implantation. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2016;35:67–73.

- Lampert BC, Teuteberg JJ. Right ventricular failure after left ventricular assist devices. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2015;34:1123–30.
- 9. Gulati G, Grandin EW, Kennedy K, et al. Preimplant phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitor use is associated with higher rates of severe early right heart failure after left ventricular assist device implantation. Circ Heart Fail. 2019;12:e005537.
- Takeda K, Naka Y, Yang JA, et al. Outcome of unplanned right ventricular assist device support for severe right heart failure after implantable left ventricular assist device insertion. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2014;33:141–8.
- 11. Patel SR, Madan S, Saeed O, et al. Association of nasal mucosal vascular alterations, gastrointestinal arteriovenous malformations, and bleeding in patients with continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices. JACC Heart Fail. 2016;4:962–70.
- 12. Molina TL, Krisl JC, Donahue KR, Varnado S. Gastrointestinal bleeding in left ventricular assist device: octreotide and other treatment modalities. ASAIO J. 2018;64:433–9.
- Juricek C, Imamura T, Nguyen A, et al. Long-acting octreotide reduces the recurrence of gastrointestinal bleeding in patients with a continuous-flow left ventricular assist device. J Card Fail. 2018;24:249–54.
- Draper K, Kale P, Martin B, Kelly Cordero R, Ha R, Banerjee D. Thalidomide for treatment of gastrointestinal angiodysplasia in patients with left ventricular assist devices: case series and treatment protocol. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2015;34:132–4.
- Acharya D, Loyaga-Rendon R, Morgan CJ, et al. INTERMACS analysis of stroke during support with continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices: risk factors and outcomes. JACC Heart Fail. 2017;5:703–11.
- Cornwell WK 3rd, Ambardekar AV, Tran T, et al. Stroke incidence and impact of continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices on cerebrovascular physiology. Stroke. 2019;50:542–8.
- 17. Willey JZ, Demmer RT, Takayama H, Colombo PC, Lazar RM. Cerebrovascular disease in the era of left ventricular assist devices with continuous flow: risk factors, diagnosis, and treatment. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2014;33:878–87.
- Teuteberg JJ, Slaughter MS, Rogers JG, et al. The HVAD left ventricular assist device: risk factors for neurological events and risk mitigation strategies. JACC Heart Fail. 2015;3:818–28.
- 19. Gopinathannair R, Cornwell WK, Dukes JW, et al. Device therapy and arrhythmia management in left ventricular assist device recipients: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2019;139:e967–89.
- Ho G, Braun OO, Adler ED, Feld GK, Pretorius VG, Birgersdotter-Green U. Management of arrhythmias and cardiac implantable electronic devices in patients with left ventricular assist devices. JACC Clin Electrophysiol. 2018;4:847–59.
- 21. Bouabdallaoui N, El-Hamamsy I, Pham M, et al. Aortic regurgitation in patients with a left ventricular assist device: a contemporary review. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2018;37:1289–97.
- Grinstein J, Kruse E, Sayer G, et al. Accurate quantification methods for aortic insufficiency severity in patients with LVAD: role of diastolic flow acceleration and systolic-to-diastolic peak velocity ratio of outflow cannula. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016;9:641–51.
- 23. Birati EY, Rame JE. Left ventricular assist device management and complications. Crit Care Clin. 2014;30:607–27.
- 24. Hannan MM, Husain S, Mattner F, et al. Working formulation for the standardization of definitions of infections in patients using ventricular assist devices. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2011;30:375–84.
- 25. O'Horo JC, Abu Saleh OM, Stulak JM, Wilhelm MP, Baddour LM, Rizwan Sohail M. Left ventricular assist device infections: a systematic review. ASAIO J. 2018;64:287–94.
- 26. Nienaber JJ, Kusne S, Riaz T, et al. Clinical manifestations and management of left ventricular assist device-associated infections. Clin Infect Dis. 2013;57:1438–48.
- 27. Simeon S, Flecher E, Revest M, et al. Left ventricular assist device-related infections: a multicentric study. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2017;23:748–51.

Section III Devices for Stage C Heart Failure

Section Editor: Hao A. Tran

Long Term Hemodynamic Monitoring



Hao A. Tran

Clinical Vignette

A 62-year-old man with a history of ischemic cardiomyopathy (left ventricular ejection fraction, 35%) with biventricular pacemaker-internal cardioverter defibrillator, hypertension, and diabetes returned to clinic after his second heart failure readmission in the past six months. He reported shortness of breath with moderate exertional activity and that he did not respond to his diuretic regimen. He called the clinic to report of his symptoms and noted a weight gain of ten pounds over the past week. Compliant with his medications, he reported that his diet has not changed, and he thought he was doing well after the first hospitalization. His medications include carvedilol, sacubitril/valsartan, eplerenone, bumetanide and ator-vastatin. None of medications have recently changed other than an increased dose of the diuretic at discharge. What can be offered to him to help in the management of the patient's heart failure and potentially decrease hospitalization rates?

Burden of Heart Failure Readmissions

Heart failure (HF) is characterized with a very high rate of hospital admission and readmission, resulting in substantial economic burden to the health care system. Moreover, the number of HF decompensation events predicts increased rates of morbidity and mortality, thereby increasing the rate of readmission [1–3] Currently, HF in the United States account for \$30 billion a year and expected to exceed \$70 billion annually by 2030 [4]. The great majority of costs of HF care

H.A. Tran (🖂)

Division of Cardiology, Department of Internal Medicine, University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA 92037, USA e-mail: hatran@health.ucsd.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_8

is attributable to inpatient hospitalization of acutely decompensated HF patients. Therefore, a reduction of HF hospitalization and readmissions substantially decrease costs.

Telemonitoring

The identification HF signs and symptoms along with weight changes has been shown historically to be unreliable in the prevention of HF readmissions, as many of these parameters appear late in clinical decompensation [5]. Moreover, following biomarkers such as B-type natriuretic peptide have not been shown to be helpful in preventing readmissions [6, 7]. Attention has be turned to improve communication with patients to monitor symptoms, blood pressure, heart rate, and weight changes to intensify management. These telemonitoring systems have had mixed results in reducing mortality and HF hospitalizations [8–13]. Two of the clinical trials are illustrated further below.

The multicenter randomized Tele-HF (Tele-monitoring to Improve Heart Failure Outcomes) trial evaluated 1,653 patients recently hospitalized for heart failure [9].

- <u>Treatment group</u>: daily telephone calls, interactive voice response system that collected information about symptoms and an electronic weight scale. All data was reviewed by the patients' providers and treatment was tailored to each individual.
- Endpoint: combined readmissions or death from any cause
- <u>Results</u>: after 180 days, there were no differences in outcomes between the treatment and control groups.

Noninvasive tele-monitoring of patients with heart failure was further investigated in the BEAT-HF (Better Effectiveness After Transition-Heart Failure) trial. 1,437 patients with acute decompensated HF were randomized to the intervention or control groups [11].

- <u>Treatment group</u>: combined health coaching telephone calls and telemonitoring, including daily electronic log of symptoms, blood pressure, heart rate, and weight. Centralized nurses conducted the review of telemonitoring data and calls to patients.
- <u>Endpoint</u>: readmission for any cause for 180 days after discharge. Secondary endpoints of all-cause readmission, all-cause mortality, and quality of life at 30 and 180 days.
- <u>Results</u>: after 180 days, there were no differences in outcomes between the treatment and control groups.

Cardiac Implantable Electronic Devices (CIEDs)

Physiologic parameters such as patient activity level, heart rate variability, and intrathoracic impedance have been reported with a high degree of fidelity with cardiac implantable electronic devices (CIEDs). These measurements have been shown to be more sensitive in predicting fluid congestion than daily weight monitoring [14]. Unfortunately, studies have not demonstrated significant benefit with clinical outcomes.

In the DOT-HF (Diagnostic Outcome Trial in Heart Failure), 335 patients with chronic heart failure with either an implantable cardioverter-defibrillator alone or with cardiac resynchronization therapy had monitoring tool for intrathoracic impedance available [15].

- <u>Treatment group</u>: patients were randomized to have the information available to physicians while patients with out of range reading experienced an audible alert.
- Endpoint: composite all-cause mortality and HF hospitalizations.
- <u>Results</u>: After 15 months, there were more significant endpoint events in the treatment group compared to the control group. Although the number of deaths was comparable, there were more HF hospitalizations and outpatient visits in the treatment arm.

The Shift to Intracardiac Pressure Monitoring

While the idea of remote monitoring and management is still believed to be beneficial, the failures of preceding trials are thought to attributed to the poor temporal correlation the type of data collected has with HF decompensation. In particular, typical symptoms and increased weight appear to occur later stages of decompensation and are poor surrogates for ventricular filling pressures. Studies of implanted intracardiac hemodynamic monitoring systems have deemed symptoms and weight change as unreliable [16]. Rather, the increases in ventricular filling pressures occur weeks prior to the watershed event of HF hospitalization. Therefore, interventions in response to intracardiac filling pressures may be early enough to thwart the cascade towards HF re-hospitalization.

The Right Ventricular Pressure Monitoring System

The Chronical IHM (Medtronic, Inc, Minneapolis, Minnesota) was the first right ventricular (RV) sensor introduced measuring RV systolic and diastolic pressures and heart rate. In seminal study, COMPASS-HF (Chronical Offers Management to


Fig. 1 Chronical IHM System (Permission will be obtained from Magalski et al. J Cardiac Fail 2002; 8(2):63–70)

Patients with Advanced Signs and Symptoms of Heart Failure), 274 patients with New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional class III and ambulatory class IV symptoms were randomized in a prospective, multicenter, single-blinded trial [17].

- <u>Treatment group</u>: every patient received the Chronical IHM monitoring device. Hemodynamic information from the monitor was available only to the patients' provider in the treatment arm.
- <u>Endpoint</u>: freedom from system-related complications, pressure-sensor failure and reduction in the rate of HF-related events (hospitalizations and emergency/ urgent care visits requiring intravenous therapy)
- <u>Results</u>: although the treatment group had a 21% lower rate of all HF-related events compared to the control group, this number was not statistically significant (p 0.33). Therefore, the pressure guided management group did not significantly reduce total HF-related events when compared to optimal medical therapy (Fig. 1).

A retrospective analysis of the trial though, looking at the time to first HF hospitalization showed a 36% reduction (p=0.03) in relative risk of HF-related hospitalization in the treatment group, which appeared to be powered by patients with NYHA Class III symptoms. Because of this finding, the idea of intracardiac pressure monitoring was not wholly abandoned.

The HeartPOD Left Atrial Pressure Monitoring System

The HeartPOD (Abbott, formerly St Jude Medical/Savacor, Inc) which directly measures left atrial pressure in ambulatory heart failure patients was used in the LAPTOP-HF (Left Atrial Pressure Monitoring to Optimize Heart Failure Therapy). The device comprises of an implantable sensor lead and a subcutaneous antenna coil. The tip of the sensor is implanted trans-venously into the left atrium via the atrial septum. The prospective randomized controlled study evaluated the

safety and efficacy in ambulatory NYHA Class III patients with recent HF admission or elevated B-type natriuretic peptide [18].

<u>Treatment Arm</u>: patients randomized to the treatment arm had LAP measured twice daily.

<u>Endpoints</u>: freedom from major adverse cardiovascular and neurological events, and reduction of heart failure hospitalization.

<u>Results</u>: enrollment in the study was stopped early due to perceived excess implant related complications. Overall results were negative demonstrating no reduction in combined endpoints.

The Fidelity of Pulmonary Artery Measurements

More than half a century ago, invasive studies showed significant correlation between left atrial pressure (LAP), the pulmonary capillary wedge pressure (PCWP) and end-diastolic pulmonary artery pressure (PAPd) in the absence of high pulmonary vascular resistance [19–22]. This led to a new generation of implantable devices, taking advantage of the placement in the pulmonary arterial system.

It is important to note the limitations of these measurements. Pulmonary hypertension can observed in 25–83% of heart failure patients. The gradient between PAPd and mean PCWP, or the diastolic gradient, is less dependent upon blood flow, stroke volume and changes to PCWP, but will reflect changes in compliance and dispensability of the pulmonary arteries, therefore understanding the pulmonary vascular resistance is crucial prior to relying on the pulmonary arterial pressure as a surrogate for left sided filling pressure. Some studies have shown a high gradient (>5 mmHg) exist between the PAP and mean PCWP in half of patients with heart failure [23–26].

The CardioMEMS Pulmonary Artery Monitoring System

The most current and utilized device, the CardioMEMS HF System (Abbott, Sylmar, California), has taken the field of hemodynamic monitoring to new heights. The device is a wireless, battery-free, monitoring system lodged in the branch of the pulmonary artery. Pressure applied to the sensor registers a deflection of the pressure-sensitive surface resulting in a shift in resonant frequency. The recordings report systolic, diastolic, and mean pulmonary arterial pressures with concomitant readings of heart rate. Waveforms analyses are available to interrogate the fidelity of the pressure tracings and regularity of heart rhythm. In the CHAMPION (CardioMEMS Heart Sensor Allows Monitoring of Pressure to Improve Outcomes in NYHA Class III Heart Failure Patients) trial, 550 patients received the device and were then randomized [27, 28].



Fig. 2 CardioMEMS HF System (from https://www.cardiovascular.abbott/us)

- <u>Treatment arm</u>: every patient received the CardioMEMS HF System monitoring device. Daily pulmonary artery pressure readings were available to the provider to augment standard of care.
- Endpoint: HF rehospitalization in 6 months.
- <u>Results</u>: in 6 months, treatment group had a relative risk reduction of 39% in HF-related hospitalizations compared to control group.

In addition, there was a significant reduction in pulmonary artery pressure and days alive out of the hospital with improved quality of life. Moreover, patients with preserved left ventricular ejection fraction>40% had 46% lower HF-hospitalizations in the treatment group compared with the control group (p<0.0001) [29]. Once extended to 18 months of follow-up, open access of pressures in the control group were available to the providers. Rates of admission for HF-related hospitalization in the former control group were reduced by 48% (p<0.0001) compared with rates of admissions in the same group during the original trial [30].

These results lead the US Food and Drug Administration, in 2014, to approve the CardioMEMS HF System for patients with NYHA functional class III HF with recent HF hospitalization within 12 months prior to implant. Since then, the general use experience in 2,000 patients with at least 6 months of follow up reported an even greater reduction in pulmonary artery pressures compared to the CHAMPION clinical trial [31] (Figs. 2 and 3).

Other Pulmonary Artery Pressure Monitoring Systems

- Medtronic Reveal LINQ Insertable Cardiac Monitor device implanted with a small sensor (Minneapolis, Minnesota). Monitors pulmonary artery pressure, cardiac arrythmias, patient activity and other physiological trends.
- Endotronix (Woodridge, Illinois). Similar pulmonary artery pressure device to the CardioMEMS HF System but additive interface using the Cordella



Fig. 3 Endotronix and Cordella Monitoring Systems (from https://endotronix.com)

(Endotonix, Inc) remote monitoring system which includes a blood pressure cuff, weight scale, heart rate monitoring, pulse oximeter and patient portal tablet for direct communication with providers.

Remote Monitoring Reimbursement

Although robust reimbursement has been granted for remote monitoring device implantation, coverage is usually described in medical policies and is payer specific. Private insurance payers and the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) may differ in terms of reimbursement for both the procedure and follow up monitoring. The reimbursement for transcatheter implantation of the wireless pulmonary artery pressures sensor for long term hemodynamic monitoring (deployment and calibration of the sensor along with the right heart catheterization) can be coded using common procedural technology (CPT) code 33289 (6.00 work relative value units, RVUs). Additionally, monthly reimbursement for pulmonary artery pressure recordings, interpretation(s), trend analysis, and report(s) by a physician or other qualified health care professional can be coded using CPT code 93264 (0.70 work RVU).

Case Conclusion

Our patient received the CardioMEMS HF system a month after the initiation of sacubitril/valsartan. While the patient has had titration of diuretics, our team was able to increase neurohormonal blocking agents for him over the last few months. The patient has yet to be admitted for heart failure decompensation.

Key Points

Increased intracardiac pressures causes worsening heart failure and may lead to hospitalization for decompensation. Non-invasive telemedicine and CIED-based management have not shown to reduce the risk of heart failure hospitalization.

- However, newer devices, such as the CardioMEMS HF system, allow momentto-moment remote monitoring utilizing an implantable hemodynamic monitoring system.
- The CHAMPION trial demonstrated that using the CardioMEMS device, providers can reduce the rate of HF hospitalizations regardless of the ejection fraction.
- Newer and more advanced implantable monitoring systems are in development, and coupled with the constructions of workflow, therefore leading a revolution in management of chronic HF patients.

References

- Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL, et al., for the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee: Heart disease and stroke statistics: 2014 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2014; 129:e28–292.
- Jencks SF, Williams MV, Coleman EA. Rehospitalizations among patients in the Medicare fee- for-service program. N Engl J Med. 2009;360:1418–28.
- 3. Setoguchi S, Stevenson LW, Schneeweiss S. Repeated hospitalizations predict mortality in the community population with heart failure. Am Heart J. 2007;154:260–6.
- 4. Heidenreich PA, Albert NM, Allen LA, et al., for the American Heart Association Advocacy Coordinating Committee, Council on Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology, Council on Cardiovascular Radiology and Intervention, Council on Clinical Cardiology, Council on Epidemiology and Prevention; and Stroke Council. Forecasting the impact of heart failure in the United States: a policy statement from the American Heart Association. Circ Heart Fail 2013;6:606–19.
- Adamson PB. Pathophysiology of the transition from chronic compensated to acute decompensated heart failure: new insights from continuous monitoring devices. Curr Heart Fail Rep. 2009;6:287–92.
- Lewin J, Ledwidge M, O'Loughlin C, McNally C, McDonald K. Clinical deterioration in established heart failure: what is the value of BNP and weight gain in aiding diagnosis? Eur J Heart Fail. 2005;7:953–7.
- Davenport C, Cheng EY, Kwok YT, et al. Assessing the diagnostic test accuracy of natriuretic peptides and ECG in the diagnosis of left ventricular systolic dysfunction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Gen Pract. 2006;56:48–56.
- Inglis SC, Clark RA, McAlister FA, et al. Structured telephone support or telemonitoring programmes for patients with chronic heart failure. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010;8:CD007228.
- 9. Chaudhry SI, Mattera JA, Curtis JP, et al. Telemonitoring in patients with heart failure. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:2301–9.
- Koehler F, Winkler S, Schieber M, et al., for the Telemedical Interventional Monitoring in Heart Failure Investigators. Impact of remote telemedical management on mortality and hospitalizations in ambulatory patients with chronic heart failure: Telemedical Interventional Monitoring in Heart Failure study. Circulation. 2011;123:1873–80.

- Ong MK, Romano PS, Edgington S, et al., for the Better Effectiveness After Transition— Heart Failure (BEAT-HF) Research Group. Effectiveness of remote patient monitoring after discharge of hospitalized patients with heart failure: the Better Effectiveness After Transition—Heart Failure (BEAT-HF) randomized clinical trial. JAMA Intern Med 2016;176:310–8.
- Bekelman DB, Plomondon ME, Carey EP, et al. Primary results of the Patient-Centered Disease Management (PCDM) for Heart Failure study: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;175:725–32.
- 13. Maisel AS, Barnard D, Jaski B, et al. Primary results of the HABIT Trial (Heart Failure Assessment with BNP in the Home). J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61(16):1726–35.
- 14. Abraham WT, Compton S, Haas G, et al. for the FAST Study Investigators. Intrathoracic impedance vs daily weight monitoring for predicting worsening heart failure events: results of the Fluid Accumulation Status Trial (FAST). Congest Heart Fail. 2011;17:51–5.
- 15. van Veldhuisen DJ, Braunschweig F, Conraads V, et al. For the DOT-HF Investigators. Intrathoracic impedance monitoring, audible patient alerts, and outcome in patients with heart failure. Circulation. 2011;124:1719–26.
- 16. Zile MR, Bennett TD, St John Sutton M, et al. Transition from chronic compensated to acute decompensated heart failure: pathophysiological insights obtained from continuous monitoring of intracardiac pressures. Circulation. 2008;118: 1433–41.
- Bourge RC, Abraham WT, Adamson PB, et al. for the COMPASS-HF Study Group. Randomized controlled trial of an implantable continuous hemodynamic monitor in patients with advanced heart failure: the COMPASS-HF study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;51:1073–9.
- Maurer MS, Adamson PB, Costanzo MR, et al. Rationale and design of the Left Atrial pressure monitoring to optimize heart failure therapy study (LAPTOP-HF). J Card Fail. 2015;21:479–88.
- 19. Forsberg SA. Relations between pressure in pulmonary artery, left atrium, and left ventricle with special reference to events at end diastole. Br Heart J. 1971;33:494–9.
- Jenkins BS, Bradley RD, Branthwaite MA. Evaluation of pulmonary arterial end-diastolic pressure as an indirect estimate of left atrial mean pressure. Circulation. 1970;42:75–8.
- Drazner MH, Hamilton MA, Fonarow G, Creaser J, Flavell C, Stevenson LW. Relationship between right and left-sided filling pressures in 1000 patients with advanced heart failure. J Heart Lung Transplant. 1999;18:1126–32.
- Lappas D, Lell WA, Gabel JC, Civetta JM, Lowenstein E. Indirect measurement of leftatrial pressure in surgical patients–pulmonary-capillary wedge and pulmonary-artery diastolic pressures compared with left-atrial pressure. Anesthesiology. 1973;38:394–7.
- Vachiéry JL, Adir Y, Barberà JA, et al. Pulmonary hypertension due to left heart diseases. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;62:D100–8.
- Rapp AH, Lange RA, Cigarroa JE, Keeley CK, Hillis DL. Relation of pulmonary arterial diastolic and mean pulmonary arterial wedge pressures in patients with and without pulmonary hypertension. Am J Cardiol. 2001;88:823–4.
- Guazzi M, Borlaug BA. Pulmonary hypertension due to left heart disease. Circulation. 2012;126:975–90.
- 26. Naeije R, Vachiery JL, Yerly P, Vanderpool R. The transpulmonary pressure gradient for the diagnosis of pulmonary vascular disease. Eur Respir J. 2013;41:217–23.
- Adamson PB, Abraham WT, Aaron M, et al. CHAMPION trial rationale and design: the long-term safety and clinical efficacy of a wireless pulmonary artery pressure monitoring system. J Card Fail. 2011;17:3–10.
- Abraham WT, Adamson PB, Bourge RC, et al., for the CHAMPION Trial Study Group. Wireless pulmonary artery haemodynamic monitoring in chronic heart failure: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2011;377:658–66.
- 29. Adamson PB, Abraham WT, Bourge RC, et al. Wireless pulmonary artery pressure monitoring guides management to reduce decompensation in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. Circ Heart Fail. 2014;7:935–44.

- 30. Abraham WT, Stevenson LW, Bourge RC, Lindenfeld JA, Bauman JG, Adamson PB, for the CHAMPION Trial Study Group. Sustained efficacy of pulmonary artery pressure to guide adjustment of chronic heart failure therapy: complete follow-up results from the CHAMPION randomized trial. Lancet 2016;387:453–61.
- Heywood JT, Jermyn R, Shavelle D, et al. Impact of practice-based management of pulmonary artery pressures in 2000 patients implanted with the CardioMEMS sensor. Circulation. 2017;135:1509–17.

Remote Monitoring for Cardiac Implantable Electronic Devices Used in Heart Failure



Uma N. Srivatsa, Connie Wright, and Xin Jian Zhang

Case Vignette

A 70 year old male presented with a history of stage C congestive heart failure (CHF) NYHA class III and was found to have non-ischemic cardiomyopathy low LVEF and wide QRS with left bundle branch block (QRS 158 ms) (Fig. 1a). After optimizing medical therapy, he received a biventricular (BiV) ICD (Fig. 1b). Subsequent remote monitoring alert showed inability of the device to test left ventricular lead auto-threshold and 80% BiV pacing (Fig. 1c). The patient was brought into the device clinic. Interrogation revealed high LV bipolar (tip- ring) threshold and loss of capture. Chest X-ray indicated partially dislodged LV lead position compared to the initial implant (Fig. 1d). The LV lead was reprogrammed to a LV tip to can configuration with successful capture and increased BiV pacing to 99% (Fig. 1e). Patient had considerably improved symptoms during follow up with an improved LVEF to 50% in the echocardiogram.

Introduction

Cardiac implantable electrical devices (CIED) are implanted in millions of Americans every year. These constitute permanent pacemakers (PPM), implantable cardioverter defibrillators (ICD), cardiac resynchronization devices (CRT) and implantable loop recorders (ILR). Following the positive results of the primary, secondary prevention, and heart failure studies, ICD implantations have significantly augmented in the past

U. N. Srivatsa (🖂) · X. J. Zhang

UC Davis Medical Center, University of California, Davis, 4860 Y Street, Suite 2820, Sacramento, CA 95817, USA e-mail: unsrivatsa@ucdavis.edu

C. Wright University of California San Diego, San Diego, USA

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_9



Fig. 1 Case Vignette

two decades [1–4]. While the ILR serves primarily as a diagnostic tool, the other devices have both diagnostic and therapeutic purposes. The rising volume of implantations has inundated the clinics and patients experience long wait times. In addition, with the conventional clinic model, crucial clinical and device related issues are only identified during such visits; any clinical or device related problem also frequently required urgent hospitalizations. With improved wireless access and internet utilization, the industry developed remote monitoring technology to make possible more frequent evaluations of the devices in the comfortable setting of the patient's home. Such remote systems provide physicians with critical device information such as battery life, programming or technical issues, and clinical data (e.g. a significant cardiac event). Such systems provide the added benefit of improved patient safety, as device failures and clinical events can occur between clinic appointments and may otherwise go undetected for months [5, 6]. In this chapter we will explore the remote monitoring technology, clinical utilization, case example of trouble shooting and the benefits for patient care specifically as related to heart failure patients.

Follow up of Patients After Device Implantation

Implantation of complex CIED systems constitutes only a fraction of the patient management; optimal follow up, troubleshooting, managing clinical problems as they arise play a valuable role in the follow up care. The goal of this device surveillance would be to:

Remote Monitoring for Cardiac Implantable Electronic Devices ...

- Tailor the device setting for individualized patient needs
- Manage patient's clinical condition and institute new medications as appropriate
- Manage evolution of clinical condition including a need for upgrade/downgrade to the device
- Monitor safety and extend longevity of the device
- Identify actionable device or lead related abnormalities
- Identify battery depletion and plan replacement
- Keep track of advisory or recalls.

The general guidelines for follow up of heart failure devices are listed in Table 1 [7]. Despite expert recommendations, about a quarter of the patients do not follow within a year of the implantation by either inpatient or remote visits, and only about a third of the patients have embraced remote monitoring an interrogation [8]. Some of the reasons of this lack of timely follow up could be access to care, inability to drive or clinical conditions prohibiting a visit to the healthcare facility. For this reason, remote monitoring was developed as a complementary tool to replace some of these clinic visits during the long-term phase of follow up while maintaining the annual clinical contact with the patient.

Remote Monitoring Technology: How It Works

Following the implementation of trans telephonic monitoring and inductive technologies *requiring active participation*, Biotronik, Inc. introduced automated encrypted remote monitoring in single chamber ICD system [9]. Since then, the technology has been implemented in all implantable devices. Other biomedical technology companies have also developed and implemented remote systems, including Medtronic (Carelink NetworkTM), Boston Scientific (Latitude Patient Management systemTM), and Abbott Inc./St. Jude Medical (Merlin.netTM)⁵ which are widely utilized today. Embedded technologies have enabled the ability of the device to self-monitor its function and record arrhythmias and other parameters and communicate this to a database *without active participation* of the patient.

An essential component of remote monitoring is a home monitor or communicator. This is a device designed to automatically receive telemetry from a specific

Time of follow up	Method of follow up
Within 72 h of implantation	In person
2–12 weeks post implantation	In person
Every 3–6 months	In person or remote
Annual until battery depletion	In person
Every 1–3 months at signs of battery depletion	In person or remote

 Table 1
 Recommended frequency of CIED monitoring

Adapted from HRS/EHRA Expert Consensus on the Monitoring of Cardiovascular Implantable Electronic Devices (CIEDs). Heart Rhythm **5**(6): 907–925

CIED and transmit the encrypted data using telephone or internet technology do a remote secure monitoring center (Fig. 2). Symptomatic patients can also initiate interrogations in majority of these systems. The older technology utilized the Internet connection through the analog telephone line in a patient's home; currently mobile/portable unit connected via Cellular technology or Wi-Fi is widely used (Table 2). Cellular and internet technology has allowed patients to transmit information even while traveling. The transmitted information is reviewed by the healthcare personnel and is documented in the electronic medical records [6]. The database is searchable by serial number, model number, last name or date of birth. The data transmission can be preprogrammed to routinely occur at recurring intervals, as well as programmed to transmit any abnormal information as they occur; the latter can be set to website only alert, urgent (yellow alert), or emergent (red alert). The method of notification can also be preprogrammed on the website (e.g.) email, text, page or phone calls. The typical alerts programmed are listed in Table 3.

There is a distinction in the terminology between *remote interrogation* and *remote monitoring*. The former is a routine scheduled device interrogation that is performed at 3–6 month intervals automatically. Most information with the exception of manual pacing capture threshold is obtainable with this interrogation. Remote monitoring on the other hand is automated transmission of data based on pre-specified alerts listed in Table 2, and provides ability to rapidly detect abnormal device function or arrhythmias.

Clinical Benefits of Remote Monitoring

Remote monitoring cannot completely replace clinic visits because important information gathered from direct physical examination is not obtainable from remote appointments. Various clinical trials have been performed comparing clinic visits to remote monitoring using proprietary technologies in various healthcare settings [10–12] and have shown a benefit of remote monitoring over clinic visit including:



Table 2 Remot	e monitoring systems					
Manufacturer	Device to bedside transmitter	Bedside Transmitter to cloud database	Bedside transmitter	Hospital access to database	Transmission	Patient initiation
Biotronik	Radiofrequency- MICS	 No landline Cellular technology T mobile) No Ethernet or Wifi 	Cardio Messenger International via cellular connectivity	SN, LN, MRN, DOB	Automatic	No Rivacor, Acticor- yes
Medtronic	1.Induction telem- etry: Pacemakers: Advisa, Revo, Adapta, Versa, Sensia, Viva Biventricular pacer: consulta 2. Radiofrequency- MICS: ICD, BV ICD- Blue tooth: (Azure, Percepta) (encryption and verification algo- rithms for privacy)	 No land line Ccell phone (Vodaphone) 3.Ethernet with adaptor 4.Wifi (Azure, Percepta) 	MyCarelink: Ethernet with adaptor MyCarelink smart: Pacemakers using induction telemetry- to iphone or android- using blue tooth MyCarelink relay: Azure and Percepta- built in Wiff/cell phone MyCarelink heart: directly to patient iphone or ipad, android (Azure percepta)- through blue tooth- bypasses bedside transmitter International coverage based on cellular, internet, Wifi connectivity	SN, LN, MN	Manual- Advisa, Revo, Adapta, Enpulse, Versa, Sensia Others: automatic	Yes
Boston Scientific	Radiofrequency- MICS	Cellular phone (Vodaphone) Ethernet (Internet) Telephone line	Latitude NXT International coverage based on cellular, internet, connectivity Limited for SQ ICD	SN, LN, DOB, MIN	Automatic Manual (SQ ICD)	Yes
						(continued)

Table 2 (contin	ued)					
Manufacturer	Device to bedside transmitter	Bedside Transmitter to cloud database	Bedside transmitter	Hospital access to database	Transmission	Patient initiation
Abbott	 I. Induction telemetry -Zephyr 2. Radiofrequency- MICS: all other devices-Bluetooth- (encryption and verification algo- rithms for privacy)- Implantable loop recorder- Confirm Rx 	Landline Cellular phone (Verizon) Adaptor available for Ethernet Wifi	Merlin ©home (Pacemaker and ICD) MyMerlin (implantable loop recorder) International coverage based on cellular, internet, Wifi connectivity	Last Name Serial number Date of birth	Automatic Manual: Zephyr (and older pace- makers) (needs specialized transmitter)	Yes
Ter Frank	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		T I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	M INDV	danna harren fariba	J. the GOO

MICS: Medical Implant Communication system; SN: Serial number; MN- Model number; LN: Last name; MRN: Medical record number; DOB: date of birth; SQ- subcutaneous; ICD- implantable converter defibrillator; GSM: Global system for mobile communications

Type of abnormality	
Device parameters:	· ICD therapy disabled
	· MRI mode ON
	· Battery depletion
	· Charge time limit reached
	· Device reset (altered pacing mode)
Lead parameters:	· Change in lead impedance, sensing, pacing threshold (out of
	Change in sheek impedance (out of programmed range)
	Paraget of ventricular reging (high in ICD) low in CDT)
	Lead ratio
	· Lead noise
Atrial arrhythmias:	· Frequent atrial arrhythmias (programmable)
	· Fast ventricular rate
	· Long atrial episode
Ventricular arrhythmias:	· VT/VF detected (untreated or treated)
-	· Ineffective shock/therapy exhausted
	· ATP disabled
Heart failure monitor	· Mean ventricular rate
	· Mean PVC/hour
	· Heart failure indicator (e.g. weight gain, heart logic above pro-
	grammed threshold)

 Table 3
 Alerts programmed to trigger data transmission in remote monitoring system

- Adherence to follow up goals
- Earlier identification of clinical and device abnormalities with reduced time to diagnosis [13].
- Quality adjusted life year gained [14].
- Survival advantage in those who spent>75% time in remote monitoring versus none [15].
- Reduction in the volume of clinic visits by 50% while patients are monitored remotely [13].
- Reduced need for unscheduled hospital evaluations during remote monitoring while being safe [12].
- Cost advantage to remote monitoring [13]. The Multicenter Italian CareLink Evaluation demonstrated that remote appointments reduced costs to patients by almost €200 (euro) annually in direct costs (e.g. transportation, parking) and indirect costs (lost productivity), and approximately €1,200 over the device lifetime of 6 years [10].

Improving Utilization of Remote Monitoring

Though the patients followed remotely are more involved in their care because they can initiate contact with their clinic via the remote communicator at home, [16] there seems to be a low utilization rate of remote monitoring technology [17]. A prior study evaluated the cause of low remote monitoring utilization to

understand patient preferences regarding their device care in order to make device appointments more satisfactory to patients. Patients rated clinic visit with higher satisfaction due to better opportunities to ask questions, but there was no difference in perception of convenience, scheduling, or cost between the two groups. There was a 45% reduction of patients in work force after implantation of device; patients chose to retire or go on disability. Younger patients in the work force preferred remote monitoring for convenience than those who are retired or disabled [18]. Nevertheless this study emphasizes the need for communication with the patients, especially because the remote interrogation is automatic.

Ways to improve utilization of remote monitoring include:

- Effective patient education—The first step in effective utilization of remote monitoring involves effective patient instruction and education. It is important to instruct each patient enrolled in a CIED remote monitoring program the rationale for remote monitoring, proper utilization of remote monitoring and how the monitor actually collects and sends data. It is also important to inform the patient that the remote monitor does not take the place of routine clinic visits, it is used in conjunction with routine physician oversight and provides timely data between physician visits. Effective education includes:
 - How the monitor works—After the monitor is initially linked to the patient's implanted device, the monitor is placed near their bedside (or within 6 ft of where they most often sleep) as data is collected between the hours of 12 am to 3 am to avoid interruption of data transmission. This data is in most instances transmitted wirelessly through a cellular signal to the manufacturer's server which in turn is transmitted to the physician website.
 - Manual transmissions: In some instances a manual transmission is required, this process should be reviewed with the patients at time of enrollment. It is also important to review proper utilization of manual transmissions, for example transmission of data after ICD therapy, symptoms of AF or prolonged arrhythmia and syncope or near syncope. Manual transmissions are not recommended for symptoms such as headache and chest pain or such things as high blood pressure or orthostatic blood pressure changes.
 - Transmission schedules: Transmissions will occur every month or every 3 months depending on the type of CIED implanted. Instruct patient that the device makes a connection daily but it does not necessarily send a report for review, only data alerts and scheduled transmissions reports are sent to the provider.
 - Types of data collected with remote monitoring: It is important to stress that data is only reviewed when a data report or alert is received, it is not, in most cases, transmitted or reviewed daily and it may not be reviewed 24/7 as most clinics and offices do not have the personnel to monitor on a 24 h basis. It is important to make clear that the device remote monitor do not collect every abnormal beat/rhythm (i.e. palpitation, PVC, PAC), but rather it is a summation of data over a month or 3 month time period and it is dependent on the information or alerts the physician feels is significant.

- Patient Compliance—Alerts and notifications provide early detection of arrhythmia and device and lead malfunction. Often device therapies and medication effectiveness can be also be assessed through remote monitoring, but this information is all dependent on patient compliance. When a patient is noncompliant, important data regarding device and lead malfunction, battery longevity and recommended replacement, frequent, reoccurring arrhythmias go unnoticed and are often not detected for months or even years which may delay lifesaving treatments or even result in death. Some hospitals and physician offices have gone as far as drawing up a patient contract which is signed by the patient at enrollment and it delineates patient responsibilities and expectations and physician and staff responsibilities as well. Many practitioners have found this to be a very effective measure in insuring patient compliance.
- Patient-specific, arrhythmia specific device programming/vendor website alerts and notifications: It is important to evaluate each patient's indication for a device and any underlying cardiac arrhythmias when enrolling a patient in your CIED remote monitoring program. At time of implant or during the initial clinic visit, it is necessary to program the cardiac device to detect relevant alert criteria. This is important because these criteria are then used by the various vendor remote websites to generate alert notifications to you and your staff. Often is it necessary to adjust the vendor remote site notification criteria as well, otherwise one can be inundated by hundreds of irrelevant alerts per day if the practitioner does not consider both the device and monitoring website alert notification criteria, i.e. a patient is in persistent AF with an AF alert notification on, AF alert > 10 min. This one alert alone can generate numerous alert notifications per month which is not only time consuming but costly as it utilizes both staff and physician time to review massive amounts of irrelevant data, and this is time that could be used more effectively in your clinic or office.

Examples of notifications for consideration include:

- AF alerts—consider turning alert off for persistent AF, extend duration of AF if AF paroxysmal and patient is on an oral anticoagulant.
- Mode switch rates and criteria—consider increasing rate in patients who exercise or in younger patients with higher sinus rates.
- VT monitor zones and detection times—consider increasing detection rate criteria for both monitor zone and VT in younger patient populations and athletes who achieve higher than normal heart rates with exercise or activity.
- Heart rate and pause detection rates in ILR—consider lowest bradycardia rate in and acceptable pause duration in patient with an ILR implant, i.e. If the bradycardia detection is 40 bpm you may get hundreds of alerts for brad-ycardia during hours of sleep.
- **Patient and Provider communication**: It is important to set up a system to facilitate communication of results including device function, battery longevity and arrhythmia detection with the patient and provider, optimally this

can occur through use of the digital EMR i.e. EpicTM My Chart. Often a line of communication such as EpicTM In Basket is also necessary and helpful between the Device Nurse or Technicians and the provider as it provides a method to relay important alerts or findings from the staff to the Provider. If the physician does not establish some method of communication with staff, he will find he or she will be inundated with calls regarding device alerts and therapies and patient requests for monitoring results.

- Educated and well trained staff members: Key to any remote monitoring program is a highly educated, well trained staff. Staff should be well versed in device function, troubleshooting and report review as well as knowledge-able in heart rhythms and arrhythmia detection. Staff members can consist of EP lab or CV technicians and RN's as well as NP's but all should have some background and training in arrhythmia interpretation, CIED function, follow up and device programming. Often device manufacturers will provide device specific training and education and it is important to provide staff with any education opportunities offered by the manufacturers and their representatives, particularly when new products are introduced in the market place. Personnel who are highly trained in device function and programming and who are adept at communicating with physicians, staff members and patients are key to a well-functioning remote monitoring program and play an essential role in a successful Device and Remote Monitoring clinic.
- Reimbursement and contracts: It is important to make fees for remote • monitoring reasonable and to contract with all insurance providers to insure adequate reimbursement for services provided and to insure patient compliance. In most cases, federal and state healthcare providers such as Medicare and Medicaid, and the majority of HMO insurers will cover all or the majority of cost associated with remote monitoring. Contracts with various insurance providers is necessary to receive reimbursement for patients not covered by government contracts or HMO's, otherwise patients may be billed at full cost which will lead ultimately lead to patient dissatisfaction and discontinuation of monitoring. It is important to inform patients with private healthcare coverage that there may be additional fees such as co-pays or facility fees that may not be covered by his or her insurance provider. If the patient feels the cost outweighs the value of the service they will often discontinue or unenroll from the program; therefore, it is important to make cost reasonable and contract with all insurance providers in your area.

How to Establish a Remote Monitoring Program

The basic components involved in a comprehensive remote monitoring program is shown in Fig. 3. The workflow starts at the time of implantation. The concept of remote monitoring needs to be addressed including the nature of access (wireless vs. landline). The majority of device manufacturers now provide cellular adapters Fig. 3 Remote monitoring

workflow



or have a cellular adapter built within the monitor so in most cases a landline is no longer necessary as it was years ago. Once the patient is given a device specific remote monitor transmitter a technician or device representative must enroll the patient into the manufacturer's remote monitoring database. This can be done at implant or in the clinic or office at the first follow up where appropriate instructions can be reviewed with the patient and family. A "pairing" of the device and monitor is often necessary to initiate the first transmission. Following the "pairing" of the device, patients receive the list of the "remote clinic" dates or "virtual" appointments and they are instructed that the device will download data automatically on those dates, most often while they are asleep, as long as the monitor is within 6 feet of their bed or sleeping area. Patients are also instructed to trigger a download if there are any alarms, worsening symptoms, or shocks and to apprise us of this download to enable our personnel to check the database. For Biotronik systems which does not allow patient triggering, they are advised to call the clinic for any abnormal symptoms or alarms, so that the clinic can initiate a download. Trained personnel are key to the sustenance of the device surveillance program; the device downloads are received by trained device technicians, and reviewed by mid-level provider (nurse practitioner/Physician assistant). They are supervised by Clinical Cardiac electrophysiology (CCEP) certified physicians at our institution. If there are no CCEP trained physicians at the healthcare facility, then IBHRE certified physicians are recommended to supervise the device clinic [19]. Our device technologists are dedicated to the remote clinic; they rotate weekly to enable timely download and documentation. We found this to be an efficient way to monitor the patients given the diverse data repositories of different companies. Any urgent abnormalities are immediately communicated to the mid level personnel who in turn confer with the physician and contact the patient as clinically indicated. The recommended frequency of monitoring is based upon expert consensus [7, 19] and is listed in Table 1. However if there is a clinical need, patients can be interrogated more frequently.

Reimbursement

Remote monitoring and interrogation appears to be cost-effective. In November 2008, CMS approved an amended the set of codes in conjunction with HRS/ American College of Cardiology/AMA to more accurately reflect the services of remote vs. in person clinic follow up of CIED. These codes recognize the role of allied personnel, and physician interpretation work value. To prevent over utilization, these codes may only be used every 90 days for ICD and pacemakers and 30 days for implantable loop recorders, regardless whether the transmission is for routine follow-up or patient-initiated transmission [20]. The CPT codes include:

- Pacemaker: 93294
- ICD: 93295
- Implantable loop recorders: 93298
- Implantable physiologic monitor: 93297

Legal Aspects and Security Considerations

It should be recognized that it is unclear who owns the data; patients do not have full access to complete information in the database. The health care institution or third party vendor following the patient assumes legal liability. Setting up a communication strategy is vital to the device clinic function and safe patient management. Documentation of any encounter is critical from a legal aspect, and whenever available, a EMR should be used. It is also important to instruct the patient that there's no one watching their device 24/7, and reiterate the difference between automated or manual downloads.

Privacy and cybersecurity remains an important concern during remote monitoring. The patient data is transmitted via cloud to central data repository, which is accessed by the health care facility. The access is limited and password protected. In the United States, the security and privacy of protected health information has been addressed by state and federal laws, which include the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act. The relationships between health care providers and organizations involved with RM are governed by a terms-of-use agreement between the CIED vendor and the health care provider [21]. It is also important to recognize patient privacy when the data is used for regulatory or research purposes.

The majority of the CIED systems (Table 2) are designed to communicate with external programmer in the Medical Implant Communication system (MICS) frequency (402–405 MHz). Some devices utilize the commercial blue tooth (2.45 GHz) frequency. Software radio based attacks can be designed to compromise patient safety and security [22]. Cyber attacks aim at stealing sensitive information and grant access to the IT system to alter programming. The biotechnology industry has created encryption and verification algorithms for privacy and safety. Although there is no evidence of security breach at this time, since patient perception of the integrity of such IT systems are critical to their care, recognition of malware, communications and utmost care in maintaining security remain a very important goal [23].

Pitfalls with Remote Monitoring

For the reasons discussed, remote monitoring is essential to any CIED program, but there are a few pitfalls that must be considered and addressed in order to create a successful remote monitoring program.

- Time intensive—Trained and efficient staff are needed to manage the volume of interrogation reports that are created from the routine remote interrogations, patient-activated transmissions and arrhythmia/lead alerts generated by enrolled patients.
- Reimbursement limits—Regardless of the nature of the transmission (routine, patient-activated and/or alerts), remote transmissions from ILRs or pacemakers/ ICDs can only be billed every 31 days or 91 days, respectively.
- Liability—If remote interrogations are not reviewed in a timely or comprehensive manner, they can be a source of liability or malpractice

What Should the HF Physician Look for in a Remote Interrogation?

The large amount of arrhythmia and physiologic data collected by interrogation can be clinically valuable, but may be overwhelming for physicians especially as the data can be presented differently depending on the manufacturer. Nevertheless, a focused approach for the heart failure physician to interpret remote interrogations may be helpful and include focusing on the following categories:

- 1. Thoracic impedance (fluid accumulation decreases impedance, measured in ohms)
 - a. OptivolTM (Medtronic), CorvueTM (Abbott), HeartlogicTM (Boston Scientific), impedance monitoring (Biotronik)
- 2. For CRT: LV pacing burden (Goal is 95%), effective LV pacing algorithms
- 3. Atrial fibrillation burden and ventricular rate histograms during AF
- 4. Ventricular arrhythmias and therapies
- 5. Premature ventricular contraction burden per 24 h (may need to divide total PVC count by amount of days since last cleared)
- 6. Heart rate variability
- 7. Device-specific HF toolboxes (such as Boston Scientific HeartLogic[™] which integrates heart sounds, respiration, activity and night heart rate in addition to thoracic impedance).

Future Directions

Advances in remote technologies that are under development include:

- Smartphone apps for patients
- Bluetooth connectivity between smartphone and CIED
- Two-way communication between physician and patient's CIED
- Outsourcing management of remote monitoring to companies specializing in remote management.

Case Conclusion

The case presented exemplifies the need for monitoring to assess device function in the context of CHF. In our case, remote monitoring detected dislodgement of the LV lead by recognizing a drop in biventricular pacing burden and a higher pacing threshold in the programmed bipolar vector, as seen in Fig. 4. Changing the pacing vector enabled optimal biventricular pacing.



Fig. 4 Case Vignette **a** Baseline EKG with left bundle branch block; **b** Remote monitor report; **c** Post implant chest X ray; **d** Repeat chest Xray with LV lead dislodgement; **e** EKG with biventricular pacing after reprograming LV lead configuration

During device monitoring, non-response to CRT, and worsening cardiac function needs to be managed collaboratively with the heart failure team. Figure 5 indicates a non-responder patient with ischemic cardiomyopathy despite optimizing the CRT; his activity levels deteriorated on the remote device report, suggesting worsening CHF (Fig. 5a) and atrial fibrillation (AF) with controlled ventricular rates (Fig. 5b). He had non-sustained ventricular tachycardia (VT) and frequent increases optivol index (Fig. 5c). Evaluation of cardiac function revealed VO2 max 12 mg./kg/min, LVEF 10%, severely dilated LV and cardiac index of 1.6 L/m2. He underwent successful LVAD (Heartmate II) implantation with significant improvement in CHF symptoms and optivol index in the ensuing months (Fig. 5D). However he was noted to have VT requiring therapy (Fig. 5e) which is currently managed medically in our clinic. Rising optivol index is inverse of thoracic impedance; the latter reduces due to fluid accumulation in the chest cavity. An increased optivol index is an indicator of worsening heart failure and has been associated with frequent hospitalizations as noted in this patient. Though he had AF, his ventricle the rate was well controlled. He progressed from state C to stage D and ultimately underwent LVAD placement; thereafter the optivol index



Fig. 5 Non responder with cardiac compass report. **a** Reduced patient activity; **b** Atrial fibrillation with controlled ventricular rate. Black dots indicate ventricular rate and open circles indicate atrial rate; **c** & **d**: Optivol Index and thoracic impedance before and after LVAD respectively; **e** Ventricular tachycardia with ATP therapy

considerably improved as did his clinical condition. The entirety of the device interrogation report including heart rate histogram, respiratory rate, patient activity, optivol index as well evaluation of arrhythmias are very valuable in managing patients with heart failure.

Key Points

- Remote interrogation (RI) is scheduled automatic download performed 3–6 months
- Remote monitoring (RM) is automated transmission of data based on pre-specified alerts
- Patients initiated download for clinical symptoms can occur
- Device, lead parameters, arrhythmia and heart failure indicators can be monitored

- RI and RM is cost effective, prevents frequent hospitalizations and improves survival
- Trained personnel dedicated to RM and RI and appropriate communication is key to success of the program
- Patient security and privacy is of paramount importance

Conflicts and Financial support Speaker Abbott Inc., fellowship support from Medtronic Inc, Biotronik Inc.

References

- Epstein AE, DiMarco JP, Ellenbogen KA, Estes NA, 3rd, Freedman RA, Gettes LS, Gillinov AM, Gregoratos G, Hammill SC, Hayes DL, Hlatky MA, Newby LK, Page RL, Schoenfeld MH, Silka MJ, Stevenson LW, Sweeney MO, Tracy CM, Epstein AE, Darbar D, DiMarco JP, Dunbar SB, Estes 3rd NA, Ferguson TB, Jr., Hammill SC, Karasik PE, Link MS, Marine JE, Schoenfeld MH, Shanker AJ, Silka MJ, Stevenson LW, Stevenson WG, Varosy PD, American College of Cardiology F, American Heart Association Task Force on Practice G and Heart Rhythm S. 2012 ACCF/AHA/HRS focused update incorporated into the ACCF/AHA/HRS 2008 guidelines for device-based therapy of cardiac rhythm abnormalities: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on practice guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013; 61:e6–75.
- 2. Russo AM, Stainback RF, Bailey SR, Epstein AE, Heidenreich PA, Jessup M, Kapa S, Kremers MS, Lindsay BD, Stevenson LW. ACCF/HRS/AHA/ASE/HFSA/SCAI/SCCT/ SCMR 2013 appropriate use criteria for implantable cardioverter-defibrillators and cardiac resynchronization therapy: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation appropriate use criteria task force, Heart Rhythm Society, American Heart Association, American Society of Echocardiography, Heart Failure Society of America, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography, and Society for Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance. Heart Rhythm. 2013;10:e11–58.
- Pokorney SD, Parzynski CS, Daubert JP, Hegland DD, Varosy PD, Curtis JP, Al-Khatib SM. Temporal trends in and factors associated with use of single- versus dual-coil implantable cardioverter-defibrillator leads: data from the NCDR ICD registry. JACC Clin Electrophysiol. 2017;3:612–9.
- 4. Al-Khatib SM, Stevenson WG, Ackerman MJ, Bryant WJ, Callans DJ, Curtis AB, Deal BJ, Dickfeld T, Field ME, Fonarow GC, Gillis AM, Granger CB, Hammill SC, Hlatky MA, Joglar JA, Kay GN, Matlock DD, Myerburg RJ, Page RL. 2017 AHA/ACC/HRS guideline for management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. Heart Rhythm. 2018;15:e73–189.
- Bikou O, Licka M, Kathoefer S, Katus HA, Bauer A. Cost savings and safety of ICD remote control by telephone: a prospective, observational study. J Telemed Telecare. 2010;16:403–8.
- Burri H, Senouf D. Remote monitoring and follow-up of pacemakers and implantable cardioverter defibrillators. Eur Eur Pacing Arrhythm Cardiac Electrophysiol J Cardiac Pacing Arrhythm Cardiac Cellular Electrophysiol Eur Soc Cardiol. 2009;11:701–9.
- Wilkoff BL, Auricchio A, Brugada J, Cowie M, Ellenbogen KA, Gillis AM, Hayes DL, Howlett JG, Kautzner J, Love CJ, Morgan JM, Priori SG, Reynolds DW, Schoenfeld MH,

Vardas PE, Heart Rhythm S, European Heart Rhythm A, American College of C, American Heart A, European Society of C, Heart Failure Association of ESC and Heart Failure Society of A. HRS/EHRA expert consensus on the monitoring of cardiovascular implantable electronic devices (CIEDs): description of techniques, indications, personnel, frequency and ethical considerations. Heart Rhythm. 2008; 5:907–25.

- Al-Khatib SM, Mi X, Wilkoff BL, Qualls LG, Frazier-Mills C, Setoguchi S, Hess PL, Curtis LH. Follow-up of patients with new cardiovascular implantable electronic devices: are experts' recommendations implemented in routine clinical practice? Circul Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2013;6:108–16.
- Theuns DA, Res JC, Jordaens LJ. Home monitoring in ICD therapy: future perspectives. Eur Eur Pacing Arrhythm Cardiac Electrophysiol J Cardiac Pacing Arrhythm Cardiac Cellular Electrophysiol Eur Soc Cardiol. 2003;5:139–42.
- Crossley GH, Chen J, Choucair W, Cohen TJ, Gohn DC, Johnson WB, Kennedy EE, Mongeon LR, Serwer GA, Qiao H, Wilkoff BL, Investigators PS. Clinical benefits of remote versus transtelephonic monitoring of implanted pacemakers. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009;54:2012–9.
- Schoenfeld MH, Compton SJ, Mead RH, Weiss DN, Sherfesee L, Englund J, Mongeon LR. Remote monitoring of implantable cardioverter defibrillators: a prospective analysis. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol PACE. 2004;27:757–63.
- Varma N, Epstein AE, Irimpen A, Schweikert R, Love C, Investigators T. Efficacy and safety of automatic remote monitoring for implantable cardioverter-defibrillator follow-up: the Lumos-T Safely Reduces Routine Office Device Follow-up (TRUST) trial. Circulation. 2010;122:325–32.
- Crossley GH, Boyle A, Vitense H, Chang Y, Mead RH, Investigators C. The CONNECT (Clinical Evaluation of Remote Notification to Reduce Time to Clinical Decision) trial: the value of wireless remote monitoring with automatic clinician alerts. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;57:1181–9.
- 14. Zanaboni P, Landolina M, Marzegalli M, Lunati M, Perego GB, Guenzati G, Curnis A, Valsecchi S, Borghetti F, Borghi G, Masella C. Cost-utility analysis of the EVOLVO study on remote monitoring for heart failure patients with implantable defibrillators: randomized controlled trial. J Med Intern Res. 2013;15:e106.
- Varma N, Piccini JP, Snell J, Fischer A, Dalal N, Mittal S. The relationship between level of adherence to automatic wireless remote monitoring and survival in pacemaker and defibrillator patients. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;65:2601–10.
- Saxon LA, Hayes DL, Gilliam FR, Heidenreich PA, Day J, Seth M, Meyer TE, Jones PW, Boehmer JP. Long-term outcome after ICD and CRT implantation and influence of remote device follow-up: the ALTITUDE survival study. Circulation. 2010;122:2359–67.
- Lau CP, Zhang S. Remote monitoring of cardiac implantable devices in the Asia-Pacific. Eur Eur Pacing Arrhythm Cardiac Electrophysiol J Cardiac Pacing Arrhythm Cardiac Cellular Electrophysiol Eur Soc Cardiol. 2013;15(Suppl 1):i65–8.
- Srivatsa UN, Joy KC, Zhang XJ, Fan D, Oesterle A and Birgersdotter-Green U. Patient perception of the remote vs. clinic visits for interrogation of implantable cardioverter defibrillators. Crit Pathw Cardiol. 2019.
- Slotwiner D, Varma N, Akar JG, Annas G, Beardsall M, Fogel RI, Galizio NO, Glotzer TV, Leahy RA, Love CJ, McLean RC, Mittal S, Morichelli L, Patton KK, Raitt MH, Ricci RP, Rickard J, Schoenfeld MH, Serwer GA, Shea J, Varosy P, Verma A, Yu CM. HRS Expert Consensus Statement on remote interrogation and monitoring for cardiovascular implantable electronic devices. Heart Rhythm. 2015;12:e69–100.
- 20. Slotwiner D, Wilkoff B. Cost efficiency and reimbursement of remote monitoring: a US perspective. Eur Eur Pacing Arrhythm Cardiac Electrophysiol J Cardiac Pacing Arrhythm Cardiac Cellular Electrophysiol Eur Soc Cardiol. 2013;15(Suppl 1):i54–8.
- 21. Dubner S, Auricchio A, Steinberg JS, Vardas P, Stone P, Brugada J, Piotrowicz R, Hayes DL, Kirchhof P, Breithardt G, Zareba W, Schuger C, Aktas MK, Chudzik M, Mittal S,

Varma N. ISHNE/EHRA expert consensus on remote monitoring of cardiovascular implantable electronic devices (CIEDs). Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol. 2012;17:36–56.

- Halperin D, Clark SS, Fu K, Heydt-Benjamin TS, Defend B, Kohno T, Ransford B, Morgan W and Maisel WH. Pacemakers and implantable cardiac defibrillators: Software radio attacks and zero-power defenses. P Ieee S Secur Priv. 2008:129-+.
- Slotwiner DJ, Deering TF, Fu K, Russo AM, Walsh MN, Van Hare GF. Cybersecurity vulnerabilities of cardiac implantable electronic devices: Communication strategies for clinicians-Proceedings of the Heart Rhythm Society's Leadership Summit. Heart Rhythm. 2018;15:e61–7.
- 24. Health Quality O. Remote monitoring of implantable cardioverter-defibrillators, cardiac resynchronization therapy and permanent pacemakers: a health technology assessment. Ont Health Technol Assess Ser. 2018;18:1–199.
- Koplan BA, Kaplan AJ, Weiner S, Jones PW, Seth M, Christman SA. Heart failure decompensation and all-cause mortality in relation to percent biventricular pacing in patients with heart failure: is a goal of 100% biventricular pacing necessary? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009;53:355–60.

Section IV Device Based Arrhythmia Management

Section Editor: Gordon Ho

Indications for the Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillator (ICD)



Hiro Kawata

Clinical Case

A 57-year-old male presented to an ER for chest pain and dizziness. He was found to have ST-elevation myocardial infarction in the ER. He developed ventricular fibrillation (VF) in the ER and required defibrillation. He was brought to a cath lab for an emergent coronary angiogram and percutaneous coronary intervention. A drug-eluting stent was placed in the proximal left anterior descending artery. Echocardiogram showed reduced Left ventricle (LV) systolic function with LVEF of 30%. Optimal medical therapy for coronary artery disease and heart failure was initiated. He was discharged with LIFEVEST. Three months later, a repeat echocardiogram showed LVEF of 35%. No sustained ventricular tachycardia (VT) was documented, and defibrillation therapy was not delivered from the vest. He is active and denies any symptoms currently (NYHA functional class I). EP was consulted for possible ICD implantation.

Introduction

The purpose of this chapter is to discuss practical aspects of ICD therapy, including indications, generator and lead selection.

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

H. Kawata (🖂)

Oregon Heart & Vascular Institute, Peacehealth Sacred Heart Medical Center, 3311 RiverBend Drive, 3rd Floor, Springfield, OR 97477, USA e-mail: hkawata@peacehealth.org

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_10

Indications

ICD indications may be stratified by both ischemic versus non-ischemic cardiomyopathies and primary versus secondary prevention. Whereas secondary prevention is indicated for patients who have experienced sudden cardiac arrest or ventricular arrhythmias (VA), primary prevention is indicated for patients at risk for but has not experienced an event. The major guidelines for ICD implantation are listed below:

- 2012 ACCF/AHA/HRS Focused Update Incorporated Into the 2008 Guidelines for Device-Based Therapy of Cardiac Rhythm Abnormalities [1]
- 2013 ACC/HRS/AHA/ASE/HFSA/SCA I/SCCT/SCMR Appropriate Use Criteria for ICD and CRT Therapy [2]
- 2014 HRS/ACC/AHA Expert Consensus Statement on the Use of Implantable Cardioverter-Defibrillator Therapy in Patients Who Are Not Included or Not Well Represented in Clinical Trials [3]
- 2017 AHA/ACC/HRS Guideline for Management of Patients with Ventricular Arrhythmias and the Prevention of Sudden Cardiac Death: Executive Summary. A report form the ACC/AHA Task Force [4].

Ischemic Heart Disease

Secondary Prevention

Secondary prevention is defined as ICD placement in a patient with prior SCA, sustained VT, or syncope caused by VA.

Patients with cardiomyopathy who survived sudden cardiac death (SCD) or VT are at high risk for the future similar event. The evidence for an ICD for these patients has been well established [5–7]. According to the 2017 AHA/ACC/HRS guideline, secondary prevention indication of ICD for a patient with ischemic heart disease is summarized as below (Fig. 1). Published guidelines exclude cases in which there are completely reversible causes for SCA and VA. For example, an acute myocardial infarction can cause VA and the culprit lesion can be reversed with coronary revascularization. However, the risk of SCD and VA may remain in some patients, even after the revasculization.

Primary Prevention

Primary prevention is defined as ICD placement with the intention of preventing SCD in a patient who has not had sustained VT or CSA but who is at an increased risk for these events.

Patients who have had an MI resulting in reduced LVEF are at increased risk of SCD, most often due to a VT and VF. Multiple randomized trials in patients



Fig. 1 Secondary prevention in patients with ischemic heart disease *Exclude reversible causes. †History consistent with an arrhythmic etiology for syncope. ‡ICD candidacy as determined by functional status, life expectancy, or patient preference. EP indicates electrophysiological; GDMT, guideline-directed management, and therapy; ICD, implantable cardioverter-defibrillator; IHD, ischemic heart disease; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; pts, patients; SCA, sudden cardiac arrest; SCD, sudden cardiac death; and VT, ventricular tachycardia. 2017 AHA/ACC/HRS Guidelines for management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death

with ischemic heart disease have proved that ICD implantation reduces mortality over the long term [8, 9]. Interestingly, two randomized trials failed to prove the benefit of ICD implantation within 40 days after MI [10, 11]. The precise reasons for the ineffectiveness of ICD in the immediate post MI and post revascularization have not been elucidated well. Therefore, ICD implantation should be performed at least 40 days after MI. Considering the high risk of SCD in the first 40 days after acute MI, a wearable cardioverter-defibrillator (WCD) with reevaluation of cardiac function after 40 days is a reasonable option (Fig. 2). According to 2017 AHA/ACC/HRS guideline, primary prevention indication of ICD for a patient with ischemic heart disease is summarized as below.

Nonischemic Cardiomyopathy

Secondary Prevention

Secondary prevention indication of ICD for a patient with NICM is summarized (Fig. 3).



Fig. 2 Primary prevention in patients with ischemic heart disease *Scenarios exist for early ICD placement in select circumstances such as patients with a pacing indication or syncope. †Advanced HF therapy includes CRT, cardiac transplant, and LVAD thought due to VT. These are detailed elsewhere in an HRS/ACC/AHA expert consensus statement.^{S7.1.2}²⁴ CRT indicates cardiac resynchronization therapy; EP, electrophysiological; GDMT, guideline-directed management, and therapy; HF, heart failure; ICD, implantable cardioverter-defibrillator; IHD, ischemic heart disease; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; MI, myocardial infarction; NSVT, nonsustained ventricular tachycardia; NYHA, New York Heart Association; pts, patients; SCD, sudden cardiac death; VT, ventricular tachycardia; and WCD, wearable cardioverter-defibrillator. *2017 AHA/ACC/HRS Guidelines for management of patients ventricular arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death*

Primary Prevention

Compared to ischemic cardiomyopathy, the benefit of ICD remains controversial for primary prevention in patients with NICM (Fig. 4). In all patients with NICM, an adequate trial of guideline-directed management and therapy (GDMT) for at least 3 months prior to ICD implantation should be tried. Better adherence to GDMT may improve clinical outcomes and decrease the need for ICD therapy among patients with heart failure.

Over the past two decades, ICD implantation has been associated with significant reductions in the rate of SCD and total mortality in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy. However, the evidence of benefit of ICD implantation for NICM has been weaker. The DEFINITE study randomized 458 patients with NICM and LVEF<36% into conventional medical therapy or ICD implantation. Arrhythmic mortality was significantly reduced by the ICD (Table 1) [12]. In SCD-HEFT (The Sudden Cardiac Death in Heart Failure Trial), the efficacy of ICD was compared



Study	Control group	LVEF	Follow up (years)	ICD (N)	Control (N)	All cause mortality ICD versus control	
DEFINITE 2004	ICD versus medical therapy	<36%	2	229	229	7.9 versus 14.1%	HR 0.65; 95% CI, 0.40–1.06; P=0.08
SCD-HeFT 2005	ICD versus amiodar- one versus placebo	≤35%	3.8	829	847	22% (ICD) versus 28% (amio) versus 29% (placebo)	HR 0.77; 97.5% CI, 0.62–0.96; P=0.007
DANISH 2016	ICD versus medical therapy	≤35%	5.6	556	560	23.4 versus 21.6%	HR 0.87; 95% CI, 0.68–1.12; P=0.28

Table 1 Landmark randomized control study in patients with NICM

with amiodarone or placebo among patients with New York Heart Association (NYHA) class II or III congestive heart failure (CHF) and a left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) <35% [9]. The result showed a significant reduction in overall mortality in patients with ICD therapy compared to conventional medical therapies. The benefit of ICD was comparable between patients with IHD and NICM. However, the positive effect of ICD treatment was confined to patients in NYHA class II. More recently, a prospective randomized study, DANISH study was performed to attempt to answer the question [13]. Interestingly, the result of DANISH study was not consistent with the previous two large studies. The DANISH study includes 1,116 patients with NICM and were on optimal medical therapy for heart failure. The entry criteria include an LVEF <35%, NYHA class II or III and a pro-Brain N-terminal (pro-BNP) level>200 pg/ml. Patients were randomized to either ICD implantation or standard medical therapy. In this trial, ICD implantation was not associated with significantly lower long-term rate of death from any cause than usual clinical care. The annual mortality rate of the study was 3–4% and much lower than in other previous studies. This suggests that the improvement of medical therapy for heart failure over the decades lower the mortality of cardiomyopathy and decrease the benefit of ICD therapy. However, the high prevalence of CRT and GDMT in the DANISH trial likely reduced their statistical power for showing a significant difference in the primary outcome. All things considered, ICDs are useful to reduce total mortality and mortality from SCD in patients with NICM, although the benefits of an ICD on total mortality may be diminished in the setting of CRT and GDMT. In conclusion, for patients with NICM, current AHA/ACC/HRS Guidelines recommend ICD as primary prevention for those patients with an LVEF of \leq 35%, NYHA class II or III, after 3 months of optimal GDMT for CHF. Future randomized studies may affect this indication.

Laminopathies are inherited cardiac disease caused by mutations in the Lamin A/C gene. A recent study showed that Life-threatening VAs are common in patients with LMNA mutations and significant cardiac conduction disorders, even if the left ventricular systolic function is preserved. [14] Therefore, in patients with laminopathies, ICD can be beneficial for those who have more than 2 risk factors (NSVT, LVEF <45%, nonmissense mutation, and male) (class IIa).

ICD System

- The ICD system consists of a pulse generator (can) and one or two leads. The pulse generator houses several essential components including,
- 1. battery to power the generator
- 2. high voltage capacitors and a charging circuit to provide the high voltage pulse to deliver the shock.

Defibrillator (Pulse Generator)

The ICD can is a sealed metal casing made of titanium (Fig. 5). The metallic casing protects the battery and electronic circuitry from damage caused by body tissue and external electromagnetic interference (EMI). The ICD can also be used as an active shocking electrode.

Lead Connector

ICD lead connectors and headers of the defibrillator have standardized design and ICD leads are compatible with defibrillators from different manufacturers. Most newly implanted ICD systems use the DF-4 lead connector system. Before DF-4 was approved, IS-1/DF-1 had been used (Fig. 6). In IS-1/DF-1 system, ICD lead terminals comprised an IS-1 pin for the pace-sense component and a DF-1 pin for each high-voltage coil. Thus, three ports were required for a defibrillation lead. In the DF-4 system, the pace/sense conductor and defibrillation coil conductor connect to a single, multi-interface connection pin. The advantages of the DF-4 system include decreased the smaller size of the device header, the shorter length of the lead and prevention of accidental reversal of high-voltage connections.

Fig. 5 Single chamber ICD with DF-4 lead connector system



Fig. 6 ICD with DF-4 (single chamber, left) and IS-1/DF-1 (dual chamber, right) lead connector system



Device Selection

Transvenous ICD Versus Subcutaneous ICD

To overcome the limitations of the transvenous ICD including lead-related complications, subcutaneous ICD (S-ICD) was developed. However, S-ICD can neither deliver anti-tachycardia pacing (ATP) to terminate VA nor continuous pacing during bradycardic events. Also, S-ICD is not indicated if the patient is anticipated to require CRT-D in the future, such as patients with LBBB. Most primary prevention ICD candidates do not require pacing therapy and considered suitable candidates for S-ICD. Inappropriate device shocks from S-ICD has been concerned since they are released. The use of a conditional zone (rate plus discriminators) was associated with a significantly lower risk of inappropriate shocks for oversensing and supraventricular tachycardia [15]. Please see the chapter of S-ICD for a more detailed explanation.

Dual Chamber Versus Single Chamber

The decision whether to use a single or a dual chamber ICD has not been addressed in the randomized trials evaluating ICD efficacy. Most ICD patients do not have an indication for pacing and adding atrial lead is controversial. Theoretically, an atrial lead in a dual chamber ICD may improve rhythm discrimination over the single chamber ICD. However, adding the atrial lead will increase the cost and the rate of complications. Available data showed that dual chamber ICD did not lower the rates of inappropriate therapy or overall mortality. The dual chamber ICD is however associated with a higher rate of procedure-related complications and decreased longevity of the device [16–20]. Therefore, the routine use of dual chamber ICDs in patients without a pacing indication should be avoided, especially in young patients. Current guideline recommends single chamber ICD if the sole reason for the atrial lead is SVT discrimination.

It is reasonable to choose single-chamber ICD therapy in preference to dual-chamber ICD therapy if the sole reason for the atrial lead is SVT discrimination, unless a known SVT exists that may enter the VT treatment zone, to reduce both lead-related complications and the cost of ICD therapy. (class IIa)

The Linox Smart DX lead (Biotronik, Berlin, Germany) is a 7.8 French single coil true bipolar lead, which contains 15 mm spaced pair of atrial ring electrodes mounted 15–17 cm from the tip of the lead (Fig. 7). This unique lead can provide atrial sensing in a single chamber ICD lead (VDD) without the risks and incremental cost of an additional atrial lead. The single lead pacing system (VDD) with the ability to sense atrial signals via floating atrial electrodes has been used since the 1980s. However, it has not been widely popular due to unreliable atrial sensing and concerns for the possible need for an atrial lead down the road. Compared to a previous VDD system, the DX ICD system uses an optimized atrial dipole spacing and improved atrial signal processing to offer more reliable atrial sensing. Usually, these atrial electrodes are floating and do not have direct contact with atrial tissue.

Those patients in whom dual chamber ICD is considered

- · Patients who need dual chamber pacemaker
- Patients who need biventricular pacing (or biventricular pacing is anticipated)
- Patients with atrial tachycardia or atrial flutter (better discrimination)
- Patients in whom atrial pacing is useful (Long QT, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy).


Fig. 7 The Linox Smart DX active fixation lead (Biotronik). The atrial signal sensed via these floating atrial electrodes

Single Coil Versus Dual Coil

All transvenous ICD lead has a distal shock coil in the RV. The dual-coil ICD lead with a shocking coil in the RV and supra vena cava (SVC) coil, had been widely used. The older ICD system did not have an active can as one of the defibrillation electrodes and the SVC coil was essential part of the ICD system. Having two coils (SVC and RV) in the ICD system can provide lower DFT. Previously DFT with dual-coil leads was considered to have significantly lower DFT compared to single-coil leads and the dual coil ICD was more commonly used. Today an active can system using the pulse generator as one of the electrodes and high energy device have become standard. These changes decrease the occurrence of high DFT and demand for the SVC coil has been decreased significantly. The SVC coil is also known to be potentially strongly adherent to the SVC wall and the risk of the SVC tear is increased during lead extraction. A recent study based on the National Cardiovascular Data Registry (NCDR) showed that the use of dual coil leads decreased from 85% in 2010 to 55% in 2015 [21]. Contemporary ICD system with a single-coil lead can achieve a low DFT (<5 J) with a safety margin of at least 10 J in most of the patients. The bottom line is that single-coil and dual-coil lead



Fig. 8 Integrated bipolar lead and dedicated bipolar lead

systems provide effective defibrillation at comparable energy levels. Therefore, an additional SVC coil would not provide a significant benefit.

In patients with the right pectoral ICD system, right ventricular coil to can configuration may have less favourable efficacy. Therefore, some physicians use a dual coil lead system for those patients with the right pectoral ICD system. However, some studies did not show a significant difference in DFT between single and dual coil systems and a conclusion has not been reached regarding this issue.

Shock Polarity

The defibrillation function of the electrodes requires a relatively large surface area to defibrillate more myocardial mass. In addition, positioning of the lead is essential to maximize the density of current flow through the ventricular myocardium. Contemporary ICD systems take advantage of high voltage shock coil. This is a coil of wire that wrapped around the distal lead body, 5–6 cm in length and extends along with the ventricular lead as the primary defibrillation electrode (Fig. 8). The defibrillation shock is delivered by a dedicated lead, which may be a single coil (RV coil) or dual coil (RV and SVC). Single coil shocks can only be delivered between the RV coil and the pulse generator (can).

The shape of a defibrillation waveform can affect defibrillation efficacy significantly. Biphasic waveforms can lower the defibrillation energy significantly, compared to monophasic waveforms. In other words, biphasic waveforms require less energy and less damage to the heart, with a higher success rate. Thus, biphasic waveforms are used in all commercially available ICD devices. The waveform has a polarity defined as that of the RV shock electrode. In the biphasic waveform, the polarity is defined as that of the first phase. An anodal shock corresponds at a shock with the right ventricular electrode as the anode in the first phase of a biphasic shock and as the cathode in the second phase. Most studies showed the superiority of anodal shock in biphasic defibrillation. Although, whether an anodal shock is really superior to cathodal shock is not concluded yet and anodal shock may be preferred. Currently, the nominal polarity setting is the right ventricle as the anode on Medtronic and Abbott ICDs and the cathode on Boston Scientific and Biotronik ICDs. The shock polarity is programmable and when you encounter with patients with high DFTs, reverse-shock polarity should be attempted. Since the DFT test is not routinely performed anymore, we always program at least one shock with reversed polarity in each zone, while others can maintain nominal polarity.

Integrated Bipolar Versus Dedicated (True) Bipolar

ICD leads use a bipolar configuration for sensing and this is referred to as "near field ventricular EGM". There are two different types of bipolar leads, dedicated (True) bipolar and integrated bipolar configuration (Fig. 8). Both configurations use the tip electrode as the cathode. The dedicated bipolar configuration uses a ring electrode as the anode and sensing occur between the tip electrode and a closely spaced dedicated ring. Therefore, the dedicated bipolar lead requires 1 more conductor than an integrated bipolar lead (The dedicated bipolar lead requires two conductors, versus one in the integrated bipolar lead). The dedicated bipolar has better sensing and pacing function (small antenna). Electrograms recorded between the tip and the RV coil are referred to as integrated bipolar electrograms because the RV coil integrates pace/sense and defibrillation functions. In the integrated bipolar configuration, a distal tip electrode is used for pacing/sensing and a distal coil is used for both pacing/sensing and defibrillation. The large antenna of the integrated bipolar configuration is more susceptible to oversensing of far-field potential, myopotential and EMI. R wave double-counting also happens more frequently with the integrated bipolar system. The integrated bipolar EGM records a greater amount of myocardial activation than the dedicated bipolar system. As a result, the total activation time is more likely to exceed the ventricular blanking period.

Although three is no difference between the dedicated and integrated leads regarding sensing of VF, dedicated bipolar is more commonly used. In general, the integrated bipolar often have larger R/T wave ratio, compared to the dedicated bipolar. T-wave oversensing is a potential reason for inappropriate shocks in patients with Brugada syndrome. A retrospective, multicenter study showed that the incidence of T-wave oversensing is significantly lower using an integrated lead system when compared with a dedicated bipolar lead system in patients with Brugada syndrome receiving ICDs [22]. This fact should be taken into consideration when we implant ICD for patients with Brugada syndrome.



Fig. 9 ICD shock electrograms (near field and far field)



Fig. 10 An example of far field oversensing in ICD lead This noncyclic noise was not detected on the near-field (the rate sensing electrode) recorded between the RV tip and ring electrodes, but rather on the far field EGM recorded between the distal or proximal coils and ICD pulse generator. This is likely from pectoral or diaphragmatic myopotentials

In the Medtronic system, the RV sensing vector between true bipolar (RV tip to ring) and integrated bipolar (RV tip to RV coil) in the dedicated bipolar lead is programmable (RV Sense Polarity). As mentioned above, integrated bipolar often have larger R/T wave ratio, compared to true bipolar. Therefore this function can be a noninvasive option to troubleshoot T wave oversensing.

Considering the requirement of multiple leads implantation, the diameter of the ICD lead has been reduced. Current representative ICD leads size is 6.8 French to 8.6 French. The ICD has two primary electrograms+the shock (high-voltage) electrogram and the ventricular sensing electrogram (Fig. 9). The ICD shock electrogram (CAN to the distal coil) has much wider space between the electrodes compared with the ventricular sensing bipolar electrogram. The shock electrogram records a far-field signal and is more susceptible to oversensing problems (Fig. 10). Therefore, the ICD shock electrogram is not used for rate counting for

detection. The ICD shock electrogram is used as sensing electrograms for differentiating VT from SVT because they acquire ventricular activation signal from a much greater volume of the myocardium. Most of the cases, sensing electrograms have higher frequency content and sharper peaks than shock electrograms. When we analyse ventricular sensing, the shock electrogram is used as a double check on the sensing electrogram. Signals sensed on the sensing electrogram do not correspond to signals on the shock electrogram indicate oversensing. For a similar reason, true ventricular electrograms seen on the shock electrogram that is not associated with events on the marker channel indicate undersensing.

Case Conclusion

Two randomized trials failed to prove the benefit of ICD implantation within 40 days after MI [10, 11] Therefore, patients with recent MI should be reassessed for ICD implantation at least 40 days after MI. If those patients still have $LVEF \leq 35\%$ and NYHA class II or III, ICD is indicated. ICD is also indicated in patients with $LVEF \leq 30\%$ and NYHA class I. A recent study showed a high rate of LV function recovery among survivors of acute MI with an initial reduced $LVEF \leq 35\%$. [23] After percutaneous coronary revasculization, 57% of patients had LVEF recovery to >35% at 3 months post-MI.

In conclusion, this patient with LVEF 35% and NYHA class I do not meet indications for ICD at this point. Further evaluation should be performed to determine whether ICD is indicated in this patient.

Future Directions

More sophisticated sudden cardiac death risk stratification algorithms are being developed and tested to improve patient selection for ICD implantation, including machine learning techniques and computer modeling based on scar imaging.

Key Points

- 1. Two different ICDs are currently available; Transvenous ICD and subcutaneous ICD. The risk of lead-related complications, the rate of inappropriate therapy, and the device-specific limitations of S-ICD (incapability of ATP) should be taken into consideration on a case-by-case basis.
- 2. The evidence of secondary prevention of ICD has been established well.
- 3. Multiple studies also showed the benefit of ICD for primary prevention in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy. Patients with ischemic

cardiomyopathy, LVEF \leq 35% and CHF with NYHA class II or III, ICD is recommended for primary prevention of SCD. Likewise, patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy, LVEF \leq 30% and NYHA class I, ICD is recommended. Patients should be evaluated at least 40 days after MI and more than 3 months following coronary revascularization.

- 4. For patients with nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy, LVEF ≤35%, and CHF with NYHA class II or III, we recommend ICD therapy for primary prevention of SCD on top of optimal medical therapy
- 5. Most ICD patients do not have an indication for pacing and adding atrial lead is controversial. Therefore, the routine use of dual chamber ICDs in patients without a pacing indication should be avoided, especially in young patients.
- 6. Single-coil defibrillation leads (versus dual-coil) should be used in most patients receiving an ICD, especially in young patients.
- 7. ICD shock electrogram (CAN to the distal coil) has much wider space between compared with the integrated or dedicated bipolar electrogram and is more susceptible to oversensing problems. Therefore, the ICD shock electrogram is not used for rate counting for detection.

References

- 1. Tracy CM, Epstein AE, Darbar D et al. ACCF/AHA/HRS focused update incorporated into the ACCF/AHA/HRS 2008 guidelines for device-based therapy of cardiac Rhythm Abnormalities. A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart association task force on practice guidelines and the Heart Rhythm society. 2012; 61:e6–e75.
- Russo AM, Stainback RF, Bailey SR et al. ACCF/HRS/AHA/ASE/HFSA/SCAI/SCCT/ SCMR 2013 appropriate use criteria for implantable cardioverter-defibrillators and cardiac resynchronization therapy. A report of the American College of Cardiology foundation appropriate use criteria task force, heart Rhythm society, American Heart Association, American Society of Echocardiography, Heart Failure Society of America, society for cardiovascular angiography and interventions, society of cardiovascular computed tomography, and society for cardiovascular magnetic resonance (2013); 61:1318–1368.
- 3. Kusumoto FM, Calkins H, Boehmer J, et al. HRS/ACC/AHA expert consensus statement on the use of implantable cardioverter-defibrillator therapy in patients who are not included or not well represented in clinical trials. Circulation. 2014;130:94–125.
- 4. Al-Khatib SM, Stevenson WG, Ackerman MJ, et al. 2017 AHA/ACC/HRS guideline for management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart association task force on clinical practice guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2018;72:e91–220.
- AvIDA Investigators. A comparison of antiarrhythmic-drug therapy with implantable defibrillators in patients resuscitated from near-fatal ventricular arrhythmias. N Engl J Med. 1997;337:1576–84.
- Connolly Stuart J, Gent M, Roberts Robin S, et al. Canadian implantable defibrillator study (CIDS). Circulation. 2000;101:1297–302.
- Kuck K-H, Cappato R, Siebels J, Rüppel R. Randomized comparison of antiarrhythmic drug therapy with implantable defibrillators in patients resuscitated from cardiac arrest. Circulation. 2000;102:748–54.

- 8. Moss AJ, Zareba W, Hall WJ, et al. Prophylactic implantation of a defibrillator in patients with myocardial infarction and reduced ejection fraction. New Engl J Med. 2002;346:877–83.
- 9. Bardy GH, Lee KL, Mark DB, et al. Amiodarone or an implantable cardioverter-defibrillator for congestive heart failure. New Engl J Med. 2005;352:225–37.
- 10. Hohnloser SH, Kuck KH, Dorian P, et al. Prophylactic use of an implantable cardioverter-defibrillator after acute myocardial infarction. New Engl J Med. 2004;351:2481–8.
- 11. Steinbeck G, Andresen D, Seidl K, et al. Defibrillator implantation early after myocardial infarction. New Engl J Med. 2009;361:1427–36.
- Kadish A, Dyer A, Daubert JP, et al. Prophylactic defibrillator implantation in patients with nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy. New Engl J Med. 2004;350:2151–8.
- Køber L, Thune JJ, Nielsen JC, et al. Defibrillator implantation in patients with nonischemic systolic heart failure. New Engl J Med. 2016;375:1221–30.
- 14. Anselme F, Moubarak G, Savouré A, et al. Implantable cardioverter-defibrillators in lamin A/C mutation carriers with cardiac conduction disorders. Heart Rhythm. 2013;10:1492–8.
- 15. Weiss R, Knight Bradley P, Gold Michael R, et al. Safety and efficacy of a totally subcutaneous implantable-cardioverter defibrillator. Circulation. 2013;128:944–53.
- Auricchio A, Schloss EJ, Kurita T, et al. Low inappropriate shock rates in patients with single- and dual/triple-chamber implantable cardioverter-defibrillators using a novel suite of detection algorithms: PainFree SST trial primary results. Heart Rhythm. 2015;12:926–36.
- Defaye P, Boveda S, Klug D et al. Dual-versus single-chamber defibrillators for primary prevention of sudden cardiac death: long-term follow-up of the Défibrillateur Automatique Implantable—Prévention Primaire registry. Europace. 2017; 19:1478–1484.
- Dewland TA, Pellegrini CN, Wang Y, Marcus GM, Keung E, Varosy PD. Dual-chamber implantable cardioverter-defibrillator selection is associated with increased complication rates and mortality among patients enrolled in the NCDR implantable cardioverter-defibrillator registry. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;58:1007–13.
- Kipp R, Hsu JC, Freeman J, Curtis J, Bao H, Hoffmayer KS. Long-term morbidity and mortality after implantable cardioverter-defibrillator implantation with procedural complication: A report from the National Cardiovascular Data Registry. Heart Rhythm. 2018;15:847–54.
- Peterson PN, Varosy PD, Heidenreich PA, et al. Association of single-versus dual-chamber ICDs with mortality, readmissions, and complications among patients receiving an ICD for primary prevention. JAMA, J Am Med Assoc. 2013;309:2025–34.
- 21. Pokorney SD, Parzynski CS, Daubert JP et al. Temporal trends in and factors associated with use of single- versus dual-coil implantable cardioverter-defibrillator leads: Data from the NCDR ICD registry. JACC Clin Electrophysiol. 2017; 3:612–619.
- Rodríguez-Mañero M, Asmundis Cd, Sacher F et al. T-wave oversensing in patients with Brugada syndrome: True bipolar versus integrated bipolar implantable cardioverter defibrillator leads. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2015; 8:792–798.
- Brooks GC, Lee BK, Rao R, et al. Predicting persistent left ventricular dysfunction following myocardial infarction: The PREDICTS study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016;67:1186–96.

Implant Considerations for the Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillator



Hiro Kawata

Clinical Case

A 49-year-old female with nonischemic cardiomyopathy and recent ICD implantation (10 days before) who presented to a hospital with a complaint of chest pain that started the night before described as heavy constant and with intermittent sharp pain. The pain got worse when she sat up and better when she lay down.

Introduction

The purpose of this chapter is to discuss the practical aspect of the ICD implantation technique and perioperative complications.

Implantation of ICD

Preparation for ICD Implantation

Management of Anticoagulation

Major or minor bleeding is a common complication after ICD implantation, which increases the risk of device-related infection [1, 2]. A substantial number of patients takes anticoagulant before an ICD implantation. Since the risk of

H. Kawata (🖂)

Oregon Heart & Vascular Institute, Peacehealth Sacred Heart Medical Center, 3311 RiverBend Drive, 3rd Floor, Springfield, OR 97477, USA e-mail: hkawata@peacehealth.org

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_11

discontinuing anticoagulation therapy vary among patients, the perioperative management of anticoagulation therapy should be individualized.

1. Warfarin

Considering the results of randomized studies, we recommend the continuation of warfarin rather than a heparin bridging [3]. For patients who are taking warfarin and have a low risk of thromboembolism, either interrupted or continued warfarin may be used, because currently there is no evidence to clearly support either strategy. When the ICD implantation is performed without interruption of warfarin, the INR should be checked 5–7 days prior to the procedure for possible dose adjustment. And then the INR should be checked on the day of the procedure. The INR on the procedure day preferably should be ≤ 3.0 (except for patients who needs higher INR for mechanical mitral valve).

Current consensus recommendation was shown in Table 1.

2. Factor Xa inhibitors and direct thrombin inhibitor

The Bruise control-2 study randomly assigned patients with atrial fibrillation and CHA2DS2-VASc score ≥ 2 , to continued versus interrupted DOAC (direct oral anticoagulant such as dabigatran, rivaroxaban, or apixaban) [5]. The result showed that continuation of DOAC was not associated with any major perioperative bleeding events. This result suggests it is safe to perform ICD implantations without

 Table 1
 Device implantation in patients receiving vitamin K antagonists (VKA): consensus recommendation

In the following patient groups with AF, it is recommended to perform device surgery without interruption of VKA

(i) Patients with non-valvular AF and a CHA_2DS_2 -VASc score of ≥ 3

(ii) Patients with a CHA₂DS₂-VASc score of 2 due to stroke or TIA within 3 months

(iii) Patients with AF planned for cardioversion or defibrillation testing at device implantation

(iv) Patients with AF and rheumatic valvular heart disease

In the following patient groups with prosthetic heart valves, it is recommended to perform device surgery without interruption of VKA

(i) Prosthetic mitral valve

(ii) Caged ball or tilting disc aortic valve

(iii) Bileaflet aortic valve prosthesis and AF and a CHA_2DS_2 -VASc score of ≥ 2

In patients with severe thrombophilia, it is recommended to perform device surgery without interruption of VKA

In patients with recent venous thromboembolism (within 3 months), it is recommended to perform device surgery without interruption of VKA

The INR on the day of surgery should be under the upper limit of the prescribed therapeutic range for the patients. (usually $\leq 3, \leq 3.5$ for some patients with prostehtic valves)

In patients with an annual risk of thromboembolism events <5% either perform surgery without interruption of VKA or interrupt VKA 3–4 days before surgery, no heparin bridging is recommended

Interruption of VKA and bridging with an unfractionated heparin or low molecular weight heparin should be avoided

Europace. 2015 Aug; 17(8):1197-214 [4]

interruption of NOAC therapy. For patients with a higher risk for bleeding complications, it might be reasonable to hold DOAC 48 h before the implantation. Bridging with heparin, subpectoral implantation, an upgrade procedure, and older patients are known as risk factors for bleeding complications.

Assessment of Axillary Vein

Subclavian venous occlusion is relatively common following cardiac device implant (10–12%) (Fig. 1). A study showed about 50% of patients with existing pacing or ICD systems had>50% stenosis [6]. In addition, complete occlusion of the subclavian/axillary or innominate vein occurred in 26% of patients. Although



Fig. 1 Chronic total occlusion of the left subclavian vein at pacemaker lead site with prominent collateral (left upper). Venoplasty using 6 mm x 40 mm balloon (right upper). Venography after the venoplasty (left lower)

the association of venous stenosis and the number of leads has been controversial, some studies showed a high incidence of venous stenosis in patients with multiple leads, procedures, and the sum of lead diameters implanted. Venous stenosis and thrombosis are usually asymptomatic due to the formation of collaterals veins. Ipsilateral contrast venography of the axillary and subclavian vein can specify the exact location and length of the stenosis and occlusion. Therefore, I would recommend contrast venography when you need to add pacemaker or ICD lead in patients with cardiac devices, such as upgrade cases or lead revisions.

Different approaches can be taken for the venous stenosis, including contralateral leads implantation with tunnelling, recanalization with or without lead extraction and venoplasty (Fig. 1). The decision making depends on individual anatomical considerations, physician's experience, and available resources.

Implantation Techniques

Most CIED implantations are performed with local anesthesia and sedation. Efficacy of prophylactic antibiotics has been reported [7]. Prophylactic antibiotics should be given within 1 hour prior to the procedure.

Position of the ICD Can (Pulse Generator)

The contemporary ICD can is small enough to be implanted in the pectoral region of the anterior chest wall subcutaneously. Subpectoral implantation of ICD can be beneficial for elderly, lean patients or young patients who request better cosmetic results. Subpectoral implantation carries a higher risk for bleeding complications and this procedure should not be performed routinely.

In general, ICD is implanted patients' non-*dominant* side. The skin incision is usually made in the left or right infraclavicular area. The location of the incision depends on the vascular access approach. The length of skin incision is about 3–5 cm and carried down to the subcutaneous tissue. The dissection is extended to the fascia of the pectoral major muscle with electrocauterization, blunt dissection, or both.

For a cephalic vein cutdown, in order to identify the vein, an incision in the deltopectoral groove may be preferred. When axillary vein puncture is performed under fluoroscopic guidance, the incision should be guided fluoroscopically by inspection of anatomical landmark including the clavicle and ribs.

I always perform axillary vein puncture under ultrasound guidance. In my practice, axillary vein puncture is performed before the skin incision (Fig. 2). After obtaining axillary vein access, the skin incision is made just below the puncture site of the skin (Fig. 3). The medial edge of the incision is placed at the 2–3 cm medial side of the puncture (depends on the thickness of the subcutaneous tissue). In order to suture the leads on the fascia without extensive stress, you should have adequate space around the puncture site.



Fig. 2 Micro puncture wire insertion before skin incision on the left infraclavicular area

Venous Puncture

Various approaches for the venous access was summarized as below.

Various Approaches for Venous Access

- Direct cutdown on the axillary vein
- Subclavian vein puncture under fluoroscopic guidance
- Lateral Axillary vein puncture under fluoroscopic guidance with or without contrast venography
- Medial axillary vein puncture under fluoroscopic guidance with or without contrast venography
- Ultrasound guidance axillary vein puncture.

The incidence of pneumothorax during pacemaker or ICD implantation is reported to be about 0.5–1%. The risk is lowered by identifying the exact location of the vein with cephalic vein cut down, contrast venography or ultrasound guidance. The cephalic vein is smaller than the axillary vein and to implant all leads with cephalic vein cut down technique might not be easy, especially for CRT devices [8]. Even after contrast venography, the puncture under fluoroscopy can be unsuccessful due to severe venous spasm or marked collapse.

A 5 Fr micropuncture needle is should be utilized to minimize the risk of complications. If you puncture the vein at a steep angle, you end up giving excessive stress when you suture the leads. Therefore, the needle should be advanced the vein at a 30–45 degree angle. I strongly believe axillary vein puncture under ultrasound is the safest and the most reliable method. Ultrasound image shows you the exact location of axillary vein, axillary artery and lung and the incidence of pneumothorax or arterial puncture is extremely low (Fig. 4). In addition,



Fig. 3 After the skin incision

contrast venography is not needed in axillary venous puncture under ultrasound guidance. As I mentioned already, I believe the incision site should be determined by the puncture site and I do perform axillary vein puncture first, followed by skin incision. This manner helps us to avoid having excessive tension on the leads when we house the ICD and the leads in the pocket. Ultrasound may not show you a clear image of the axillary vein in obese patients. The distal part of the subclavian vein and the axillary vein lie below and in front of the subclavian and axillary artery. Therefore, most of the cases, you still be able to estimate the location of the vein using the axillary arterial pulse. For those patients with thick fat tissue, you may need to make the skin incision and the pocket first. Once you make the skin incision and the pocket, the ultrasound probe on the pectoralis major will show you a clearer image of the axillary vein (Fig. 5).



Fig. 4 Ultrasound image during left axillary venous puncture. The axillary vein (AV) runs along the medial side of the axillary artery (AA) and is collapsible. Left : Ultrasound image of the puncture site (about two fingers below the deltopectoral triangle). Right : Ultrasound image of the same area during compression with the probe. The axillary vein is collapsed while the axillary artery maintains the circular shape



Fig. 5 Ultrasound probe placed in the pocket

The risk of pneumothorax and clavicular crush syndrome (Fig. 6) is high in conventional subclavian vein puncture; thus, more lateral puncture in the axillary vein with or without contrast venography is preferred.



Fig. 6 Clavicular crush due to medial venous puncture in subclavian vein

If the fluoroscopic guided puncture is pursued, an extrathoracic axillary vein puncture is the preferred method to avoid pneumothorax. Although often aided by venography, implanting physicians performing ICD implantation may attempt blind access based solely on radiographic landmarks, such as the ribs and ribcage. The most common radiographic position of the axillary vein was over the third rib [9]. Understanding anatomical characteristics that may predict the cranial-caudal position of the axillary vein could shorten procedure time and reduce the risk of complications. There are two different approaches for extrathoracic axillary vein puncture, medial and lateral axillary vein puncture. In the medial axillary vein puncture method, the tip of the needle is aimed at the 1st rib. You should never cross the medial border of the 1st rib to avoid pneumothorax. In lateral vein puncture, the edge of rib cage formed by the 2nd and 3rd ribs will be the anatomical target for the tip of the needle. In this method, as far as the tip of the puncture needle is lateral to the medial border of the 2nd or 3rd rib, the chance of pneumothorax is very low (Fig. 7). In obese patients, you need to start puncture of the needle more lateral. Otherwise, you might end up having vertical angle of the leads to reach the vein before the tip of the needle crossing the medial border of the rib. It is cumbersome to tie suture sleeve onto the fascia when the leads are inserted vertically.

Placement of Atrial and Ventricular Leads

Right ventricular (RV) lead can be placed RV apex (RVA), RV mid septum or RV outflow tract (RVOT). RVOT septal area is close to a physiological conduction system and pacing from RVOT would produce more physiological ventricular



Fig. 7 Contrast venography of the axillary vein. (Contrast venography of the left axillary and subclavian vein. An anteroposterior fluoroscopic projection of an axillary venogram of a subject undergoing ICD lead implantation. The most common radiographic position of the lateral axillary vein was over the third rib)

activation through rapid conduction. Some studies showed long term RVOT pacing was associated with the better index for LV structure and function, compared with RVA pacing [10, 11]. However, there are conflicting results regarding this question [12]. To avoid the risk of cardiac perforation, I believe, an RV lead at least should be implanted to the septal side. In order to position an RV lead on the septal side, a stylet needs to be shaped in order to guide the lead. **The stylet guiding the lead to the septum requires two curves.** The first large curve facilitates crossing the tricuspid valve and the small curve at the end makes the lead point towards septum instead of the free wall (Fig. 8). For RVOT There is commercially available preshaped stylet from Abbott (Mond stylet). The final position of the lead should be confirmed with fluoroscopy. The LAO projection will reveal if the tip of the lead is directing to the septum or free wall. To avoid cardiac perforation by the ICD lead, you should not push hard the lead with the stylet advanced all the way to the tip (Fig. 9).

The bipolar endocardial signal of the RV lead should be ≥ 5 mV. Right atrial lead is placed in right atrial appendage using either active fixation or passive fixation lead. Bipolar endocardial signal of the RA lead should be ≥ 2.0 mV.



Fig. 8 A curved stylet for RV septal lead placement and an ICD lead with the stylet. To achieve RVOT septal pacing, the first curve needs to be tighter



Fig. 9 The tip of ICD lead with and without stylet. (The tip of ICD lead is very stiff when the stylet is advanced all the way in. All tension is delivered to the tip of the lead and the transparent cellophane can be perforated easily (left). The tip of ICD lead is relatively floppy if a stylet is in the middle of the lead. (middle and right))

Lead Connection, ICD Generator Placement, and Wound Closure

After the leads have been properly positioned and tested, the ICD pocket is irrigated with antimicrobial solution, and the ICD generator is connected securely to the leads.

The device migration may be associated with multiple potential factors, including the size of the pocket, the weight of the device and gravity, the fat tissue in **Fig. 10** Migration of ICD generator and dislodgement of RA and RV leads in an obese female patient. (Migration of ICD generator and dislodgement of RA and RV leads in an obese female patient)



the subcutaneous layer, the slack and whether the device is sutured or anchored on the pectoral muscle. ICD generators are heavier than pacemakers and the risk of device migration is higher, especially in obese female patients [13] (Fig. 10). I secure ICD generators to underlying pectoral muscle with a nonabsorbable suture to prevent migration in those high-risk patients.

After hemostasis is confirmed, a final survey with fluoroscopy before the closure of the incision is recommended to confirm appropriate lead positioning.

Defibrillation Threshold (DFT) Testing

The goal of defibrillation is to use the minimum amount of energy required to overcome the threshold of defibrillation. Excessive energy can cause myocardial injury and cardiac arrhythmias. The defibrillation threshold (DFT) is the minimum amount of energy required to reliably defibrillate the heart when it is experiencing a hemodynamically unstable VF or VT. By knowing the DFT, the physicians can be sure that the ICD is programmed to deliver energy that is sufficient enough to defibrillate ventricular arrhythmias. Another reason for the DFT testing is to confirm the reliable sensing, detection, and redetection of VF. The DFT does not exhibit a constant value because defibrillation requirements vary as a result of many influencing factors. In fact, a clinical measurement of DFT has only fair reproducibility.

Defibrillation Threshold (DFT) Testing in Clinical Practice

DFT had been considered an integral part of ICD implantation for many years. This has traditionally been done by VF induction and termination through the device or, less commonly applied, through the upper limit of vulnerability (ULV) testing. The DFT testing usually starts by programming a ventricular sensitivity of 1.2 mV, which is higher than the nominal setting of 0.3mv (less sensitive). Defibrillation from ICD might be unsuccessful and external defibrillation pads are placed before the implantation procedure begins. Testing is done with the device in the surgical pocket and with leads connected. Electrical activity during VF is lower than that during VT. VF, not fast VT has to be induced for the testing. The method of VF induction depends upon the manufacturer and the capabilities of the device and programmer. VF is induced by rapid pacing, direct current, or T-wave shocks. Given the probabilistic nature of DFT, DFT testing requires multiple shocks to determine with precision. During DFT testing, VF is induced one or more times, and each episode of VF is defibrillated at one or more shock energies. In patient-specific testing, the success or failure of the first test shock usually determines the programmed strength of the next test shock:

There are two common methods for DFT testing, "the safety margin protocol" and "the step-down protocols". In both protocols, the first shock is programmed at least 10 J below the maximal output of the ICD. A safety-margin protocol is preferred when the principal goal is to minimize the risks of shocks, fibrillation, and defibrillation testing. After the safety margin testing, the first shock usually is programmed to maximum output. While DFT testing requires induction of VF, ULV does not. ULV is the stimulus strength above which VF cannot be induced even when the stimulus occurs during the vulnerable period of the cardiac cycle. It correlates closely with the minimum shock energy that defibrillates reliably. Testing the ULV has been used as an alternative to standard DFT testing as a way to estimate DFT without inducing VF. ULV testing provides an accurate estimate of the probability of defibrillation success and is more reproducible than DFT testing. If shock was applied during a certain period of time of a regular cardiac cycle, VF can be induced. This period is called a "vulnerable period". This period is simultaneous with the T wave in the ECG (Fig. 11). To successfully defibrillate, the shock strength must reach or exceed the upper limit of vulnerability. A shock on the vulnerable period of the T wave can only induce VF if the energy is smaller than a critical value. If higher energy is delivered, VF will not be induced. It correlates closely with the minimum shock energy that defibrillates reliably. The measurement of ULV is performed in regular rhythm (usually during right ventricular pacing at 120-150 beats per minute) providing an estimate of the minimum shock strength required for reliable defibrillation. The first shock is delivered on top of the T wave. If VF is not induced, the next shock will be delivered 20 ms before or after the top of the T wave. If you only need to determine a safety margin, the shock strength should be 5-10 J below the maximum output of the device. For example, if VF is not induced by the 20 J shock, the ICD shock can be programmed at 30 J (more than 10 J safety margin). The ULV is more reproducible than the DFT and can provide an accurate patient-specific safety margin with fewer episodes of VF. Thus, the ULV testing has been used as a surrogate for the DFT testing, especially patients with high risk for DFT.



Fig. 11 Upper limit of vulnerability to assess defibrillation efficacy

Since the initial emergence of ICD systems, significant advancements in technology have occurred. Contemporary ICD systems take advantage of biphasic waveforms, active can technology and high energy shocks of 35 J-40 J. These changes raised the question for routine DFT testing during the ICD implantation. Multiple studies showed that ICD implantation without DFT testing was not inferior to ICD implantation with DFT testing in left-sided ICD implants. Current guidelines concluded that for patients undergoing initial left pectoral transvenous ICD implantation, not performing DFT testing is acceptable (where appropriate sensing, pacing, and impedance values are obtained with fluoroscopically well-positioned RV leads). However, for patients undergoing right pectoral ICD implantation, DFT is still recommended. (Class IIa).

A multi-national Consensus Statement on DFT Testing was shown below (Table 2).

Right Pectoral Implantation

Right side implantation should be considered in left-handed patients or other special circumstances such as violinists or hunters using the left shoulder. Patients with special anatomy such as persistent left superior vena cava, venous occlusion, and history of left-sided breast cancer (may need radiation therapy) are also candidates for right side ICD implantation. Arguably, in right pectoral devices with
 Table 2
 Intraprocedural testing of defibrillation efficacy recommendations class of recommendation {Wilkoff, 2016#5624}

1. Defibrillation efficacy testing is recommended in patients undergoing a subcutaneous ICD implantation (Class I recommendation)

2. It is reasonable to omit defibrillation efficacy testing in patients undergoing initial left pectoral transvenous ICD implantation procedures where appropriate sensing, pacing, and impedance values are obtained with fluoroscopically well-positioned RV leads (Class IIa recommendation)

3. Defibrillation efficacy testing is reasonable in patients undergoing a right pectoral transvenous ICD implantation or ICD pulse generator changes (Class IIa recommendation)

4. Defibrillation efficacy testing at the time of implantation of a transvenous ICD should not be performed on patients with a documented non-chronic cardiac thrombus, atrial fibrillation or atrial flutter without adequate systemic anticoagulation, critical aortic stenosis, unstable CAD, recent stroke or TIA, hemodynamic instability, or other known morbidities associated with poor outcomes (Class III–Harm)

a less favourable right ventricular coil-to-can configuration, an SVC coil may be used to decrease DFT. In fact, the right side implantation is reported to have high DFT compared with left side implantation. As we discussed already, DFT testing may be considered at the end of the case and if high DFT is confirmed, additional defibrillation coil in the azygous vein may be useful.

Complications

Although the definition of complications is not consistent among studies, complication risks after ICD implantation have been reported to be 3–9% (Table 3) [14–16]. These data were abstracted from the National Cardiovascular Data Registry (NCDR). However, a study suggested that there should be significant underreporting of complications in these registry data. In fact, most data from a randomized controlled study or other registry showed higher complication rate. Perioperative mortality with transvenous ICD implantation is rare and peri-procedural mortality has been reported to be from 0. to 0.4%. Cardiac perforation is a rare complication but can cause fatal consequences. According to the study based on the NCDR registry, the occurrence of cardiac perforation was reported as 0.14%. After multivariable adjustment, older age, female sex, left bundle branch block, worsened heart failure class, higher left ventricular ejection fraction, and non-single-chamber ICD implant was associated with a greater odd of perforation. Another study from the NCDR showed the occurrence of complications within 90 days of ICD implantation was associated with an increased risk of all-cause mortality and all-cause mortality or hospitalization at 1 and 3 years [17] (Fig. 12). Using the NCDR ICD registry, the following risk score model was also reported (Table 4) [18].

Type of complication	Occurrence				
	Overall	Single chamber	Dual chamber	CRT-D	
All complications	3.08%	1.88%	2.89%	4.13-4.47%	
Lead dislodgement	1.02%	0.47%	0.90%	1.53%	
Hematoma	0.86%	0.58%	0.77%	0.68-1.15%	
Pneumothorax	0.44%	0.34%	0.46%	0.49-1.05%	
Cardiac perforation	0.14%	Not available	Not available	Not available	
Cardiac arrest/death	0.29%	0.23%	0.29%	0.34-0.66%	
Circulation. 2012 125(1)	:57–64, Circ (Cardiovase Qual Oute	omes. 2013; 6(5):58	2–90	

 Table 3
 The occurrence of most common complication, by ICD type

Fig. 12 Large pneumothorax after right side ICD implantation



Follow up After Implantation

After ICD implantation, we do a wound check in 1-2 weeks after the initial implantation. If patients are stable, we schedule 3 months follow up thereafter. These follow up may be in person or remote. Please refer the chapter on remote monitoring. However, we schedule in-person follow up at least once a year. If there is any concern (i.e. unstable parameters of the device, device nearing end of the battery), we would see those patients more frequently.

When a patient receives one or multiple ICD shocks, those episodes should be reviewed in person or remotely. Patients who receive a single ICD shock associated with any symptom including loss of consciousness, dizziness, chest pain, and shortness of breath should be evaluated as soon as possible. In most cases, these patients need certain interventions to prevent subsequent ICD therapy.

Risk factors	Risk score
$Age \ge 70$	1
Female sex	2
Atrial fibrillation or flutter	1
Previous valvular surgery	3
Previous ICD-Reimplantation for reason other than end of battery life	6
Chronic lung disease	2
BUN level>30	2
ICD type: dual chamber	2
ICD type: biventricular	4
NYHA class III	1
NYHA class IV	3
Admission not for ICD implantation	3
The risk of any in-hospital complication increased from 0.6% among patients (8.4% of the population) to 8.4% among patients with > 19 risk points (3.9%)	with a score of ≤ 5 of the population)

Table 4 The risk score model based on the NCDR ICD registry

Patients who receive a single ICD shock without any symptoms can be followed at the device clinic within 1–2 days. Inappropriate ICD shocks are common and associated with a high risk of all-cause mortality. Therefore every effort should be made to avoid inappropriate ICD shocks. Multiple appropriate ICD shocks can be induced by electrolyte abnormality, worsening heart failure exacerbation.

can be induced by electrolyte abnormality, worsening heart failure exacerbation, and worsening coronary ischemia. These patients will need urgent evaluation and underlying causes should be addressed.

Case Conclusion

Circulation. 2011;123:2069-2076

When she was brought to the ER, she was hypotensive and required hemodynamic support with inotropes. A CT chest showed 1.5 cm pericardial effusion. An echocardiogram also revealed moderate pericardial effusion (Fig. 13). She was admitted to the hospital for urgent lead removal and pericardiocentesis. Fatal complications can happen even in a simple ICD implantation procedure. Implanting physicians should make every effort to reduce the risk of all complications.

Future Directions

• New subcutaneous ICD technologies, such as the Boston Scientific SubQ ICD and extravascular ICD String, continue to be improved and developed to avoid the complications and device malfunction that may be associated with intravascular and intracardiac ICD implantation.



Fig. 13 A moderate size pericardial effusion observed in the CT and echocardiography

• Improved battery technologies, including rechargeable inductive battery technologies, are under development.

Key Points

- 1. In most patients, interruption of anticoagulation (either warfarin or DOACs) would not be necessary for the ICD implantation. However, the risk and the benefit of interruption of anticoagulants should be assessed according to each patients' risk.
- 2. Bridging with low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) or unfractionated heparin should be avoided due to the higher chance of hematoma formation.
- Subclavian puncture under ultrasound guidance is the preferred approach to avoid pneumothorax and contrast usage, especially patients with chronic kidney disease.
- 4. Subclavian venous occlusion is relatively common following cardiac device implants. Contrast venography before the procedure may be useful to make a detailed plan.
- 5. For patients undergoing initial left pectoral transvenous ICD implantation, it is reasonable to omit DFT testing when appropriate sensing, pacing, and impedance values are obtained with fluoroscopically well-positioned RV leads.
- 6. In general, the risk of ICD complications is small. However, lethal complications can occur and implanting physicians should know the risk factors for those complications.

References

- Essebag V, Verma A, Healey JS, et al. Clinically significant pocket hematoma increases long-term risk of device infection: BRUISE CONTROL INFECTION Study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016;67:1300–8.
- Masiero S, Connolly SJ, Birnie D, et al. Wound haematoma following defibrillator implantation: incidence and predictors in the Shockless Implant Evaluation (SIMPLE) trial. Europace. 2016;19:1002–6.
- Birnie DH, Healey JS, Wells GA, et al. Pacemaker or defibrillator surgery without interruption of anticoagulation. New Engl J Med. 2013;368:2084–93.
- 4. Sticherling C, Marin F, Birnie D, et al. Antithrombotic management in patients undergoing electrophysiological procedures: a European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) position document endorsed by the ESC Working Group Thrombosis, Heart Rhythm Society (HRS), and Asia Pacific Heart Rhythm Society (APHRS). Europace. 2015;17:1197–214.
- Birnie DH, Healey JS, Wells GA et al. Continued vs. interrupted direct oral anticoagulants at the time of device surgery, in patients with moderate to high risk of arterial thrombo-embolic events (BRUISE CONTROL-2). Eur Heart J. 2018;39:3973–3979.
- Abu-El-Haija B, Bhave PD, Campbell DN, et al. Venous stenosis after transvenous lead placement: a study of outcomes and risk factors in 212 consecutive patients. J Am Heart Assoc. 2015;4:e001878.
- de Oliveira Julio C, Martinelli M, Nishioka Silvana Angelina DO et al. Efficacy of Antibiotic Prophylaxis Before the Implantation of Pacemakers and Cardioverter-Defibrillators. Circul Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2009;2:29–34.
- 8. Hadjis A, Proietti R, Essebag V. Implantation of cardiac resynchronization therapy devices using three leads by cephalic vein dissection approach. EP Europace. 2017;19:1514–20.
- Hsu JC, Friday J, Lee BK, et al. Predictors of axillary vein location for vascular access during pacemaker and defibrillator lead implantation. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol PACE. 2011;34:1585–92.
- Leong DP, Mitchell AM, Salna I et al. Long-Term mechanical consequences of permanent right ventricular pacing: effect of pacing site. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2010; 21:1120–1126.
- 11. Zou C, Song J, Li H, et al. Right ventricular outflow tract septal pacing is superior to right ventricular apical pacing. J Am Heart Assoc. 2015;4:e001777.
- 12. Gong X, Su Y, Pan W, Cui J, Liu S, Shu X. Is right ventricular outflow tract pacing superior to right ventricular apex pacing in patients with normal cardiac function? Clin Cardiol. 2009;32:695–9.
- 13. Kawata H, Patel J, McGarry T, et al. Obese female patients have higher rates of lead dislodgement after ICD or CRT-D implantation. Int J Cardiol. 2014;172:e522–4.
- Freeman JV, Wang Y, Curtis JP, Heidenreich PA, Hlatky MA. Physician procedure volume and complications of cardioverter-defibrillator implantation. Circulation. 2012;125:57–64.
- Hsu Jonathan C, Varosy Paul D, Bao H, Dewland Thomas A, Curtis Jeptha P, Marcus Gregory M. Cardiac Perforation From Implantable Cardioverter-Defibrillator Lead Placement. Circul Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2013; 6:582–590.
- Ezzat VA, Lee V, Ahsan S, et al. A systematic review of ICD complications in randomised controlled trials versus registries: is our 'real-world' data an underestimation? Open Heart. 2015;2:e000198.
- Hosseini SM, Moazzami K, Rozen G et al. Utilization and in-hospital complications of cardiac resynchronization therapy: trends in the United States from 2003 to 2013. Eur Heart J. 2017.
- Haines David E, Wang Y, Curtis J. Implantable cardioverter-defibrillator registry risk score models for acute procedural complications or death after implantable cardioverter-defibrillator implantation. Circulation. 2011;123:2069–76.

Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillator Programming and Troubleshooting



Chin Lee, Kunal Shah, Sanjay Shah, and Farshad Raissi

Clinical Case

A 60 year old patient with history of syncope, non-ischemic cardiomyopathy and frequent premature ventricular contractions (PVCs) and nonsustained ventricular tachycardia on Holter monitoring and recently implanted primary prevention implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (ICD) presented with 3 ICD shocks. Figure 1 showed the electrogram (EGM) during two of the shock events. The cardiology service was consulted for management of ventricular tachycardia and possible PVC ablation.

When managing a patient with ICD shock, one must first carefully examine the ICD EGMs. This is essential and can help one determine if the shock is appropriately administered due to true ventricular arrhythmia. In addition, the patient's evaluation should encompass obtaining careful clinical history, physical exam, remote device telemetry data and other cardiac imaging and electrocardiographic recordings.

C. Lee \cdot K. Shah \cdot F. Raissi (\boxtimes)

e-man. maissi@nearm.u

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

University of California San Diego, 9452 Medical Center Dr, 3rd Floor Rm 3E-507, La Jolla, CA 92037, USA e-mail: fraissi@health.ucsd.edu

S. Shah University of Arkansas Veterans Administration Healthcare System, Fayetteville, AR 72701, USA

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6 12







Fig. 1 (continued)

Basic Programming of the Pacemaker Function for Defibrillator

The principles of pacing for bradycardia or atrioventricular (AV) block carry over to the realm of defibrillators. All modern ICDs have the full suite of pacing capabilities that allows maintenance of AV synchrony if have dual chamber leads (both right atrial and right ventricular lead) implanted, or provide just back up pacing if have single right ventricular (RV) lead. When possible, the reduction of RV pacing is beneficial to reduce adverse remodeling, dyssynchrony and improve clinical outcomes [1].

ICD Shocks and Inappropriate Shocks

ICDs improve patients' survival with timely and effective delivery of high-voltage discharge for arrhythmias which can potentially result in sudden cardiac death. These arrhythmias include incessant or repetitive ventricular tachycardia (VT) or ventricular fibrillation (VF). ICD shocks for reasons other than these fatal ventricular arrhythmias are deemed inappropriate. These etiologies include supraventricular tachycardias (atrial fibrillation, atrial flutter or sinus tachycardia), T-wave or P-wave oversensing, electrical noise and electromagnetic interferences (see below for details).

Approximately 10–20% of patients with ICDs may experience inappropriate ICD shocks [2–4]. Inappropriate shocks can result in several issues, such as increased mortality, increased hospitalizations, and long-lasting fear and trauma from ICD treatments.

Defibrillator Anti-tachycardia Detection and Therapy Setting

All ICDs rely on detection criteria to determine if therapy will be administered. The arrhythmia must exceed the heart rate and duration (expressed as number of beats or time intervals in seconds) criteria to trigger anti-tachycardia therapy, which includes, anti-tachycardia pacing (ATP) and defibrillation. The goal of programming is to minimize unnecessary therapy and shocks by allowing non-sustained arrhythmias to terminate spontaneously, while not compromise patient safety. In PREPARE and MADIT-RIT trials (Table 1), programming strategies to prolong arrhythmia detection time and to deliver therapy at higher rates have shown to reduce shocks and are associated with lower all-cause mortality [5–7]. In the most recent 2019 h focused update on optimal ICD programming and testing guideline (Table 1), similar strategies have been recommended for device programming [8].

ICD Criteria to Minimize Inappropriate Shocks

One of the common causes of inappropriate shocks is supraventricular tachycardia (SVT) with rapid ventricular response triggering the rate and duration criteria for therapy. Dual chamber systems can significantly minimize inappropriate shocks [9]. There are different SVT discriminators employed by ICDs to differentiate SVT from VT:

Table 1 Summarize the detection, therapy, and SVT discriminator setting recommended by the 2019 focused update to the 2015 expert consensus statement on optimal implantable cardioverter-defibrillator programming and testing

3, 240 or 250 BPM			Contract of the second s	MICHINA	I'V-I MARK	PKEPAKE
15, 137 BPM	VF: 30 of 40 intervals, 21 8MM VT2 30 intervals, 38 8MM VT1: Monitor sone	Devised Therapy Option: W: 8 of 0 option: 30 option: second analyce, 300 BM Second analyce, 155 BPM VTL: Monitor store	Migh-Rate Therapy Option: VI: 8 of 10 intervals juna 2.5. seconds duration, 300 BPM VT1: Monitor some	WT 304 dis liteonali, 188 BMM** PMT-con VT-con VT Monder: User discretion	Celevan These Celevan These 12.3 second monitoring, 20 BMA VI: 2.5 second a VI: 1.3 second monitoring, 200 BMA VII. Monitor con VII. 60 second monitoring, 10 BMA VII. Monitor con	Option: VV: 3.0 C document. 2.0 EVM antitrating: VV: Monitor zones. 1.22. EVM
s, 240 or 250 BPM dis, 187 BPM, or 10-20 VT rate 10-20 bpm less than itor zone	VF: 24 of 30 intervals, 231 BPM VT2: 30 intervals, 188 BPM, or 30 20 BPM less than VT rate VT1: Therapy at 30-20 BPM less than VT rate	VF: 5-seconds duration, 250 BPM. VT: 12-seconds duration, 185 BPM. VT1: Monitor zone, or therapy at 3+ less than VT rate.	or 10-20 8PM less than VT rate 12-second duration, 10-20 BPM	VF: 30 of 40 intervals, 188 BPM PVT: 0fr VT: 24 intervals, 10 20 BPM less than VT rate VT Montor: User discretion		
				**Consider MADRT-RIT detection setting (delayed therapy or high-rate therapy option).		
Abbott	Biotronik	Boston St	cientific	Medtronk	MADIT-RIT	PREPARE
charging, 8 pulses at e length (15% faster its shock 4.6.1 below is other shocks at max unst with 8 pulses at e length, All shocks at i VF zone.	VF: ATP 1x burst of 8 pulses at BRS of VT cycle length. Max output shools. VT2: TP-3 burst with 8 pulses at 886 of VT cycle length. All phools at max output like VF phools at max output like VF 2006. VT1: Monitor zone or therapy as VT2 but forom more ATP.	VF: QuickConnert ON to 300 8944 () coppor. VT: ATP with >-1 burts, 8 pulses a VT: ATP with >-1 burts, 8 pulses a vT: ATP with >-1 burts, 8 pulses a vT: utt strengt as VT but forest more VTI: threapy as VT but forest more	f available). All shocks at mare 188% of VT cycle length. All ATP.	Yrs, Lyn Belorc Analys, Max oppie (2006). Yrs, Phyweithy - Xi bonch, 8 pulses at 88% of Vr optie length. All shocks at max output.	Vr. After and all shows are adjusted and an adjusted and and and a start adjusted and and adjusted and adjusted and adjusted and adjusted and adjusted adjuste	VF-3. All others an ana surgers: VF-3. All others are a surgers, a applies are BNs of VT cycle length. All holders are an output.
Abbott	Biotronik	Boston St	cientific	Medtronic	MADIT-RIT	PREPARE
bology: ON, 90%, 3 of Une	MorphMatch: ON * Onset: OF Stability: OFF Sustained VT Timer: OFF	Athythm ID (morphology and timing)- ON	Wawter (morphology): ON Lumiz: 260 ms(230 bpm) Stability: OFF Disect: OFF	Rhythm ID: ON	Morphology: ON Consider other SVT discriminators
ediogr. ON, 90%, 3 ef et: On sy: On 230 bpm filon Timeout: OFF neout: OFF Auto Update 30 days accing filytteretis ON	SANAT: ON (default settings or adapted to known VT)	KD: Rinthm ID (morphology and timing Cart-0: Covert/Stability ON or RhythmID: O Covert/Stability ON or RhythmID: O SVT Discrimination available only u	j: ON M p to 200 term	Waver fragment and subface for 3 month) Waver (monthaling): On Science 200 m(228 bpm) Sublishy Orf		Monohanger ON Consider other SYT distriminators
	 If Narrow QAS and sufficient far field amplitude, if not then Orset: 20% and Stability: 48 ms 					
19 4 5 9 2 2 8 9 9 6 4 8 2 2 12 5 2 6 6 2 3 4 1 5 5 6 6 2 3 4 5 5 5 6 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 5 7 6 7 5 7 5	er construction of the second	S20 Stom frust thus TT, Threader at 150 St Brive Levis BOLT BULT Transact at 150 St Brive Levis BULT BUDTONIK BULT BUDTONIK BULT BUDTONIK BULTONIK BUDTONIK BUDTONIK BUDTONIK	Solution fast the proving a factor of the VT rate Dent VT rate Dent VT rate Bott of the VT shot of the VT shot of the DD factor of the VT shot of the DD factor factor of the D	0.5.0 Spen rust the how V rates 01.1 Throng vir 12.5.0 BM virs. how V rates 00.0105 Scientific bbtt Bbtt Bbtt Bottomik Dottomik bbtt Bbtt Bottomik Dottomik Dottomik volge 15.8 kinst volge 15.8 kinst v	5.5 Signing that the for the contract of the	Schörgen nacht der Geronien Untweiser Liter dispersion Untweiser Liter dispersion Untweiser Liter dispersion Untweiser dispersion Bott Bott Bottonik Untweiser dispersion "Consider house on the options" Montrial Bott Bottonik Bottonik Dottonik Bottonik Montrial Montrial Bottonik Bottonik Bottonik Bottonik Montrial Montrial Bottonik Bottonik Montrial Montrial Montrial Montrial Bottonik Montrial Montrial Montrial Montrial Montrial Bottonik </td

- AV dissociation (only available in dual chamber systems, or Biotronik DX system with atrial sensing in a single RV lead ICD)—this discriminator compares the A:V relationship during tachycardia, and common SVT such as atrial fibrillation (AF) or atrial flutter (AFL) often have A > V. AV dissociation is not a fault-proof algorithm. In VT with 1:1 retrograde conduction (A=V), or in "dual tachycardia" where SVT such as atrial fibrillation can occur simultaneously with VT leading to difficulty classifying the arrhythmia. It has been estimated that over half of all ICD patients may develop atrial fibrillations, and therefore, it is always important to review the interrogation tracing for SVT as a cause of inappropriate shocks [10].
- Morphology—ventricular EGM is templated during sinus rhythm and often automatically updated. The morphology template is used for comparison during tachycardia. During ventricular arrhythmia, the ventricular EGM will be different from the template in sinus rhythm, and help categorize the tachycardia as ventricular arrhythmia. Some of the challenges to morphology discriminator are conditions that can alter baseline ventricular EGM morphology. For instance, SVT with aberrancy, distortion from myopotentials [11], and errors in EGM alignment [12], are all conditions that would alter the ventricular EGM morphology.
- Interval Stability—monitor for irregularity during tachycardia to differentiate SVT such as atrial fibrillation (common coexisting arrhythmia and cause of inappropriate shock) from ventricular arrhythmia.
- Onset—physiologic sinus tachycardia would have gradual onset in rate as patient increases exertion level as compared to ventricular arrhythmia with sudden onset in tachycardia.

Management of ICD Shocks

When ICD shock occurs, one must determine if the therapy is appropriate by determining if a true VT has occurred. ICD will deliver anti-tachycardia therapy for any arrhythmia that meet the detection criteria. The most common cause of inappropriate shocks is SVT. Thus, the first step for caring for a patient with ICD shock is to determine whether a true VT had occurred.

The following algorithm (Fig. 2) provides a basic framework for analyzing stored EGM in both single and dual chamber ICD [13]. In dual chamber device, by analyzing the atrial and ventricular relationship provider can often determine if an event was due to VT. When analyzing the EGM, if the ventricular rate is greater than the atrial rate (V>A), it is most likely VT. If the atrial rate is greater than the ventricular rate (A>V), then it is likely SVT. However, one should also consider dual tachycardia. For VT, the EGM should show a tachycardia event in the VT zone with a stable V-V interval with no relation to the atrial EGM (AV dissociation) [14]. An exception to AV dissociation rule is when patients maintained 1:1 V to A conduction during VT, which can occur in up to 26% of patient [15]. In situations where the atrial rate and ventricular rate are approximately equal, clues



Fig. 2 Basic algorithm for analyzing ICD shocks. (Modified from Swerdlow et al. PACE 2005;28:1322–1346)

suggesting SVT include a stable V-V interval, a stable A-A interval, and a stable A-V interval. In situations where VT with 1:1 retrograde conduction occur, one can analyze the EGM to assess if changes in the V-V interval drives changes in the A-A interval, or vice versa [16]. In single chamber device, determining SVT from VT is more difficult because only ventricular events are stored and must rely on the SVT discriminators (morphology, interval stability, and sudden onset) previously discussed (Fig. 2).

Any arrhythmia which meets the VF zone heart rate and duration criteria will be labeled as VF and SVT discriminators are bypassed to minimize delay in therapy given the hemodynamic compromise during VF, or other rapid tachyarrhythmia.

Common Causes of Inappropriate ICD Shocks

Majority of inappropriate shocks are due to atrial arrhythmias meeting ventricular tachyarrhythmia zone therapy criteria. Although less common, the device may also be oversensing intracardiac/extracardiac signals, such as noise from lead failure, diaphragmatic myopotential (seen in unipolar sensing), or T-wave oversensing. The following table reviews the common causes of inappropriate shocks.

Arrhythmias	
Atrial arrhythmias (e.g. atrial fibrillation, atrial flutter, atrial tachycardia, other SVTs)	 Consider increasing medical therapy for rate control (e.g. beta blocker, calcium channel blocker) In patient with atrial fibrillation or atrial flutter, consider rhythm control strategy (e.g. EP study and ablation) or AV node ablation, if unable to control the ventricular rate Consider increasing the VT zone rates and/or programming a prolonged delay in therapy
Sinus tachycardia	 Enable and optimize SVT discrimination (re-template ventricular morphology, gradual onset in heart rate with sinus tachycardia) Check the VT detection rate, which may be set too low
Oversensing Intracardiac S	ignals
Noise from lead failure (insulation break, lead fracture, loose set screws, header-connec- tion problem)	 Erratic noise or artifacts on EGM. Typically, there is a high frequency signal on the ventricular channel with no relation to the cardiac cycle leading to inappropriate classification of the non-physiologic short V-V interval noise as a ventricular arrhythmia Common to see abrupt changes in lead impedance (high imped- ance with fracture; low impedance with insulation break) Pacing with failure to capture Can manually manipulate the pocket during device interrogation to see if this high frequency signal is reproduced Obtain 2 view chest x-ray to check for lead fracture Disable anti-tachycardia therapy. Consider wearable defibrillator (e.g. LifeVest) while waiting for lead revision if patient is high-risk for ventricular arrhythmia Consider lead extraction and/or revision
T-wave oversensing	 T-wave oversensing is caused by relative large T wave to R wave amplitude, resulting in double counting of each beat (count- ing QRS and T as two separate beats) and may lead to ICD falsely classifying a sinus rhythm or SVT as ventricular arrhythmia Update template of ventricular EGM Use different ventricular sensing vectors to get larger R waves allowing for elimination of T-wave oversensing If the R/T ratio is large (R wave amplitude is larger than T wave), can use programming to minimize T wave oversensing using manufacturer oversensing attenuation algorithm including morphology discriminators, T-wave blank period, and high-pass filtering Program to lower the sensitivity could be attempted. Avoid extreme adjustments (>0.6 mV) because could lead to under detec- tion of true ventricular tachyarrhythmias If above fail, consider reposition of the ICD lead

Arrhythmias	
P-wave oversensing (oversensing far-field atrial signal)	 P-wave oversensing is a rare cause of inappropriate shocks. Oversensing of the P waves as R waves due to far-field signal can lead to inappropriate ventricular tachyarrhythmia detection and therapy. This often occurs when the patient is in atrial tachyar- rhythmias (e.g. atrial fibrillation or flutter) [13] It has been described in placement of RV lead in the coronary sinus [17], and in integrated bipolar ICD lead with the ventricular coil (sensing coil) at close proximity to the tricuspid valve annulus due to dislodgement [18] Obtain 2 view PA-lateral chest x-ray to check for ICD lead position. If the ICD lead did not appear to have been dislodged or misplaced in the coronary sinus, can try to program to reduce ven- tricular sensitivity. If with reduced ventricular sensitivity and the device cannot reliably detect ventricular arrhythmia, then should plan for ICD lead revision [13] In cases with lead misplacement to coronary sinus or lead dis- lodgement, plan for ICD lead revision
Oversensing Extracardiac	Signal
Myopotential (skeletal muscle or diaphragmatic oversensing)	 Often seen when using unipolar sensing on the RV lead, which is sometimes employed if has low R wave sensing with bipolar configuration. Myopotentials have high frequency pattern on EGM and may be misinterpreted as ventricular arrhythmias If suspect diaphragmatic oversensing, may try to reproduce the phenomena by exaggerating diaphragmatic motion including deep inspiration, harsh coughing, or Valsalva maneuver If suspect skeletal muscle oversensing, reproduce with isometric exercises of the upper extremities and torso [19] Change the sensing vector and employ bipolar sensing to prevent oversensing (assuming have adequate R wave sensing in bipolar mode)
Electromagnetic interfer- ence (e.g. welding)	1. Avoid source of electromagnetic interference 2. If patient is unable to avoid the EMI (e.g. career welder), take precaution to limit EMI by using lower welding current (160 Amps) or nonelectric welding. Maintain a distance from the weld- ing machine for more than 2 feet from the device pocket, attach the ground clamp to the metal as near as possible to the point of welding, and allow at least 5 to 10 s between welding bursts. Nonconductive gloves should be worn by the operator [20]

Subcutaneous ICD

Subcutaneous ICD (S-ICD) behaves similarly as a single lead transvenous ICD and have arrhythmia discriminators employed to minimize inappropriate shock (for more details see Chap. 13). S-ICD relies on template morphology during sinus rhythm to compare with during tachyarrhythmia. S-ICD also has a heart rate zone and duration criteria to satisfy prior to categorizing an arrhythmia as ventricular tachyarrhythmia. Gold et al. have shown that "dual zone programming" utilizing the arrhythmia discriminators can reduce inappropriate shock rate from 12 to 6.4% [21]. More so than transvenous system, S-ICDs have a high rate of inappropriate shocks (73% of cases) due to T-wave oversensing [22]. Pre-implant screening involves identifying candidates with appropriate QRS to T wave ratio in supine and upright positions on selectable vectors. Despite screening, T-wave morphology may change with exercise or changes in position that lead to T-wave oversensing (double-counting T waves as QRS).

Evaluation for T-wave oversensing involve trying different vectors to try to maximize R/T wave ratio. Treadmill exercise evaluation is also reasonable especially if prior inappropriate shocks occur during exercise given how T wave morphology can change with exertion. If reprogramming fail, then may need to consider revise the position of the S-ICD lead and/or generator for better R-wave detection relative to T-wave. Alternatively, changing to a transvenous ICD system can also be considered [20].

Case Conclusion

The patient's device interrogation revealed new-onset atrial fibrillation with rapid ventricular response. Careful examination of ICD EGMs showed that the ventricular arrhythmia was first labeled an SVT by the device (Fig. 1, panel 1). However, as the ventricular rate was accelerated after delivery of ATPs, it is labeled as VF as it met the VF zone heart rate and duration criteria, and hence committing the device to treat it as VF. When this occurred, SVT discriminators were bypassed and shocks were administered (Fig. 1, Panels 2–4). The first ICD discharge did not resolve the tachycardia. However, the second ICD discharge temporarily terminated atrial fibrillation and rapid ventricular response (Fig. 1, Panel 5).

Patient was admitted for management of new-onset atrial fibrillation with rapid ventricular response, acute heart failure exacerbation, and inappropriate shocks. After diuresis and management of his heart failure, he was converted back into sinus rhythm with IV amiodarone and started on antiarrhythmic drug and beta blocker for aggressive rhythm management and rate control. His ICD settings were also reprogrammed for higher VF zone detection rate and updated ventricular morphology templates.

Key Points

- The common cause of inappropriate shocks is SVT with rapid ventricular response.
- Any arrhythmia which results in rapid ventricular rate meeting the VF zone heart rate and duration criteria will be labeled as VF and SVT discriminators are bypassed to minimize delay in therapy.
- ICD out-of-box nominal settings are often conservative with the heart rate criteria and can lead to inappropriate shocks. Results from MADIT-RIT trial have shown that programming strategies to prolonged arrhythmia detection time and delivery therapy at higher heart rates have shown to reduce shocks without compromising safety, and are associated with lower all-cause mortality.
- Inappropriate shocks can be mostly managed with addition of medical therapy, reprogramming ICD settings, and on occasions catheter-based ablative treatment of SVTs.
- Infrequently, lead extraction and/or revision are required to resolve inappropriate shocks.

References

- Kiehl EL, Makki T, Kumar R, Gumber D, Kwon DH, Rickard JW, Cantillon DJ et al. Incidence and predictors of right ventricular pacing-induced cardiomyopathy in patients with complete atrioventricular block and preserved left ventricular systolic function. Heart Rhythm. 2016; 13(12):2272–2278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrthm.2016.09.027.
- Daubert JP, Zareba W, Cannom DS, McNitt S, Rosero SZ, Wang P et al. MADIT II Investigators. (2008). Inappropriate implantable cardioverter-defibrillator shocks in MADIT II: frequency, mechanisms, predictors, and survival impact. J Am Coll Cardiol. 51(14):1357–1365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2007.09.073.
- van Rees JB, Borleffs CJW, de Bie MK, Stijnen T, van Erven L, Bax JJ, Schalij MJ. Inappropriate implantable cardioverter-defibrillator shocks: incidence, predictors, and impact on mortality. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;57(5):556–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jacc.2010.06.059.
- 4. Banning AS, Ng GA. Driving and arrhythmia: a review of scientific basis for international guidelines. Eur Heart J. 2013;34(3):236–44. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehs356.
- Moss AJ, Schuger C, Beck CA, Brown MW, Cannom DS, Daubert JP, MADIT-RIT Trial Investigators et al. Reduction in inappropriate therapy and mortality through ICD programming. New Engl J Med. 367(24):2275–2283. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1211107.
- Wilkoff BL, Williamson BD, Stern RS, Moore SL, Lu F, Lee SW, PREPARE Study Investigators et al. Strategic programming of detection and therapy parameters in implantable cardioverter-defibrillators reduces shocks in primary prevention patients: results from the PREPARE (Primary Prevention Parameters Evaluation) study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008; 52(7):541–550. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2008.05.011.
- Scott PA, Silberbauer J, McDonagh TA, Murgatroyd FD. Impact of prolonged implantable cardioverter-defibrillator arrhythmia detection times on outcomes: a meta-analysis. Heart Rhythm. 2014;11(5):828–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrthm.2014.02.009.
- Stiles MK, Fauchier L, Morillo CA, Wilkoff BL, ESC Scientific Document Group et al. 2019 HRS/EHRA/APHRS/LAHRS focused update to 2015 expert consensus
statement on optimal implantable cardioverter-defibrillator programming and testing. Ep European Pacing Arrhythmias Cardiac Electrophysiol J Working Groups Cardiac Pacing, Arrhythmias, and Cardiac Cellular Electrophysiol European Soc Cardiol. 2019; 21(9):1442–1443. https://doi.org/10.1093/europace/euz065.

- Friedman PA, McClelland RL, Bamlet WR, Acosta H, Kessler D, Munger TM, Glikson M. Dual-chamber versus single-chamber detection enhancements for implantable defibrillator rhythm diagnosis: the detect supraventricular tachycardia study. Circulation. 2006; 113(25):2871–2879. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.594531.
- Schmitt C, Montero M, Melichercik J. Significance of supraventricular tachyarrhythmias in patients with implanted pacing cardioverter defibrillators. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 1994;17(3):295–302. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-8159.1994.tb01391.x.
- Mizukami K, Yokoshiki H, Mitsuyama H, Watanabe M, Tenma T, Kamada R, Tsutsui H. Influence of myopotential interference on the Wavelet discrimination algorithm in implantable cardioverter-defibrillator. J Arrhythmia. 2017; 33(3):214–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. joa.2016.08.005.
- Swerdlow CD, Brown ML, Lurie K, Zhang J, Wood NM, Olson WH, Gillberg JM. Discrimination of ventricular tachycardia from supraventricular tachycardia by a downloaded wavelet-transform morphology algorithm: a paradigm for development of implantable cardioverter defibrillator detection algorithms. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2002;13(5):432–41. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1540-8167.2002.00432.x.
- 13. Swerdlow CD, Friedman PA. Advanced ICD Troubleshooting: Part I. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2005;28(12):1322–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-8159.2005.00275.x.
- Ruiz-Granell R, Dovellini EV, Dompnier A, Khalighi K, García-Campo E, Olivier A, Ritter P. Algorithm-based reduction of inappropriate defibrillator shock: results of the inappropriate shock reduction with parad+rhythm discrimination-implantable cardioverter defibrillator study. Heart Rhythm. 2019; 16(9):1429–1435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. hrthm.2019.03.016.
- Militianu A, Salacata A, Meissner MD, Grill C, Mahmud R, Palti AJ, Lehmann MH. Ventriculoatrial conduction capability and prevalence of 1:1 retrograde conduction during inducible sustained monomorphic ventricular tachycardia in 305 implantable cardioverter defibrillator recipients. Pacing and clinical electrophysiology: PACE. 1997; 20(10 Pt 1):2378–2384. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-8159.1997.tb06074.x.
- Cardoso RN, Healy C, Viles-Gonzalez J, Coffey JO. ICD discrimination of SVT versus VT with 1:1 V-A conduction: A review of the literature. Indian Pacing Electrophysiol J. 2015;15(5):236–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ipej.2016.02.006.
- Almomani A, Abualsuod A, Paydak H, Peer W, Maskoun W. Chronic lead malposition diagnosis and management: discussion of two cases and literature review. Clin Case Rep. 2017;5(3):270–6. https://doi.org/10.1002/ccr3.819.
- Kadmon E, Kusniec J, Strasberg B. A life-threatening arrhythmia induced by inappropriate activation of an implantable cardioverter defibrillator. EP Europace. 2009;11(12):1716–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/europace/eup257.
- Sweeney MO, Ellison KE, Shea JB, Newell JB. Provoked and spontaneous high-frequency, low-amplitude, respirophasic noise transients in patients with implantable cardioverter defibrillators. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2001;12(4):402–10. https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1540-8167.2001.00402.x.
- Ellenbogen KA, Wilkoff BL, Kay G, Lau CP, Auricchio A. Clinical cardiac pacing, defibrillation, and resynchronization therapy, 5th Edn. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier, Inc.; 2017, 1232 p. ISBN: 978-0-323-37804-8.: BOOK REVIEW (Vol. 40). Retrieved from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/pace.12992.
- 21. Gold MR, Weiss R, Theuns DAMJ, Smith W, Leon A, Knight BP, Burke MC. Use of a discrimination algorithm to reduce inappropriate shocks with a subcutaneous implantable

cardioverter-defibrillator. Heart Rhythm. 2014; 11(8):1352–1358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. hrthm.2014.04.012.

Olde Nordkamp LRA, Brouwer TF, Barr C, Theuns DAMJ, Boersma LVA, Johansen JB, Knops RE et al. Inappropriate shocks in the subcutaneous ICD: Incidence, predictors and management. Int J Cardiol. 2015; 195:126–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.05.135.

Use of the Subcutaneous Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillator in Patients with Heart Failure



Paul S. Bibby, Walid Barake, and Siva K. Mulpuru

Case Vignette

A seventy-two-year-old male with a history of dilated cardiomyopathy, paroxysmal atrial fibrillation, with previous atrial fibrillation and ventricular tachycardia ablations presents to the clinic with complaints of subcutaneous implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (S-ICD) shocks. Interrogation of the device shows a normally functioning defibrillator (SQ-RX 1010, Boston Scientific, Natick, MA) with appropriate stable lead impedance status. The device is currently programmed in the secondary sensing configuration (Fig. 1). Conditional shock zone was programmed to start at 190 beats per minute (bpm), and shock zone was programmed at 220 bpm. The device interrogation reveals one treated episode since the last follow-up. The presenting electrogram shows a regular sensed rhythm at 70 beats per minute with intermittent PVC's (Fig. 2). Upon review of the shock episode, it appears that the patient was shocked due to T-wave oversensing (TWOS), not due to a true ventricular arrhythmia. Some key observations in Fig. 3 include delivery of S-ICD shock; programmed sensing vector, programmed detection zones and the rhythm at the time of the shock appears to be atrial fibrillation around 120 bpm with TWOS leading to double counting of the QRS complexes and inappropriate S-ICD therapy. However, his current rhythm in clinic was regular and most likely sinus rhythm. It is possible the shock from his device cardioverted the patient out of atrial fibrillation and into sinus rhythm.

P. S. Bibby

Heart Rhythm Services, Mayo Clinic, Phoenix, AZ, USA

W. Barake · S. K. Mulpuru (⊠) Heart Rhythm Services, Mayo Clinic, 200, 1st Street SW, Rochester, MN, USA e-mail: Mulpuru.siva@mayo.edu

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_13



Fig. 1 The can of the SICD system is placed laterally on the chest wall. The lead is tunneled in the subcutaneous plane. There are three sensing vectors, as illustrated in the figure

Introduction to Subcutaneous Implantable Defibrillators

The S-ICD system is a defibrillator that is implanted under the skin and provides an electric shock for the treatment of ventricular tachyarrhythmias. The leads are totally extravascular in the S-ICD system. The advantages of the S-ICD system include minimal risk of vascular damage, thrombosis, tricuspid valve dysfunction, and systemic infection. As the system is totally extravascular the risks associated with removal are minor compared to ones associated with transvenous lead extraction. The system can also be implanted in patients with vascular issues such as occluded veins, hemodialysis sites, or congenital abnormalities. There are certain limitations of the S-ICD system. These include inability to pace for bradyarrhythmias or cardiac resynchronization therapy, inability to deliver anti-tachycardia pacing for tachyarrhythmias and delivery of inappropriate shocks due changes in sensed electrogram.



Fig. 2 The top panel shows the programmed setting on the device. The bottom panel shows the episode summary for the shock and the sensed electrograms. There was one treated episode during which two shocks were delivered

Historical Perspective

The first investigational device exemption (IDE) study patient was enrolled in 2010. Cameron Health, Inc., was acquired by Boston Scientific and the SQ-RX 1010 S-ICD device received FDA approval for use in the United States in the year 2012. The current version of S-ICD is approximately twenty percent smaller than the previous SQ-RX 1010 model, and it has better battery longevity, MRI conditional labeling in a 1.5 T environment, home monitoring with Latitude NXT, and an atrial fibrillation detection algorithm.



Fig. 3 Electrograms during the episode reveal T wave over sensing and delivery of inappropriate therapy. The panels reveal more markers than QRS complexes

Basic Information

The S-ICD system delivers up to eighty-joule shocks to treat tachyarrhythmias. The newer Boston Scientific Emblem platform devices have atrial fibrillation detection algorithms and can detect overall burden of atrial fibrillation in addition to ventricular arrhythmia burden. The following are the main features of the current generation device.

- The battery can last approximately five to seven years and they can deliver up to one-hundred shocks per device [1].
- It is safe to perform CPR on a patient while these devices are delivering therapies.
- A magnet placed over the device will suspend ICD therapies, and the device will beep while the magnet is placed over the device for the first sixty seconds. The device does have an auditory alert when it reaches its elective replacement indicator, or if detects a prolonged charge time, failed device integrity check, irregular battery depletion, or impedances out of range.
- The current generation of the device MRI conditional; however, the MRI magnet field can render the auditory alert tones inoperable, so the benefits of the MRI scan should be considered vs. the risks of disabling the auditory alert. The

S-ICD device has three different sensing configurations. The device detects arrhythmias based upon an X/Y criterion (typically 18/24 for initial detection of arrhythmia and 14/24 for redetection).

- The S-ICD can deliver post-shock pacing for up to thirty seconds at fifty beats per minute and can store up to forty-five arrhythmia episodes for review.
- Similar to trans-venous implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (TV-ICD), the S-ICD involves a pulse generator (device) and a shocking lead/electrode (Fig. 1). The pulse generator is implanted subcutaneously in the left lateral mid-axillary line. The lead, comprising an 8 cm shocking coil, is tunneled subcutaneously along the left parasternal border [2, 3]. The lead also contains proximal and distal sensing electrodes positioned on each side of the shocking coil.
- The S-ICD delivers up to 80 Joule-shock for defibrillation of ventricular dysrhythmias. For the same arrhythmia episode, the S-ICD delivers up to a maximum of 5 shocks. Following the initial shock, the polarity reverses between the electrodes in subsequent shocks. The device will provide demand pacing at 50 beats per minute (bpm) following defibrillation if ventricular asystole of 3.5 s or more is detected.
- Unlike TV-ICDs that sense using closely spaced electrodes, the S-ICD detects the rhythm using two widely spaced electrodes or one of the sensing electrodes and the generator. Thus, the electrograms generated are morphologically similar to the surface electrocardiograms (ECG) with distinct QRS-T morphology. The pulse generator, acting as an optional sensing electrode, in addition to the sensing electrodes allow for three sensing vectors.
- Upon implantation, the device will automatically recommend the optimal vector to distinguish the QRS complex from the T wave and avoid double counting. The vector can be selected manually, as well. The sensing algorithm of cardiac events encompasses three different phases: 1-Detection phase, 2-Certification phase, and 3-Decision phase [3–5].

Indications and Current Evidence of Subcutaneous Implantable Cardioverter-Defibrillators

Subcutaneous implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (S-ICD) is not the best choice for every patient requiring an ICD (Table 1). Although S-ICDs address the need for vascular access and high infection risk, they have limitations and are contraindicated in some individuals. At large, S-ICD should be avoided in the following scenarios (Fig. 4):

- Anticipated need for bradycardia pacing
- Anticipated need for anti-tachycardia pacing (ATP) /known ventricular tachycardia
- Need for cardiac resynchronization therapy
- Ineligible patients based on pre-implantation surface ECG screening.



Fig. 4 The top panel reveals intermittent wide-complex beats. LBBB developed during wide exercise (middle strip resulting in persistent wide complex rhythm and T wave oversensing). T wave oversensing was not noted in the primary sensing configuration (bottom panel)

Table 1 Appropriate indications and contraindications for SICD therapy

Appropriate candidate for S-ICD	Inappropriate candidate for S-ICD
Poor venous access	Need for bradycardia pacing
Dialysis patients	Need for cardiac resynchronization
Immunosuppression	Known VT (need for anti-tachycardia pacing)
Prior device system infection	Failed ECG screening
History of lead failure	High risk for inappropriate shocks
Younger patients	
Primary prevention	
History of endocarditis	
Life expectancy >1 year	
Prosthetic valve or chronic vascular catheters	

As per the 2017 AHA/ACC/HRS guidelines for the management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death [6], S-ICDs are to be considered in the following circumstances:

- Young patients with a desire to avoid long term chronic transvenous leads
- Patients with inadequate vascular access
- Individuals are at high risk for infection or have indwelling venous catheters
- Patients in whom pacing for bradycardia, ATP or CRT is neither needed nor anticipated

Several baseline clinical characteristics are useful in the selection of patients suitable for S-ICD implantation. Substantial predictors for the inappropriateness of S-ICD have been identified in retrospective cohorts such as secondary prevention indication, severe heart failure and prolonged QRS duration [7].

In the absence of randomized data to guide the selection of S-ICD over TV-ICD, the S-ICD remains currently a class I recommendation for patients at high risk for infection or without adequate venous access, in the absence of an indication for pacing or ATP as per the 2017 AHA/ACC/HRS guidelines. Several clinical, demographic and procedural characteristics are to be considered when selecting appropriate patients for S-ICD implantation (Table 1).

Screening

A screening ECG tool was developed to assess the appropriateness of S-ICD before device implantation. This tool helps identify patients at risk for inappropriate shocks due to T-wave over-sensing errors (Figs. 5 and 6). It detects patients who have relatively large or late T-waves using all three vectors by simulating the device sensing vectors. This ECG screening tool is completed using the Boston Scientific Latitude Programming System. Three ECG leads are placed on the patient, and the ECG electrode LL should be placed in a lateral location at the fifth intercostal space along the mid-axillary line, representing the intended location of the implanted pulse generator. The ECG electrode LA should be placed one centimeter left lateral of the xiphoid midline to represent the intended location of the proximal sensing electrode. The ECG electrode RA should be placed approximately fourteen centimeters superior to the ECG electrode LA to represent the position of the distal sensing tip of the electrode. It is important to use new surface electrodes to get a clean ECG signal during this testing. The screening should be completed with the patient in a supine position and sitting or standing positions. Some clinics even obtain baseline exercise testing to make sure there are no significant changes to the T-waves during exercise that would lead to inappropriate ICD therapies. It is estimated that up to 15% of patients are ineligible for an S-ICD due to susceptibility to T-wave over-sensing. A scoring system (PRAETORIAN score) was developed as well and is based on clinical and computer modeling determinants that influence the defibrillation threshold (DFT):



Fig. 5 The figure illustrates the SICD detection, discrimination and therapy delivery algorithm. The detection phase includes signal filtering with a bandpass and notch filters. The notch filter is programmed based on the time zone selected. A SMART pass filter may be activated during set up. This filter uses a 9-Hz high pass filter to reduce the amplitude of low-frequency signals (such as T waves). This SMART pass filter is only applied for sensing QRS for event rate determination, hence does not affect the QRS morphology. Similar to the sensing process used by the TV-ICDs, the QRS is sensed and predetermined blanking periods followed by sensitivity decays are activated to avoid T-wave over-sensing. The sensitivity decay, however tracks three different patterns - one for slow heart rates, one for the conditional tachycardia zone, and another for the shock zone, with increasing sensitivity to avoid VF under-sensing. The sensing threshold is adapted based on the two preceding QRS complexes amplitude. The device uses a low sensing floor of 0.08 mV and a low high-pass filter of 3 Hz that cannot be changed to ensure VF detection. The certification phase then uses the illustrated algorithms to distinguish QRS components from electromagnetic interference, myopotentials, T waves, and R-wave double counting. Finally, the decision phase is where the rhythm is analyzed using the certified beats for heart rate calculation. If the heart rate falls in the shock zone, defibrillation shock will be delivered. If the rate falls in the conditional zone, discrimination morphology analyses will be applied prior to final shock decision

sub-coil fat, sub-generator fat, and anterior positioning of the device pulse generator, as shown in Fig. 7, taken from Quast et al., Heart Rhythm, 2018.

This score was evaluated and validated in 321 patients using those elements on the postoperative chest radiographs. The score has three groups: 30–<90 points—low risk, 90–<150 points—intermediate risk, and >150 points representing a high



Fig. 6 The automated ECG screening tool for SICD system (reproduced with permission from Boston Scientific)



Fig. 7 PRAETORIAN risk score to predict defibrillation failure (Quast et al. Heart Rhythm, 2018)

risk of DFT testing failure. The positive predictive value for an intermediate or high PRAETORIAN score for a failed conversion test was 51%, while a low PRAETORIAN score predicted a successful conversion in 99.8% of patients.

Implant techniques: The S ICD implant procedure can be performed in the electrophysiology laboratory or in the operating room. The procedure can be performed with regional anesthesia techniques, monitored anesthesia care, or under general anesthesia (Fig. 8). Adequate light source through a headlamp or through a source mounted on retractor is required for optimal hemostasis in patients who require larger later pocket. Meticulous skin preparation is required has the implant side is most often close to the axilla. The hair should be clipped rather than shaved to minimize the risk of infection. The patient is placed in a supine position on the operating table with the arm extended up to 60° and secured to an arm board. Care should be taken not to hyperextend the arm to prevent brachial plexus injury. Certain implanters place support below the left scapula to turn the chest more towards the right side. Fluoroscopic images in AP position may change when supports are used below the scapula. Surgical markings may be helpful and can be done with fluroscopy prior to draping. Many operators include a wide area under the drape that incorporates the sternal region, subcostal region near the xiphoid process and the lateral chest wall including the skin over the fold of the latissimus dorsi muscle in the operating field. Draping is commonly performed from mid-sternal to posterior axillary line and from clavicle region to region below the xiphoid process. When the S ICD was introduced in the market a three incision technique was commonly used. Later on a two-incision technique quickly became popular.



Fig. 8 Procedural steps for implantation of the SICD system: The patient is prepped and draped and the potential incision sites are marked (A). The incisions are taken down and the pockets are made at the fascial plane (B). The lead is tunneled from the lateral pocket to the medial lower pocket and is secured using sutures (Panels C and D). The lead tip is then tunneled to the superior pocket and secured with sutures (Panels E and F). The device is connected to the lead, and then the pocket is closed in layers (Panel G). Above figures reproduced with permission from Boston scientific

The skin is anesthetized using a local anesthetic medication. A 5–7 cm long curved incision is made along with the 5th or 6th intercostal space. Meticulous dissection should be performed to avoid cutting any muscle and to secure adequate hemostasis. Using retractors the plane between serratus anterior and latissimus dorsi should be localized. Care should be taken to create a pocket as posteriorly as feasible. Long thoracic nerve courses over the serratus anterior muscle and potentially can be damaged during the dissection process. A second pocket is created horizontally at the level of the xiphoid process. The lead is then connected to the tunneling tool and is tunneled from the medial pocket to the lateral pocket. The lead is secured to the fascia in the medial pocket using nonabsorbable sutures. Then the tunneling tool is advanced in the left parasternal region with a peel-away sheath on it. Once the tool reaches an adequate position the tool is removed and the lead inserted through the sheath. The sheath is peeled away while advancing the lead forward. In obese individuals a third pocket is created near the clavicle to secure the tip of the lead to the fascia. The device is connected to the lead and placed in the pocket.



Fig. 9 Reproduced with permission (Pacing and Cardiac Electrophysiology, Wiley). The device is placed in the plane between the latissimus dorsi and the serratus anterior muscle. The plane is closed with interrupted sutures

Most operators secure the device with non-absorbable sutures to prevent migration. The muscular pane is closed using absorbable sutures. There are two main implantation techniques: standard and intramuscular generator placement. Standard implant technique involves creating a device pocket at the fifth intercostal space between the mid and anterior axillary lines. The incision is made along the inframammary crease at the anterior edge of the latissimus dorsi. The subcutaneous tissue is dissected directly down to the muscular fascia to create the pocket. In the intramuscular implantation technique, the generator is commonly placed in a muscular plane bounded posteriorly by serratus anterior muscle and anteriorly by the latissimus dorsi muscle (Fig. 9). In both techniques, the generator is placed as posterior as possible to provide the most optimal defibrillation vector with the anterior sternal lead in order to encompass as much myocardium as possible. All the pockets are flushed with saline solution, and the skin over the lead course is milked to express any air bubbles to improve conduction. Nonphysiological signals can be seen on telemetry in patients with air bubbles over the lead. Longacting local anesthetic (liposomal bupivacaine) may be injected in the tissues to minimize patient discomfort. The first layer of pocket is closed, and sensing tests are performed. The outer layers are closed with sutured or with medical adhesive. Foam adhesive dressings with silver impregnation have been used to promote wound healing and to minimize the chance of infection. Post-operative wound management education is important for pain control and adequate healing.

Defibrillator Threshold Testing

DFT testing is required for all SICD implantations at the end of the procedure to ensure effective implantation. A DFT testing protocol is provided courtesy of Boston Scientific in Fig. 10. A high-frequency current is used to induce ventricular fibrillation. Care should be taken not to impede the contraction of shoulder muscles during DFT testing. Rare cases of shoulder dislocation have been reported [8]. Conversion of VF with 65 J shock is considered a success. If 2 or more shocks are unsuccessful the lead and or the generator position are altered to achieve an acceptable threshold. An alternative to full DFT testing in select patients is use of a 10 J command shock to test the lead impedance. An impedance of <100 ohms can be considered more likely to deliver a successful shock for VF.

What To Do When You Have a High DFT

- Air in the pocket and around the lead significantly increases impedance. If air is present, it is important to **repeat flushing & massage**.
- Perform DFT testing with at least the first layer of incisions closed.
- Check impedance. If >100 ohms consider revising lead location. Do fluroscopy to determine coil location.
- Anesthesia and anti-arrhythmic medications (amiodarone) may affect DFT
- Verify terminal pin insertion into header (rare instances)
- Change polarity of the shock waveform (standard to reverse) and repeat induction @ current output or higher.
- Consider changing generator location; depth and/or not posterior enough. The vector from lead to can should include as much of the ventricles as possible.

Follow Up Considerations

Team-based management after device implant is essential for optimal outcomes with S-ICD. Appropriate device programming, patient education, enrollment in remote monitoring and follow up are various components of the management plan. Common solutions to troubleshooting are listed in Table 2. Follow up care is listed in Fig. 10.

10 | VF Induction

10.2.1 Recommended Testing Protocol

BEST PRACTICES

For induction, the S-ICD system is typically programmed as follows:

- Conditional Shock Zone is programmed OFF.
- 2. Shock Zone is set at 170 bpm.
- Shock Therapy is programmed ON and Post Shock Pacing is programmed per physician discretion.
- 4.65 Joule Standard polarity (in case of previous implant consider latest effective polarity.
- Before starting induction testing, ensure that the device is secure in pocket with at least one layer of tissue closure at all incisions.
- Expel residual air from incision sites.
- Optimal telemetry depends on the wand being placed over the PG.
- 8. From the Patient test screen:
 - Use default energy level for conversion testing at 65 J.
 - VF is induced by 50 Hz method. This may result in pectoralis major muscle capture with abduction of the restrained arm. Care should be taken to manage the patient's arm to avoid injury.

Following the release of the Hold to Induce button, evaluate the sensing markers during the induced rhythm. The S-ICD System uses a lengthened rhythm detection period. Consistent tachy "T" markers indicate that tachyarrhythmia detection is occurring, and that capacitor charging is imminent. If a high degree of amplitude variation is noted during the arrhythmia, a slight delay may be expected prior to capacitor charging or shock delivery.¹

Upon detection and confirmation of an induced arrhythmia, the S-ICD automatically delivers a shock at the programmed energy output and polarity.

TIP



If a wedge has been used, remove for DFT and unstrap/loosen straps securing patient's arm, to prevent injury, and adduct arm as close as possible to the torso without contaminating sterile field.

60

Fig. 10 Recommended DFT Testing Protocol. Content provided courtesy of Boston Scientific. © 2020 Boston Scientific Corporation or its affiliates. All rights reserved

Challenge	Best handled
Over-sensing (P-R-T waves) /Inappropriate shocks	ECG screening of S-ICD Candidates Optimization of sensing vectors Discrimination (conditional) zone programming
Device migration or erosion	Intermuscular plane placement Secure the device with two sutures Device extraction, revision or replacement
Lead dislodgement or migration	Prevention by the use of suture sleeves (anchor- ing the proximal parasternal lead segment) Lead /device revision
Interference with ventricular assist device (VAD)	Use of alternate vector (automatic or manual) Device revision
Loss of beeping tones	Close follow-up (every 3 months) Generator replacement

Table 2 Variable S-ICD potential issues and suggested troubleshooting actions



Fig. 11 Suggested follow up care of S-ICD after the initial implant porcedure

Special Situations

Congenital Heart Disease: Patients with adult congenital heart disease pose special challenges for defibrillator implantation. Many of them may have intracardiac shunts or limited vascular access that limits traditional device implants. The position of the cardiac chambers in the chest may be different. ECG screen should be



Fig. 12 Panel A shows the placement of the lead in the right parasternal region in a patient with congenital heart disease. Panel B shows SICD use in a patient with left ventricular assist device (Heartmate 3)

considered with leads placed on the right side of the sternum in patients who fail traditional screening (Fig. 10 panel A).

Left ventricular assist devices: The use of LVAD therapy in patients with SICD has been reported in the literature. Some patients required inactivation of the ICD due to EMI from the LVAD or R wave attenuation due to heart and chest wall geometry changes after LVAD surgery. Inappropriate shocks are also reported due to EMI, and in some patients, change in sensing vector was able to prevent inappropriate detection and therapies (Fig. 10 panel B).

SICD and Leadless pacemaker combination: Case reports of patients with combined leadless pacemakers and SICDs are reported in the literature. To date, the modular system with bidirectional communication between devices is not yet available for commercial use although animal studies and initial human experience has been reported. When combined, the pacing output should below not to interfere with VF/VT detection, and the SICD testing should be performed in the most sensitive configuration.

Case Follow up: An exercise stress test was performed to evaluate sensing at faster rates on a treadmill while the detection and therapies were programmed off. The patient developed rate-dependent bundle branch block leading to inappropriate TWOS in the alternate and secondary sensing configurations (Fig. 4). There were no TWOS in primary sensing configuration. The sensing configuration was changed to the primary sensing configuration. The rates of conditional shock zone and shock zone were increased from 190 bpm to 210 bom and 220 bpm to 230 bom respectively. The patient remains shock free since optimal programming of the device (Table 3).

Future Directions

• Improvements in SICD device technologies continue to be developed to reduce SICD device footprint, and may also include introduction of a dual coil lead to allow decreased electrical output.

J 1	
Clinical studies	Results
Systematic review [9]	Successful defibrillation 96% Inappropriate shocks 4%
Observational registry [10]	Complication-free rates of 92% at 360 days 8% inappropriate shocks at one year
Post approval study [11]	99% successful defibrillation at implant 96.2% -30 day complication rate
RCT S-ICD versus TV-ICD [2]	As effective as TV-ICD but required higher energy
Predictive score for defibrilation success [12]	Increase in DFTs if More fat between • Coil to sternum • Generator to ribcage Anterior canposition
S-ICD patients requiring extraction	5.6% due to refractory sensing issues All patients passed initial screen
Ongoing Studies	
PRAETORIAN [13]	S-ICD versus TV-ICD
ATLAS S-ICD [14]	S-ICD versus TV-ICD in younger patients at higher risk of device complications
UNTOUCHED [15]	S-ICD for primary prevention. Inappropriate shocks will be compared to TV-ICD patients in MADIT-RIT

Table 3 Summary of important studies for S-ICD

- Integration with leadless pacing technologies to provide anti-tachycardic pacing to terminate ventricular tachcyardia are under development.
- Alternative extra-vascular ICDs with sub-sternal lead placement enabling a smaller device footprint and ATP delivery are being developed and tested.

Key Points:

- The development of a totally extravascular defibrillator system is a new advance in the last decade.
- The device relies on surface electrogram for sensing and detection of tachyarrhythmias. Special algorithms have been developed for discrimination.
- Lacks of bradycardia pacing and anti-tachycardia pacing therapies are the potential drawbacks of the system.
- Implantation techniques are pretty straightforward, and the development of intermuscular technique is a new advance that markedly increased patient comfort.
- In a small group of patients with oversensing that cannot be corrected by traditional programming extraction of the system may be required.

References

- Burke MC, Gold MR, Knight BP, Barr CS, Theuns D, Boersma LVA, Knops RE, Weiss R, Leon AR, Herre JM, Husby M, Stein KM, Lambiase PD. Safety and efficacy of the totally subcutaneous implantable defibrillator: 2-Year results from a pooled analysis of the IDE study and EFFORTLESS registry. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;65:1605–15.
- Bardy GH, Smith WM, Hood MA, Crozier IG, Melton IC, Jordaens L, Theuns D, Park RE, Wright DJ, Connelly DT, Fynn SP, Murgatroyd FD, Sperzel J, Neuzner J, Spitzer SG, Ardashev AV, Oduro A, Boersma L, Maass AH, Van Gelder IC, Wilde AA, van Dessel PF, Knops RE, Barr CS, Lupo P, Cappato R, Grace AA. An entirely subcutaneous implantable cardioverter-defibrillator. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:36–44.
- McLeod CJ, Boersma L, Okamura H, Friedman PA. The subcutaneous implantable cardioverter defibrillator: state-of-the-art review. Eur Heart J. 2017;38:247–57.
- Swerdlow CD, Asirvatham SJ, Ellenbogen KA, Friedman PA. Troubleshooting implantable cardioverter-defibrillator sensing problems II. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2015;8:212–20.
- 5. Rowley CP, Gold MR. Subcutaneous implantable cardioverter defibrillator. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2012;5:587–93.
- 6. Al-Khatib SM, Stevenson WG, Ackerman MJ, Bryant WJ, Callans DJ, Curtis AB, Deal BJ, Dickfeld T, Field ME, Fonarow GC, Gillis AM, Granger CB, Hammill SC, Hlatky MA, Joglar JA, Kay GN, Matlock DD, Myerburg RJ, Page RL. 2017 AHA/ACC/HRS guideline for management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death: executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on clinical practice guidelines and the heart rhythm society. Heart Rhythm. 2018;15:e190–252.
- de Bie MK, Thijssen J, van Rees JB, Putter H, van der Velde ET, Schalij MJ, van Erven L. Suitability for subcutaneous defibrillator implantation: results based on data from routine clinical practice. Heart. 2013;99:1018–23.
- Noheria A, Cha YM, Asirvatham SJ, Friedman PA. Shoulder joint dislocation as an unusual complication of defibrillation threshold testing following subcutaneous implantable cardioverter-defibrillator implantation. Indian Pacing Electrophysiol J. 2014;14:297–300.
- Chue CD, Kwok CS, Wong CW, Patwala A, Barker D, Zaidi A, Mamas MA, Cunnington C, Ahmed FZ. Efficacy and safety of the subcutaneous implantable cardioverter defibrillator: a systematic review. Heart. 2017;103:1315–22.
- Boersma L, Barr C, Knops R, Theuns D, Eckardt L, Neuzil P, Scholten M, Hood M, Kuschyk J, Jones P, Duffy E, Husby M, Stein K, Lambiase PD, Group EI. Implant and midterm outcomes of the subcutaneous implantable cardioverter-defibrillator registry: the effortless study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;70:830–41.
- Gold MR, Aasbo JD, El-Chami MF, Niebauer M, Herre J, Prutkin JM, Knight BP, Kutalek S, Hsu K, Weiss R, Bass E, Husby M, Stivland TM, Burke MC. Subcutaneous implantable cardioverter-defibrillator post-approval study: clinical characteristics and perioperative results. Heart Rhythm. 2017;14:1456–63.
- Quast ABE, Baalman SWE, Brouwer TF, Smeding L, Wilde AAM, Burke MC, Knops RE. A novel tool to evaluate the implant position and predict defibrillation success of the subcutaneous implantable cardioverter-defibrillator: the PRAETORIAN score. Heart Rhythm. 2019;16:403–10.
- 13. Olde Nordkamp LR, Knops RE, Bardy GH, Blaauw Y, Boersma LV, Bos JS, Delnoy PP, van Dessel PF, Driessen AH, de Groot JR, Herrman JP, Jordaens LJ, Kooiman KM, Maass AH, Meine M, Mizusawa Y, Molhoek SG, van Opstal J, Tijssen JG, Wilde AA. Rationale and design of the PRAETORIAN trial: a prospective, randomized comparison of sub-cutaneous and transvenous implantable cardioverter-defibrillator therapy. Am Heart J. 2012;163:753–60 e2.

- Mondesert B, Bashir J, Philippon F, Dubuc M, Amit G, Exner D, Joza J, Birnie DH, Lane C, Tsang B, Korley V, Spears D, Ling A, Djuric A, Crystal E, Hruczkowski T, Roux JF, Carroll S, Essebag V, Krahn AD, Healey JS. Rationale and design of the randomized prospective ATLAS study: avoid transvenous leads in appropriate subjects. Am Heart J. 2019;207:1–9.
- Gold MR, Knops R, Burke MC, Lambiase PD, Russo AM, Bongiorni MG, Deharo JC, Aasbo J, El Chami MF, Husby M, Carter N, Boersma L. The Design of the understanding outcomes with the S-ICD in primary prevention patients with low EF study (UNTOUCHED). Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2017;40:1–8.

How to Identify and Manage Complications from Cardiac Implantable Electronic Devices



Lalit Wadhwani, Arif Albulushi, and Faris Khan

Case Vignette

Fifty three year old female with history of hypertension, chronic renal impairment, and complete heart block status post dual chamber permanent pacemaker placement who presented with 1 week history of fever, malaise and failure to thrive. Initial work up with an echo showed a possible new vegetation on her right ventricular pacemaker lead and blood culture came back positive for gram positive cocci. Cardiac Electrophysiology team was consulted for cardiac implantable electronic device infection and possible device extraction.

Introduction

Cardiac implantable electronic device (CIED) is a universal term used for any implantable cardiovascular device that interacts with the inherent electrical cardiac conduction system. It encompasses a myriad of devices including permanent pacemaker (PPM), implantable cardioverter defibrillator (ICD) and cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT). It has been estimated that more than 1.5 million CIEDs are implanted worldwide each year [1]. Out of these, about 350,000 devices are implanted each year in the United States alone.

All CIEDs were implanted utilizing the trans-venous route until 2012, when the first subcutaneous implantable cardioverter defibrillator (SICD) was approved by

L. Wadhwani

NYU Langone Health, New York, NY, USA

A. Albulushi · F. Khan (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

Division of Cardiology, University of Nebraska Medical Center, 42nd and Emile, Omaha, NE 68198, USA e-mail: fariskhan@gmail.com

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_14

the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA). A new dimension was added to the trans-venous implantation of CIEDs with the advent of leadless pacemaker system and its FDA approval in 2016.

Incidence of Complications

Numerous studies showed that CIED complications can be acute, subacute or chronic [2] as summarized in Table 1. Similarly, other studies reported major complication rates ranging between 2.6 and 4.8% while minor complications range between 2.3 and 5.3% [3–5].

Risk Factors

Several risk factors can potentially predict the possibility of CIED implantation related complications [6, 7]. The common risk factors are:

- Age greater than 75 years
- Female gender
- · Chronic lung disease
- Body mass index (BMI) less than 18.5

 Table 1
 Cardiac implantable electronic device complications

Immediate Complications

- Pocket hematoma
- Inadvertent Arterial access
- Bleeding
- Pneumothorax
- Vascular injury due to placement of wire/sheaths
- In appropriate lead implant position (RV lead in MCV, RV lead in LV (if arterial stick that goes un recognized) CS lead implant in poor location)
- Lead dislodgement
- Pericardial effusion

Sub-acute Complications

- Lead dislodgement requiring repositioning of lead
- Pericardial effusion
- localized discomfort at the CIED implant site (SICD specially and trans venous occasionally)

Long-term Complications

- Pocket skin erosion and infection
- Twiddler's syndrome
- Complication during lead extraction (vascular tear, myocardial perforation, leads remnants, bleeding)
- Localized discomfort (SICD specially and transvenous occasionally)

How to Identify and Manage Complications ...

- Hypertension
- Left bundle branch block on EKG
- Continued warfarin use or other anticoagulants.

Based on the timing, complications associated with CIED implantation may be divided into three categories:

- Immediate—Complications during the procedure.
- Subacute—Complications within 48 h after the procedure.
- Long-term—Complications days to weeks after the procedure.

A. Immediate Complications

Immediate complications occur during the procedure and although some of these complications may be managed expectantly, many require active intervention. The list of these complications is extensive and includes excessive bleeding, vascular injury, pneumothorax, hemothorax, venous obstruction, lead malposition, cardiac perforation, cardiac tamponade and valve injury. As is expected, the risk of complications is higher with physicians whose implant volume is lower. A study based on the Ontario database suggested that complication rates were significantly higher if the implanter volume was<60 devices/year compared to implanters with a volume of >120 devices/year [4]. Some of the immediate complications are discussed below.

A.1. Pneumothorax

- 1. Occurs from inadvertent puncture of the pleural cavity or lung parenchyma while obtaining venous access (Fig. 1)
- 2. Even though it is rare, it can be a potentially life threatening complication [3, 6]
- 3. It is more common in women than men, as shown in the MADIT-CRT trial [8]
- 4. It may present as pneumothorax, hemothorax, hydro-pneumothorax and tension pneumothorax.
- 5. Sudden onset of shortness of breath and chest pain should raise clinical suspicion for pneumothorax.

How to avoid it:

- 1. Cephalic vein cut-down technique is better than contrast guided extrathoracic approach [9]
- 2. Axillary stick rather than subclavian
- 3. Peripheral IV contrast injection
- 4. Ultrasound guidance while obtain intra venous access.

Treatment:

Small (1 cm or less air rim) and asymptomatic pneumothorax can be managed with close observation. However, large pneumothorax, hemothorax or tension pneumothorax may require chest tube placement.



Fig. 1 Pneumothorax. (With permission to use from Ulrika Birgersdotter-Green, MD; University of California San Diego)

A.2. Cardiac perforation and tamponade

- 1. Although rare, it is the most significant complication of CIED implantation [2, 3, 7]
- 2. It may present as acute tamponade or may have a subacute presentation with chest pain and shortness of breath due to a small to moderate pericardial effusion
- 3. Some of the risk factors for developing cardiac perforation include temporary pacemaker wire use, steroids use and helical screw in leads use [10]
- 4. A sudden drop of blood pressure during the procedure, especially after implantation of a lead is usually the first sign of development of cardiac tamponade
- 5. An important sign of lead perforation without clinically significant effusion is increase in the lead threshold and impedance compared to the baseline values.

How to diagnose it:

Chest x-ray (CXR) shows presence of lead tip outside the cardiac silhouette, transthoracic echocardiography (TTE) assess the extent of pericardial effusion and computed tomography (CT) scan (Fig. 2) has a better diagnostic yield for cardiac perforation with a pacemaker or an ICD lead [11, 12]

How to avoid it:

- 1. Avoiding over rotation of helix when it is fully extended
- 2. Careful use of lead stylet and probing with soft tip during lead positioning.
- 3. Use multiple fluoroscopic views for lead location.



Fig. 2 RV lead perforation. (With permission to use from Ulrika Birgersdotter-Green, MD; University of California San Diego)

Treatment:

Lead perforation can be a surgical emergency and may require immediate action in the form of pericardiocentesis versus open surgical repair if the bleeding does not stop.

A.3. Loose Set Screw

- 1. Loose set screw may be documented as noise, fluctuating lead impedance, pocket stimulation during pacing, inappropriate mode switches and inappropriate shocks
- 2. The time frame, in general, is shortly after the procedure (hours-days).

How to avoid it:

1. It can be avoided by visualizing the terminal pin's position on fluoroscopy, by appropriately tightening set screw and by doing a tug test.

A.4. Coronary Sinus (CS) Dissection

- 1. This complication is specifically associated with cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT) however, it is a rare complication [13]
- 2. It may occur during wire manipulation or sheath introduction into the CS.

Diagnosis:

- 1. Monitoring of vital signs, fluoroscopy of the cardiac silhouette and use of echo should aid in the diagnosis.
- A more distal dissection of a smaller branch can be demonstrated by staining of contrast outside the lumen. This, in general, is not associated with any hemodynamic consequences but will likely preclude placement of a lead in this location
- 3. Careful use of balloon and guide sheaths while in the CS.



Fig. 3 Atrial lead dislodgement

Treatment:

In general, it is well tolerated in most of the cases without any clinical or angiographic adverse outcome [14] and may not require any active intervention except close monitoring.

B. Subacute Complications

Subacute complications occur within 48 h of CIED implantation and are usually noticed prior to hospital discharge. These include lead dislodgement, pocket hematoma, localized discomfort and subacute presentation of pericardial effusion. Lead dislodgements almost always require repeat surgical intervention but rest of the subacute complications may be managed expectantly.

B.1. Lead dislodgement

- 1. A small proportion of leads get dislodged due to cardiac contraction, rotation and translocation.
- 2. Most lead dislodgements occur within the first 24–48 h after device implantation
- 3. Acute lead dislodgement occurs more commonly with CRT-D devices [15]
- 4. Common risk factors associated with acute dislodgement include older age, female sex, more advanced heart failure, and a greater number of comorbidities.



Fig. 4 Pocket hematoma

- 5. Sudden change in lead sensing and pacing threshold associated with change in the lead position on CXR clinches the diagnosis of lead dislodgement (Fig. 3)
- 6. Rate of dislodgement of leadless pacemakers is much lower than that of traditional pacemakers [16].

How to avoid Right Atrial (RA) or Right Ventricular (RV) lead dislodgement:

- 1. Atrial lead should be preferentially placed in RA appendage
- 2. Apically placed RV lead has a less chance of dislodgement than implantation on mid RV septum.
- 3. By retaining stylet during lead placement, the active helix can be deployed properly and this reducing the risk of lead dislodgement.
- 4. Atrial lead stability testing should be performed after implantation.
- 5. Ensuring adequate lead slack at end of procedure
- 6. Properly suturing lead to pectoral muscle.
- 7. Consider suturing device to pectoral muscle to avoid its migration.
- 8. Clear patient instructions regarding post procedure activity restrictions.



Fig. 5 CIED infection with skin erosion (left) and skin erythema (right)

How to avoid Left Ventricular (LV)/CS lead dislodgement:

- 1. Obtain a separate stick for LV lead reduces the risk of its dislodgement.
- 2. If the lead pulls back when you remove the guide sheath consider a different lead type or location.
- 3. Quadripolar leads may allow for more apical location of distal tip thu]s stabilizing the lead position.

B.2. Pocket hematoma

- 1. It is comparatively common complication after CIED implantation [12]
- 2. It is more common in patients who are on anticoagulation and/or dual antiplatelet therapy
- 3. Previous studies shown rate of device hematoma is less with continued warfarin in comparison to heparin bridging strategy [17, 18]
- 4. It can cause significant pain and discomfort but most of them resolve spontaneously without any surgical intervention (Fig. 4)
- 5. It is important to NOT aspirate hematoma for diagnosis since it can lead to pocket infection.

How to avoid it:

- 1. One should know anticoagulation status before, during and after the procedure.
- 2. Meticulous attention should be paid to secure hemostasis during the procedure, including figure of 8 stitch or purse string suture around insertion site, if indicated.
- 3. Thrombin injection in the pocket, if indicated.

Treatment:

- 1. Hematoma evacuation is needed in the cases where the size is very large, and the incision integrity is compromised.
- 2. Hemoglobin and hematocrit may need to be checked and transfusion may be required if there is a significant drop of hemoglobin level.



Fig. 6 Venous Occlusion. (With permission to use from Ulrika Birgersdotter-Green, MD; University of California San Diego)

- 3. Pressure dressing with pocket compression device can also be used.
- 4. If patient develops hematoma, one can consider antibiotic coverage if the risk of infection is high.

C. Long term Complications

Complications after CIED implantation may occur any time after the implant. Complications that occur weeks to months, and sometimes even years after device implantation include persistent localized discomfort at the site of implantation especially with the relatively large subcutaneous ICDs, twiddler's syndrome, pocket erosion, pocket infection, stitch abscess, bacteremia and infective endocarditis. These complications are rarely managed conservatively and almost always require surgical intervention.

C.1. CIED Infections

- 1. It is one of the most dreaded complications as it is associated with high morbidity and mortality.
- 2. Patient will usually present with tachycardia, fever, elevated white blood cell count, elevated procalcitonin and/or positive blood cultures (Fig. 5)
- 3. Most of these infections are bacterial in nature.
- 4. The infection risk is the highest in the first 6–12 months after implantation
- 5. The risk of infection is higher in CRT compared to ICD or PPM implantation.
- Major risk factors of CIED infection include diabetes, hemodialysis, hematoma formation, corticosteroid use, chronic skin disease and temporary pacemaker wire [19].

Diagnosis:

 Ultrasound can be used for assessment of pocket infection. In addition, radionuclide imaging (¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT or WBC SPECT/CT) can also be used for detecting CIED infection however, most of the diagnosis are made on clinical judgement.

How to avoid CIED infection:

- 1. Always perform your procedure in a sterile environment.
- 2. Use prophylactic antibiotics at the start of the procedure before skin incision is made.
- 3. Keep the procedure duration short, if possible.
- 4. Follow the precautions to avoid hematoma formation
- 5. For high risk patients consider the use of an absorbable antibacterial envelope as it has shown to be beneficial in WRAP-IT trial [19].

C.2. Venous obstruction

- 1. Risk factors for venous obstructions include but are not limited to upgrade of an existing device with placement of additional lead; device and/or lead infection, use of hormone replacement therapy, dual coil ICD leads, prior history of deep vein thrombosis and presence of temporary trans venous pacing lead [20, 21]
- 2. It can potentially make future device implantation/upgrade quite challenging, rendering it even impossible at times.
- 3. The most common site of obstruction was peripheral subclavian/distal innominate veins [22]
- 4. Presence of prominent and dilated veins over the pacemaker pocket can sometimes be seen in patients with venous obstruction (Fig. 6).

How to avoid it:

- 1. Contrast venography should be considered prior to CIED implant in patients with any risk factors as described above.
- 2. Monitor for signs of arm swelling after device implantation procedure.

Diagnoses:

Doppler ultra sound can be used to assess for deep vein thrombosis and venous obstruction.

Treatment:

- 1. Patient may require oral anticoagulation.
- 2. In patients with peripheral venous obstruction, device may need to be implanted on the contralateral site.
- 3. In cases with central obstruction or in patients who can't undergo device implantation on the contralateral site, venoplasty should be considered.

Leadless Pacing Complications

The introduction of leadless pacemaker systems have certainly reduced the risks of several pocket and lead related CIED complications however, there is a risk for access site related complications such as hematoma or pseudo aneurysm. Other



Fig. 7 Leadless Pacer Clot. (With permission to use from Ulrika Birgersdotter-Green, MD; University of California San Diego)

complications may include vascular injury, clot formation (Fig. 7) or right ventricular perforation leading to pericardial temponade.

Possible predictors of lead less pacemaker implantation complication include:

- Old age
- Female gender
- Low BMI and
- Chronic lung disease [22].

How to avoid it:

- 1. Obtain venous access using ultrasound guidance
- 2. Flush the delivery sheath with heparinized solution to avoid clot formation
- 3. Use contrast and different fluoroscopy views to confirm appropriate implant location
- 4. Use septal rather than apical device location to reduce the risk of perforation
- 5. Physician's proctoring during device implantation until adequate skills have been acquired to perform the procedure independently

Key Points:

- 1. CIED implantation can be associated with complications like any other procedure
- 2. The complications can be either major or minor

- 3. These complications are divided into immediate (during the procedure), subacute (within 48 h post op) or long term (days-weeks post op) complications
- 4. Most commonly reported complications include lead dislodgement, lead malfunction, pocket hematoma, pneumothorax and incision/device infection
- 5. Major risk factors for developing these complications include age greater than 75 years, female gender, chronic lung disease, body mass index less than 18.5, hypertension, left bundle branch block on EKG and continued warfarin use
- 6. It is very important to recognize these complications in a timely fashion
- 7. Use current guidelines and local expertise to manage each complication as indicated.

References

- Mond HG1, Proclemer A. The 11th world survey of cardiac pacing and implantable cardioverter-defibrillators: calendar year 2009–a World Society of Arrhythmia's project. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2011 Aug; 34(8):1013–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-8159.2011.03150.x. Epub 2011 Jun 27.
- Poole JE1, Gleva MJ, Mela T, Chung MK, Uslan DZ, Borge R, Gottipaty V, Shinn T, Dan D, Feldman LA, Seide H, Winston SA, Gallagher JJ, Langberg JJ, Mitchell K, Holcomb R; REPLACE Registry Investigators. Complication rates associated with pacemaker or implantablecardioverter-defibrillator generator replacements and upgradeprocedures: results from the REPLACE registry. Circulation. 2010 Oct 19;122(16):1553–61. https://doi. org/10.1161/circulationaha.110.976076. Epub 2010 Oct 4.
- Peterson PN1, Varosy PD, Heidenreich PA, Wang Y, Dewland TA, Curtis JP, Go AS, Greenlee RT, Magid DJ, Normand SL, Masoudi FA. Association of single- vs dual-chamber ICDs with mortality, readmissions, and complicationsamong patients receiving an ICD for primary prevention. JAMA. 2013 May 15;309(19):2025–34. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jama.2013.4982.
- 4. Krahn AD1, Lee DS, Birnie D, Healey JS, Crystal E, Dorian P, Simpson CS, Khaykin Y, Cameron D, Janmohamed A, Yee R, Austin PC, Chen Z, Hardy J, Tu JV; Ontario ICD Database Investigators. Predictors of short-term complications after implantablecardio-verter-defibrillator replacement: results from the OntarioICD database. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2011 Apr;4(2):136–42. https://doi.org/10.1161/circep.110.959791. Epub 2011 Feb 15.
- Lee DS1, Krahn AD, Healey JS, Birnie D, Crystal E, Dorian P, Simpson CS, Khaykin Y, Cameron D, Janmohamed A, Yee R, Austin PC, Chen Z, Hardy J, Tu JV; Investigators of the Ontario ICD Database. Evaluation of early complications related to De Novo cardioverterdefibrillator implantation insights from the Ontario ICD database. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010 Feb 23;55(8):774–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2009.11.029.
- Haines DE, Wang Y, Curtis J. Implantable cardioverter-defibrillator registry risk score models for acute procedural complications or death after implantable cardioverter-defibrillator implantation. Circulation. 2011 May 17;123(19):2069–76. https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.110.959676. Epub 2011 May 2.
- Padala SK, Gunda S, Li S, Sharma PS, Koneru JN, Varosy PD, Ellenbogen KA. A risk score model for predicting intraprocedural cardiac injury during implantable cardioverterdefibrillator implantation: Insights from the National Cardiovascular Data Registry. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2019 Feb;30(2):212–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/jce.13823. Epub 2019 Jan 4.

- Jamerson D, McNitt S, Polonsky S, Zareba W, Moss A, Tompkins C. Early procedure-related adverse events by gender in MADIT-CRT. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2014 Sep;25(9):985–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/jce.12438. Epub 2014 May 30.
- Calkins H1, Ramza BM, Brinker J, Atiga W, Donahue K, Nsah E, Taylor E, Halperin H, Lawrence JH, Tomaselli G, Berger RD. Prospective randomized comparison of the safety and effectiveness of placement of endocardial pacemaker and defibrillator leads using the extrathoracic subclavian vein guided by contrast venography versus the cephalic approach. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2001 Apr;24(4 Pt 1):456–64.
- Mahapatra S1, Bybee KA, Bunch TJ, Espinosa RE, Sinak LJ, McGoon MD, Hayes DL. Incidence and predictors of cardiac perforation after permanent pacemaker placement. Heart Rhythm. 2005 Sep;2(9):907–11.
- Rajkumar CA, Claridge S, Jackson T, Behar J, Johnson J, Sohal M, Amraoui S, Nair A, Preston R, Gill J, Rajani R, Rinaldi CA. Diagnosis and management of iatrogenic cardiac perforation caused by pacemaker and defibrillator leads. Europace. 2017 Jun 1;19(6):1031– 7. https://doi.org/10.1093/europace/euw074.
- Worley SJ1, Gohn DC, Pulliam RW, Raifsnider MA, Ebersole BI, Tuzi J. Subclavian venoplasty by the implanting physicians in 373 patients over 11 years. Heart Rhythm. 2011 Apr;8(4):526–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrthm.2010.12.014. Epub 2010 Dec 13.
- van Rees JB1, de Bie MK, Thijssen J, Borleffs CJ, Schalij MJ, van Erven L. Implantationrelated complications of implantable cardioverter-defibrillators and cardiac resynchronization therapy devices: a systematic review of randomized clinical trials. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011 Aug 30;58(10):995–1000. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2011.06.007.
- de Cock CC, van Campen CM, Visser CA. Major dissection of the coronary sinus and its tributaries during lead implantation for biventricularstimulation: angiographic follow-up. Europace. 2004 Jan;6(1):43–7.
- 15. Cheng A1, Wang Y, Curtis JP, Varosy PD. Acute lead dislodgements and in-hospital mortality in patients enrolled in the national cardiovascular data registry implantable cardioverter defibrillator registry. Acute lead dislodgements and in-hospital mortality in patients enrolled in the national cardiovascular data registry implantable cardioverter defibrillator registry. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010 Nov 9;56(20):1651–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2010.06.037.
- Wang Y, Hou W, Zhou C, Yin Y, Lu S, Liu G, Duan C, Cao M, Li M, Toft ES, Zhang HJ. Meta-analysis of the incidence of lead dislodgement with conventional and leadless pacemaker systems. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2018 Oct;41(10):1365–71. https://doi. org/10.1111/pace.13458. Epub 2018 Aug 27.
- Bernard ML, Shotwell M, Nietert PJ, Gold MR. Meta-analysis of bleeding complications associated with cardiac rhythm device implantation. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2012 Jun 1;5(3):468–74. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCEP.111.969105. Epub 2012 Apr 24.
- Birnie DH1, Healey JS, Wells GA, Verma A, Tang AS, Krahn AD, Simpson CS, Ayala-Paredes F, Coutu B, Leiria TL, Essebag V; BRUISE CONTROL Investigators. Pacemaker or defibrillator surgery without interruption of anticoagulation. N Engl J Med. 2013 May 30;368(22):2084–93. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1302946. Epub 2013 May 9.
- Nielsen JC, Gerdes JC, Varma N. Infected cardiac-implantable electronic devices: prevention, diagnosis, and treatment. Eur Heart J. 2015 Oct 1;36(37):2484–90. https://doi. org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehv060. Epub 2015 Mar 5.
- Hirschl DA1, Jain VR, Spindola-Franco H, Gross JN, Haramati LB. Prevalence and characterization of asymptomatic pacemaker and ICD lead perforation on CT. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2007 Jan;30(1):28–32.
- Haghjoo M1, Nikoo MH, Fazelifar AF, Alizadeh A, Emkanjoo Z, Sadr-Ameli MA. Predictors of venous obstruction following pacemaker or implantable cardioverter-defibrillator implantation: a contrast venographic study on 100 patients admitted for generator change, lead revision, or device upgrade. Europace. 2007 May;9(5):328–32. Epub 2007 Mar 16.

- Tjong FV, Reddy VY. Permanent leadless cardiac pacemaker therapy: a comprehensive review. Circulation. 2017 Apr 11;135(15):1458–70. https://doi.org/10.1161/ circulationaha.116.025037.
- Rozmus G1, Daubert JP, Huang DT, Rosero S, Hall B, Francis C. Venous thrombosis and stenosis after implantation of pacemakers and defibrillators. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2005 Jun;13(1):9–19.
- 24. Tarakji KG, Mittal S, Kennergren C, Corey R, Poole JE, Schloss E, Gallastegui J, Pickett RA, Evonich R, Philippon F, McComb JM, Roark SF, Sorrentino D, Sholevar D, Cronin E, Berman B, Riggio D, Biffi M, Khan H, Silver MT, Collier J, Eldadah Z, Wright DJ, Lande JD, Lexcen DR, Cheng A, Wilkoff BL; WRAP-IT Investigators; the WRAP-IT Investigators. Antibacterial Envelope to Prevent Cardiac Implantable Device Infection. N Engl J Med. 2019 May 16;380(20):1895–905. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1901111. Epub 2019 Mar 17.

Management of Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillators in Patients with a Left Ventricular Assist Device



Oscar Braun

Case Vignette

A 50-year old man with no medical history presented with a viral illness, fulminant myocarditis and cardiogenic shock. He required an urgent Heartmate III left ventricular assist device (LVAD) implantation 3 weeks later. During his entire hospital course, the patient did not have any significant ventricular arrhythmias. Two weeks after the LVAD implantation the decision was made to implant a primary prevention ICD. The procedure was complicated by a large pneumothorax that progressed into a hemothorax requiring an acute thoracotomy with evacuation of blood. After an extended hospital stay, the patient was eventually discharged to a rehabilitation facility without any reported ICD therapies.

ICD Indications In Patients With LVADs

Approximately 80% of patients have an ICD present prior to LVAD implantation [1]. In patients who undergo LVAD implantation without an existing ICD, there are limited data advising whether to implant an ICD [2]. In the 2017 Guidelines for Management of Patients with Ventricular Arrhythmias, it is a Class IIa recommendation that an ICD can be beneficial in LVAD patients with sustained VAs [3]. On the other hand, the 2013 International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT) guidelines recommend routine placement of an ICD for patients who did not have an ICD before LVAD implantation (Class IIa) [4]. These recommendations are based on retrospective studies, and no randomized trial has ever been performed to evaluate the clinical benefit of ICD implantation in patients with LVADs.

O. Braun (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

Department of Cardiology, Clinical Sciences, Lund University and Skåne University Hospital, Lund, Sweden e-mail: oscar.braun@med.lu.se

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_15


Fig. 1 Suggested algorithm to guide implantable cardioverter-defibrillator implantation in LVAD patients. Adapted from Ho et al., JACC-EP 2018, permission obtained to use

Several retrospective studies have investigated the association between ICDs and mortality in LVAD patients with conflicting results. In earlier studies that included pulsatile LVADs the presence of an ICD was associated with a survival benefit after LVAD implantation [5, 6]. However, more recent single center retrospective studies of patients with CF-LVADs haven't suggested a survival benefit with an ICD [5–8]. Recently two large propensity-matched registry studies from the INTERMACS (Interagency Registry for Mechanically Assisted Circulatory Support) and the United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) registry respectively including over 5400 patients has further confirmed these findings of an absence of association between an ICD and mortality [1, 9]. A recent meta-analysis further confirmed the lack of signal for a survival benefit with an ICD during CF-LVAD treatment [10].

In conclusion, based on recent guidelines and available retrospective data, it appears that patients with pre-LVAD or post-LVAD VAs may benefit from an implanted ICD, whereas an ICD may not always be needed in patients with no history of VAs (Fig. 1), although randomized studies are clearly needed.

Generator Replacement After LVAD Implantation.

No studies have evaluated the necessity of ICD generator replacement in patients with a LVAD who reach elective replacement indicator status. The benefits of ICD therapy must be weighed against risks of generator replacement, including infection which occurs in up to 7% of LVAD patients [11]. In a study of 247 LVAD patients, 3% developed cardiac implantable electronic device (CIED) infections [12]. One-half of these patients (n=3) developed a pocket infection without bacteremia, and were all preceded by a generator replacement. The other half (n=3) had bacteremia. All patients underwent complete CIED removal. Despite chronic suppressive antibiotic therapy in the patients with bacteremia, 1 patient required LVAD

exchange and 1 patient died from infection-related complications. This small study suggests that patients with isolated pocket infection had a good outcome with only CIED removal, but patients with bacteremia had a worse outcome. Another study reproduced these findings and reported 6 patients with CIED infections, of which 5 patients presented with bacteremia [13]. These patients experienced recurrent bacteremia despite complete CIED removal. The majority of these patients (n 4) eventually died due to infection- related complications including 1 patient who underwent LVAD exchange. These studies suggest that it is difficult to clear bacteremia in the presence of a LVAD despite complete CIED removal. More studies are needed to assess whether LVAD exchange may improve the outcome in these patients.

Given the high burden of post-LVAD VAs and associated complications, it is probably reasonable to pursue generator change in all secondary prevention patients or those with pacemaker indications [4]. However, patients without prior VAs and who do not experience post-operative VA may not benefit from generator replacement at elective replacement indicator, although there are no studies addressing this issue.

Use of Subcutaneous ICDS in LVAD Patients

The use of a subcutaneous (sub-Q) ICD may be an attractive option in selected patients with higher risk of bloodstream infections or who have limited venous access, but this comes with some limitations for patients with LVADs. Although there have been 2 case reports of successful use of sub-Q ICDs with the HMII and HVAD [14, 15], there has also been 1 report of electromagnetic interference (EMI) with an HVAD [16], 1 report of R-wave sensing problems [17], and 1 report where the sub-Q ICD was in the field of the minimally invasive mini-thoracotomy approach for LVAD implantation [18], the latter 2 requiring switching to a transvenous ICD system. In addition, implantation of LVADs has been shown to significantly alter the surface ECG, especially the R:T ratio in leads I, II and aVF. Since these leads correlate to the leads used by sub-Q-ICDs careful electrogram screening is necessary when considering implantation in a patient with a LVAD [19].

Furthermore, thorough interrogation of a pre-existing sub-Q ICD is necessary post-LVAD implantation. Further studies of device interactions are needed before recommending this to a more general population.

ICD Troubleshooting After LVAD Implantation

After LVAD implantation, device interference has been reported with all generations of ICDs. Device interference can manifest as a loss of telemetry with the programmer or with EMI leading to inappropriate ICD therapies. Two retrospective studies [20, 21] and case reports [22–26] of HMII patients have reported interactions with older-generation St. Jude Medical and Sorin ICDs, with an incidence of approximately 2 to 17% of all patients before 2012. More recently, there have been case reports of loss of telemetry in 2 patients with the HM3 in combination with current- generation Biotronik (Ilesto and Iforia) and Sorin ICDs [27, 28]. Both cases were successfully temporarily resolved using maneuvers to minimize interference during interrogation. These techniques involve creating a metal insulation shield between the LVAD and the programmer [24, 26, 29]. Examples of insulation contraptions include cast iron frying pans. Table 1 shows the ICD models that have been reported to Thoratec/Abbott, the manufacturer of the HeartMate devices.

Inappropriate ICD shocks due to EMI rarely occur but have been reported. In a retrospective study of 44 LVAD patients, 1 patient (2%) experienced 5 inappropriate shocks due to EMI (detected at 250 beats/min) from a Boston Scientific ICD. EMI may be minimized by adjusting the RV sensing threshold and extending detection intervals.

It is important to note that oversensing can occur due to EMI from LVAD and cause inhibition of pacing. In a patient with a history of complete heart block s/p Abbott CRT-D who underwent a HeartMate III implantation, it was noted that he had ventricular pauses due to inhibition of pacing. Interrogation showed that he had oversensing which inhibited Bi-V pacing (Fig. 2a). Although the EMI was very low amplitude, a feature called Low Frequency Attenuation Filter was turned on nominally on this Abbott CRT-D. The purpose of this filter is to minimize T-wave oversensing by amplifying R waves and diminishing T waves. As a result, the EMI was amplified. In this case, turning off the LFA filter prevented further oversensing (Fig. 2b) and resolved inhibition of pacing and heart block.

Significant changes in lead function have also been reported after LVAD implantation with mixed clinical implications. Several studies report significant reductions in RV sensing amplitude and increases in capture thresholds and defibrillation thresholds [21, 30, 31]. These changes continued to persist beyond 30 days postoperatively and led to an intervention in approximately 20% of patients. Undersensing of clinical VT due to a decrease in lead sensing was noted in up to 5% of patients and required RV lead revisions. Unsuccessful shocks occurred in up to 9% of patients, and high defibrillation thresholds requiring sub-Q array implantation occurred in up to 7% of patients. There were rare occurrences of direct lead damage, including 1 RV lead fracture and 1 dislodged epicardial LV lead. Given significant persistent changes in RV lead parameters after LVAD implantation, it is imperative to perform ICD interrogation postoperatively to monitor for EMI, RV lead undersensing, and inappropriate or ineffective ICD therapies.

Programming ICD Therapy Zones.

In large randomized ICD trials of non-LVAD patients comparing less-aggressive ICD programming versus conventional programming, the conventional ICD programming patients received more shocks and had a significant increase in mortality, suggesting

Heartmate II [™] LVAD reported ICD experience	
Manufacturer	Model No.
Abbott	Atlas [™] model V193
Abbott	Atlas [™] model V-242
Abbott	Atlas [™] model V-243
Abbott	Atlas [™] model V-366
Abbott	Atlas-HF [™] model V-340
Abbott	Atlas-HF [™] model V-341
Abbott	Atlas-HF [™] model V-343
Abbott	Atlas [™] VR model V-199
Abbott	Current [™] DR RF 2207-36
Abbott	Current [™] RF VR 1207-36
Abbott	Epic [™] HF CRT-D model V-337
Abbott	Epic [™] HF CRT-D model V-338
Abbott	Epic [™] HF model V-350
Abbott	Epic [™] Plus VR model V-196
Abbott	Integrity [™] SR model 5142
Abbott	Photon TM Micron DR model V-232
Abbott	Promote [™] RF CRT-D model 3207-36
Abbott	Quadra Assura MP model 3371-40QC
Abbott	SN model V-235
Abbott	Unify Quadra model 3251 40Q
Sorin Group	Alto 2 model 624
Sorin Group	Paradigm
Heartmate 3 TM LVAD reported ICD experience	
Biotronik	Iforia 5-HF-t
Biotronik	Iforia 5-VR-T
Biotronik	Iforia CRT-D
Biotronik	Ilestro 7-VR-T DX
Biotronik	Ilestro 7-HFT-RF
ELA Medical (Sorin)	Paradyme RF CRT-D9750

 Table 1
 ICD models with reported interactions with LVAD implantation

an association with ICD shocks and higher mortality [32–35]. Given that VAs are usually not immediately hemodynamically compromising in patients with LVAD support, an optimal ICD programming strategy might be to maximize detection times and rate zones and to enable anti-tachycardia pacing (ATP) to minimize ICD shocks.

A recent small trial randomized 83 patients to conventional ICD programming compared to ultraconservative programming which included:

(1) VT zone at 180 beats/min with maximal detection time at 33 s, 3 to 8 rounds of ATP and shocks; and (2) VF zone at 220 to 240 beats/min with maximal detection time of 15 to 32 s and shock therapy, with variations depending on the manufacturer [36].



Fig. 2 Electromagnetic interference (EMI) caused by LVAD. **A** Oversensing due to EMI, aggravated by low frequency attenuation (LFA) filter that is used to decrease T-wave oversensing, but accentuates R waves. **B** EMI oversensing eliminated by turning off LFA filter

Although there was a trend towards less ICD shocks in the ultraconservative group, the results did not reach statistical significance with a median follow-up of 11 months. As the authors admit, the study may have been underpowered to show a significant effect. Additionally, conventional programming was noted to

be already relatively conservative and most of the shocks were for VF. Another limitation faced by the authors was the restricted range of programming allowed by the device firmware and the inability to extend detection times longer. Nevertheless, as the first randomized trial assessing conservative ICD programming, an important finding was that conservative programming was not associated with adverse events such as mortality or cardiovascular-related hospitalizations, which suggests that this programming strategy could safely be implemented. However, larger multicenter studies with longer follow-up must be conducted to fully evaluate the effect of these programming strategies.

Case Conclusion

Our patient slowly recovered his heart function with optimal medical therapy and LV unloading. After 3 years, he had improved to a point that his LVAD could be explanted. Repeat echo 1 year after LVAD explantation showed a nearly recovered ejection fraction at 45%. The ICD was still in place but never detected nor treated any significant arrhythmias. This case illustrates the controversy of ICD implantation, particularly for primary prevention. This patient did not require ICD therapy but experienced increased risks of complications such as bleeding contributed by LVAD-associated anticoagulation and coagulopathy.

Key-Points

- There is conflicting evidence from retrospective studies studying the benefit of ICDs in patients with LVADs
- Patients with pre-LVAD or post-LVAD VAs may benefit from an implanted ICD, whereas an ICD may not always be needed in patients with no history of VAs
- ICD generator change should probably be performed for secondary prevention ICD patients or those with pacemaker indications
- The use of subcutaneous ICDs can be an alternative mode of ICD therapy but there are risks including electromagnetic interference and sensing problems
- Lead and device malfunction may occur post-operatively after LVAD implantation such as EMI, RV lead undersensing, and inappropriate or ineffective ICD therapies, and I tis important to perform post-operative ICD interrogation.
- In LVAD patients who may experience hemodynamically tolerated VAs, conservative ICD programming is reasonable unless patients are at high risk for RV failure.

References

- 1. Clerkin KJ, Topkara VK, Mancini DM, Yuzefpolskaya M, Demmer RT, Dizon JM, et al. The role of implantable cardioverter defibrillators in patients bridged to transplantation with a continuous-flow left ventricular assist device: a propensity score matched analysis. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2017;36(6):633–9.
- Ho G, Braun OÖ, Adler ED, Feld GK, Pretorius VG, Birgersdotter-Green U. Management of arrhythmias and cardiac implantable electronic devices in patients with left ventricular assist devices. JACC Clin Electrophysiol. 2018; 7:847-859.
- 3. Al-Khatib SM, Stevenson WG, Ackerman MJ, Bryant WJ, Callans DJ, Curtis AB, et al. 2017 AHA/ACC/HRS Guideline for management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on clinical practice guidelines and the heart rhythm society. Circulation. 2017.
- Feldman D, Pamboukian SV, Teuteberg JJ, Birks E, Lietz K, Moore SA, et al. The 2013 International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation Guidelines for mechanical circulatory support: executive summary, vol 32. J Heart Lung Transplant Off Public Int Soc Heart Transplant. 2013; 157–87
- Garan AR, Yuzefpolskaya M, Colombo PC, Morrow JP, Te-Frey R, Dano D, et al. Ventricular arrhythmias and implantable cardioverter-defibrillator therapy in patients with continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices: need for primary prevention? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61(25):2542–50.
- Lee W, Tay A, Subbiah RN, Walker BD, Kuchar DL, Muthiah K, et al. Impact of implantable cardioverter defibrillators on survival of patients with centrifugal left ventricular assist devices. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2015;38(8):925–33.
- Andersen M, Videbæk R, Boesgaard S, Sander K, Hansen PB, Gustafsson F. Incidence of ventricular arrhythmias in patients on long-term support with a continuous-flow assist device (HeartMate II). J Heart Lung Transplant. 2009;28(7):733–5.
- 8. Enriquez AD, Calenda B, Miller MA, Anyanwu AC, Pinney SP. The role of implantable cardioverter-defibrillators in patients with continuous flow left ventricular assist devices. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. American Heart Association, Inc; 2013; 6(4):668–74.
- Clerkin KJ, Topkara VK, Demmer RT, Dizon JM, Yuzefpolskaya M, Fried JA, et al. Implantable cardioverter-defibrillators in patients with a continuous-flow left ventricular assist device. JACC Heart Fail. 2017;5(12):916–26.
- Elkaryoni A, Badarin FA, Khan MS, Ellakany K, Potturi N, Poonia J, et al. Implantable cardioverter-defibrillators and survival in advanced heart failure patients with continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Europace. 2019;13(36):1080.
- 11. Voigt A, Shalaby A, Saba S. Continued rise in rates of cardiovascular implantable electronic device infections in the united states: temporal trends and causative insights. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2010;33(4):414–9.
- Riaz T, Nienaber JJC, Baddour LM, Walker RC, Park SJ, Sohail MR. Cardiovascular implantable electronic device infections in left ventricular assist device recipients. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2014;37(2):225–30.
- Krishnamoorthy A, Pokorney SD, Lewis RK, Daubert JP, Greenfield RA, Hegland DD, et al. Cardiac implantable electronic device removal in patients with left ventricular assist device associated infections. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2014;25(11):1199–205.
- 14. Raman AS, Shabari FR, Kar B, Loyalka P, Hariharan R. No electromagnetic interference occurred in a patient with a HeartMate II left ventricular assist system and a subcutaneous implantable cardioverter-defibrillator. Tex Heart Inst J. 2016; 43(2):183–5.
- Gupta A, Subzposh F, Hankins SR, Kutalek SP. Subcutaneous implantable cardioverter-defibrillator implantation in a patient with a left ventricular assist device already in place. Tex Heart Inst J. Texas Heart[®] Institute, Houston; 2015; 42(2):140–3.

- Saeed D, Albert A, Westenfeld R, Maxhera B, Gramsch-Zabel H, O'Connor S, et al. Left ventricular assist device in a patient with a concomitant subcutaneous implantable cardioverter defibrillator. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. American Heart Association, Inc; 2013; 6(3):e32–3.
- 17. Pfeffer TJ, König T, Duncker D, Michalski R, Hohmann S, Oswald H, et al. Subcutaneous implantable cardioverter-defibrillator shocks after left ventricular assist device implantation. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2016;9(11):e004633.
- 18. Raffa GM, Morsolini M, Gentile G, Coppola G, Sciacca S. Should subcutaneous implantable cardioverter-defibrillators be implanted in patients who are candidates for continuous flow left ventricular assist device? Eur J Intern Med Elsevier. 2017;1(43):e30–2.
- Zormpas C, Mueller-Leisse J, Koenig T, Schmitto JD, Veltmann C, Duncker D. Electrocardiographic changes after implantation of a left ventricular assist device: Potential implications for subcutaneous defibrillator therapy. J Electrocardiol. 2019;52:29–34.
- Kühne M, Sakumura M, Reich SS, Sarrazin J-F, Wells D, Chalfoun N, et al. Simultaneous use of implantable cardioverter-defibrillators and left ventricular assist devices in patients with severe heart failure. Am J Cardiol. 2010;105(3):378–82.
- Boudghène-Stambouli F, Boulé S, Goéminne C, Botcherby E, Marquié C, Kouakam C, et al. Clinical implications of left ventricular assist device implantation in patients with an implantable cardioverter-defibrillator. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. Springer US; 2014; 39(2):177–84.
- Matthews JC, Betley D, Morady F, Pelosi F. Adverse interaction between a left ventricular assist device and an implantable cardioverter defibrillator. J Cardio Electrophysiol. Blackwell Publishing Inc; 2007; 18(10):1107–8.
- Mehta R, Doshi AA, Hasan AK, Love CJ, Pizzuto M, Sai-Sudhakar C, et al. Device interactions in patients with advanced cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008;51(16):1613–4.
- Biviano A, Mancini D, Naka Y, Arellano J, Garan H. Overcoming electromagnetic interference by LVADs on ICD function by shielding the ICD programmer wand and extension cable. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2009; 32(7):945–8.
- 25. Netzler PC, Vasuki N, Peura JL, Gold MR. Interactions between a left ventricular assist device and implantable cardioverter-defibrillator. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2012;35(9):e272–3.
- Duncker D, Gardiwal A, Oswald H, Luesebrink U, klein G. The creative method to reduce device-device interferences. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2010; 33(7):909–10.
- Sehatbakhsh S, Kushnir A, Kabach M, Kolek M, Chait R, Ghumman W. A case of electromagnetic interference between HeartMate 3 LVAD and implantable cardioverter defibrillator. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2018;41(2):218–20.
- Duncker D, König T, Müller-Leisse J, Michalski R, Oswald H, Schmitto JD, et al. Electric smog: telemetry interference between ICD and LVAD. Herzschrittmacherther Elektrophysiol. 2017;28(3):257–9.
- Jacob S, Cherian PK, Ghumman WS, Das MK. "Pseudo" Faraday cage: a solution for telemetry link interaction between a left ventricular assist device and an implantable cardioverter defibrillator. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2010;28(3):221–5.
- Ambardekar AV, Lowery CM, Allen LA, Cannon AP, Cleveland JC, Lindenfeld J, et al. Effect of left ventricular assist device placement on preexisting implantable cardioverter-defibrillator leads. J Cardiac Fail. 2010;16(4):327–31.
- Thomas IC, Cork DP, Levy A, Nayak H, Beshai JF, Burke MC, et al. ICD lead parameters, performance, and adverse events following continuous-flow LVAD implantation. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2014;37(4):464–72.
- 32. Saeed M, Hanna I, Robotis D, Styperek R, Polosajian L, Khan A, et al. Programming Implantable Cardioverter-Defibrillators in Patients with Primary Prevention Indication to Prolong Time to First Shock: Results from the PROVIDE Study. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2014;25(1):52–9.

- 33. Gasparini M, Proclemer A, Klersy C, Kloppe A, Lunati M, Ferrer JBM, et al. Effect of long-detection interval vs standard-detection interval for implantable cardioverter-defibrillators on antitachycardia pacing and shock delivery: The ADVANCE III Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. American Medical Association; 2013; 309(18):1903–11.
- 34. Wathen MS, DeGroot PJ, Sweeney MO, Stark AJ, Otterness MF, Adkisson WO, et al. Prospective randomized multicenter trial of empirical antitachycardia pacing versus shocks for spontaneous rapid ventricular tachycardia in patients with implantable cardioverter-defibrillators: pacing fast ventricular tachycardia reduces shock therapies (PainFREE Rx II) trial results. Circulation. 2004;110(17):2591–6.
- 35. Moss AJ, Hall WJ, Cannom DS, Klein H, Brown MW, Daubert JP, et al. Cardiacresynchronization therapy for the prevention of heart-failure events. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(14):1329–38.
- 36. Richardson TD, Hale L, Arteaga C, Xu M, Keebler M, Schlendorf K, et al. Prospective randomized evaluation of implantable cardioverter-defibrillator programming in patients with a left ventricular assist device. J Am Heart Assoc. 2018;7(5):e007748.

Indications and Use of the Wearable Cardioverter-Defibrillator



265

Michael Eskander MD and David Krummen MD

Clinical Case

A 62 year old male with nonischemic cardiomyopathy was admitted to the intensive care unit for pneumonia, atrial fibrillation with rapid ventricular response, and decompensated congestive heart failure. He was started on antibiotics, atrioventricular nodal blocking medications, anticoagulation, and intravenous diuretics. Serial electrocardiograms and cardiac biomarkers showed no evidence of acute myocardial infarction. Telemetry monitoring revealed frequent ventricular ectopy, with runs of nonsustained ventricular tachycardia. A transthoracic echocardiogram demonstrated a severely depressed left ventricular ejection fraction of 20% (normal 55–65%), decreased from a prior value of 50%. Concerned about his risk for sudden cardiac death, his inpatient team requested cardiology consultation regarding the patient's eligibility for a wearable cardioverter-defibrillator (WCD).

Introduction

Ventricular tachycardia (VT) and ventricular fibrillation (VF) are responsible for the majority of cases of sudden death (SCD) [1], affecting approximately 3 million patients annually worldwide. While the implantable cardioverter-defibrillation (ICD) provides definitive protection from sustained ventricular arrhythmias [2], many patients are ineligible for ICD therapy for a number of reasons including recency of heart failure diagnosis, the presence of an infection, or other factors.

M. Eskander · D. Krummen (🖂)

University of California San Diego and VA San Diego Healthcare System, 3350 La Jolla Village Drive, Cardiology Section 111A, San Diego, CA 92161, USA e-mail: dkrummen@ucsd.edu

[©] This is a U.S. government work and not under copyright protection in the U.S.; foreign copyright protection may apply 2021

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_16

An alternative to the ICD, the wearable cardioverter-defibrillator (WCD) is a self-contained, external vest able to automatically detect ventricular arrhythmias and deliver lifesaving defibrillation. The purpose of this chapter is to discuss the technology, review patients who may benefit from WCD therapy, and discuss the current state of medical knowledge regarding use of the WCD.

The Wearable Cardioverter-Defibrillator

The WCD consists of two shoulder harnesses and a belt which allow positioning of 2 back and 1 anterior chest defibrillation pads, 4 sensing electrodes in the belt, and a portable battery/monitoring unit which is attached by wires and may be attached to the belt or the patient's clothing (Fig. 1). The harnesses and belt are user-adjustable, intended to fit relatively snugly to the torso.

WCD Functioning

During normal functioning, the 4 belt electrodes monitor the patient's heart rhythm continuously. Rhythm analysis is performed in real time by a microprocessor in the battery/monitoring unit. The monitoring electrodes are held in position by tension from the elastic belt and provide two surface electrogram leads [3]. Arrhythmia detection is programmable to accommodate different expected rate of normal rhythms versus VT/VF. Proper fitting must be confirmed with appropriate electrode-skin contact to avoid noise and frequent device alarms.

Detection of arrhythmia is based on programmed rate and morphology criteria. If VT or VF are detected, the WCD initiates a sequence of programmed actions. These include escalating audible tones, vibration against the wearer's chest, and a spoken warning of impending shock to the wearer and bystanders nearby. If no response is received by the WCD, a blue conductive gel is released from the defibrillator electrodes, and up to 5 biphasic shocks are delivered at preprogrammed energy levels. Alternatively, the patient may silence the audible warnings and delay therapy by holding the response button.

Gaps in ICD Eligibility and SCD Risk

Presently, a gap exists between the time patients are diagnosed with conditions associated with risk of sudden death and their eligibility for ICD implantation. This gap stems from the results of the DINAMIT [4] and IRIS [5] trials enrolling patients with myocardial infarction with a left ventricular ejection fraction (EF) \leq 35%. Patients were randomized to an early ICD (6–40 days) versus medical therapy. Both trials showed no improvement in mortality with early ICD implantation despite a reduction



Fig. 1 The wearable cardioverter-defibrillator is shown, including the shoulder harnesses, belt, electrodes, and detachable battery pack/monitoring unit (Lifevest, Zoll Medical Corp.)

in arrhythmic deaths; there was a higher risk of nonarrhythmic deaths during this early period, resulting in similar overall mortality rates [4, 5]. Unfortunately, SCD risk was highest in the first 30 days at 1.4–2.3% per month in the same population with myocardial infarction and left ventricular dysfunction, heart failure, or both [6].

A similar gap exists in individuals with left ventricular dysfunction early after revascularization. This is largely based on characteristics of individuals with ischemic cardiomyopathy receiving ICD implantation for primary prevention of SCD in MADIT and CABG-Patch trials [7, 8]. While professional societies do not exclude ICD implantation for these individuals, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Service (CMS) excludes coverage for primary prevention ICD for individuals with revascularization within the past 90 days. More recent investigation of the National Cardiovascular Data Registry by Weintraub et al. continues to illustrate a higher rate of 30-day mortality of 3% in individuals with left ventricular dysfunction and recent percutaneous coronary intervention [9].

Additionally, there are patients who meet indication for ICD implantation though device implantation must be delayed or interrupted due to comorbid conditions such as device infection, vascular access, or recent surgical procedure. These patients remain at risk for SCD. For these groups, the WCD remains an option for mitigating SCD risk.

Eligible Patients

Current expert consensus documents recognize the following situations for which WCD therapy may be useful (Table 1) [10]. In general, WCD may be useful when ICD is indicated though device implant must be deferred or interrupted due to patient factors, ongoing assessment of left ventricular function while awaiting response to guideline-directed medical therapy, or as a bridge to ICD implant due to national coverage requirements.

WCD Therapy Rate and Effectiveness

The US post market study reported outcomes from 8453 patients prescribed WCD after MI. Overall, there were 146 VT/VF events occurred in 133 patients (1.6% of the enrolled population). Overall shock success was 82%, with 91% immediate survival. Notably, there was a difference in shock success rate between patients with

Indications for WCD use	Class	Level of evidence
Use of WCDs is reasonable when there is a clear indication for an implanted/permanent device accompanied by a transient contraindica- tion or interruption in ICD care such as infection	IIa	С
Use of WCDs is reasonable as a bridge to more definitive therapy such as cardiac transplantation	IIa	С
Use of WCDs may be reasonable when there is concern about a heightened risk of SCD that may resolve over time or with treatment of left ventricular dysfunction; for example, in ischemic heart disease with recent revascularization, newly diagnosed nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy in patients starting guideline-directed medical therapy, or secondary cardiomyopathy (tachycardia mediated, thyroid mediated, etc.) in which the underlying cause is potentially treatable	ΠЬ	C
WCDs may be appropriate as bridging therapy in situations associated with increased risk of death in which ICDs have been shown to reduce SCD but not overall survival such as within 40 days of M	IIb	С
WCDs should not be used when nonarrhythmic risk is expected to significantly exceed arrhythmic risk, particularly in patients who are not expected to survive >6 mo	III: No benefit	С

Table 1 Indications for WCD use

and without successful revascularization; shock success was 95% in revascularized versus 84% in non-revascularized patients [11]. The WEARIT-II Registry enrolled 2000 patients of which 40% were ischemic and 46% nonischemic cardiomyopathy [12]. Of note, median daily use was reported as 22.5 hours. A total of 120 sustained ventricular tachyarrhythmias in 41 patients were reported with 54% receiving appropriate shock. Only 10 patients (0.5%) received inappropriate WCD therapy. In other work, Ellenbogen and colleagues found that WCD use was potentially beneficial in patients with explanted ICDs [13]. However, such studies were observational in nature; randomized trial data were needed to demonstrate the effectiveness of WCDs in at-risk patients.

The VEST Trial

In 2018, the randomized, multi-center VEST trial [14] results were published, showing that among patients with a recent myocardial infarction and an ejection fraction of 35% or less, the wearable cardioverter–defibrillator did not lead to a significantly lower rate of the primary outcome of arrhythmic death than control (Fig. 2).

An important insight from the VEST trial is that the mean number of hours worn per day was 14.0 ± 9.3 . This is significantly below recommended use, and suggests that one potential contributing factor to the negative outcome of the trial was suboptimal compliance. Thus, future iterations of the WCD with improved wearability and comfort may provide higher levels of compliance, increasing the probability of successful WCD therapy.



Fig. 2 Sudden death from ventricular arrhythmias from the VEST trial [14]. Reprinted with permission

Controversies in WCD Use

At present, use of the WCD for routine patients diagnosed with new-onset cardiomyopathy with EF < 35% is uncertain. Based on the results of the VEST trial, routine use may not improve outcomes. However, there may be high-risk subgroups of this population for whom WCD use may be beneficial. Despite the perceived need for such technology, observational WCD studies for the prevention of sudden cardiac death (SCD) have demonstrated conflicting data leading to significant practice variation in prescribing WCD [15].

Limitations to WCD

Several limitations exist to the current iteration of the WCD. As previously suggested, WCD efficacy in detecting and treating VT and VF may be inherently linked by its wearer's compliance. In the WEARIT/BIROAD study, 68 of 289 quit due "comfort issues or adverse reactions," with skin rash or itching also being reported by others in the study [16]. In addition, the device cannot offer protection around times of bathing or active water sports. Lastly, as the device is worn externally, no post-shock pacing or bradycardia pacing capability is available.

Current Recommendations

Optimal WCD use remains controversial. However, the authors recommend WCD therapy for patients felt to be at significantly increased risk of SCD including patients awaiting cardiac transplantation and those meeting ICD indication but have delay or interruption of implant due to vascular access or ongoing management of systemic infection. Utilization in other patients felt to be at particularly high risk of SCD may be considered on a case-by-case basis.

Future Directions

New technologies are being developed to address the limitations of currently available wearable cardioverter defibrillators. Although not yet cleared by the US Food and Drug Administration nor available on the market, a patch version of the WCD is being developed by Element Science that consists of 2 small patches that can be worn under clothes. These and other such technologies that are designed to be more comfortable and waterproof may improve user compliance.

Case Conclusion

Because of his low (<25%) left ventricular function and frequent nonsustained ventricular tachycardia, the patient introduced earlier in this chapter was believed to be as enhanced risk for sudden death, and was prescribed a WCD. On day 17 of WCD therapy, he experienced sustained ventricular tachycardia and syncope. His WCD appropriately detected the arrhythmia and delivered a lifesaving shock (Fig. 3 A–F). The patient subsequently received permanent ICD therapy 3 months after admission, and continues to follow-up with the Electrophysiology service.



Fig. 3 (Panel A) WCD episode report with typical format of two consecutive electrocardiogram channels (SS and FB). This particular report begins with rapid atrial fibrillation which appears to degenerate into sustained ventricular tachycardia (VT). (Panels B and C) WCD-detected VT. (Panel D) WCD alerts wearer of impending shock and awaits response from wearer (Panel E). (Panel F) A successful shock is delivered, restoring sinus rhythm

Key Points

- WCD use remains controversial due to the negative result of the VEST trial
- Expert opinion that reasonable indications include:
 - Patients with interrupted ICD therapy (device extraction)
 - Patients awaiting cardiac transplantation
 - Patients believed to be at enhanced risk for SCD on case-by-case basis.

References

- 1. Nichol G, Thomas E, Callaway CW, et al. Regional variation in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest incidence and outcome. JAMA. 2008;300:1423–31.
- Epstein AE, DiMarco JP, Ellenbogen KA, et al. 2012 ACCF/AHA/HRS focused update incorporated into the ACCF/AHA/HRS 2008 guidelines for device-based therapy of cardiac rhythm abnormalities: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/ American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61:e6–75.
- Sharma PS, Bordachar P, Ellenbogen KA. Indications and use of the wearable cardiac defibrillator. Eur Heart J. 2017;38:258–67.
- 4. Hohnloser SH, Kuck KH, Dorian P, et al. Prophylactic use of an implantable cardioverter-defibrillator after acute myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med. 2004;351:2481–8.
- Steinbeck G, Andresen D, Seidl K, et al. Defibrillator implantation early after myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med. 2009;361:1427–36.
- Solomon SD, Zelenkofske S, McMurray JJ, et al. Sudden death in patients with myocardial infarction and left ventricular dysfunction, heart failure, or both. N Engl J Med. 2005;352:2581–8.
- Moss AJ, Hall WJ, Cannom DS et al. Improved survival with an implanted defibrillator in patients with coronary disease at high risk for ventricular arrhythmia. Multicenter Automatic Defibrillator Implantation Trial Investigators. N Engl J Med. 1996;335:1933–40.
- Bigger JT, Jr. Prophylactic use of implanted cardiac defibrillators in patients at high risk for ventricular arrhythmias after coronary-artery bypass graft surgery. Coronary Artery Bypass Graft (CABG) Patch Trial Investigators. N Engl J Med. 1997;337:1569–75.
- Weintraub WS, Grau-Sepulveda MV, Weiss JM, et al. Prediction of long-term mortality after percutaneous coronary intervention in older adults: results from the National Cardiovascular Data Registry. Circulation. 2012;125:1501–10.
- 10. Piccini JP Sr, Allen LA, Kudenchuk PJ, et al. Wearable cardioverter-defibrillator therapy for the prevention of sudden cardiac death: a science advisory from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2016;133:1715–27.
- 11. Epstein AE, Abraham WT, Bianco NR, et al. Wearable cardioverter-defibrillator use in patients perceived to be at high risk early post-myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;62:2000–7.
- 12. Kutyifa V, Moss AJ, Klein H, et al. Use of the wearable cardioverter defibrillator in highrisk cardiac patients: data from the Prospective Registry of Patients Using the Wearable Cardioverter Defibrillator (WEARIT-II Registry). Circulation. 2015;132:1613–9.
- Ellenbogen KA, Koneru JN, Sharma PS, Deshpande S, Wan C, Szymkiewicz SJ. Benefit of the wearable cardioverter-defibrillator in protecting patients after implantable-cardioverter defibrillator explant: results from the national registry. JACC Clin Electrophysiol. 2017;3:243–50.
- 14. Olgin JE, Pletcher MJ, Vittinghoff E, et al. Wearable cardioverter-defibrillator after myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med. 2018;379:1205–15.

- 15. Masri A, Altibi AM, Erqou S, et al. Wearable cardioverter-defibrillator therapy for the prevention of sudden cardiac death: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JACC Clin Electrophysiol. 2019;5:152–61.
- Feldman AM, Klein H, Tchou P, et al. Use of a wearable defibrillator in terminating tachyarrhythmias in patients at high risk for sudden death: results of the WEARIT/BIROAD. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2004;27:4–9.

Cardiac Device Management in Palliative Care



Patrick Azcarate and Stephanie Yoakum

Case Vignette 1

GJ is a 94-year-old man with a history of persistent atrial fibrillation, sick sinus syndrome s/p dual chamber pacemaker, ischemic cardiomyopathy with EF 20–30% s/p upgrade to Bi-Ventricular implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (ICD). GJ ventricular paces 97% of the time with an underlying heart rate in the 40–50 bpm. He has 9 months left on the battery of his ICD. He presented to clinic stating that he has had 4 falls in the past few months and that as his quality of life continues to decline he will be ready to die. He is worried that if wife were to die first he would not have anyone to take care of him. He would like his wife to be able to visit her family in Japan and live her life. GJ is requesting that ICD therapies be turned off but is unsure if he would want a generator change.

Introduction

It is estimated that one million people receive cardiac implanted electronic devices (CIEDs) such as pacemakers (PMs) and implantable cardioverter-defibrillators (ICDs) every year. While these advances have increased quality of life and decreased mortality, all patients will eventually reach the end of their lives due to progression of their cardiac disease or other health problems such as cancer, neurologic or respiratory diseases. In the last weeks of their life, twenty percent of

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. Azcarate (🖂) · S. Yoakum

Division of Cardiology, Department of Internal Medicine, University of California, 9452 Medical Center Dr #7411, La Jolla, San Diego, CA 92037, USA e-mail: pazcarate@health.ucsd.edu

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_17

patients with ICDs will receive shocks that are known to cause pain and decrease quality of life [1-3]. The desire not to prolong life or experience pain and suffering may lead patients and their families to request that an ICD or pacemaker be deactivated or therapies modified.

Navigating Discussions

Deactivation of CIEDs can lead to emotional distress and bring up ethical, religious and in some cases legal issues. Some may question if withdrawing CIED therapy is akin to assisted suicide or euthanasia. The HRS Expert Consensus Statement on the Management of CIEDs in patients nearing end of life or requesting withdrawal of therapy [4] refutes this assertion. In this circumstance, the clinician's intent is to discontinue a therapy that is no longer wanted and to allow the patient to die naturally of the underlying disease and not to terminate the patient's life [5, 6] Patient autonomy is of utmost importance. The Patient Self Determination Act affords patients or their surrogate the protection to decide what is best for them after discussion with the clinical team. If conflicts exist between patients, families or surrogate decision makers an ethics consult should be considered.

Studies have shown that patients, families and some clinicians view deactivating CIEDs differently than discontinuing other therapies such as mechanical ventilation, dialysis or feeding tubes. It is the clinician's responsibility to discuss and educate patients, families and colleagues that there is no ethical or legal distinction between treatment that is within the body versus outside the body. Also, patients at end of life should be made aware that deactivating their CIED is an option just like withdrawal or discontinuation of other care (Fig. 1).

It is imperative that clinicians utilize shared decision making prior to CIED implantation and have proactive conversations with patients and their families to minimize suffering at the end of life. Patients with CIEDs should strongly be encouraged to have an advanced directive to avoid ethical dilemmas for surrogate decision makers.

When having these discussions with patients and family members, it is important to clairfy the difference between ICDs and pacemakers. An ICD delivers tachy-therapy or treatment of arrhythmias such as ventricular tachycardia or ventricular fibrillation. Pacemakers are used to prevent bradycardia or treat AV nodal blockade. It is possible to turn off ICD and maintain pacemaker function or simply turn off both. If this is done, patients and families need to be aware that if they are pacemaker-dependent, death may occur quickly. The distinction between deactivating tachy-therapies (ICD) and brady therapies (pacemakers) needs to be clear to all parties involved. Clinicians have the right to decline to turn off pacemakers on any grounds. In this situation, another physician can and should assume care of the patient.



Fig. 1 CIED deactivation process

How to Deactivate Pacemakers and Defibrillators

All physicians or facilities that implant and follow CIEDS should have a clearly defined process or standardized procedure for withdrawal of pacemaker and ICD therapies. Members of the multidisciplinary team, including consulting teams, social work, palliative care e.g. should participate in the deactivation process if appropriate. Ideally discussions relating to CIED deactivation should be initiated early, rather than at the terminal stage.

As part of the discussion with patients and families the following points should be discussed:

- Deactivating CIEDs is not painful
- If the patient's circumstances change following the deactivation, the patient can request re-activation of the CIED
- Deactivating the defibrillator function of the ICD does not deactivate the pacemaker function
- In patients who are pacemaker dependent, death may occur quickly.

Logistics of CIED Deactivation

- CIED deactivation can take place in the acute care setting, outpatient setting, skilled nursing facility or patient's home
- After discussion with patient, if cognitively competent, and their families or designated surrogate decision makers when the patient is not capable of participating in the process, informed consent should be obtained.
- Thorough documentation of the discussion including consequences of deactivation and plan to deactivate the device should be documented in the medical record
- An order from the responsible physician to deactivate the device should be placed in the medical record including specific therapies that are to be deactivated, as well as, therapies that are NOT to be deactivated (if any)
- An experienced clinician or industry employed allied professional (IEAP) may deactivate device or turn off specific therapies under the direction and supervision of medical personnel
- Deactivation may result in patient symptoms and thus appropriate medications should be ordered prior to deactivation and readily available for administration.

ICD Deactivation

- A doughnut magnet can be placed over an ICD to disable anti-tachycardia therapies if there will be a logistical delay in turning off therapies; bradycardia pacing will not be affected
- Anti-tachycardia therapies should be turned off by re-programming in all zones according to physician orders
- It is important to clarify if both shocking therapies and anti-tachycardia pacing therapies should be turned off as some patients may not want to be shocked but would want pacing therapies which are not painful
- All remote monitoring and audible alerts reporting deactivation of anti-tachycardia therapies should be turned off.

Pacemaker Deactivation

- Pacing therapy may be withdrawn by programming to specific modes such as OOO, ODO or OSO
- If these modes are not available the rate can be lowered and the outputs adjusted to subthreshold
- All remote monitoring and audible alerts reporting deactivation of pacing should be turned off

- Again, Patients and families should be made aware that death may occur quickly if the patient is pacemaker dependent
- If patient is on telemetry, consider turning off monitor as alarms may be distressing.

Case Conclusion

After discussion with GJ and his wife, he elected to have his ICD therapies turned off. GJ ultimately decided to undergo a generator change but waited until device had reached end of life to make a final decision. GJ elected to keep anti-tachycardia therapies off at time of generator change. His health has continued to declined and he and his wife have moved to another city to be closer to family for support.

Clinical Case #2

Mr. MP is a 78-year old man with a history of heart failure due to left ventricular systolic dysfunction from ischemia. His most recent ejection fraction by echocardiography is 15%. In the last 6 months he has been admitted twice to the local hospital. He is now waking up two times a night with shortness of breath and has shortness of breath just walking to the bathroom. His legs are swollen all the time. His caregiver is concerned since he cannot travel with her anymore. Patient subsequently underwent HM2 LVAD placement with a post-operative course complicated by a pneumonia. Eventually he was discharged home and at a follow-up visit a few weeks later was found to be recovering well. Six months later he was admitted for fatigue and was found to be in VT which required cardioversion. He reported he had been feeling fatigued, worsening pain and had a depressed mood. Palliative care and psychiatry were consulted. They recommend better pain control and he was placed on an SSRI. Six months later, he was still having uncontrolled pain. After a goals of care conversation between the patient, his caregiver, and his cardiologist, the patient clarified that should his pain continue to worsen of functional status decline, he would prefer comfort focused treatment. His caregiver asked what comfort care would look like with an LVAD.

LVAD Considerations in Palliative care

Between 2013 and 2016 there were 6.2 million heart failure patients in the U.S. In parallel to the rising incidence of heart failure, the number of patients receiving left ventricular assist devices (LVADs) is also increasing, from 98 in 2006 to 2,423 in 2014 [8]. An LVAD is a mechanical circulatory support device that may be offered to patients with stage D heart failure as a bridge to recovery, a bridge to transplant, a bridge to decision, or as destination therapy (DT). While

initially LVADs were mainly used as a bridge to other therapies, now the proportion of LVADs as DT has increased from 14.7% in 2006 to 45.7% in 2014 [8]. This increase in use of LVADs for DT is likely because they have been shown to improve symptoms and survival in patients with advanced heart failure compared to medical therapy alone [9] and advancements continue to improve survival [10]. In addition to these potential benefits, however, there remains morbidity and mortality with the most common complications being infection, bleeding, and stroke. Prior to undergoing LVAD implantation, patients must understand the benefits and risks of this device in addition to one other important consideration: when to withdraw therapy of the device. End of life care discussions are encouraged for all patients with advanced heart failure but is even more important in those with an LVAD given the unique ethical discussions it creates [11].

Navigating Discussions

Understanding what patients and caregivers would want at the end of life prior to LVAD implantation is important for several reasons. Firstly, most patients who get an LVAD will die with one. This may be because it was implanted as destination therapy, or it was initially meant to be a bridge but they no longer are offered a transplant. Second, it is difficult to picture the end of life with an LVAD and patients and caregivers often express confusion about the process Having an honest conversation on the process and certain indications that would prompt device withdrawal are imperative. Finally, it is important to have these conversations prior to implantation since the patient may decompensate quickly and may then no longer be able to participate in the goals of care conversations. In general, discussions about discontinuation of an LVAD must include reasons why it is turned off and it must include what the process will look like including the setting, management of symptoms, and prognosis once device is turned off. For these situations it may be helpful to consult palliative care providers who can provide an additional layer of support for these discussions.

There are three types of clinical scenarios where LVAD deactivation may be requested. These include an abrupt pump failure or LVAD complication (sepsis or stroke), a poor quality of life, or the development of serious comorbidities such as cancer or dementia (Fig. 2) [11, 12]. If these occur, either the patient or caregiver will request device deactivation or the healthcare provider may recommend it. Withdrawal of this device does create a unique ethical discussion since some patients and caregivers may see withdrawal of LVAD support as physician assisted suicide or euthanasia and still others may see it as contradictory to their religious beliefs [13]. According to the Patient Self Determination Act, however, a patient has the right to withdraw or refuse medial therapy to allow a natural death [13]. This act protects a patient's right to withdraw an LVAD, which is a life-supporting device, and allow end-stage heart failure to progress naturally towards death [4]. In contrast, as noted above, euthanasia or physician assisted suicide causes death by a lethal



Fig. 2 Flow chart for approach to LVAD and palliative care LVAD: Left ventricular assist device. GOC: Goals of care. MCS: Mechanical circulatory support

action on behalf of the patient or the provider. Explaining this difference to patients and their caregivers is helpful to guide conversations about device deactivation.

Other important considerations include what other forms of treatment are to be continued or discontinued. Specifically, providers should consider discontinuing antibiotics, vasopressors, tube feeds, ICDs, and mechanical ventilation at the time of LVAD deactivation. This may be overwhelming to patients and their caregivers therefore it may be helpful to provide more specific recommendations and reassure them that whatever discomfort may arise from discontinuation of a specific treatment will be treated [13, 14]. Finally, the team should discontinue any monitoring that is not directed at symptom relief. This includes non-invasive blood pressure monitoring and pulse oximeters.

LVAD Deactivation

If device deactivation is requested, it is important to review the deactivation process, medications that will be started and/or discontinued, and the expected prognosis without the LVAD. In terms of the setting, LVAD discontinuation usually occurs in the hospital but there have been some cases where this was performed at home [15]. In this situation, a multi-disciplinary team of cardiology, palliative care, case managers and social workers is required to carry this out. First, the process is described to the family. Next the patient and caregivers may decide when and where this will happen. They should be aware that once the pump is off their prognosis is likely a few hours though some patients have been known to survive a few days off their LVAD. Once a time and place has been decided, then the rest of the team can meet the patient and their caregivers.

Prior to LVAD deactivation, it is important to remember than once the pump is turned off, the cardiac output will decrease significantly therefore limiting circulation of these medications. As such it is important to properly medicate patients prior to device deactivation [16]. General goals for premedication include decreasing the respiratory rate to a goal of 16–20 breaths per minute with SQ opioid and SQ anxiolytic to help treat dyspnea and anxiety which will occur after device deactivation [17]. Additional medications may include sublingual opioids or anxiolytics, anticholinergics for increased secretions, or haloperidol for agitation. Symptom onset may be rapid, therefore, providers should be vigilant and be readily able to administer medications quickly to maximize patient's comfort.

Once adequate premedication has been achieved, then they may proceed to LVAD deactivation. To turn off the device, one must turn off the alarms in parallel to turning off the pump in order to avoid setting of an alarm that would be very distressing the patient and their caregivers. This LVAD deactivation can be done by a provider of the MCS team who knows the device. While there are different types of LVADs, the basic deactivation sequence is similar and can be done by a provider or a device representative (Box 1). Alternatively with the Heartmate II or 3 one may reduce the speed below 8,000 rpm or 4,000 rpm respectively to activate the extended silence alarm option (deactivates all alarms for 4 h). Once the pump is off, a patient may experience shortness of breath and anxiety which can be treated with sublingual medications. Patients can decompensate quickly therefore it is important to have a provider nearby who can administer medications efficiently. Providers should also discuss the plan for after the patient dies since the LVAD may need to be removed before cremation. In this case it may be helpful for providers to communicate with the funeral home to clarify what they would prefer to be done with the machine. If the patient passes at home then they also need to be aware what devices can be kept or which should be returned (e.g. batteries, cables, etc.).

Case Conclusion

Several weeks passed and Mr. MP's functional status continued to decline. Eventually he presented to the hospital with worsening shortness of breath and was found to have recurrent VT which would require cardioversion again. After discussing and clarifying his goals of care with the cardiology, palliative care, and psychiatry teams, the decision was made to proceed to LVAD deactivation and comfort-focused treatment. The patient and his caregiver were made aware of his prognosis of less than a day and after his family and friends gathered the primary cardiology and LVAD teams proceeded with device deactivation. Anxiolytics and pain medications were given to prevent dyspnea and treat his pain. The device was turned off and patient passed away comfortably after 8 h. Condolences were expressed to his caregiver.

Box 1: How to Deactivate an LVAD

 Basic Deactivation Sequence Checklist for HeartMate II or 3 LVAD*

 1. Remove the battery in the system controller to disable back-up alarms.

 2. Press alarm silence button on the controller.

 3. Remove power from the controller by removing the black and white cables coming from the main power base unit (simultaneous removal of both cables will limit alarms).

 4. Detach the LVAD driveline exiting patient from the controller

 *Deactivation sequence for a Heartware LVAD is similar, however, Step 1 may be skipped. (Adapted from Gafford et al. [17])

Key Points:

- CIED's and LVADs can legally be deactivated at the request of the patient or their appointed surrogate decision maker
- Facilities that take care of patients with CIED's and LVADs should have a protocol in place for CIED deactivation
- Prior to CIED or LVAD deactivation, clinicians should have a discussion with the patient and/or their surrogate decision maker regarding the deactivation process and what the potential outcomes may be. This discussion should be documented in the medical record.
- Deactivation of a CIED requires an order from the responsible physician specifying what therapies should be turned off and what therapies should remain on

• Deactivation of a CIED or LVAD should be done by a knowledgeable and competent clinician or industry employed allied professional according to the order A clinician may opt to not participate in deactivation of a CIED however, they should find a qualified clinician to take their place.

References

- 1. Ahmad M, Bloomstein L, Roelke M, Bernstein AD, Parsonnet V. Patients' attitudes toward implanted defibrillator shocks. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2000;23(6):934–38. 7.
- Schron EB, Exner DV, Yao Q, et al. Quality of life in the antiarrhythmics versus implantable defibrillators trial: impact of therapy and influence of adverse symptoms and defibrillator shocks. Circulation. 2002;105(5):589–94.
- Goldstein NE, Lampert R, Bradley E, Lynn J, Krumholz HM. Management of implantable cardioverter defibrillators in end-of-life care. Ann Intern Med. 2004; 141(11):835–8. 2.
- Lampert R, Hayes DL, Annas GJ, et al. HRS expert consensus statement on the management of cardiovascular implantable electronic devices (CIEDs) in patients nearing end of life or requesting withdrawal of therapy. Heart Rhythm. 2010;7(7):1008–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrthm.2010.04.033.
- 5. The Ethics and Human Rights Committee. American College of Physicians (ACP) Ethics Manual: Fifth Edition. Ann Intern Med. 2005;142:560–82.
- 6. Meisel A, Snyder L, Quill T. Seven legal barriers to end-of-life care: myths, realities, and grains of truth. JAMA. 2000;284(19):2495–501.
- 7. Agency for Clinical Information, *NSW Guidelines for Deactivation of Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillators at the End of Life* 2015, NSW Department of Health.
- 8. Benjamin et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics 2019 Update. Circulation 31 Jan 2019.
- Rose EA, Gelijns AC, Moskowitz AJ, et al. Long-term use of a left ventricular assist device for end-stage heart failure. N Engl J Med. 2001;345(20):1435–43. https://doi.org/10.1056/ nejmoa012175.
- Slaughter MS, Rogers JG, Milano CA, et al. Advanced heart failure treated with continuous-flow left ventricular assist device. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(23):2241–51. https://doi. org/10.1056/nejmoa0909938.
- Adler ED, Goldfinger JZ, Kalman J, Park ME, Meier DE. Palliative care in the treatment of advanced heart failure. Circulation. 2009;120(25):2597–606. https://doi.org/10.1161/ circulationaha.109.869123.
- 12. Brush S, Budge D, Alharethi R, et al. End-of-life decision making and implementation in recipients of a destination left ventricular assist device. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2010; 29:1337e1341.
- Mueller PS, Swetz KM, Freeman MR, et al. Ethical analysis of withdrawing ventricular assist device support. Mayo Clin Proc. 2010;85(9):791–7. https://doi.org/10.4065/mcp.2010.0113.
- 14. Palliative care and end-of-life issues in patients treated with left ventricular assist devices as destination therapy Curr Heart Fail Rep. 2011;8:212e218.
- Dunlay SM, Strand JJ, Wordingham SE, Stulak JM, Luckhardt AJ, Swetz KM. Dying with a left ventricular assist device as destination therapy. Circ Heart Fail. 2016;9(10). https:// doi.org/10.1161/circheartfailure.116.003096.
- Gafford E, Luckhardt A, Swetz K. Deactivation of a left ventricular assist device at the end of life #269. J Palliat Med. 2013;16. https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2013.9490.
- 17. Panke JT, Ruiz G, Elliott T, et al. Discontinuation of a Left Ventricular Assist Device in the Home Hospice Setting. J Pain Symptom Manag. 2016;52(2):313–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2016.02.010.

Section V Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy (CRT)

Section Editor: Gordon Ho

Indications for Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy



Douglas Darden and Jonathan C. Hsu

Clinical Vignette

A 70-year-old man with chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy (New York Heart Association III, left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) 20%), percutaneous coronary intervention to left anterior descending artery and right coronary artery one year prior, and hyperlipidemia presents to clinic to discuss cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT) candidacy. He is currently tolerating maximal doses of carvedilol, lisinopril, and spironolactone. Electrocardiogram shows normal sinus rhythm, left axis deviation, and nonspecific intraventricular conduction delay with QRS duration 140 ms. Repeat echocardiogram shows a severely dilated left atrium and mildly dilated left ventricle with LVEF 20% and global hypokinesis, unchanged in the past year. Is CRT recommended for this patient?

Introduction

Impaired electromechanical coupling is frequently seen in the progression of heart failure (HF), manifesting as prolonged interventricular conduction on the electrocardiogram or a prolonged QRS duration >120 ms (ms). Approximately one-third of patients with heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) have prolongation of the QRS duration. Furthermore, those with a wide QRS with left bundle branch block (LBBB) morphology have increased mortality compared to those with right bundle branch block (RBBB) [1]. Such dyssynchrony can result in further reductions in cardiac output, worsening functional mitral regurgitation,

D. Darden · J. C. Hsu (🖂)

Division of Cardiology, Department of Internal Medicine, University of California, 9452 Medical Center Dr, MC7411, La Jolla, San Diego, CA 92037, USA e-mail: Jonathan.Hsu@ucsd.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_18

adverse left ventricular (LV) remodeling, and ultimately, worse prognosis [2–7]. Cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT), by allowing simultaneous pacing of the ventricles, has emerged as a therapeutic strategy to promote reverse remodeling and improvement in mitral regurgitation, systolic function, and cardiac chamber dimensions [8, 9]. Robust data from several large randomized control trials (RCTs) have firmly established the clinical benefit of CRT in alleviating symptoms, preventing hospitalizations, and improving mortality in appropriately selected patients [10, 11].

In this chapter, an overview of the current indications for CRT will be discussed with an emphasis on the 2012 American College of Cardiology (ACC)/American Heart Association (AHA)/Heart Rhythm Society (HRS) Focused Update on Guidelines for Device-Based Therapy and highlighting the landmark trials.

Indications for CRT

Over the last two decades, the use of CRT has rapidly evolved from a last resort in select patients with severe LV systolic dysfunction and LBBB to a standard therapy in heart failure as tested and validated in large randomized controlled trials, as shown in Table 1. Prior to understanding the specifics of the indications, it is important to first understand when to consider a potential candidate for CRT. The appropriate patient has HFrEF as defined as LVEF \leq 35%, on maximally tolerated doses of guideline-directed medical therapy (GDMT) for HF for at least three months, at least 40 days after a myocardial infarction without revascularization or three months after revascularization, and have treated any reversible cause of LV dysfunction [12]. It is also important to avoid implantation in those with significant comorbidities and/or frailty that limits expected survival to less than a year.

1. Recommendations for Patients in Sinus Rhythm

The 2012 ACC/AHA/HRS Focused Update on 2008 Guidelines for Device-Based Therapy proposed several key changes in the recommendations for CRT, as seen in Table 2 [12]. First, a Class I indication was limited to patients with NYHA II, III, or ambulatory IV symptoms despite optimal GDMT and QRS duration \geq 150. Multiple trials and analyses have showed that the benefit of CRT appears dependent on QRS duration, particularly with more favorable outcomes in those with QRS \geq 150 ms as compared to those with QRS <150 ms [13–16]. A Class II recommendation is given to patients with QRS \geq 120 to 150 ms who otherwise qualify for CRT. Those with a QRS <120 ms fail to benefit from CRT even with evidence of mechanical dyssynchrony on echocardiogram, thus CRT is a contraindication in these patients in the absence of a need for frequent ventricular pacing [17, 18].

Secondly, the current guidelines also limit the Class I indication to patients with LBBB. In a meta-analysis of four trials including 5,356 patients, CRT significantly

1aDIE 1 Landmark trials	in cardl	ac resynchronization th	nerapy		
Trial, year of publication	z	Patient population	Trial design (follow-up duration)	Endpoints	Findings
Normal Sinus Rhythm an	d Advan	ced Heart Failure		•	
MIRACLE, 2002 [15]	453	• NYHA III-IV • LVEF $\leq 35\%$ • QRS $\geq 130 \text{ ms}$	CRT-P versus OMT (6 mo)	Primary: NYHA class, QOL Secondary: Peak VO ₂ , LVEDD, clinical composite response	CRT-P \uparrow 6MWD (+39 m versus +10 m), \uparrow QOL, \downarrow NYHA class, \uparrow peak VO ₂ , \uparrow LVEF (4.6 vs -0.2%)
COMPANION, 2004 [10]	1520	• NYHA III-IV • LVEF < 35% • QRS > 120 ms	CRT-P/CRT-D versus OMT (15 mo)	Primary: all-cause mortality and hospitalization Secondary: all-cause mortality	↓ primary endpoint for CRT-P and CRT-D (34% and 40%, respectively) versus OMT; ↓ all-cause mortality (CRT-P ↓ 24% [p=0.06], CRT-D ↓ 36%)
CARE-HF, 2005 [37]	813	• NYHA III-IV • LVEF ≤ 35% • QRS ≥ 120 ms • LVEDD > 30 mm	CRT-P versus OMT (29.4 mo)	Primary: all-cause mortality or CV hospitalization Secondary: all-cause mortality, NYHA, QOL	CRT-P \downarrow all-cause mortality or hospi- talization; \downarrow all-cause mortality; \uparrow LV measures and QOL
Normal Sinus Rhythm an	d Mild F	Heart Failure			
REVERSE, 2008 [47]	610	• NYHA I-II • LVEF ≤ 40% • QRS ≥ 120 ms • LVEDD > 5.5 cm	CRT-on versus CRT-off (12 mo)	Primary: HF clinical composite score Secondary: LVESV index, HF hospitalizations and all-cause mortality	No improvement in primary endpoint in CRT-on versus CRT-off (16% vs 21% , p=0.10). CRT-on did have \downarrow LVESV, \uparrow LVEF, and delay in time-to-first hospitali- zation (HR: 0.47, p=.03)
MADIT-CRT, 2009 [48]	1820	• NYHA I-II • LVEF ≤ 30% • QRS ≥ 130 ms	CRT-D versus ICD (2.4 years)	Primary: all-cause mortality or HF hospitalizations Secondary: All-cause mortality or LVESV	↓ primary endpoint with CRT-D (17% vs 25% with HR 0.66, p=0.001) driven by 41% reduction in HF events. ↓ LVSEV. No reduction in all-cause mortality
RAFT, 2010 [11]	1798	• NYHA II-III • LVEF ≤ 30% • QRS ≥ 120 ms	CRT-D versus ICD (40 mo)	Primary: all-cause mortality or HF hospitalizations Secondary: all-cause mortality or cardiovascular death	CRT-D↓ primary endpoint (33% vs 40%).↓ mortality (29% vs 35%).

 Table 1
 Landmark trials in cardiac resynchronization therapy

289

Table 1 (continued)					
Trial, year of publication	z	Patient population	Trial design (follow-up duration)	Endpoints	Findings
Chronic RV Pacing and F	ermane	ent Atrial Fibrillation			
BLOCK-HF, 2013 [32]	918	• NYHA I-III • LVEF < 50%	CRT versus RV pacing (37 mo)	Primary: all-cause mortality, acute HF. increase in LYESV>15%	CRT \downarrow composite outcome (HR 0.74; 95% CI. 0.60–0.90): CRT \downarrow secondary outcomes
		• Indication for	(and a) ground	Secondary: composite of all-	except death
		pacing with AV block		cause mortality, acute HF, and hospitalization	
APAF-CRT, 2018 [49]	102	Permanent atrial	AV junction	Primary: Death due to HF, HF	Ablation+CRT \ primary endpoint (20%
		fibrillation	ablation and	hospitalization, worsening HF	vs 38%) and \downarrow secondary endpoint in
		Narrow QRS	CRT versus	Secondary: All-cause mortality, HF	ablation + CRT
		$(\leq 110 \text{ ms})$	OMT (16 mo)	hospitalization, worsening HF.	
		One HF hospital-			
		ization in previous			
		year			
Narrow QRS					
RethinQ, 2007 [17]	172	• NYHA III • I VFF < 35%	CRT-D versus	Primary: Peak VO ₂	No change in peak VO ₂
		$\bullet QRS < 130 ms$			
ECHO-CRT, 2013	1680	• NYHA I-IV	CRT-on versus	Primary: all-cause mortality or HF	Study stopped with significant \uparrow in mortal-
		• LVEF $\leq 35\%$	CRT-off (19 mo)	hospitalization	ity with LVEF $\leq 35\%$ and narrow QRS
		• QRS <130 ms		Secondary: HF events	
		• Evidence of echo			
		dyssynchrony			
Abbreviations: NYHA. N	ew Yor	k Heart Association: L	VEF. left ventricu	lar ejection fraction: OMT, optimal r	nedical therapy: CRT-P, cardiac resynchroni-

zation therapy pacing: CRT-D, cardiac resynchronization therapy defibrillator; QOL, quality of life; LVEDD, left ventricular end diastolic dimension; HR; hazard ratio; CV, cardiovascular; LVESV, left ventricular end systolic volume; ICD, implantable cardiac defibrillator; AV, atrioventricular reduced the composite adverse clinical events by 36% in those with a LBBB [19]. No benefit was observed in those with right bundle branch block (RBBB) or non-specific intraventricular conduction delay (NICD). Nonetheless, other studies still suggest a wide QRS duration in patients with advanced HF and non-LBBB morphologies is associated with enhanced reverse remodeling and improved long-term outcomes following CRT [11, 20].

Lastly, perhaps the most significant changes of the updated guidelines include the expansion of Class I recommendation to NYHA class II patients (with QRS \geq 150 ms and LBBB) and the addition of a Class IIb recommendation to patients with NYHA class I patients (with LVEF \leq 30%, ischemic etiology of HF, and LBBB \geq 150 ms). These changes are largely due to the publication of three major trials: REVERSE (Resynchronization Reverses Remodeling in Systolic LV Dysfunction), MADIT-CRT (Multicenter Automatic Defibrillator Implantation Trial with CRT), and RAFT (Resynchronization-Defibrillation for Ambulatory HF Trial) as described in Table 1.

2. Recommendations for Patients in Permanent Atrial Fibrillation

Another update based on the most recent guidelines from 2012 involves a class II recommendation for CRT in patients with permanent AF and LVEF < 35% with important caveats: if the patient requires ventricular pacing or otherwise eligible for device therapy, and atrioventricular (AV) nodal ablation or pharmacological rate control will allow near 100% ventricular pacing [12]. As clinical trials of CRT have included patients mainly in sinus rhythm, concerns exist in whether patients with permanent atrial fibrillation (AF) derive similar benefit. The presence of AF may compete with CRT pacing due to sensed events, preventing effective biventricular pacing. RAFT remains the largest randomized trial to date to include a substantial portion of patients with AF receiving a CRT device (n = 229 or 12.7%)[11]. A post hoc analysis of RAFT failed to show a benefit in patients with permanent AF who were randomized to CRT-D as compared to ICD alone [21]. However, several studies have suggested that benefit from CRT is most evident in patients when it is coupled with atrioventricular nodal ablation, thereby avoiding potentially deleterious effects of chronic RV pacing [22-26]. Although AV nodal ablation combined with CRT may be considered in those with permanent AF with persistently high ventricular rates, it is not without risk and concerns exist that AV nodal ablation renders patients pacemaker-dependent. Other strategies, particularly the use of ablation with pulmonary vein isolation in patients with HF and paroxysmal or persistent AF, should be considered first [27].

3. Recommendations for Anticipated Significant Ventricular Pacing

Chronic right ventricle (RV) pacing can mimic the dyssynchronous effects of LBBB, leading to progressive LV dysfunction, particularly in patients with pre-existing LV dysfunction [28]. The deleterious effects of chronic RV pacing were evaluated in the DAVID (Dual Chamber and VVI Implantable Defibrillator) trial. The trial showed that patients with LVEF $\leq 40\%$ with an implantable cardiac defibrillator (ICD) programmed to dual-chamber pacing had increased HF admissions

and mortality rate compared to sinus rhythm [29]. A post hoc analysis found that patients with RV pacing cut-off of>40% was associated with worse outcomes [30]. A similar finding was observed in the MADIT II trial where those with >50% RV pacing had worse outcomes [31]. Based on the available literature at the time, the current guidelines provide a Class IIa recommendation for CRT in patients with LVEF \leq 35% and are undergoing new or replacement device with anticipated requirement for significant (>40%) RV pacing.

Since the publication of the 2012 updated guidelines, the results of the BLOCK-HF (Biventricular Pacing for Atrioventricular Block and Systolic Dysfunction) demonstrated the benefit of CRT in a select group of patients not currently represented by the guidelines. Published in 2013, the trial demonstrated superior outcomes in patients implanted with CRT as compared to RV-only pacing in those with NYHA class I-III, LVEF \leq 50% and atrioventricular block, in which ventricular pacing is obligatory [32]. The results of the BLOCK-HF study have already changed clinical practice and will likely liberalize the LVEF cut-off in those with high anticipated RV pacing in future guidelines.

4. Recommendations for Upgrade to CRT

Based on extrapolation from the 2012 updated guidelines, in patients with HFrEF who have a single or dual chamber pacemaker or ICD that subsequently develop worsening HF with high burden of RV pacing or a wide QRS that then meet criteria for CRT, an upgrade to CRT may be considered. Despite lack of evidence-based data, upgrade procedures are becoming increasingly common, particularly with heightened awareness of detrimental high RV pacing burden [33]. Importantly, upgrade procedures may be associated with worse outcomes than de novo implantations [34–36]. Thus, the benefits of CRT upgrade should be weighed against the procedural risk and complexity of adding the additional lead.

5. Recommendations for CRT-D versus CRT-P

The guidelines do not make specific recommendations regarding the choice between CRT-D and CRT-P. The COMPANION trial failed to show a difference in outcomes between CRT-P and CRT-D, although it lacked powered [10]. The CARE-HF trial was the first to provide evidence that CRT-P alone reduces mortality compared to medical therapy, but CRT-D was not compared [37]. It remains unclear if CRT reduces the need for an ICD by reverse remodeling and reduction in arrhythmia burden. Although a post hoc analysis from the REVERSE trial demonstrated that reverse remodeling with CRT was associated with a reduction of ventricular tachycardia (VT) [38], causal inferences cannot be made. Understandably, if a patient is scheduled for ICD implantation based on the current recommendations and is also eligible for CRT with life expectancy >1 year, then CRT-D should be considered. However, there may be a role for CRT-P in

Patients in sinus rhythm with moderate to se	vere heart failure (NYHA III-IV)
Class I, Level of Evidence A	 • LVEF ≤ 35% despite OMT • LBBB • QRS ≥ 150 ms
Class IIa, Level of Evidence A	 LVEF ≤ 35% despite OMT Non-LBBB QRS ≥ 150 ms
Class IIa, Level of Evidence B	 LVEF ≤ 35% despite OMT LBBB QRS 120–149 ms
Class IIb, Level of Evidence B	 • LVEF ≤ 35% despite OMT • Non-LBBB • QRS 120–150 ms
Class III: No Benefit	Comorbidities and/or frailty limit survival with good functional capacity < 1 year
Patients in sinus rhythm with mild heart faile	ure (NYHA II)
Class I, Level of Evidence B	 LVEF ≤ 35% despite OMT LBBB QRS ≥ 150 ms
Class IIa, Level of Evidence B	 LVEF ≤ 35% despite OMT LBBB QRS 120–149 ms
Class IIb, Level of Evidence B	• LVEF ≤ 35% despite OMT • Non-LBBB • QRS ≥ 150 ms
Class III: No Benefit	• LVEF ≤ 35% • Non-LBBB • QRS ≤ 150 ms
Patients in sinus rhythm and mild heart failure (NYHA I)	
Class IIb, Level of Evidence C	 LVEF ≤ 35% despite OMT LBBB QRS ≥ 150 ms Ischemic cardiomyopathy
Class III: No Benefit	• QRS ≤ 150 ms • Non-LBBB
Special CRT indications	1
Class IIa, Level of Evidence B	Anticipated to require frequent ventricular pacing (>40%) with LVEF \leq 35%
Class IIa, Level of Evidence B	Atrial fibrillation, if ventricular pacing is required and rate control will result in near 100% biventricular pacing

 Table 2
 Indications for CRT implantation based on the 2012 ACCF/AHA/HRS focused update guidelines for device-based therapy

Abbreviations: NYHA; New York Heart Association; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; OMT; optimal medical therapy; LBBB, left bundle branch block
select patients for relief of symptoms without defibrillation back-up, such as elderly and frail patients with significant co-morbidities, such as severe renal insufficiency or dialysis, advanced heart failure [12, 39, 40], or controversially, those with non-ischemic cardiomyopathy [41, 42]. Until randomized data provides insight into this clinical dilemma, the choice of the device will largely be decided by the implanting physician.

6. Pre-Implantation Considerations for Predicting Response in CRT Recipients

At least one-third of patients fail to achieve benefit from CRT [43]. Although there currently does not exist a standard definition to define response, several studies have used various clinical, functional, and structural measures with various predictors of response (Table 3). In a subanalysis of the MADIT-CRT, Hsu et al. identified six baseline factors that predicted LVEF super-response in CRT-D patients, defined as the top quartile of LVEF change (mean increase $17.5 \pm 2.7\%$) [44]. The predictors included female sex, no prior myocardial infarction, left bundle branch block, QRS duration ≥ 150 ms, body mass index < 30 kg/m², and smaller baseline left atrial volume index. As evidenced by the trials and guidelines, those with LBBB and QRS duration >150 ms have the highest likelihood of response, thus earning the highest recommendation [12]. However, women have consistently been under-represented in large-scale clinical trials of CRT and guidelines fail to differentiate gender. Gender has been shown to have differing impacts on CRT response in relation to QRS duration, as women tend to respond favorably to CRT at a markedly higher rate than men at QRS < 150 ms [45]. Furthermore, the benefits of CRT in those with RBBB, regardless of ORS duration, may have little benefit from CRT [46]. Understanding the clinical predictors that can affect the likelihood of CRT response will help with optimizing patient selection and maximizing response.

High likelihood of response	Less likely to respond	Likely no benefit
Female	QRS duration 120-150 ms	RBBB
LBBB	High LV scar burden	End stage renal disease
QRS duration \geq 150 ms	Atrial fibrillation	$QRS \le 120 \text{ ms}$ without pacing requirement
Nonischemic cardiomyopathy	Advanced co-morbidities	Life expectancy < 1 year
Body mass index <30 kg/m ²	Medical therapy not optimized	
Small left atrial volume index ^a	NICD	
	Right ventricular dysfunction	

 Table 3
 Pre-implantation predictors of CRT response

^aPer 1-U standard deviation below mean

Case Conclusion

To review, the patient is a 70-year-old man with ischemic cardiomyopathy (LVEF 20%) despite OMT, NYHA class III, normal sinus rhythm with a QRS duration of 140 ms with a non-LBBB morphology. He is expected to live >1 year. CRT recommendation for this patient is currently a Class IIb, level of evidence B. Importantly, the patient has unfavorable characteristics that suggest he is less likely to respond to CRT, such as ischemic etiology, non-LBBB, QRS <150 ms, and male gender. After a shared decision-making discussion regarding continued symptoms, potential benefits, and risks of the procedure, the patient elected to proceed with CRT implantation. Given his life expectancy and personal choice, he elected for CRT-D.

Future Directions

Improved algorithms are being developed and tested to optimize patient selection and optimization for CRT and LV lead targeting using electrocardiographic and imaging techniques to identify sites of dyssynchrony.

Key Points:

- The highest recommendation for CRT is in those with patients in sinus rhythm, LVEF <35%, QRS >150 ms with a LBBB morphology.
- As QRS duration shortens or in those with non-LBBB morphology, the guideline recommendations become weaker for CRT.
- Patients in permanent atrial fibrillation derive less benefit from CRT than patients in sinus rhythm and may benefit from AVN ablation with CRT.
- Patients with HF and anticipated or high RV pacing (>40%) benefit from CRT as opposed to dual chamber pacemaker.
- Data is limited on the CRT-D versus CRT-P and is often left to physician discretion.

References

- Baldasseroni S, Gentile A, Gorini M, Marchionni N, Marini M, Masotti G, Porcu M, Maggioni AP and Investigators INoCHF. Intraventricular conduction defects in patients with congestive heart failure: left but not right bundle branch block is an independent predictor of prognosis. A report from the Italian Network on Congestive Heart Failure (IN-CHF database). Ital Heart J. 2003;4:607–13.
- Vaillant C, Martins RP, Donal E, Leclercq C, Thébault C, Behar N, Mabo P, Daubert JC. Resolution of left bundle branch block-induced cardiomyopathy by cardiac resynchronization therapy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61:1089–95.
- Sze E, Dunning A, Loring Z, Atwater BD, Chiswell K, Daubert JP, Kisslo JA, Mark DB, Velazquez EJ, Samad Z. Comparison of incidence of left ventricular systolic dysfunction

among patients with left bundle branch block versus those with normal QRS duration. Am J Cardiol. 2017;120:1990–7.

- 4. Baldasseroni S, Opasich C, Gorini M, Lucci D, Marchionni N, Marini M, Campana C, Perini G, Deorsola A, Masotti G, Tavazzi L, Maggioni AP and Investigators INoCHF. Left bundle-branch block is associated with increased 1-year sudden and total mortality rate in 5517 outpatients with congestive heart failure: a report from the Italian network on congestive heart failure. Am Heart J. 2002;143:398–405.
- 5. Khan NK, Goode KM, Cleland JG, Rigby AS, Freemantle N, Eastaugh J, Clark AL, de Silva R, Calvert MJ, Swedberg K, Komajda M, Mareev V, Follath F, Investigators EFS. Prevalence of ECG abnormalities in an international survey of patients with suspected or confirmed heart failure at death or discharge. Eur J Heart Fail. 2007;9:491–501.
- Iuliano S, Fisher SG, Karasik PE, Fletcher RD, Singh SN and Failure DoVASToATiCH. QRS duration and mortality in patients with congestive heart failure. Am Heart J. 2002;143:1085–91.
- Masci PG, Marinelli M, Piacenti M, Lorenzoni V, Positano V, Lombardi M, L'Abbate A, Neglia D. Myocardial structural, perfusion, and metabolic correlates of left bundle branch block mechanical derangement in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy: a tagged cardiac magnetic resonance and positron emission tomography study. Circ Cardiovasc Imag. 2010;3:482–90.
- Yu CM, Chau E, Sanderson JE, Fan K, Tang MO, Fung WH, Lin H, Kong SL, Lam YM, Hill MR, Lau CP. Tissue Doppler echocardiographic evidence of reverse remodeling and improved synchronicity by simultaneously delaying regional contraction after biventricular pacing therapy in heart failure. Circulation. 2002;105:438–45.
- Saxon LA, De Marco T, Schafer J, Chatterjee K, Kumar UN, Foster E, Investigators VCHF. Effects of long-term biventricular stimulation for resynchronization on echocardiographic measures of remodeling. Circulation. 2002;105:1304–10.
- Bristow MR, Saxon LA, Boehmer J, Krueger S, Kass DA, De Marco T, Carson P, DiCarlo L, DeMets D, White BG, DeVries DW, Feldman AM and Comparison of Medical Therapy Pc, and Defibrillation in Heart Failure (COMPANION) Investigators. Cardiacresynchronization therapy with or without an implantable defibrillator in advanced chronic heart failure. N Engl J Med. 2004;350:2140–50.
- Tang AS, Wells GA, Talajic M, Arnold MO, Sheldon R, Connolly S, Hohnloser SH, Nichol G, Birnie DH, Sapp JL, Yee R, Healey JS, Rouleau JL and Investigators R-DfAHFT. Cardiac-resynchronization therapy for mild-to-moderate heart failure. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:2385–95.
- 12. Epstein AE, DiMarco JP, Ellenbogen KA, Estes NA, Freedman RA, Gettes LS, Gillinov AM, Gregoratos G, Hammill SC, Hayes DL, Hlatky MA, Newby LK, Page RL, Schoenfeld MH, Silka MJ, Stevenson LW, Sweeney MO, Tracy CM, Darbar D, Dunbar SB, Ferguson TB, Karasik PE, Link MS, Marine JE, Shanker AJ, Stevenson WG, Varosy PD, Foundation ACoC, Guidelines AHATFoP and Society HR. ACCF/AHA/HRS focused update incorporated into the ACCF/AHA/HRS 2008 guidelines for device-based therapy of cardiac rhythm abnormalities: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on practice guidelines and the heart rhythm society. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012;2013(61):e6–75.
- Cazeau S, Leclercq C, Lavergne T, Walker S, Varma C, Linde C, Garrigue S, Kappenberger L, Haywood GA, Santini M, Bailleul C, Daubert JC and Investigators MSiCMS. Effects of multisite biventricular pacing in patients with heart failure and intraventricular conduction delay. N Engl J Med. 2001;344:873–80.
- McAlister FA, Ezekowitz J, Hooton N, Vandermeer B, Spooner C, Dryden DM, Page RL, Hlatky MA, Rowe BH. Cardiac resynchronization therapy for patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction: a systematic review. JAMA. 2007;297:2502–14.
- Abraham WT, Fisher WG, Smith AL, Delurgio DB, Leon AR, Loh E, Kocovic DZ, Packer M, Clavell AL, Hayes DL, Ellestad M, Trupp RJ, Underwood J, Pickering F, Truex C,

McAtee P, Messenger J and Evaluation MSGMIRC. Cardiac resynchronization in chronic heart failure. N Engl J Med. 2002;346:1845–53.

- 16. Stavrakis S, Lazzara R, Thadani U. The benefit of cardiac resynchronization therapy and QRS duration: a meta-analysis. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2012;23:163–8.
- Beshai JF, Grimm RA, Nagueh SF, Baker JH, Beau SL, Greenberg SM, Pires LA, Tchou PJ, Investigators RS. Cardiac-resynchronization therapy in heart failure with narrow QRS complexes. N Engl J Med. 2007;357:2461–71.
- 18. Thibault B, Harel F, Ducharme A, White M, Ellenbogen KA, Frasure-Smith N, Roy D, Philippon F, Dorian P, Talajic M, Dubuc M, Guerra PG, Macle L, Rivard L, Andrade J, Khairy P, Investigators L-E. Cardiac resynchronization therapy in patients with heart failure and a QRS complex <120 milliseconds: the Evaluation of Resynchronization Therapy for Heart Failure (LESSER-EARTH) trial. Circulation. 2013;127:873–81.</p>
- Sipahi I, Carrigan TP, Rowland DY, Stambler BS, Fang JC. Impact of QRS duration on clinical event reduction with cardiac resynchronization therapy: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Arch Intern Med. 2011;171:1454–62.
- Rickard J, Bassiouny M, Cronin EM, Martin DO, Varma N, Niebauer MJ, Tchou PJ, Tang WH, Wilkoff BL. Predictors of response to cardiac resynchronization therapy in patients with a non-left bundle branch block morphology. Am J Cardiol. 2011;108:1576–80.
- Healey JS, Hohnloser SH, Exner DV, Birnie DH, Parkash R, Connolly SJ, Krahn AD, Simpson CS, Thibault B, Basta M, Philippon F, Dorian P, Nair GM, Sivakumaran S, Yetisir E, Wells GA, Tang AS, Investigators R. Cardiac resynchronization therapy in patients with permanent atrial fibrillation: results from the Resynchronization for Ambulatory Heart Failure Trial (RAFT). Circ Heart Fail. 2012;5:566–70.
- 22. Gasparini M, Auricchio A, Regoli F, Fantoni C, Kawabata M, Galimberti P, Pini D, Ceriotti C, Gronda E, Klersy C, Fratini S, Klein HH. Four-year efficacy of cardiac resynchronization therapy on exercise tolerance and disease progression: the importance of performing atrioventricular junction ablation in patients with atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006;48:734–43.
- Brignole M, Botto G, Mont L, Iacopino S, De Marchi G, Oddone D, Luzi M, Tolosana JM, Navazio A, Menozzi C. Cardiac resynchronization therapy in patients undergoing atrioventricular junction ablation for permanent atrial fibrillation: a randomized trial. Eur Heart J. 2011;32:2420–9.
- 24. Wilton SB, Leung AA, Ghali WA, Faris P, Exner DV. Outcomes of cardiac resynchronization therapy in patients with versus those without atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Heart Rhythm. 2011;8:1088–94.
- Ganesan AN, Brooks AG, Roberts-Thomson KC, Lau DH, Kalman JM, Sanders P. Role of AV nodal ablation in cardiac resynchronization in patients with coexistent atrial fibrillation and heart failure a systematic review. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012;59:719–26.
- Doshi RN, Daoud EG, Fellows C, Turk K, Duran A, Hamdan MH, Pires LA and Group PS. Left ventricular-based cardiac stimulation post AV nodal ablation evaluation (the PAVE study). J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2005;16:1160–5.
- Marrouche NF, Brachmann J, Andresen D, Siebels J, Boersma L, Jordaens L, Merkely B, Pokushalov E, Sanders P, Proff J, Schunkert H, Christ H, Vogt J, Bänsch D, Investigators C-A. Catheter ablation for atrial fibrillation with heart failure. N Engl J Med. 2018;378:417–27.
- Hussain MA, Furuya-Kanamori L, Kaye G, Clark J and Doi SA. The effect of right ventricular apical and nonapical pacing on the short- and long-term changes in left ventricular ejection fraction: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized-controlled trials. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2015;38:1121–36.
- Wilkoff BL, Cook JR, Epstein AE, Greene HL, Hallstrom AP, Hsia H, Kutalek SP, Sharma A and Investigators DCaVIDT. Dual-chamber pacing or ventricular backup pacing in patients with an implantable defibrillator: the Dual Chamber and VVI Implantable Defibrillator (DAVID) Trial. JAMA. 2002;288:3115–23.

- Sharma AD, Rizo-Patron C, Hallstrom AP, O'Neill GP, Rothbart S, Martins JB, Roelke M, Steinberg JS, Greene HL, Investigators D. Percent right ventricular pacing predicts outcomes in the DAVID trial. Heart Rhythm. 2005;2:830–4.
- Steinberg JS, Fischer A, Wang P, Schuger C, Daubert J, McNitt S, Andrews M, Brown M, Hall WJ, Zareba W, Moss AJ, Investigators MI. The clinical implications of cumulative right ventricular pacing in the multicenter automatic defibrillator trial II. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2005;16:359–65.
- 32. Curtis AB. Biventricular pacing for atrioventricular block and systolic dysfunction. N Engl J Med. 2013;369:579.
- 33. Linde CM, Normand C, Bogale N, Auricchio A, Sterlinski M, Marinskis G, Sticherling C, Bulava A, Pérez Ó, Maass AH, Witte KK, Rekvava R, Abdelali S, Dickstein K. Upgrades from a previous device compared to de novo cardiac resynchronization therapy in the European Society of Cardiology CRT Survey II. Eur J Heart Fail. 2018;20:1457–68.
- 34. Cheung JW, Ip JE, Markowitz SM, Liu CF, Thomas G, Feldman DN, Swaminathan RV, Lerman BB, Kim LK. Trends and outcomes of cardiac resynchronization therapy upgrade procedures: a comparative analysis using a United States National Database 2003-2013. Heart Rhythm. 2017;14:1043–50.
- 35. Vamos M, Erath JW, Bari Z, Vagany D, Linzbach SP, Burmistrava T, Israel CW, Duray GZ, Hohnloser SH. Effects of upgrade versus de novo cardiac resynchronization therapy on clinical response and long-term survival: results from a multicenter study. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2017;10:e004471.
- 36. Poole JE, Gleva MJ, Mela T, Chung MK, Uslan DZ, Borge R, Gottipaty V, Shinn T, Dan D, Feldman LA, Seide H, Winston SA, Gallagher JJ, Langberg JJ, Mitchell K, Holcomb R, Investigators RR. Complication rates associated with pacemaker or implantable cardiovert-er-defibrillator generator replacements and upgrade procedures: results from the REPLACE registry. Circulation. 2010;122:1553–61.
- Cleland JG, Daubert JC, Erdmann E, Freemantle N, Gras D, Kappenberger L, Tavazzi L and Investigators CR-HFC-HS. The effect of cardiac resynchronization on morbidity and mortality in heart failure. N Engl J Med. 2005;352:1539–49.
- 38. Gold MR, Linde C, Abraham WT, Gardiwal A, Daubert JC. The impact of cardiac resynchronization therapy on the incidence of ventricular arrhythmias in mild heart failure. Heart Rhythm. 2011;8:679–84.
- 39. Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JGF, Coats AJS, Falk V, González-Juanatey JR, Harjola VP, Jankowska EA, Jessup M, Linde C, Nihoyannopoulos P, Parissis JT, Pieske B, Riley JP, Rosano GMC, Ruilope LM, Ruschitzka F, Rutten FH, van der Meer P and Group ESD. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC)Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur Heart J. 2016;37:2129–200.
- Normand C, Linde C, Bogale N, Blomström-Lundqvist C, Auricchio A, Stellbrink C, Witte KK, Mullens W, Sticherling C, Marinskis G, Sciaraffia E, Papiashvili G, Iovev S, Dickstein K. Cardiac resynchronization therapy pacemaker or cardiac resynchronization therapy defibrillator: what determines the choice?-findings from the ESC CRT Survey II. Europace. 2019;21:918–27.
- 41. Køber L, Thune JJ, Nielsen JC, Haarbo J, Videbæk L, Korup E, Jensen G, Hildebrandt P, Steffensen FH, Bruun NE, Eiskjær H, Brandes A, Thøgersen AM, Gustafsson F, Egstrup K, Videbæk R, Hassager C, Svendsen JH, Høfsten DE, Torp-Pedersen C, Pehrson S, Investigators D. Defibrillator implantation in patients with nonischemic systolic heart failure. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:1221–30.
- 42. Leyva F, Zegard A, Acquaye E, Gubran C, Taylor R, Foley PWX, Umar F, Patel K, Panting J, Marshall H, Qiu T. Outcomes of cardiac resynchronization therapy with or

without defibrillation in patients with nonischemic cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;70:1216-27.

- 43. Sieniewicz BJ, Gould J, Porter B, Sidhu BS, Teall T, Webb J, Carr-White G, Rinaldi CA. Understanding non-response to cardiac resynchronisation therapy: common problems and potential solutions. Heart Fail Rev. 2019;24:41–54.
- 44. Hsu JC, Solomon SD, Bourgoun M, McNitt S, Goldenberg I, Klein H, Moss AJ, Foster E and Committee M-CE. Predictors of super-response to cardiac resynchronization therapy and associated improvement in clinical outcome: the MADIT-CRT (multicenter automatic defibrillator implantation trial with cardiac resynchronization therapy) study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012;59:2366–73.
- 45. Varma N, Manne M, Nguyen D, He J, Niebauer M, Tchou P. Probability and magnitude of response to cardiac resynchronization therapy according to QRS duration and gender in nonischemic cardiomyopathy and LBBB. Heart Rhythm. 2014;11:1139–47.
- 46. Kawata H, Bao H, Curtis JP, Minges KE, Mitiku T, Birgersdotter-Green U, Feld GK, Hsu JC. Cardiac resynchronization defibrillator therapy for nonspecific intraventricular conduction delay versus right bundle branch block. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2019;73:3082–99.
- 47. Linde C, Abraham WT, Gold MR, St John Sutton M, Ghio S, Daubert C and Group RRrRiSlvdS. Randomized trial of cardiac resynchronization in mildly symptomatic heart failure patients and in asymptomatic patients with left ventricular dysfunction and previous heart failure symptoms. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008;52:1834–43.
- Moss AJ, Hall WJ, Cannom DS, Klein H, Brown MW, Daubert JP, Estes NA, Foster E, Greenberg H, Higgins SL, Pfeffer MA, Solomon SD, Wilber D, Zareba W and Investigators M-CT. Cardiac-resynchronization therapy for the prevention of heart-failure events. N Engl J Med. 2009;361:1329–38.
- 49. Brignole M, Pokushalov E, Pentimalli F, Palmisano P, Chieffo E, Occhetta E, Quartieri F, Calò L, Ungar A, Mont L, Investigators A-C. A randomized controlled trial of atrioventricular junction ablation and cardiac resynchronization therapy in patients with permanent atrial fibrillation and narrow QRS. Eur Heart J. 2018;39:3999–4008.

Implant Considerations for the CRT Device



Douglas Darden and Jonathan C. Hsu

Clinical Vignette

A 65-year-old woman with history of ischemic cardiomyopathy (New York Heart Association class (NYHA) III, left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) 30% with left bundle branch block and QRS duration 150 ms, coronary artery bypass surgery, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia presents to clinic six months post cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT) implantation. She is currently tolerating maximal doses of carvedilol, sacubitril/valsartan, and spironolactone. Follow-up echocardiogram remains unchanged with LVEF 30% and she reports no change in symptoms. What important implant consideration should be reviewed?

Introduction

The CRT device includes three leads (right atrial, right ventricle (RV), and left ventricle (LV)) with a three-lead pulse generator. The RV pacing lead or defibrillation lead is secured into the RV apex, apical septum, mid septum, or outflow tract. It is often placed first to provide back-up in case of complete heart block. The right atrial lead allows sensing and tracking of sinus rhythm to synchronize ventricular activation, although occasionally the right atrial lead may be omitted in patients with permanent AF. It is typically placed last in order to avoid lead dislodgement during LV lead placement. While inserting the right atrial and right ventricular leads are typically straightforward, the LV lead implantation may be more complex. There are several factors that affect final LV lead location,

D. Darden · J. C. Hsu (🖂)

Division of Cardiology, Department of Internal Medicine, University of California, 9452 Medical Center Dr, MC7411, La Jolla, San Diego, CA 92037, USA e-mail: Jonathan.Hsu@ucsd.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_19

including varied venous anatomies, delivery and stability of the LV implantation tools, presence of phrenic nerve stimulation, and high LV pacing thresholds. Implanters need to be prepared to address all potential challenges in order to provide long-term effective therapy.

1. Location and Cannulation of Coronary Sinus

The coronary sinus (CS) ostium is located in the posterior and inferior portion of the right atrium, medial to the inferior vena cava opening and superior to the tricuspid valve septal leaflet (Fig. 1A). Locating the CS ostium has improved with the telescopic sheath-in-sheath system connected to a contrast injection system, which allows for direct CS visualization and cannulation with the use of a small guide wire [1]. By first placing the guide catheter at the tricuspid annulus or into right ventricle, counterclockwise torque is then applied to direct the guide posteriorly and upward toward the CS ostium. Puffs of contrast may be used to help locate the CS ostium. Once identified, the guidewire is then advanced. If cannulation is difficult, a new catheter can be chosen, or alternatively, an electrophysiology CS catheter (to record intracardiac electrocardiogram) or interventional guide catheter can be used [2].

Failure to cannulate the coronary sinus (CS) is a common reason for failed LV lead implantation [3]. Various shapes of catheters are available to aid in cannulation, and the chosen method depends on the implanter's techniques and patient-specific variations of right atrium anatomy.

2. Coronary Sinus Venography and Selection of Target Vein

Although it is possible to place the LV lead without venography, it may be advisable to visualize the branches to ensure optimal placement. Once the CS is successfully entered, non-occlusive venography may be sufficient to identify the optimal target vein, a lateral, posterolateral, or anterolateral branch of the CS (Fig. 1B). If unsuccessful, occlusive venography with a balloon-tip catheter can be performed. Multiple views should be used to identify all possible target branches and allow adequate cine time to visualize late filling vessels (Fig. 2).



Fig. 1 (A) Anatomy demonstrating the location of the coronary sinus ostium. (B) Cardiac venous anatomy



Fig. 2 Left anterior oblique (LA), anteroposterior (AP), and right anterior oblique (RAO) fluoroscopic venography images

3. LV Lead Placement

Depending on the anatomy, this step can be either straightforward or tedious. To advance the LV lead into the CS vasculature, a guide wire and the LV lead are passed through the guide catheter. An inner guide may be used for stability and to aid in advancement. The guide wire is then advanced as far as possible into the target vein and the lead can then be tracked along the guide wire to the desired location.

The optimal target vein for the LV lead is a location that will preferably avoid scar and will pace at the site of the greatest electrical and mechanical delay. As the lateral wall is the last segment to contract in the setting of a LBBB, targeting the anterolateral, lateral, posterior, or posterolateral branches of CS are preferred locations, as shown in Fig. 3 [4]. LV apical pacing should be avoided as post hoc analysis from the MADIT-CRT trial showed LV apical pacing was associated with higher risk of heart failure hospitalization and death [5]. Furthermore, achieving maximal and electrical separation between the right and left ventricular leads has shown to result in improved synchrony and hemodynamics [6].

At the target vein site, threshold testing is performed to confirm adequate pacing thresholds, as areas of scar may be difficult to capture [7]. Additionally, high output pacing is performed to assess for phrenic nerve stimulation, given its close anatomical proximity to the lateral pacing sites [8]. The selection of the optimal pacing vector is often chosen by the greatest narrowing of the QRS complex or lowest threshold. In addition, electrical delay can be assessed during implantation by calculating the delay between the surface QRS and the initial sensed LV lead electrogram (Q-LV). LV lead placement at the site of increasing Q-LV has been shown to be associated with greater rates of reverse remodeling and symptom improvement [9].

The use of the quadripolar pacing leads (three spaced electrodes and a tip electrode) allows more pacing options to avoid high pacing thresholds and phrenic nerve stimulation and ensure optimal LV lead placement during and post-implantation [10–12]. The quadripolar LV leads have been associated with a reduction in LV lead deactivation, replacement, and mortality [13]. Of importance, if a hemodynamically suboptimal LV lead is unavoidable transvenously, it may be reasonable to implant an epicardial lead instead.



Fig. 3 Fluoroscopic projections demonstrating appropriate left ventricular lead placement in the anterolateral cardiac vein as depicted by red arrow

Once an acceptable position is obtained, the guidewire and guide catheter are withdrawn. LV lead redundancy is best observed in the right anterior oblique (RAO) view and should be excessive as this can contribute to lead dislodgment.

4. His Bundle Pacing

His bundle pacing may be a potential alternative to CRT. His bundle pacing (HBP) is theoretically an ideal site for synchronized ventricular pacing as it retains the intrinsic conduction system and narrow QRS [14]. However, the first pilot trial, His-SYNC (His Bundle Pacing versus Coronary Sinus pacing for CRT), randomized 41 patients to His-CRT or biventricular-CRT with a 12-month follow-up [15]. The trial showed no difference in respect to improvements in QRS or LVEF or time to cardiovascular hospitalization or death. Given the small sample size and high crossover rates, larger prospective trials will be needed.

5. Troubleshooting

Success in CRT implantation is over 90%, however issues may arise that implanting physicians need to be able to overcome [16]. Table 1 lists common problems and potential solutions.

Access Problems

Especially in CRT upgrades, the ipsilateral subclavian vein may appear occluded. Venography should be performed initially. If an occlusion is confirmed, a few

Problem	Solution
Difficult venous access	 Perform LV venography on ipsilateral arm Percutaneous venoplasty Tunneling the LV lead from contralateral side Abandonment of original device and then implantation on contralateral side Epicardial LV lead placement
Difficulties in coronary sinus cannulation and advancement	 Use telescopic sheath-in-sheath system with contrast The besian valve or tortuous proximal segment Advance inner 5F inner guide catheter over guide-wire to create a "rail" to advance CS sheath Balloon dilatation and guide-wire advancement Vieussens valve Carefully use 0.035-inch guidewire or steerable EP catheter
Difficulties in LV lead implantation	 Use stiffer wire Snaring technique with goose neck snare Venoplasty of target vein Consider surgical LV lead placement

Table 1 Troubleshooting CRT implantation

options exist. First, crossing the occlusion with a wire to perform venoplasty may be attempted. Secondly, obtaining access and placing the lead on the contralateral side followed by tunneling the lead anteriorly to the sternum and then to the original device pocket can be used in CRT upgrades. Similarly, implanting on the contralateral while abandoning the original leads may be considered. Lastly, epicardial lead placement can be utilized.

Coronary Sinus Cannulation and Advancement Issues

If coronary sinus localization is unsuccessful with contrast injection and catheter manipulation, then coronary sinus atresia may be considered [17]. Also, occasionally a prominent Thebesian valve, a fold at the origin of the CS, or proximal tortuous segment may prevent the outer catheter from advancing. A few options may be considered. Entering from the inferior and ventricular portion where the valve is less prominent may suffice. Otherwise, the use of a steerable EP catheter may be advanced to provide support for the guiding catheter. Another technique includes advancing a guidewire and then advancing a 5F catheter straight, hydrophilic inner catheter over the wire to create a "rail" to pass the CS sheath. If there is still resistance to the CS sheath, then can use a stiff 0.035-inch wire to provide additional support. Another approach uses an occlusive balloon is dilated to straighten tortuous segments to allow CS sheath advancement [1]. The valve of Vieussens may be found at the junction of the great cardiac vein and CS that may also cause resistance. Typically, gently passing 0.035-inch wire will allow adequate support to advance the lead.

Difficulties in Placing LV Lead

In situations where the guidewire is delivered to the target vein, but the LV lead fails to advance, a stiffer wire will provide additional support and may allow advancement. If still unsuccessful, snaring of the distal end of the guidewire may provide the needed additional support. The snare technique first involves advancing the guidewire retrograde to the CS through the target branch and back into the main body of the CS via collateral vessels. If a 9F catheter CS guide is a used, a 4F catheter Gooseneck snare and lead are advanced into the lumen through the guide. Smaller CS sheaths require separate venous access for snaring and another CS cannulation. The use of the snare technique avoids the use of venoplasty, which may be another option [18]. If there is still failure to deliver LV lead, the surgical LV lead placement should be considered as opposed to unsuitable target vein location.

Conclusion

Optimal placement of the LV lead of the CRT device is a requirement for favorable CRT response. In order to ensure success and optimization of the CRT device, knowledge of implantation strategies and techniques to overcome challenges are essential.

Case Conclusion

To review, the patient is a 65-year-old woman with ischemic cardiomyopathy (LVEF 35%, NYHA III) post six months CRT implantation with no improvement in LVEF or symptoms. She was appropriately selected by guideline recommendations (Class IA). In clinic, an electrocardiogram was performed that showed a negative QRS in lead V1 and chest X-ray revealed the LV lead was likely placed in the anterior interventricular vein. The patient returned to the electrophysiology lab to successfully reposition LV lead into a posterolateral venous branch. At three-month follow-up, the patient had improvement in LVEF to 45% and improvement in symptoms, now NYHA class II.

Key Points:

- The telescopic sheath-in-sheath system results in higher success in CS cannulation and LV lead insertion.
- The lateral or posterolateral branches of CS are preferred locations for LV lead delivery. Testing to avoid locations of scar should be performed.
- The quadripolar LV leads have been associated with a reduction in LV lead deactivation, replacement, and mortality.

• Successful CRT implantation requires knowledge of the tools and techniques to overcome challenges, such as difficulties in access, CS cannulation and advancement, and LV lead implantation.

References

- Friedman DJ, Jackson KP. How to implant cardiac resynchronization therapy in a busy clinical practice. Card Electrophysiol Clin. 2019;11:67–74.
- Gunes H, Aksu E, Nacar H, Kerkutluoglu M, Ozgul S. What is the most appropriate method for coronary sinus cannulation? The telescopic method or the electrophysiologic method? PLoS ONE. 2018;13:e0203534.
- Al-Khadra AS. Use of preshaped sheath to plan and facilitate cannulation of the coronary sinus for the implantation of cardiac resynchronization therapy devices: preshaped sheath for implantation of biventricular devices. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2005;28:489–92.
- Butter C, Auricchio A, Stellbrink C, Fleck E, Ding J, Yu Y, Huvelle E, Spinelli J and Group PTfCHFIS. Effect of resynchronization therapy stimulation site on the systolic function of heart failure patients. Circulation. 2001;104:3026–9.
- Singh JP, Klein HU, Huang DT, Reek S, Kuniss M, Quesada A, Barsheshet A, Cannom D, Goldenberg I, McNitt S, Daubert JP, Zareba W, Moss AJ. Left ventricular lead position and clinical outcome in the multicenter automatic defibrillator implantation trial-cardiac resynchronization therapy (MADIT-CRT) trial. Circulation. 2011;123:1159–66.
- Singh JP, Heist EK, Ruskin JN, Harthorne JW. "Dialing-in" cardiac resynchronization therapy: overcoming constraints of the coronary venous anatomy. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2006;17:51–8.
- Bleeker GB, Kaandorp TA, Lamb HJ, Boersma E, Steendijk P, de Roos A, van der Wall EE, Schalij MJ, Bax JJ. Effect of posterolateral scar tissue on clinical and echocardiographic improvement after cardiac resynchronization therapy. Circulation. 2006;113:969–76.
- Stellbrink C, Breithardt O-A, Hanrath P. Technical considerations in implanting left ventricular pacing leads for cardiac resynchronisation therapy. Europ Heart J Suppl. 2004;6:D43–6.
- Gold MR, Yu Y, Singh JP, Stein KM, Birgersdotter-Green U, Meyer TE, Seth M, Ellenbogen KA. The effect of left ventricular electrical delay on AV optimization for cardiac resynchronization therapy. Heart Rhythm. 2013 Jul;10(7):988–93.
- Shetty AK, Duckett SG, Bostock J, Rosenthal E, Rinaldi CA. Use of a quadripolar left ventricular lead to achieve successful implantation in patients with previous failed attempts at cardiac resynchronization therapy. Europace. 2011;13:992–6.
- Oswald H, Asbach S, Köbe J, Weglage H, Schulte-Pitzke B, Brachmann J. Effectiveness and reliability of selected site pacing for avoidance of phrenic nerve stimulation in CRT patients with quadripolar LV leads: the EffaceQ study. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2015;38:942–50.
- Boriani G, Connors S, Kalarus Z, Lemke B, Mullens W, Osca Asensi J, Raatikainen P, Gazzola C, Farazi TG, Leclercq C. Cardiac resynchronization therapy with a quadripolar electrode lead decreases complications at 6 months: results of the MORE-CRT randomized trial. JACC Clin Electrophysiol. 2016;2:212–20.
- Turakhia MP, Cao M, Fischer A, Nabutovsky Y, Sloman LS, Dalal N, Gold MR. Reduced mortality associated with quadripolar compared to bipolar left ventricular leads in cardiac resynchronization therapy. JACC Clin Electrophysiol. 2016;2:426–33.
- 14. Lewis AJM, Foley P, Whinnett Z, Keene D, Chandrasekaran B. His bundle pacing: a new strategy for physiological ventricular activation. J Am Heart Assoc. 2019;8:e010972.

- 15. Upadhyay GA, Vijayaraman P, Nayak HM, Verma N, Dandamudi G, Sharma PS, Saleem M, Mandrola J, Genovese D, Tung R and Investigators H-S. His corrective pacing or biventricular pacing for cardiac resynchronization in heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2019.
- León AR. New tools for the effective delivery of cardiac resynchronization therapy. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2005;16(Suppl 1):S42–7.
- 17. Worley SJ. Challenging implants require tools and techniques not tips and tricks. Card Electrophysiol Clin. 2019;11:75–87.
- 18. Worley SJ, Gohn DC, Pulliam RW. Goose neck snare for LV lead placement in difficult venous anatomy. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2009;32:1577–81.

Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy Programming and Troubleshooting



Kunal Shah and Farshad Raissi

Case Scenario

A 55 year old female with nonischemic cardiomyopathy, ejection fraction of 25%, chronic left bundle branch block presents to clinic with ongoing dyspnea. She experiences shortness of breath while climbing stairs or walking more than one block with her dog. She has been on guideline directed medical therapy with carvedilol, valsartan, spironolactone and furosemide for the last 4 months. Her electrocardiogram(EKG) is shown below (Fig. 1).

Given her clinical scenario, the patient qualifies for cardiac resynchronization therapy-defibrillator (CRT-D) implantation based on American College of Cardiology (ACC) guidelines as a IIA recommendation [1]. While her QRS is not greater than 150 ms, she can still potentially receive benefit from CRT given her persistent NYHA II symptoms.

CRT Pacing

In contrast to implantable cardioverter-defibrillators (ICDs), the goal of CRT is 100% biventricular (BiV) pacing to overcome conduction delays and improve cardiac function. Appropriate CRT can reduce mortality, hospitalizations and improve symptoms [2, 3].

Improving CRT response begins with patient selection. Classically, a high likelihood of positive clinical response is seen in female, non-ischemic patients with left bundle branch block of more than 150 ms [3]. There are nuances to this and

K. Shah · F. Raissi (🖂)

University of California San Diego, 9452 Medical Center Dr, 3rd Floor Rm 3E-507, La Jolla, San Diego, CA 92037, USA e-mail: fraissi@health.ucsd.edu

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6 20



Fig. 1 Electrocardiogram obtained from the clinic visit in the case vignette, showing sinus rhythm with a left bundle branch block with QRS duration 140 ms



Fig. 2 Other clinical scenarios to consider cardiac resynchronization therapy, listed as Class IIA indications taken from the 2012 ACC/AHA guidelines [Tracy et al, Circulation, 2012]

the ACC/HRS guidelines shown below depict other possible scenarios where CRT might be beneficial [1] (Fig. 2).

During left ventricular (LV) lead implantation, electrophysiologists localize ideal lateral and basal lead positions to provide adequate separation from the right ventricular (RV) lead. Contemporary LV leads have 4 poles which provide numerous pacing vector options [4]. The available options for choice of vectors varies among manufacturers (Fig. 3).

Pacing from a site with more delayed electrical activation leads to improved clinical outcomes [4, 5]. This electrical delay is measured as the QLV. It is defined

Vector	Cathode to Anode
Vector 1	Distal 1 to Mid 2
Vector 2	Distal 1 to Proximal 4
Vector 3	Distal 1 to RV Coil
Vector 4	Mid 2 to Proximal 4
Vector 5	Mid 2 to RV Coil
Vector 6	Mid 3 to Mid 2
Vector 7	Mid 3 to Proximal 4
Vector 8	Mid 3 to RV Coil
Vector 9	Proximal 4 to Mid 2
Vector 10	Proximal 4 to RV Coil

Fig. 3 Contemporary quadripolar provide more pacing options to optimize cardiac resynchronization therapy, such as avoiding phrenic capture

as the interval from earliest onset QRS on surface EKG to the center of largest peak on unipolar LV lead electrogram(EGM) [see examples below]. The ratio of QLV over QRS duration (QRSd) can serve as a marker of optimal position. A QLV to QRSd ratio of >0.7 has been show to correlate with reduced mortality and HF hospitalizations [5, 6] (Fig. 4).

Another marker of desirable late activation is a longer activation between RV and LV lead EGMs. An RV to LV difference of greater than 67 ms has been shown to correlate with better clinical outcomes including heart failure free survival [7] (Fig. 5).

Features such as LV capture management (Medtronic) can help with automatic adjustment of LV pacing output to ensure LV capture and hence true biventricular (BiV) pacing. Many of these features are now automated and can scan all possible vectors for threshold outputs, optimal timing intervals and expected effect on battery life. The Medtronic Vector Express is shown below as an example of this automation (Fig. 6).

Pacing Modes

In general, DDD (or DDDR) mode is the preferred mode for maximized CRT in patients in sinus rhythm. In this mode, sensing and pacing is performed both in atrial and ventricles. In patients with atrial fibrillation or atrial arrhythmias VVI (and times VDIR mode) is preferred.



Fig. 4 Measurement of latest activation (QLV) of the LV lead electrode, as measured from the onset of QRS to sharpest peak of LV electrogram. [QLV: intrinsic left ventricular delay, LV: left ventricular] Reprinted with permission from Gold et al, Heart Rhythm, 2017



Fig. 5 LV capture management feature from Medtronic to ensure true left ventricular capture. Reproduced with permission from Medtronic Inc



LV Test Results - Example

LV	Pace Polarity	8 LV1 to LV	/2 LV	Amplitude	(a) 3.00 V	8
So	rt by ⑦L	V Pace Polarity	LVI	Pulse Width	0.40 ms	
LV Pol	Pace arity	Relative Longevity	Capture Threshold	Last Impedance	Phrenic Nerve Stim Present?	
	to RVcoil	(2) Maximum	0.75 V @ 0.40 ms	418 ohms	Yes: 6.00 V @ 0.40 ms	
LVI	to LV2 to LV3	Maximum Maximum	(3)1.00 V @ 0.40 ms	665 ohms	Not Tested	
LVZ	to RVcoil	1.0 years less	1.25 V @ 0.40 ms	399 ohms	Not Tested	
LV2	to LV1	7 months less 10 months less	1.50 V @ 0.40 ms 1.50 V @ 0.40 ms	546 ohms 513 ohms	Not Tested Not Tested	
LV2 LV3	to LV4 to RVcoil	8 months less 1.8 years less	1.50 V @ 0.40 ms 1.25 V @ 0.40 ms	589 ohms 399 ohms	Not Tested Not Tested	
LV3	to LV1	10 months less	0 1 50 V @ 0.40 ms	665 ohms	Not Tested	
LV3	to LV4	8 months less	1.25 V @ 0.40 ms	551 ohms	Not Tested	
LV4	to LV1	2.5 years less	2.25 V @ 0.40 ms	608 ohms	Not Tested	
LV4	to LV2	1.5 years less 1.7 years less	2.50 V @ 0.40 ms	589 ohms (12) 551 ohms	Not Tested Not Tested	
	Edit	Undo		st	PROGRAM	Close

Fig. 6 (2 panels). Example of the VectorExpress optimization toolkit from Medtronic to optimize A-V and V-V timing and thresholds. Reproduced with permission from Medtronic Inc

CRT Programming

Over the last two decades, there has been much effort in optimizing electrical and mechanical synchrony and many modalities attempted to provide the best response from CRT. For example, early methods involved adjust timing based on real time echocardiographic findings in attempt to maximize LV filling. A summary of the various modalities and their advantages and shortcoming is displayed below

CRT optimization method	Advantages	Disadvantages
Echocardiogram	> Noninvasive > Portable > Widely available > Multiple variables assessed in one exam	<pre>> Cost \$\$>Time>Limited repeatability > Operator dependent</pre>
MRI	> High spatial resolu- tion > Accurate chamber size quantification > Reproducible	<pre>> Cost \$\$\$>Time>Complex post processing tech- niques>Limited availability</pre>
Invasive hemodynamics/ Pressure volume loop	> Real time information on con- tractility and true cardiac output	<pre>> Cost \$\$\$\$>Invasive >Tim e>Limited repeatability</pre>
EKG and EGM based	> Automated options on select CRT platforms > Ease of use, can be done repeatedly in clinic setting	> Variable accu- racy > Inconsistency with clinical outcome

 Table 1
 Advantages and disadvantages of methods to optimize cardiac resynchronization therapy

(Table 1). The rigorous 2008 PROSPECT study analyzed 12 different echocardiographic parameters to discern if any could predict CRT response; however, no echocardiographic parameter of dyssynchrony improved patient selection for CRT nor consistently provided accurate prediction of outcome.

Unfortunately, no one method has proven to be superior in producing enhanced clinical outcomes.

There has been a more recent trend to use electrocardiographic and devicebased approach to CRT optimization in clinical day-to-day practice. Each device company has unique optimization algorithms to make CRT as effective as possible.

Atrioventricular (AV) Timing

The first programming consideration is to identify the optimal AV delay. A suboptimal AV delay can lead to suboptimal CRT, decreased cardiac output and worse outcomes [8]. In the past, echocardiographic-guided AV delay settings were attempted; however, subsequent trials have disproven a consistent benefit and this labor-intensive method has fallen out of favor [8–10].

One method of optimization utilizes a dynamic and shortened AV delay to create fusion between intrinsic conduction and pacing and can result in more electrical synchrony [11].

As an example, Abbott utilizes an algorithm called SyncAV which attempts to optimize AV timing. Every 256 beats, it extends the paced and sensed AV delay in order to measure the intrinsic AV conduction. An programmable offset (nominal 50 ms) is then subtracted from the intrinsic conduction and applied to the AV delay for the next 255 beats. The creates a dynamic AV delay which adjusted for physiologic changes throughout the day (Table 2).

therapy]
esynchronization
cardiac re
[CRT:
manufacturers
different
from
algorithms
optimization
arious CRT o
Table 2 V

Y	c			
	Abbott	Biotronik	Boston scientific	Medtronic
Quadripolar lead (Available pacing vectors)	Yes (14)	Yes(20)	Yes(17)	Yes(16)
Multisite pacing available	14 vectors with MultiPoint Pacing (MPP)	15 vectors with MultiPole Pacing	17 vectors with MultiSite Pacing (MSP)	5 vectors with VectorExpress
Optimization algorithm name	SyncAV, QuickOpt	AutoAdapt	SmartCRT, SmartDelay	Adaptiv CRT
Algorithm basics	Dynamically adjusts AV delay every 256 cycles AV delay: Intrinsic AV delay - 50 ms(SyncAV CRT Delta) BiV or LV only pacing pro- grammable Multi point pacing available	Necessary criteria: Atrial rate <100 bpm and AV con- duction <250 ms Measures A to RV and A to LV delays 1. A-RV >A-LV: LV only pacing with Adaptive AV 2. A-RV = A-LV: BiV with Adaptive AV 3. A-RV >A-LV: BiV with programmed AV delay Adaptive AV delay Adaptive AV delay or AV delay -40 ms	Measures A to RV and A to LV delays, suggests AV delay to achieve maximum fusion If RV sense and LV sense <20 ms apart: BiV pace If RV sense and LV sense >20 ms apart and intrinsic conduction <270 ms: LV pace	Continuously assesses: Rhythm, Conduction, HR If <i>regular</i> rhythm, intact con- duction <u>AND</u> HR <100 bpm: LV only pacing, AV = shorter of 70% of intrinsic AV or intrinsic AV —40 ms If <i>irregular</i> rhythm, prolonged conduction <u>OR</u> increased HR: BiV pacing, AV = shorter of P wave +30 ms or intrinsic AV - 50 ms
Associated clinical trial	Varma, JAHA, Feb 2018 FREEDOM	N/A	SMART-AV	ADAPTIV-CRT

Ventriculoventricular (VV) Timing

The next programming consideration should be the timing difference between the RV and LV electrical activation. All CRT systems offer an option of LV or RV first offset. Nominally, this is set to zero ms, meaning that LV and RV pacing occur simultaneously. Because of differences between the RV and LV electrical activation, this nominal setting may not always results in the most effective method of pacing.

Although optimizing VV timing might be beneficial in select subgroup of patients, no such benefit is demonstrated in trials such as RHYTHM II ICD or FREEDOM.

The dynamic nature of the conduction cycle, which is influenced by autonomic input and loading conditions, may require a dynamic VV timing.

Other Optimizations

Various manufactures have incorporated various device-based algorithm to maximize CRT efficacy. As an example, Medtronic uses an algorithm called AdaptivCRT to minimize RV pacing and maximize LV pacing instead. If AV conduction is intact, it delivers LV only pacing timed slightly before intrinsic RV activation. If AV conduction is delayed more than 200 ms or heart rate more than 100 bpm, it delivers BIV pacing slightly faster than native AV conduction and selects the shortest VV interval that allows LV preactivation (Table 2). This method of continually adjusting pacing intervals has been shown to improve clinical outcomes and is easily programmable [12]. Importantly, these algorithms should be turned off if there is complete heart block or patient has undergone AV nodal ablation.

Additionally, pacing from multiple poles of the LV lead (multi-point pacing) can capture a larger area of myocardium and can potentially improve efficiency and clinical outcomes [13].

Rate Response in CRT Patients

In patients with chronotropic incompetence or after AV nodal ablation, the rate response feature may improve exercise tolerance and possibly hard outcomes such as survival [14, 15]. The rate response feature allow patients' baseline heart rate to increase with exercise usually based on accelerometer or minute ventilation. The need for rate response should be considered for all CRT patients.

Phrenic Nerve Stimulation

Due to the anatomical course of the phrenic nerve along the left lateral heart border, it can occasionally be stimulated by LV lead pacing. This stimulation leads to diaphragmatic contraction and can be very bothersome for the patient. Phrenic nerve capture is assessed during every LV lead implant in an effort to avoid this clinical scenario. However, diaphragm stimulation can occur after implant due to positional changes or movement of the LV lead.

When this occurs, the flow of troubleshooting should be:

- 1. Attempt to program a *different LV pacing vector* that will capture myocardium but not the phrenic nerve
- 2. Attempt to *lower LV pacing output* such that LV pacing still occurs without stimulating the phrenic nerve
- 3. Assess *LV lead position* on two view CXR and make a referral to EP if diaphragm stimulation still occurring despite first two steps.

Post Implant Optimization

While the device interrogation may report a high percentage of BiV pacing, it is critical to follow stepwise approach to ensure every patient is actually getting the most benefit.

3 key components to obtain for every CRT patient:

- 1. Device reported % of BiV pacing (Graph 1)
- 2. 12 lead EKG
- 3. 2 view chest radiograph (CXR) (Graph 2)

CRT Nonresponders

Despite optimal device implant and programming, roughly 20–40% of CRT patients will be deemed as "nonresponders" and would not experience symptomatic improvement or have imaging finding of positive LV remodeling [17]. The most common associated factors with nonresponders are [17]:

- Male gender
- Ischemic etiology
- Large scar burden





K. Shah and F. Raissi



Graph 2 Evaluation of CRT non-response using the chest X-ray [CRT: cardiac resynchronization therapy]. *Occasionally a Chest CT is needed to confirm precise LV lead position as localization by CXR may be deceiving, inaccurate and not reproducible [16].

- NYHA Class IV
- Severe mitral regurgitation
- Severe left atrial dilation

It is important to have well-defined clinical end-points for response. These indices include improved LV ejection fraction, decreased LV end-systolic diameter/ volume or improved functional mitral regurgitation in follow up imaging studies.

When a potential "nonresponder" presents for clinical evaluation, it is important to follow a stepwise approach in evaluating the patient. Graph 3 summarizes the steps for "non-responder" workup. This workup shall include investigating for non-CRT related etiologies such as suboptimal HF medical therapy, comorbidities and accompanying arrhythmias.



Graph 3 Suggested workup for potential causes of poor response to cardiac resynchronization therapy

Case Wrap Up

During implant, our patient had a QLV of 100 ms and QLV/QRSd of 0.8 with BiV paced 12-lead EKG shown below. Within 2 months of implant, her symptoms greatly improved and she is now able to walk for 30 min at a time without significant shortness of breath. Post implant EKG is show below with a narrow QRS 110 ms (was 140 ms prior to implant) (Fig. 7).

Key Points

• CRT is an effective therapy for HF patients, especially those with LBBB >150 ms and symptomatic heart failure with NYHA II or greater



Fig. 7 ECG obtained from the patient from the case vignette after CRT implantation showing a narrow QRS of 110 ms. [[CRT: cardiac resynchronization therapy]

- The goal of CRT is successful and effective pacing >99% of the time
- LV lead position is one of the most critical components of successful CRT
- Device-based programming can help optimize CRT by adjusting delays and pacing vectors
- When <99% BiV pacing occurs or patient is deemed a "nonresponder", follow a step-wise approach to troubleshooting.

References

- Tracy CM, Epstein AE, Darbar D, DiMarco JP, Dunbar SB, Estes NAM III, Ferguson TB, Hammill SC, Karasik PE, Link MS, Marine JE, Schoenfeld MH, Shanker AJ, Silka MJ, Stevenson LW, Stevenson WG, Varosy PD. 2012 ACCF/AHA/HRS focused update of the 2008 guidelines for device-based therapy of cardiac rhythm abnormalities: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Circulation 2012; September 10, 2012, https://doi.org/10.1161/ cir.0b013e3182618569.
- McAlister FA, Ezekowitz J, Hooton N, et al. Cardiac resynchronization therapy for patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction: a systematic review. JAMA. 2007;297(22):2502– 14. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.297.22.2502.
- 3. Linde C, Ellenbogen K, McAlister FA. Cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT): clinical trials, guidelines, and target populations. Heart Rhythm. 2012;9(8 Suppl):S3–13.
- 4. Leyva F, Zegard A, Qiu T, et al. Cardiac resynchronization therapy using quadripolar versus non-quadripolar left ventricular leads programmed to biventricular pacing with single-site left ventricular pacing: impact on survival and heart failure hospitalization. J

Am Heart Assoc. 2017;6(10):e007026. Published 2017 Oct 17. https://doi.org/10.1161/jaha.117.007026.

- Kutyifa V, Kosztin A, Klein HU, et al. Left ventricular lead location and long-term outcomes in cardiac resynchronization therapy patients. JACC Clin Electrophysiol. 2018;4(11):1410–20.
- 6. Roubicek T, Wichterle D, Kucera P, et al. Left ventricular lead electrical delay is a predictor of mortality in patients with cardiac resynchronization therapy. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2015;8(5):1113–21.
- Gold MR, Yu Y, Wold N, Day JD. The role of interventricular conduction delay to predict clinical response with cardiac resynchronization therapy. Heart Rhythm. 2017;14(12):1748–55.
- Auger D, Hoke U, Bax JJ, Boersma E, Delgado V. Effect of atrioventricular and ventriculoventricular delay optimization on clinical and echocardiographic outcomes of patients treated with cardiac resynchronization therapy: a meta-analysis. Am Heart J. 2013;166(1):20–9.
- 9. Gillis AM. Optimal pacing for right ventricular and biventricular devices: minimizing, maximizing, and right ventricular/left ventricular site considerations. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2014;7(5):968–77.
- 10. Brenyo A, Kutyifa V, Moss AJ, et al. Atrioventricular delay programming and the benefit of cardiac resynchronization therapy in MADIT-CRT. Heart Rhythm. 2013;10(8):1136–43.
- 11. Thibault B, Ritter P, Bode K, et al. Dynamic programming of atrioventricular delay improves electrical synchrony in a multicenter cardiac resynchronization therapy study. Heart Rhythm. 2019;16(7):1047–56.
- 12. Birnie D, Lemke B, Aonuma K, et al. Clinical outcomes with synchronized left ventricular pacing: analysis of the adaptive CRT trial. Heart Rhythm. 2013;10(9):1368–74.
- Zanon F, Baracca E, Pastore G, et al. Multipoint pacing by a left ventricular quadripolar lead improves the acute hemodynamic response to CRT compared with conventional biventricular pacing at any site. Heart Rhythm. 2015;12(5):975–81.
- 14. Olshansky B, Richards M, Sharma A, et al. Survival after rate-responsive programming in patients with cardiac resynchronization therapy-defibrillator implants is associated with a novel parameter: the heart rate score. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2016;9(8).
- 15. Sims DB, Mignatti A, Colombo PC, et al. Rate responsive pacing using cardiac resynchronization therapy in patients with chronotropic incompetence and chronic heart failure. Europace. 2011;13(10):1459–63.
- 16. Jackson LR, Piccini JP, Daubert JP, Hurwitz Koweek LM, Atwater BD. Localization of pacing and defibrillator leads using standard x-ray views is frequently inaccurate and is not reproducible. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2015;43(1):5–12.
- 17. Daubert C, Behar N, Martins RP, Mabo P, Leclercq C. Avoiding non-responders to cardiac resynchronization therapy: a practical guide. Eur Heart J. 2017;38(19):1463–72.

His Bundle and Physiologic Pacing for Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy



Amir A. Schricker and Jonathan Salcedo

Clinical Vignette

A 69-year-old man with a chronic non-ischemic cardiomyopathy (New York Heart Association class III, left ventricular ejection fraction 25%) on optimal guideline-directed medical therapy is referred for cardiac resynchronization therapy and implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (CRT-D). His electrocardiogram reveals sinus rhythm with a left bundle branch block with QRS duration 161 ms. He agrees to CRT-D implantation, but during the procedure difficulty is encountered during coronary sinus (CS) lead implantation, with a contrast venogram demonstrating an attetic CS with no viable branches except for an anterior interventricular vein (AIV.) As a result, further attempts at a coronary sinus lead are aborted, and the patient receives only a single-chamber implantable cardioverter-defibrillator. He presents one month later for follow-up to discuss his options. What options for resynchronization are available for this patient?

Introduction

Cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT) has emerged as a well-proven treatment for cardiomyopathy and advanced heart failure associated with dyssynchrony (i.e. electromechanical delay). Vast data from multiple clinical trials have demonstrated that CRT improves quality of life, left ventricular (LV) systolic function, number of hospitalizations, and mortality [1–6]. However, traditional CRT—typically performed via biventricular pacing using a coronary sinus (CS) lead to achieve LV

A. A. Schricker (🖂) · J. Salcedo

Division of Cardiology, Mills-Peninsula Medical Center, Palo Alto Medical Foundation, 1501 Trousdale Drive, 2nd Floor Cardiology, Burlingame, CA 94010, USA e-mail: amirschricker@gmail.com

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6_21

pacing—suffers from a 30% to 40% rate of non-response, typically distinguished as the lack of derived benefits including improvement in clinical symptoms, left ventricular ejection fraction (LV EF), or LV dimensions [2, 7, 8]. The etiology of non-response is likely multifactorial, and multiple strategies exist to attempt to optimize CRT response [9]. Furthermore, LV lead implantation itself carries an overall failure rate of 3.6% but can be as high as 17.9%, typically due to inability to access the coronary sinus or absence of a suitable venous branch [10].

Bearing this in mind, His bundle pacing has recently emerged as a viable alternative to biventricular pacing to achieve CRT. In this chapter, an overview of His bundle pacing (HBP) and another technique of physiologic pacing, left bundle branch pacing (LBBP), to achieve CRT will be discussed. Although HBP has not yet entered current guidelines from the major North American and European professional societies, the multiple published studies demonstrating the feasibility and benefit of HBP for resynchronization will be reviewed. The most common methods of performing HBP and LBBP are described along with a brief troubleshooting discussion.

His Bundle Pacing: Rationale and Evidence

His bundle pacing (HBP) was first described in humans by Deshmukh et al. in 2000, who established that in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy and atrial fibrillation (AF) undergoing atrioventricular (AV) nodal ablation, direct HBP with a fixed screw-in lead was feasible [11]. In their study, 12 of 18 patients with atrial fibrillation, dilated cardiomyopathy, and narrow QRS demonstrated a His bundle that could be reliably stimulated with a permanent pacemaker lead. Compared to baseline, they exhibited improvements in LV systolic function and dimensions.

In the years that followed, multiple published reports explored the feasibility of permanent HBP and identified its potential acute clinical benefits over right ventricular (RV) pacing [12–16]. Comparisons of HBP with LV or biventricular (BiV) pacing have provided insight as to whether HBP represents an option for CRT eligible populations, as direct HBP and BiV pacing have been shown to improve acute hemodynamics to a similar degree in patients with non-LBBB [17] and LBBB [18].

While fewer studies exist demonstrating its chronic benefits, HBP appears to improve clinical outcomes in the medium to long term. In an unselected population requiring pacemaker implantation, permanent HBP was performed at one hospital, was successful in 80%, and RV pacing was performed at a second hospital. After 2 years of follow-up, and in those with significant (>40%) ventricular pacing, HBP resulted in a significantly reduced rate of heart failure hospitalization compared to RV pacing with a trend toward improved mortality [19]. After 5 years of follow-up, this same HBP subgroup continued to demonstrate a lower rate of death or heart failure hospitalization compared to the RV pacing group. Furthermore, HBP resulted in an unchanged LV EF and lower incidence of

pacing-induced cardiomyopathy [20]. These same authors more recently showed in a large series of patients assigned to HBP or RV pacing that, after a mean follow-up of 725 ± 423 days, HBP was associated with a significantly reduction of the combined endpoint of death, heart failure hospitalization, or upgrade to BiV pacing. This difference was driven primarily by patients with ventricular pacing burden >20% [21].

His Bundle Pacing for Cardiac Resynchronization

Although biventricular pacing via a CS lead has become the cornerstone for CRT, His bundle pacing (HBP) is increasingly being considered as an alternative to CRT eligible patients. Whether used as a primary strategy or as rescue—due to implant failure, CS lead dislodgement, or CRT non-response—resynchronization by HBP offers the theoretic advantage of recruiting the native conducting system to restore electromechanical synchrony. This is thought to be due to the ability of HBP to recruit native fibers past the site of advanced His-Purkinje conduction block or bundle branch block based on the concept of longitudinal dissociation [22], potentially correcting the bundle branch block (Fig. 2). After its initial description in 2005 where selective His pacing was used to achieve resynchronization in patients with infra-Hisian block [23], multiple studies have demonstrated the feasibility of HBP to overcome bundle branch block, improve functional status, reduce dyssynchrony, or improve LV ejection fraction [24–26].

More recent data have expanded the potential role of HBP to heart failure patients with His-Purkinje disease other than LBBB. In patients with LV dysfunction and RBBB (QRS duration >120 ms), Sharma et al. successfully performed HBP in 95% of 39 patients and narrowed the QRS in 78%, with improvement in LV function after mean 15 months follow-up [27].

Recently, a technique for directly pacing the left bundle branch has been shown feasible and may represent yet another strategy when LBBB cannot be corrected by HBP [28], and in 325 CRT-eligible patients, LBB pacing improved clinical and echocardiographic outcomes [29]. Finally, in a head-to-head comparison of HBP and traditional biventricular CRT in 23 patients, HBP was more effective at ventricular resynchronization and with greater acute hemodynamic response [30].

Definitions

A lack of standardization of terminology regarding permanent His bundle pacing has added to the confusion regarding the types of His bundle capture observed. Recently, a multicenter collaboration established a uniform set of definitions encompassing the different types of permanent HBP [31].

Generally, when the region at or near the bundle of His is electrically stimulated, there are two forms of capture: *selective* capture (in which only the His bundle is captured) or *nonselective* capture (in which there is fusion capture of the His bundle and adjacent ventricular tissue) (Fig. 1). Further criteria have been subsequently modified in the presence or absence of His-Purkinje conduction disease:

- 1. Relationship of the His-QRS and stimulus-QRS intervals
- 2. Presence or absence of direct capture of the local ventricular electrogram on the pacing lead
- 3. QRS duration and morphology
- 4. Capture thresholds



Fig. 1 ECGs from the same patient demonstrating selective and nonselective His bundle capture. (Adapted from [38])



Fig. 2 Selective his bundle pacing in LBBB. (Adapted from [39])

Table 1 summarizes the criteria for selective and nonselective HBP with and without His-Purkinje conduction disease. The extent to which selective HBP is more effective than nonselective HBP remains unclear and is under current investigation.

Implantation Technique—His Bundle Pacing

Initially described by Vijayaraman et al., the current most common method employed for implanting His bundle pacing leads utilizes Medtronic (Minneapolis, MN) products [19]. This entails the 3830 69-cm His lead with a 1.8-mm exposed helix and 4.2F outer diameter with the Medtronic C315 non-deflectable His (C315-His) sheath that involves a broad primary curve proximally that points the lead anteriorly to the superior tricuspid annulus followed by a sharper secondary curve distally that points the lead into the septum. Other methods have been described using stylet-driven leads, which require either shaping the stylet similar to the shape of the C315 His sheath or using traditional coronary sinus (CS) delivery sheaths with a stylet [32]. The following instructions focus on using the Medtronic 3830 lead and C315-His sheath.

1. Patient Preparation and Access

A full 12-lead continuous electrocardiogram (ECG) should be applied to the patient, and the sensing cables for the pacemaker lead should ideally be split between the Medtronic analyzer and EP recording systems with standard filter

	Normal QRS	His-Purkinje conduction disease
Selective HBP	 S-QRS=H-QRS with isoelectric interval Discrete local ventricular electrogram in HBP lead with S-V=H-V Paced QRS 1/4 native QRS Single capture threshold (His bundle) 	 The S-QRS interval can be shorter than the H-QRS intervals, as in patients with BBB or HV block due to capture of latent fascicular tissue The paced QRS duration may be narrower than the native QRS with BBB or the escape rhythm 2 distinct His capture thresholds—with and without correction of underlying BBB—may be seen
Nonselective HBP	 S-QRS<h-qrs (s-qrs="0,<br">S-QRSend = H-QRSend) with or without isoelectric interval (pseu- dodelta wave ±)</h-qrs> Direct capture of local ventricu- lar electrogram in HBP lead by stimulus artifact (local myocardial capture) Paced QRS > native QRS with normalization of precordial and limb lead axes with respect to rapid dV/dt components of the QRS 2 distinct capture thresholds (His bundle capture, RV capture) 	 The paced QRS duration may be narrower than the native QRS due to correction of underlying BBB 3 distinct capture thresholds may be observed in varying combina- tion (RV capture, His capture with correction of BBB, and His cap- ture without correction of BBB)

 Table 1
 Criteria for his bundle pacing (Adapted from [31])

settings (30–500 Hz) to enable the operator to accurately identify the His signal. Right or left sided venous access can be used, but the left side is easier due to the sheath being designed to be used from that side. Once venous access is obtained, insert a 7 French peel-away introducer sheath and place a Weitlaner or another self-retaining surgical tool to keep the pocket open. Through this sheath, insert the C315 His sheath over an exchange length wire (at least 60 cm) into the right atrium (RA). Then insert a 69 cm 3830 lead until the helix is just inside the end of the sheath on fluoroscopy. Connect the lead in a unipolar configuration, with the anode cable end clipped to lead tip and cathode clipped to the Weitlaner or skin.

2. Locating the His Signal

Maneuver the C315 sheath to the septum, typically with a clockwise turn, sheath advancement, and then a counterclockwise turn, where atrial and ventricular electrogram (EGM) signals are of equal amplitude. Use very subtle adjustments with the sheath to locate the His region by electrogram analysis. Pacing in unipolar configuration may further help confirm an adequate His position.

3. Implantation

After confirmation of an appropriate His position, implant the lead by slightly advancing the lead within the sheath to allow the helix to engage the endocardial surface (Fig. 3) and then perform 5–7 clockwise whole lead body turns. An injury



Fig. 3 Right anterior oblique fluoroscopy demonstrating sites of stimulation for His bundle pacing and left bundle pacing. (Adapted from [36])

current on the His signal may be observed, which occurs approximately 37% of the time [33].

4. Testing

Perform pacing at high and low outputs while observing the 12-lead ECG to differentiate left bundle branch narrowing, non-selective His capture, selective His capture, and RV septal capture [31, 34]. Confirmation of stable sensing, impedance, and threshold values should be performed initially with the unipolar configuration. These tests are performed again in a bipolar configuration after pulling back the sheath while advancing the lead, to expose the proximal electrode, and connecting both cathode and anode clips to the lead.

5. Sheath removal, confirmation, and tie-down

Once satisfied with the stability and location of the lead, slit the C315 His sheath with a standard sheath slitter tool while watching the lead on fluoroscopy to ensure lead stability. Advance or retract the lead to ensure appropriate slack. After another round of testing to confirm stable lead values, peel away the 7-French sheath and secure the lead to the pectoral muscle fascia by tying a suture down to the muscle first and then using the ends to tie around the silastic suture sleeve.

The rest of the implant can be performed as usual at this point including implantation of additional leads (right atrial, CS LV, or ICD), generator attachment, and closure of the pocket.

Implantation Technique—Left Bundle Branch Pacing

Implantation of left bundle branch (LBB) pacing leads through deep puncture of the RV septum, first described in 2017 by Huang et al. [28], involves the same Medtronic C315 His sheath and 3830 lead used for HBP but instead is aimed at a target deeper along the RV septum. This is the only method described for direct LBB pacing (i.e. through the interventricular septum) as of this writing [35].

1. Preparation

Prepare the patient the same way as described in the prior section on HBP with a 12-lead ECG monitoring, intracardiac electrogram monitoring, a 7 French peel-away introducer sheath, C315 His sheath, and a 69 cm 3830 lead.

2. Locate Adjacent RV Septum

After locating the His signal, rotate the fluoroscopy camera to right anterior oblique (RAO) 30°. Advance the assembly 1–1.5 cm forward along an imaginary line drawn from the catheter tip to the right ventricular apex on fluoroscopy (Fig. 3). Perform unipolar pace mapping and make slight adjustments to the sheath position to identify a notched S wave in lead V1, also referred to as the "W" pattern [36].

3. Implantation

Once the "W" pattern location is found, rotate the lead 1-2 turns to attach the lead to the septum. Then advance the sheath snugly into the septum and rotate it further counterclockwise an additional 90-18° to ensure that the sheath is perpendicular to the RV septum. Rotate the fluoroscopy camera to left anterior oblique (LAO) 30-45° to confirm this position. Next, start pacing to assess changes in QRS morphology, especially in lead V1, as you perform 4-5 quick lead body turns at a time (release in between sets of turns) with both hands. It is best to have an assistant hold the sheath steady and to try to keep the cable clipped to the end of the lead to be able to watch the pacing morphology as you deeply embed the lead into the interventricular septum. The notch in the S-wave in V1 should start to rise to the baseline and then turn into a qR complex or a right bundle paced complex [35, 36], as you notice an abrupt shortening of pacing stimulus to LV activation time (Stim-LV AT) to <100 ms in leads V4–V6. Concomitantly, you will also see a rise in pacing impedance of 200-300 Ohms. As the helix nears the LV septum, the impedance then starts to drop by ~100 Ohms, which is when you should stop rotations as the lead may perforate into the LV cavity. Inject 1 mL x-ray contrast into the sheath to demonstrate the distance of the RV septal wall to the tip of the helix and thus the depth of implantation. If perforation does occur (impedance drop with
loss of capture), the lead must be positioned in a different location as simple withdrawal into the septum is not sufficient.

Once adequate pacing morphology and capture thresholds are obtained, the rest of the implant can proceed as usual after slitting of the C315 sheath.

Troubleshooting

Occasionally the anatomy of the right atrium and right ventricular septum do not allow the C315 His sheath to adequately reach either the His bundle region or proximal RV septum for deep septal left bundle implantation. The following are options for optimizing the reach to these regions.

- Reshape the C315 His sheath by hand with its dilator inserted for either more anterior or septal reach [37].
- Try another fixed curve sheath such as the Medtronic C315 Model S10, which provides a longer and more anterior reach; this too may require reshaping by hand with its dilator inserted.
- Use the sheath-in-sheath technique with a standard coronary sinus (CS) multipurpose right (MPR) sheath used for conventional LV venous branch delivery. This involves upsizing the 7F peel-away sheath to a 9F sheath and cutting the proximal 10–15 cm of the MPR sheath (the end with the handle), pre-slitting it, and attaching a hemostat to the proximal edge for control [37].
- If available, the Medtronic C304 His steerable sheath has an articulating handle to adjust the primary curve while the secondary septal curve has a fixed shape similar to the end of the C315 His sheath.

Future Directions

The future of HBP and LBB pacing for CRT depend on additional studies and equipment. In the His-SYNC trial, the first prospective randomized clinical trial comparing HBP with traditional biventricular pacing for CRT, there was no significant difference in LV function improvement at 6 months and no difference in cardiovascular hospitalization or death between groups at 12 months. However, this study was limited by a high crossover rate in both directions [34]. As of this writing, the ongoing LBBP-RESYNC study (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier NCT04110431) is randomizing patients to LBB pacing to biventricular pacing in CRT-eligible patients, and will evaluate echocardiographic LV parameters, paced QRS duration, and clinical and biomarker heart failure metrics.

Also needed is the development of additional tools, including a collection of different fixed shaped sheaths for the various anatomies analogous to the CS delivery systems. Another area of development would be for improved electrogram

sensing technologies integrated either at the lead or sheath tip. In addition, for deep septal left bundle branch implantation, an automatic rotational or drilling tool for the 3830 lead versus a longer helix could ease the mechanics of implantation. Longer extendable active (i.e. pacing) helices for standard screw-in pacemaker leads could also make deep septal left bundle implants potentially feasible.

Clinical Vignette: Conclusion

To review, this patient with non-ischemic cardiomyopathy and left bundle branch block (LBBB) had a failed attempt at standard CS biventricular pacing. His bundle pacing was recommended as an alternative, to which the patient agreed. During implantation non-selective His bundle capture was obtained, and the QRS duration narrowed to 118 ms with a residual intraventricular conduction delay. The capture threshold for narrowing the LBBB was 2.0 V. The His bundle lead was connected to the LV port of the pulse generator, and an RA lead was also implanted. Follow-up echocardiogram one year later revealed the LV EF had improved to 43%.

Key Points:

- Cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT) is a well-proven treatment for heart failure with dyssynchrony.
- His bundle pacing (HBP) can help prevent ventricular dyssynchrony by maintaining normal electrical activation of the ventricles.
- HBP has emerged as an alternative to biventricular pacing to achieve CRT.
- HBP can be performed in routine clinical practice using a lumen-less lead with a non-deflectable sheath.
- Direct left bundle branch pacing is another feasible strategy to achieve physiologic pacing.

References

- 1. Gold MR, Birgersdotter-Green U, Singh JP, Ellenbogen KA, Yu Y, Meyer TE, Seth M, Tchou PJ. The relationship between ventricular electrical delay and left ventricular remodelling with cardiac resynchronization therapy. Eur Heart J. Oct 2011;32:2516–24.
- Hsu JC, Solomon SD, Bourgoun M, McNitt S, Goldenberg I, Klein H, Moss AJ, Foster E, Committee M-CE. Predictors of super-response to cardiac resynchronization therapy and associated improvement in clinical outcome: the MADIT-CRT (multicenter automatic defibrillator implantation trial with cardiac resynchronization therapy) study. J Am Coll Cardiol. Jun 19 2012;59:2366–73.
- Saxon LA, De Marco T, Schafer J, Chatterjee K, Kumar UN, Foster E, Investigators VCHF. Effects of long-term biventricular stimulation for resynchronization on echocardiographic measures of remodeling. Circulation. Mar 2002;105:1304–10.
- 4. Yu CM, Chau E, Sanderson JE, Fan K, Tang MO, Fung WH, Lin H, Kong SL, Lam YM, Hill MR, Lau CP. Tissue Doppler echocardiographic evidence of reverse remodeling and

improved synchronicity by simultaneously delaying regional contraction after biventricular pacing therapy in heart failure. Circulation. Jan 2002;105:438–45.

- Bristow MR, Saxon LA, Boehmer J, et al. Cardiac-resynchronization therapy with or without an implantable defibrillator in advanced chronic heart failure. N Engl J Med. May 2004;350:2140–50.
- Tang AS, Wells GA, Talajic M, et al. Cardiac-resynchronization therapy for mild-to-moderate heart failure. N Engl J Med. Dec 2010;363:2385–95.
- Sieniewicz BJ, Gould J, Porter B, Sidhu BS, Teall T, Webb J, Carr-White G, Rinaldi CA. Understanding non-response to cardiac resynchronisation therapy: common problems and potential solutions. Heart Fail Rev. Jan 2019;24:41–54.
- 8. European Society of C, European Heart Rhythm A, Brignole M, et al. 2013 ESC guidelines on cardiac pacing and cardiac resynchronization therapy: the task force on cardiac pacing and resynchronization therapy of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Developed in collaboration with the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA). Europace: European pacing, arrhythmias, and cardiac electrophysiology: journal of the working groups on cardiac pacing, arrhythmias, and cardiac cellular electrophysiology of the European Society of Cardiology. Aug 2013;15:1070–118.
- 9. Gorcsan J 3rd. Finding pieces of the puzzle of nonresponse to cardiac resynchronization therapy. Circulation. 2011;123:10–2.
- Gamble JHP, Herring N, Ginks M, Rajappan K, Bashir Y, Betts TR. Procedural success of left ventricular lead placement for cardiac resynchronization therapy: a meta-analysis. JACC Clin Electrophysiol. Feb 2016;2:69–77.
- Deshmukh P, Casavant DA, Romanyshyn M, Anderson K. Permanent, direct His-bundle pacing: a novel approach to cardiac pacing in patients with normal His-Purkinje activation. Circulation. 2000;101:869–77.
- 12. Catanzariti D, Maines M, Cemin C, Broso G, Marotta T, Vergara G. Permanent direct his bundle pacing does not induce ventricular dyssynchrony unlike conventional right ventricular apical pacing. An intrapatient acute comparison study. J Intervent Cardiac Electrophysiol: An Int Journal Arrhythmias Pacing. Aug 2006;16:81–92.
- 13. Zanon F, Bacchiega E, Rampin L, Aggio S, Baracca E, Pastore G, Marotta T, Corbucci G, Roncon L, Rubello D, Prinzen FW. Direct his bundle pacing preserves coronary perfusion compared with right ventricular apical pacing: a prospective, cross-over mid-term study. Europace: European Pacing, Arrhythmias, and Cardiac Electrophysiology: Journal of the Working Groups on Cardiac Pacing, Arrhythmias, and Cardiac Cellular Electrophysiology of the European Society of Cardiology. May 2008;10:580–7.
- 14. Pastore G, Aggio S, Baracca E, Fraccaro C, Picariello C, Roncon L, Corbucci G, Noventa F, Zanon F. Hisian area and right ventricular apical pacing differently affect left atrial function: an intra-patients evaluation. Europace: European Pacing, Arrhythmias, and Cardiac Electrophysiology: Journal of the Working Groups on Cardiac Pacing, Arrhythmias, and Cardiac Cellular Electrophysiology of the European Society of Cardiology. Jul 2014;16:1033–39.
- 15. Zhang J, Guo J, Hou X, Wang Y, Qian Z, Li K, Ge P, Zou J. Comparison of the effects of selective and non-selective His bundle pacing on cardiac electrical and mechanical synchrony. Europace: European Pacing, Arrhythmias, and Cardiac Electrophysiology: Journal of the Working Groups on Cardiac Pacing, Arrhythmias, and Cardiac Cellular Electrophysiology of the European Society of Cardiology. 2018;20:1010–7.
- 16. Kronborg MB, Mortensen PT, Poulsen SH, Gerdes JC, Jensen HK, Nielsen JC. His or para-His pacing preserves left ventricular function in atrioventricular block: a double-blind, randomized, crossover study. Europace: European Pacing, Arrhythmias, and Cardiac Electrophysiology: Journal of the Working Groups on Cardiac Pacing, Arrhythmias, and Cardiac Cellular Electrophysiology of the European Society of Cardiology. Aug 2014;16:1189–96.
- 17. Sohaib SMA, Wright I, Lim E, et al. Atrioventricular optimized direct his bundle pacing improves acute hemodynamic function in patients with heart failure and pr

interval prolongation without left bundle branch block. JACC Clin Electrophysiol. Dec 2015;1:582–91.

- Padeletti L, Pieragnoli P, Ricciardi G, Innocenti L, Checchi L, Padeletti M, Michelucci A, Picariello F, Valsecchi S. Simultaneous his bundle and left ventricular pacing for optimal cardiac resynchronization therapy delivery: acute hemodynamic assessment by pressure-volume loops. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. May 2016;9.
- Sharma PS, Dandamudi G, Naperkowski A, Oren JW, Storm RH, Ellenbogen KA, Vijayaraman P. Permanent His-bundle pacing is feasible, safe, and superior to right ventricular pacing in routine clinical practice. Heart Rhythm. Feb 2015;12:305–12.
- Vijayaraman P, Naperkowski A, Subzposh FA, Abdelrahman M, Sharma PS, Oren JW, Dandamudi G, Ellenbogen KA. Permanent His-bundle pacing: long-term lead performance and clinical outcomes. Heart Rhythm. May 2018;15:696–702.
- Abdelrahman M, Subzposh FA, Beer D, Durr B, Naperkowski A, Sun H, Oren JW, Dandamudi G, Vijayaraman P. Clinical outcomes of his bundle pacing compared to right ventricular pacing. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2018;71:2319–30.
- El-Sherif N, Amay YLF, Schonfield C, Scherlag BJ, Rosen K, Lazzara R, Wyndham C. Normalization of bundle branch block patterns by distal His bundle pacing. Clinical and experimental evidence of longitudinal dissociation in the pathologic his bundle. Circulation. Mar 1978;57:473–83.
- 23. Morina-Vazquez P, Barba-Pichardo R, Venegas-Gamero J, Herrera-Carranza M. Cardiac resynchronization through selective His bundle pacing in a patient with the so-called InfraHis atrioventricular block. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. Jul 2005;28:726–9.
- 24. Lustgarten DL, Crespo EM, Arkhipova-Jenkins I, Lobel R, Winget J, Koehler J, Liberman E, Sheldon T. His-bundle pacing versus biventricular pacing in cardiac resynchronization therapy patients: a crossover design comparison. Heart Rhythm. Jul 2015;12:1548–57.
- Ajijola OA, Upadhyay GA, Macias C, Shivkumar K, Tung R. Permanent His-bundle pacing for cardiac resynchronization therapy: Initial feasibility study in lieu of left ventricular lead. Heart Rhythm. Sep 2017;14:1353–61.
- Sharma PS, Dandamudi G, Herweg B, Wilson D, Singh R, Naperkowski A, Koneru JN, Ellenbogen KA, Vijayaraman P. Permanent His-bundle pacing as an alternative to biventricular pacing for cardiac resynchronization therapy: a multicenter experience. Heart Rhythm. Mar 2018;15:413–20.
- Sharma PS, Naperkowski A, Bauch TD, Chan JYS, Arnold AD, Whinnett ZI, Ellenbogen KA, Vijayaraman P. Permanent his bundle pacing for cardiac resynchronization therapy in patients with heart failure and right bundle branch block. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. Sep 2018;11:e006613.
- Huang W, Su L, Wu S, Xu L, Xiao F, Zhou X, Ellenbogen KA. A novel pacing strategy with low and stable output: pacing the left bundle branch immediately beyond the conduction block. Canad J Cardiol. Dec 2017;33:1736 e1731–1736 e1733.
- Vijayaraman P. Left bundle branch pacing as a novel strategy for cardiac resynchronization therapy: results from international LBBP collaborative study group. Heart Rhythm Scientif Sessions. 2020;D-LBCT02-01.
- 30. Arnold AD, Shun-Shin MJ, Keene D, et al. His resynchronization versus biventricular pacing in patients with heart failure and left bundle branch block. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2018;72:3112–22.
- 31. Vijayaraman P, Dandamudi G, Zanon F, Sharma PS, Tung R, Huang W, Koneru J, Tada H, Ellenbogen KA, Lustgarten DL. Permanent His bundle pacing: recommendations from a multicenter his bundle pacing collaborative working group for standardization of definitions, implant measurements, and follow-up. Heart Rhythm. Mar 2018;15:460–8.
- 32. Orlov MV, Casavant D, Koulouridis I, Maslov M, Erez A, Hicks A, Jahangir A, Aoun J, Wylie JV. Permanent His-bundle pacing using stylet-directed, active-fixation leads placed via coronary sinus sheaths compared to conventional lumen-less system. Heart Rhythm. Dec 2019;16:1825–31.

- Vijayaraman P, Dandamudi G, Worsnick S, Ellenbogen KA. Acute his-bundle injury current during permanent his-bundle pacing predicts excellent pacing outcomes. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. May 2015;38:540–6.
- Upadhyay G, Vijayaraman P, Nayak H, et al. His-SYNC Investigators. On-treatment comparison between corrective His bundle pacing and biventricular pacing for cardiac resynchronization: a secondary analysis of the His-SYNC Pilot Trial. Heart Rhythm. 2019;16(12):1797–807.
- Vijayaraman P, Subzposh FA, Naperkowski A, Panikkath R, John K, Mascarenhas V, Bauch TD, Huang W. Prospective evaluation of feasibility and electrophysiologic and echocardiographic characteristics of left bundle branch area pacing. Heart Rhythm. Dec 2019;16:1774–82.
- 36. Huang W, Chen X, Su L, Wu S, Xia X, Vijayaraman P. A beginner's guide to permanent left bundle branch pacing. Heart Rhythm. Dec 2019;16:1791–6.
- 37. Vijayaraman P, Ellenbogen KA. Approach to permanent His bundle pacing in challenging implants. Heart Rhythm. Sep 2018;15:1428–31.
- Lewis AJM, Foley P, Whinnett Z, Keene D, Chandrasekaran B. His bundle pacing: a new strategy for physiological ventricular activation. J Am Heart Assoc. Mar 19 2019;8:e010972.
- 39. Vijayaraman P, Chung MK, Dandamudi G, et al. His bundle pacing. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2018;72:927–47.

Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy in Patients with Left Ventricular Assist Devices



Andrew Lin and Gordon Ho

Clinical Vignette

65-year-old male with history of ischemic cardiomyopathy and heart failure with reduced ejection fraction status CRT-D upgrade 2 years ago is admitted to the heart failure service for cardiogenic shock. A transthoracic echocardiogram demonstrates an ejection fraction of 14%. Given his rapid decline despite maximal inotropic support, decision was made to proceed with left ventricular assist device (LVAD) placement. The patient's clinical course improves and is ready for discharge in the coming days. His CRT device interrogation reveals three years of battery life remaining. The electrophysiology service is consulted on the optimal management of CRT programming in a post-LVAD patient.

Introduction

Cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT) is known to improve heart failure mortality, functional status, and quality of life. This benefit is thought to derive from the correction of electrical discordance within the conduction system, allowing the left and right ventricles to contract in a synchronized fashion. However, the mechanical unloading following LVAD placement alters intracardiac hemodynamics, and the benefit of CRT in this population remains unclear. There is currently no guideline on management of CRT after LVAD placement given the lack of data in literature. The purpose of this chapter is to discuss the potential benefits

A. Lin · G. Ho (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

University of California San Diego Cardiovascular Institute and VA San Diego Healthcare System, 3350 La Jolla Village Drive, Cardiology Section 111A, San Diego, CA 92161, USA e-mail: goho@ucsd.edu

U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6 22

of continuing CRT in patients with LVADs, reasons to turn off the left ventricular (LV) lead, and the optimal programming of CRT in pacemaker-dependent patients (Fig. 1).

Benefits of CRT in Patients with LVADs

Data on CRT in patients with LVADs are limited and findings have been inconsistent [1]. The best quality data to date comes from a small, randomized, controlled study of 83 patients with LV turned on or off after LVAD implant [2]. This study did not show any significant difference in clinical outcomes between the two groups, but the lack of significance is likely due to underpowered small sample size. Notably, there was a nonsignificant trend towards reduction in ICD shocks



Fig. 1 Chest x-ray (postero-anterior projection) of a patient with a biventricular implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (ICD) and left ventricular assist device (LVAD). Red = LV lead; blue RV ICD lead; black = LVAD

with continued CRT, but there was no difference in mortality. This finding may be supported by a smaller, prospective, non-randomized study consisting of 65 patients that showed implanted cardioverter-defibrillator (ICD) shocks and ventricular arrhythmia burden were significantly reduced in patients with continued CRT after LVAD placement compared to those whose LV lead was turned off [3]. However, the opposite was found in one retrospective study [4] and no difference was observed in three other LVAD cohorts [5–7].

Although CRT with LVAD has not been directly shown to improve cardiac function, it is worth noting that case reports have demonstrated successful explantation of LVAD with CRT support [8–10]. While further studies are certainly needed, continuing CRT may be considered for patients with LVADs as bridge to recovery.

Reasons to Discontinue CRT After LVAD Placement

Recent studies have suggested there may not be significant difference in right heart catheterization hemodynamics [11] and echocardiographic [12] characteristics with CRT versus ICD following LVAD placement. On long term follow up, there was no difference in patients with continued CRT versus ICD in terms of decrease in mortality, right ventricular failure, or heart failure and all-cause hospitalizations [2, 5, 6]. In light of these findings, it is reasonable to discontinue biventricular pacing to preserve battery life and limit the need for generator exchange, which may carry inherent high risks of hematomas and infections in LVAD patients who are more prone to bleeding.

Additionally, although the limited studies in LVAD patients mentioned above showed a trend towards less ventricular arrhythmias in patients with active CRT, there have been several case series and reports in non-LVAD patients reporting ventricular arrhythmias triggered by LV pacing which improved with turning off the LV lead [13–15]. Thus, a patient-specific approach considering all these factors is needed to determine optimal CRT management in LVAD patients (Table 1).

	1 1
Reasons to continue CRT	 Possibly decrease ventricular arrhythmia burden Possibly decrease the number of ICD shocks Possibly improve left ventricular function and reverse remodeling to allow eventual explanation of LVAD
Reasons to discontinue CRT	 Continuing CRT has not been shown to decrease mortality, right ventricular failure, and number of hospitalizations Increase battery longevity and limit the need for generator exchange with associated risk for infections and hematomas Patients with ventricular arrhythmias thought to be triggered by LV pacing

Table 1 Reasons to continue and discontinue CRT in a post-LVAD patient

Optimal Programming in Pacemaker-Dependent Patients

While CRT has not been shown to be superior to right ventricular pacing in patients with LVADs, biventricular pacing is often continued in pacemaker-dependent patients following LVAD placement. Increasing pacing rate in patients with complete heart block or junctional escape rhythms have been shown to improve hemodynamics and LVAD flow [16, 17]. However, higher heart rates have also been shown to decrease right ventricular function [11]. In some cases, simultaneous invasive hemodynamic monitoring and echocardiogram optimization can be obtained to determine optimal pacing programming. An individualized approach with interval reassessment should be considered given the paucity of data and lack of guidelines.

Case Conclusion

The electrophysiology service was consulted regarding CRT management prior to our patient's discharge. After thoughtful consideration, decision was made to turn off the left ventricular lead to preserve battery life. The patient was closely followed in clinic and did not experience any significant ventricular arrhythmias. He subsequently underwent successful heart transplant.

Key Points

- Studies comparing the effect of CRT in patients with LVADs are limited due to small sample sizes with contradictory findings.
- The best quality study so far was a small randomized controlled study that showed CRT-on was associated with a nonsignificant trend towards less ICD shocks.
- A personalized approach is advised: consider continuing CRT for patients with history of ventricular arrhythmias and bridge to explanation, while consider discontinuing CRT in patients with limited remaining CRT battery life or ventricular arrhythmias thought to be triggered by the LV lead.

References

- Ho G, Braun OO, Adler ED, Feld GK, Pretorius VG, Birgersdotter-Green U. Management of arrhythmias and cardiac implantable electronic devices in patients with left ventricular assist devices. JACC Clin Electrophysiol. 2018;4:847–59.
- 2. Richardson TD, Hale L, Arteaga C et al. Prospective randomized evaluation of implantable cardioverter-defibrillator programming in patients with a left ventricular assist device. J Am Heart Assoc. 2018;7.

- Schleifer JW, Mookadam F, Kransdorf EP, et al. Effect of continued cardiac resynchronization therapy on ventricular arrhythmias after left ventricular assist device implantation. Am J Cardiol. 2016;118:556–9.
- Choi AD, Fischer A, Anyanwu A, Pinney S, Adler E. Biventricular pacing in patients with left ventricular assist devices—Is left ventricular pacing proarrhythmic?? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010;55(A22):E208.
- Gopinathannair R, Birks EJ, Trivedi JR, et al. Impact of cardiac resynchronization therapy on clinical outcomes in patients with continuous-flow left ventricular assist devices. J Cardiac Fail. 2015;21:226–32.
- Gopinathannair R, Roukoz H, Bhan A et al. Cardiac resynchronization therapy and clinical outcomes in continuous flow left ventricular assist device recipients. J Am Heart Assoc 2018;7.
- Schleifer JW, Mookadam F, Kransdorf E, et al. Cardiac resynchronization therapy does not reduce ventricular arrhythmias after left ventricular assist device implantation. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2015;34:S199.
- Muratsu J, Hara M, Mizote I, et al. The impact of cardiac resynchronization therapy in an end-stage heart failure patient with a left ventricular assist device as a bridge to recovery. A case report. Int Heart J. 2011;52:246–7.
- Nishimura M, Ogiwara M, Ishikawa M, et al. Successful bridge to resynchronization therapy with a left ventricular assist system in a patient with idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. J Artif Organs: Official J Jpn Soc Artif Organs. 2005;8:210–3.
- 10. Keilegavlen H, Nordrehaug JE, Faerestrand S, et al. Treatment of cardiogenic shock with left ventricular assist device combined with cardiac resynchronization therapy: a case report. J Cardiothoracic Surg. 2010;5:54.
- Cotarlan V, Johnson F, Goerbig-Campbell J, et al. Usefulness of cardiac resynchronization therapy in patients with continuous flow left ventricular assist devices. Am J Cardiol. 2019;123:93–9.
- Tehrani DM, Adatya S, Grinstein J et al. Impact of cardiac resynchronization therapy on left ventricular unloading in patients with implanted left ventricular assist devices. ASAIO J (American Society for Artificial Internal Organs: 1992) 2019;65:117–22.
- Di Cori A, Bongiorni MG, Arena G, et al. New-onset ventricular tachycardia after cardiac resynchronization therapy. J Intervent Cardiac Electrophysiol: Int J Arrhythmias Pacing. 2005;12:231–5.
- Guerra JM, Wu J, Miller JM, Groh WJ. Increase in ventricular tachycardia frequency after biventricular implantable cardioverter defibrillator upgrade. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2003;14:1245–7.
- 15. Shukla G, Chaudhry GM, Orlov M, Hoffmeister P, Haffajee C. Potential proarrhythmic effect of biventricular pacing: fact or myth? Heart Rhythm. 2005;2:951–6.
- Collart F, Dieuzaide P, Kerbaul F, Mouly-Bandini A, Mesana TG. Complete atrioventricular block decreases left ventricular assist device flow rate. Ann Thorac Surg. 2005;80:716–7.
- 17. Ambardekar AV, Lowes B, Cleveland JC Jr, Brieke A. Overdrive pacing suppresses ectopy and minimizes left ventricular assist device suction events. Circul Heart Failure. 2009;2:516–7.

Index

A

Ambulatory pulmonary artery pressure monitoring, 146 Aortic regurgitation, 128 Arrhythmias, 112, 113, 120, 127, 128, 136 Axillary-placed MCS support, 35

B

Biventricular failure, 45 Biventricular pacing, 291–293, 304, 323–325, 331, 332 Bleeding, 112, 114, 121–123, 125, 126, 128, 131, 136 Bundle branch block, 323, 325, 328, 332

С

Cardiac dyssynchrony, 314 Cardiac Implantable Electronic Device (CIED) complications, 242, 250 Cardiac Implantable Electronic Device (CIED) infections, 241, 248-250 Cardiac perforation, 243, 244 Cardiac power output, 4, 5, 13-16, 18, 19 Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy (CRT), 151, 157, 164, 165, 287-295, 301, 303-307, 309, 323-325, 331, 332, 337-340 Cardiogenic shock, 4-7, 9-20, 24, 26, 28-30, 32, 33, 36, 40, 48, 50, 54 Cardiogenic shock risk stratification, 4, 13 CardioMEMs HF monitoring device, 145–148 Cardiomyopathy, 174-178, 181, 186, 187, 265, 267, 268, 270

Caregivers, 94, 102, 103 CIED infection Congestive heart failure, 178, 187, 265 Coronary sinus cannulation, 305 Coronary sinus dissection, 245 CRT non-responder, 319 CRT optimization, 314

D

Defibrillation, 265, 266 Defibrillator Threshold Testing (DFT), 199– 202, 205, 227, 229, 233, 234, 237 Device complications, 189, 204, 237, 257 Device deactivation, 280–283 Device infections, 226, 256 Device interrogation, 154, 166 Device programming, 317, 321 Devices, 288, 291–294 Device troubleshooting, 160 Driveline exit-site management, 99 Driveline infection, 86

E

Effective CRT, 314, 320, 321 Electromagnetic Interference, 257, 258, 260, 261

End of life, 276, 279, 280

Endotronix monitoring device, 146, 147

End stage heart failure, 81

Extra Corporeal Life Support (ECLS), 46

Extra Corporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO), 45–55

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 U. Birgersdotter-Green and E. Adler (eds.), *Case-Based Device Therapy for Heart Failure*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70038-6

G

Gastrointestinal Bleed Guidelines, 288, 291–294

Η

Heart failure, 24, 25, 29, 32, 40, 141–148, 279, 280, 311, 320, 323–325, 331, 332 Heart failure readmissions, 141 His bundle pacing, 324, 325, 327–329, 332

I

ICD programming, 258, 259, 261 ICD shocks, 221 Impella device, 29, 34, 35, 38 Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillator (ICD), 173-176, 178-187, 207, 209-217, 255-261, 339 Implantable Cardioverter-Defibrillator (ICD) implantation, 189, 190, 193, 196, 199, 201-205 Implantation, 301–307 Implanted Cardioverter Defibrillators (ICD), 151, 153, 155-158, 162, 163 Inappropriate ICD shocks, 258 Inappropriate shocks, 210, 212, 213, 215–217 Infection, 112, 114, 115, 122, 124, 125, 132-136 Inotropes, 13, 15-17, 19, 20 Intra-aortic balloon pump Invasive hemodynamic monitoring, 6

L

Left bundle pacing, 329 Left Ventricular Assist Device (LVAD), 79–90, 93–103, 106, 255–261, 279–284, 337–340 Left ventricular lead implantation, 303, 304 Left ventricular pacing, 310 LVAD complications, 114, 121

M

Mechanical circulatory support, 4–6, 10, 12, 13, 15–20, 23, 25, 32, 34–37, 46

0

Outpatient management, 94, 99 Oversensing, 210, 213–216

Р

Pacemaker, 275–279 Patient education, 94 Pharmacological therapy, 101 Pneumothorax, 242–244, 252 Pocket hematoma, 242, 246–248, 252 Primary prevention, 255, 261 Pump thrombosis, 83, 85, 86, 89, 114–116, 135

R

Remote monitoring, 151–155, 157–164, 166 Right heart failure, 113, 117, 118, 120, 136

S

Shock team, 17, 20
Stroke, 87, 90, 114, 115, 118, 123–126, 135, 136
Subcutaneous Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillator (ICD), 216, 222, 226, 229, 231, 233, 236
Sudden Cardiac Arrest (SCA), 174, 175
Sudden Cardiac Death (SCD), 174–178, 186, 187, 227, 265, 267, 268, 270, 272
Supraventricular tachycardia, 210, 212–214, 216, 217
SVT discriminator, 210, 211, 213, 214, 216, 217

Т

Tamponade, 113, 114, 120, 130–132 Telemonitoring, 142 Thoracic impedance, 164–166 Transvenous leads, 201, 205

U

Ultrasound-guided vascular access, 192

V

Vascular access, 192 Ventricular Arrhythmias (VA), 174–177, 180 Ventricular Fibrillation (VF), 173, 174, 184, 210, 213, 216, 217, 265, 266, 268, 270 Ventricular Tachycardia (VT), 173–176, 181, 186, 207, 210, 212–214, 265, 266, 268, 270, 271

W

Wearable cardioverter-defibrillator, 265-272